BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY



OBITUARY RECORD OF GRADUATES OF YALE UNIVERSITY DECEASED DURING THE YEAR 1942-1943

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

Entered as second-class matter, August 30, 1906, at the post office at New Haven, Conn., under the Act of Congress of July 16, 1894.

Acceptance for mailing at the special rate of postage provided for in Section 1103, Act of October 3, 1917, authorized August 12, 1918.

The BULLETIN, which is issued semimonthly, includes:

- 1. The University Catalogue Number.
- 2. The Report of the Treasurer Number.
- 3. The Catalogue Numbers of the several Schools.
- 4. The Alumni Directory Number.
- 5. The Obituary Record Number.

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

OBITUARY RECORD OF GRADUATES DECEASED DURING THE YEAR ENDING JULY 1, 1943 INCLUDING THE RECORD OF A FEW WHO DIED PREVIOUSLY, HITHERTO UNREPORTED NUMBER 102

NEW HAVEN 1944

CONTENTS

Biographies of Graduates .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	5
Yale College	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	5
Sheffield Scientific School														154
School of Engineering .														233
Graduate School													•	235
Masters of Arts	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•		235
Master of Science	•	•	•		•			•	•	•	•	•		237
Doctors of Philosophy	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	238
School of Medicine		•		•	•		•	•	•	•	•		•	248
Divinity School														254
School of Law	•	•	•	•			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	267
		•										•	•	267
Master of Laws	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	282
School of the Fine Arts													•	283
Bachelors of Fine Arts														283
School of Forestry													•	286
Supplement												•		287
Dates of Death of Recipients	s of	Ho	nor	ary	De	gree	es		•	•	•	•	•	302
Dates of Death of Certificate				-		_						•		302
Statistics	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	٠	307
Index			•			٠						•	•	309

YALE UNIVERSITY OBITUARY RECORD*

YALE COLLEGE

Dwight Whitney Learned, B.A. 1870.

Born October 12, 1848, in Canterbury, Conn Died March 19, 1943, in Claremont, Calif

Father, Rev Robert Coit Learned (B A 1837) Mother, Sarah Birdsey (Whitney) Learned. Yale relatives include Nathan Birdseye (B A 1736), Josiah Dwight (B A 1736), Nicholas Hallam (B A 1737), and Noah Williston (B A 1757) (great-great-grandfathers), Amasa Learned (B A 1772) and Payson Williston (B A 1783) (great-grandfathers), Ebenezer Learned (B A 1798) and Nicholas H Learned (ex-1799) (great-uncles), Josiah D Whitney (B A 1839), Edward P. Whitney, '54, James L Whitney, '56, Henry M Whitney, '64, and William D Whitney, '67 Hon (uncles), Edward B Whitney, '78, Josiah Dwight Whitney, '98, James L Whitney, '01, and Marian P Whitney, Ph D 1901 (cousins); and Elsie VanDyck DeWitt (ex-'36 Grad) (niece)

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass Scholar of the third rank Freshman year, second composition prize second and third terms Sophomore year, rhetorical prize and second Classical Prize Junior year, philosophical oration appointment and Berkeley scholar Senior year, salutatorian, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Linonia, Delta Beta Xi, Alpha Sigma Phi, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School 1870–73 (Ph D 1873)

Professor of Greek and mathematics Thayer College, Kidder, Mo, 1873-75, ordained in Congregational church, Kidder, July 7, 1875, went to Japan as missionary under American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1875; professor of church history and Biblical theology Doshisha University 1876 until retirement 1928, became dean theological department 1904, member committee for revision of Japanese version of New Testament 1914-17, D D Yale 1896, honored by Kofukwai for work in field of education 1913, at celebration in 1922 of fiftieth anniversary of establishment of national education in Japan, he was the only foreigner honored, receiving at that time a gold medal from Department of Education and a silver cup from the Emperor, awarded Order of the Sacred Treasure (third class) 1928; wrote several books in Japa-

*If the father of an alumnus is a Yale graduate, the father's record is not usually given in this volume, but may be found in published form elsewhere

nese, including thirteen volumes on the New Testament, one on Church History, and an outline of economics, compiled A Newspaper History of the United States Civil War 1861-64 (6 vols); since retirement resided in Claremont; member The Claremont Church

Married July 7, 1875, in Kidder, Florence Helena, daughter of Martin and Mary Ann (Whoole) Rehard Children. Robert Coit (died in infancy) and Grace Whitney Learned Curtis (B.A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1899), widow of Rev. William Leavitt Curtis, D.D. (B.A. Doane Coll. 1886, B.D. Oberlin Coll. 1889). Mrs. Learned died May 18, 1940.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Ashes inurned in the mausoleum at Pomona, Calif Survived by daughter and two sisters, Miss Anna Coit Learned of New London, Conn, and Sarah Learned Chapin (B.A. Vassar 1887) of Norwichtown, Conn

In 1906 the Learned Fund was established at Doshisha University in his honor by the alumni.

William Lathrop Bailey, B.A. 1874.

Born November 27, 1854, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died July 21, 1942, in Detroit, Mich

Father, George Bailey, a house agent in St Louis, Mo. Mother, Mary Amelia (Lathrop) Bailey, daughter of Elisha and Sally (Palmer) Lathrop of Bridgeport Wilton (Conn) Academy Second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Gamma Nu

Traveled and studied abroad for many years (at Polytechnic School, Stutt-gart, and University of Heidelberg 1874–78); engaged in real-estate and securities investment business, St Louis, until retirement 1938; member Masonic order

Unmarried

Death due to myocardial degeneration Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St Louis Survived by two nephews, David Bailey and Lathrop Hunt Bailey, both of St Louis, and a niece, Mrs Llewellyn M Papin of Kirkwood, Mo.

Edward Hunter Landon, B.A. 1875.

Born October 11, 1851, in New York City. Died September 20, 1942, in Stamford, Conn.

Father, Charles Griswold Landon, a drygoods merchant in New York City, son of Nathaniel Ruggles and Mary (Griswold) Landon of Guilford, Conn. Mother, Susan Hunt (Gordon) Landon, daughter of Charles and Anne (Hunter) Gordon of Trenton, N J, and New York City Yale relatives include: Edward R Landon (B A 1833) (uncle), Stephen L Landon, '07, Henry H Landon, '17,

and Nathaniel R. Landon, ex-'20 (nephews), and Henry H Landon, Jr., '45, and Stephen L Landon, Jr., '45W (grandnephews) Thomas Clap, president of Yale College 1740-66, was an ancestor

Phillips-Andover Skipper Class yacht club Sophomore year, treasurer University Boat Club and on committee for fall regatta Junior year, Class glee club three years, University Glee Club Junior and Senior years (president Senior year); College Choir; historian Class supper Sophomore year, Junior Promenade Committee; editor Yale Pot-Pourri Senior year, member Delta Kappa, Delta Beta Xi, Alpha Sigma Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1875-77 (LL B 1877), admitted to the bar 1877; lawyer in New York City 1877 until retirement from practice 1902, secretary United States Savings Bank of New York 1902-10; with American Red Cross in Paris as accountant September, 1915-September, 1918; member All Souls' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married January 23, 1883, in Bradford, England, Mary Lucretia, daughter of William Fowler and Mary (Morton) Grinnell Children Lucy (Mrs. Ralph Henley Speed, died March 29, 1918), Harold Morton, '11, Ruth (died March 29, 1918), and William Grinnell, ex-'14 S Mrs Landon died March 29, 1918

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N.Y Survived by sons, four grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs Susan L Howes of Stamford and Mrs. Dallas Bache Pratt of New York City, and a brother, Francis Griswold Landon (B S Princeton 1881) of New York City

Timothy Jonathan Lee, B.A. 1875.

Born June 19, 1853, in Madison, Conn. Died September 13, 1942, in Madison, Conn

Father, Henry Lee of Madison; a farmer, son of Timothy Lee of Clinton and Madison, Conn Mother, Abigail (Dudley) Lee, daughter of Jonathan Dudley of Clinton

Lee Academy, Madison, and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn First college premium for English composition first and second terms Sophomore year and second prize Senior year; first colloquy appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year, Commencement speaker, member Delta Kappa

Teacher in Norwalk, Conn, 1875–76, attended Yale Divinity School 1876–79 (BD 1879), ordained in First Congregational Church, Winsted, Conn., 1879 and minister there 1879–84, attended Yale Graduate School 1884–85, minister Congregational Church, New Milford, Conn, 1885–89, Second Presbyterian Church, Easton, Pa, 1889–92, Dutch Reformed Church, Newark, NJ., 1893–1906, and Newtown (Conn.) Congregational Church 1913–18, supply minister 1905 until about 1925; instructor in psychology Ingleside School

for Girls, New Milford, 1907–11, secretary Class of 1879 D from 1935 to 1942; member Ministers Club of New York and Vicinity and Newtown Congregational Church

Married June 22, 1887, in New Milford, Harriet Allen, daughter of Charles Taylor (Yale School of Medicine 1849–50) and Olivia Toffey (Craft) Taylor, granddaughter of George Taylor (M D 1824), great-granddaughter of William Taylor (B A 1785), great-great-granddaughter of Rev Nathanael Taylor (B A 1745), and great-great-granddaughter of Rev Daniel Taylor (B A 1707) and Rev Daniel Boardman (B A 1709) Son Charles Taylor, 11 Mrs Lee died July 10, 1935

Death due to uremia Buried in Center Cemetery, New Milford Survived by son.

Eugene Voy Baker, B.A. 1877.

Born December 21, 1855, in New York City Died September, 1942, in Los Angeles, Calif

Parents, Orin Smith and Sarah (Matlock) Baker

Wilbraham (Mass) Academy Class barge crew Freshman year, Class football team Sophomore year, captain University Football Team 1877 and 1878; member Psi Upsilon Attended Yale School of Law 1877–78.

Manufacturer of agricultural implements Rockford, Ill, 1878–85; real-estate subdivider in Los Angeles 1885 until retirement about 1930; assisted in development of beach property near Los Angeles, president Yale Club of Southern California 1897–99

Unmarried Survived by a sister, Mrs. Lesbin V. Haynes.

Edwin Burpee Goodell, B.A. 1877.

Born May 7, 1851, in Rockville, Conn. Died October 16, 1942, in Montclair, NJ

Father, Francis Goodell, a farmer in Rockville, son of Thomas and Naomi (Pierce) Goodell of Ellington, Conn Mother, Sophia Louisa (Burpee) Goodell; daughter of Thomas and Betsey (Temple) Burpee Yale relatives include: Thomas D Goodell, '77 (brother), Lucien F. Burpee, '79, and Charles W. Burpee, '83 (cousins); William W Ames, '89 (nephew); Francis F Ames, ex-'20 (grandnephew); and Philip Goodell, Jr, ex-'35 (grandson).

Rockville High School Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; third-rank composition prize first term Sophomore year and second-rank prize second term, second Junior Exhibition Prize; second-rank composition prize, DeForest Medal, and Commencement speaker Senior year; member Sophomore Debating Club and Gamma Nu.

Teacher of Latin and Greek Montclair High School 1877-79, attended Yale School of Law 1879-80 (LL.B 1880, John Addison Porter University Prize), admitted to Connecticut bar 1880, New York bar 1881, and New Jersey bar 1883, lawyer in New York City 1881-91 and Montclair 1882-1942 (in partnership with his son under firm name Edwin B and Philip Goodell 1908–18), an organizer Montclair Savings Bank 1893, counsel 1893-1915, president 1915 until retirement 1935, and member board of managers at time of death, an organizer Essex Title Guaranty Company 1901, president 1901-05 and president of its successor, Essex Title Guaranty & Trust Company, 1905-13, a founder Montclair Building & Loan Association 1886 (treasurer and solicitor) and Bank of Montclair 1889 (counsel and director until 1915), trustee Public School District No. 8, Essex County, 1884-94, member Montclair Board of Education 1894–1902 (president 1897–1902), town attorney 1902–07, author A Review of the Laws Forbidding Pollution of Inland Waters in the United States (1904) and Montclair, the Evolution of a Suburban Town (1934), charter member Yale Club of New York, member American Bar Association and Central Presbyterian Church, Montclair

Married October 26, 1881, in Montclair, Annette Cotton, daughter of Philip and Hester Ann (Yarrington) Doremus Children Philip, '04, Francis [Yarrington], '08, Florence (B A Smith Coll 1912), and Edwin Burpee, Jr (B S Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1915) Mrs Goodell died August 17, 1942

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Mt Hebron Cemetery, Montclair. Survived by children, seven grandchildren, and one great-grandchild

Edward Platt Hickox, B.A. 1878.

Born August 4, 1856, in Washington, Conn Died December 6, 1942, in Washington, Conn

Father, Charles Lewis Hickox, a merchant in Washington, son of Powell and Huldah (Brinsmade) Hickox of Washington Mother, Abigail Jane (Grant) Hickox; daughter of James and Abigail Jane (Platt) Grant of Franklin, N Y

Suffield (Conn) Academy and private tutor Third-rank composition prize first and second terms Sophomore year, dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, and Linonia

In law office of Orville H Platt [LL D 1887], Meriden, Conn, 1878-79, engaged in lumber business, Toledo, Ohio, 1880, until retirement a number of years ago, partner Skidmore & Hickox, manufacturers of patent coiled hoops and slack barrel staves; in recent years resided in Washington, attended First Congregational Church, Washington.

Married October 26, 1882, in Warren, Conn, Emelyn Amelia, daughter of Rev. Willis S Colton (B.A. 1850) and Lucy Parsons (Gibson) Colton, grand-daughter of George Colton (B A 1804), great-great-granddaughter of Benjamin Colton (B A. 1710), and sister of Arthur W. Colton, '90 Children Laura

Colton (B A Vassar 1905, M A Columbia 1914; died November 14, 1929), Lewis Grant (died May 17, 1886), Margery Gibson (grad. Institute of Musical Art, New York City), the widow of James Beebee Brinsmade, '06; and Marian Lucie (B A Wells Coll 1913, Mrs Marian Hickox Fowler).

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Washington Green Cemetery. Survived by wife, two daughters, and two grandchildren, one of whom is Edward C Fowler, '42.

Joseph Almon Ticknor, B.A. 1878.

Born February 3, 1857, in Monterey, Mass. Died April 2, 1943, in West Haven, Conn.

Father, Almon Pease Ticknor (M.D 1853) Mother, Frances Cowles (Cathn) Ticknor Yale relatives include: Jacob Cathn (B.A. 1784) (grandfather); and Herbert Lincoln Mitchell, '85 S. (brother-in-law).

South Berkshire Institute, New Marlboro, Mass First dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year, Commencement speaker; member Gamma Nu and Kappa Sigma Epsilon.

Private tutor in Louisiana 1878–80; attended Berkeley Divinity School 1880–83 (B D 1883), ordained deacon in Episcopal church 1883 and priest 1884; minister Collinsville, Conn, 1883–86, Mystic River 1886–87, New Marlboro 1887–89, Union Church, West Claremont, N H, 1889–93, Christ Church, Salmon Falls, 1893–98, Williamstown, Mass, 1898–1905, St John's Church, Athol, 1905–12, Trinity Church, Whitinsville, 1912–15, St John's Church, Ashfield, 1915–18, and Grace Church, Windsor, Conn, 1918 until retirement from ministry 1920, resided in West Haven 1920–43.

Married June 26, 1883, in New Haven, Nelly Haigh, daughter of Alexander Ward and Mary Ellen (Haigh) Anderson Children John Williams and Arthur Anderson, '14 S (died September 26, 1943).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, West Haven. Survived by wife, one son, and two grandchildren

Doremus Scudder, B.A. 1880.

Born December 15, 1858, in New York City Died July 23, 1942, in Puente, Calif

Father, Rev Henry Martyn Scudder, D D (B.A New York Univ. 1840, M D 1853, diploma Union Theological Seminary 1843), medical missionary in India, son of John Scudder (B A Princeton 1811, M D Columbia 1815) and Harriet (Waterbury) Scudder, who were missionaries in Ceylon and India. Mother, Fanny (Lewis) Scudder, daughter of John and Fanny (Smith) Lewis of Walpole, Mass Yale relatives include Rev John L Scudder, '74 (brother);

Henry C. Ordway, '80 (brother-in-law), Philip S Ordway, '08 (nephew), and Nelson K Ordway, '38 M. (grandnephew).

Adelphi Academy, Brooklyn, NY First-rank composition prize first and second terms Sophomore year and second declamation prize; oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Exhibition speaker, an editor Yale Literary Magazine and Yale Banner Senior year, Class glee club; member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones

Attended Union Theological Seminary 1880–82, College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1881–82, and Northwestern University Medical School 1882-84 (MD 1884), interne Mercy Hospital, Chicago, 1884. medical missionary in Japan under American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1884–89, ordained in Kobe 1885, stationed in Niigata 1885– 89; minister Workers' (now Doremus) Church, Chicago, 1890-92, East Congregational Church, Brooklyn, 1892-95, and First Congregational Church, Woburn, Mass, 1895–1901, superintendent of mission work among Japanese in Hawaii 1902-04 and superintendent and secretary of all Congregational missions in Hawaii under Hawaiian Evangelical Association 1904-07, minister Central Union Church, Honolulu, 1907–16 and Union Church, Tokyo, Japan, 1916-18, assimilated rank of Major, American Red Cross, October, 1918-July 26, 1919; executive secretary Siberian Commission, American Red Cross, and later director Civilian Relief for Eastern and Western Siberia, executive secretary Hawaiian Mission Centennial 1919–20 and Greater Boston Federation of Churches 1920-22; minister at large 1922-42 residing in Claremont, Calif, vice-president board of managers Mid-Pacific Institute 1909-15 and president 1915–16; corporate member American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions; author Our Children for Christ (1899) and The Passion for Reality (1910); editor-in-chief The Friend (Honolulu) 1904-16 and Far Eastern editor 1917, on editorial board Open Forum 1924-42, DD Whitman College 1898, secretary Yale Alumni Association of Japan 1917, vice-president Yale Club of Boston 1921-22; member American Economic and American Historical associations, American Academy of Political and Social Science, Royal Economic Society (London), Commission on American Relations with Japan of the Federal Council of Churches of Christ in America (1914), and Claremont Community Church

Married (1) June 21, 1888, in Niigata, Eliza Canfield Kendall, daughter of Lee and Mary Esther (Barbour) Canfield Children Stephen (died in infancy) and Dorothy (died January 20, 1900) Mrs Scudder died June 26, 1914 Married (2) January 25, 1916, in Honolulu, Mabel Ethelyn Bosher (Radcliffe Coll. 1894–95), daughter of George Ferdinand and Sarah Frances (Folsom) Bosher. Daughter Katharine (B A Vassar 1939, Cornell Univ Medical Coll 1939–), the wife of Alan Wilson Fraser (M D Cornell 1943)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Wildwood Cemetery, Winchester, Mass. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Mrs. Fanny S. Ordway of Claremont.

Harry Quinton Cleneay, B.A. 1881.

Born November 1, 1857, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died January 11, 1943, in Cincinnati, Ohio

Father, George Washington Bolivar Cleneay, associated with Joseph S. Cleneay & Company, whiskey commission merchants, Cincinnati; son of Joseph S and Mary (Griffith) Cleneay of Cincinnati Mother, Elizabeth Hudson (Rudd) Cleneay, daughter of Peter Hudson and Margaret (Weldon) Rudd of Augusta, Ky

Bliss School, Cincinnati, Greylock Institute, South Williamstown, Mass, and Chevalier's School, Paris, France Member Dunham Crew Senior year; Freshman Glee Club, Class glee club and University Glee Club Junior and Senior years, Thanksgiving Jubilee Committee Freshman year, Senior Prome-

nade Committee, member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, and Psi Upsilon

Attended Law School of the Cincinnati College 1881–84 (LL B 1884); admitted to Ohio bar 1884, lawyer in Cincinnati 1884–85, associated with G. A Gray Company, manufacturers of machine tools, 1885–86, engaged in realestate and investment business, Cincinnati, 1886–1943 (partner Cleneay and Nourse Company 1906–28, vice-president 1928–39, president 1939–43); elected first vice-president Cincinnati Yale Club 1917, member Cincinnati Real Estate Board and Christ Church (Episcopal), Cincinnati

Married April 2, 1887, in Cincinnati, Louisa Dunseth, daughter of Charles Wickliffe and Mary Frances (Strader) Woolley Children Mary Frances Cleneay Galvin, the wife of Francis Ormond French (B A Harvard 1912), and Elizabeth Hudson, the wife of Henry Stanley Chapman (Princeton ex-'09).

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by wife, daughters, seven grandchildren, and two great-grandchildren

Frank Miller Fargo, B.A. 1881.

Born April 19, 1859, in Chicago, Ill. Died July 17, 1942, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Charles Henry Fargo, founder C H Fargo & Company, Inc, manufacturers of boots and shoes, Chicago, son of Samuel Fargo, Jr., and Eliza (Buel) Fargo of Tyringham, Mass Mother, Eveline Mary (Sweet) Fargo; daughter of John Wesley and Laura (Miller) Sweet of Tyringham

Chicago High School and Adams Academy, Quincy, Mass Freshman Football Team, on committee to arrange winter athletic meet Sophomore year and preliminary committee Junior year, Class Day committee Senior year, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon and Delta Kappa Epsilon

With C H Fargo & Company, Inc, 1881–96 (partner until incorporation of company 1890, secretary 1890–92, vice-president and treasurer 1892–96); re-

sided in Summit, NJ, 1896–98; with George Watkinson & Company, Philadelphia, 1898–1902; resided in Milwaukee 1902–03, engaged in business in Chicago 1905–42 (successively advertising manager Smith-Wallace Shoe Company, advertising specialist, president Little Chick Shoe Company, and vice-president Fargo Shoe Company); an organizer Boy Scout Troop, Evanston, 1906 (member executive committee) and Parent-Teacher Association 1910 (general secretary), attended Presbyterian church.

Married May 30, 1882, in New Haven, Conn, Georgene Louise Watkinson (Yale School of the Fine Arts ex-'80), daughter of George and Louise (Vredenburg) Watkinson and sister of George A. Watkinson, ex-'89 Children Alvin Watkinson, '06 S., Frank Miller, Jr., '06 S; George Watkinson (Northwestern Univ ex-'18); and Richard Ashfield. Mrs Fargo died September 7, 1938

Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by children and six grandchildren, including Lieut. Alvin W. Fargo, '37 S, U.S N R, and Lieut (j g.) Foster M Fargo, ex-'41 S. (died April 14, 1943).

Bryan Cumming, B.A. 1882.

Born January 4, 1862, in Summerville, Ga Died January 28, 1943, in Augusta, Ga

Father, Joseph Bryan Cumming (B A. Univ of Georgia 1854; Harvard Law School 1858–59), a lawyer in Augusta; member Georgia House of Representatives 1871–72 and Speaker 1872, State senator 1878–79; Lieutenant Colonel 1st Georgia Battalion, Confederate States of America, son of Henry Harford and Julia Ann (Bryan) Cumming of Augusta Mother, Katharine Jane (Hubbell) Cumming, daughter of Henry Wilson and Jane Maria (Bostwick) Hubbell of New York City.

Summerville Academy. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Scott Prize in French Junior year, member Hare and Hounds Club

Studied law with his father 1882–84, admitted to the bar 1884, lawyer in Augusta 1884–1943 (in partnership with his father 1890–1914, member Cumming & Hull 1914–16, Cumming & Harper 1916–31, and Cumming, Harper & Nixon 1931–43); intendant of Summerville 1887–90, representative in Georgia legislature 1892–93 and State senator 1894–95, member Augusta, Georgia, and American Bar associations; attended Church of the Good Shepherd (Episcopal), Augusta.

Married November 27, 1889, in Summerville, Mary Gairdner, daughter of Charles Shaler and Mary (Gairdner) Smith Children Mary Shaler, the wife of Rowland Fisher Mellor (Univ of Pennsylvania ex-'14), and Joseph Bryan, 2d (Litt B Princeton 1915).

Death due to heart block. Buried in Summerville Cemetery, Augusta Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs Jane Cumming Verdery of Augusta

Charles Edward Richards, B.A. 1882.

Born August 6, 1859, in Keene, NH. Died July 11, 1942, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, George Hale Richards, jeweler and farmer in Keene; son of Moses and Hannah (Hale) Richards of Rowley, Mass. Mother, Hephzibah (Wilder) Richards, daughter of Azel and Elvira (Warner) Wilder of Keene

Keene High School and Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Yale Musical Association Freshman year, Yale Orchestra three years (secretary-treasurer Junior year), University Glee Club Junior and Senior years; College Choir, an editor Yale Daily News Senior year, Class deacon two years; member Dunham Boat Club, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Eta Phi, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa

Epsilon, and Scroll and Key

Member George H Richards, Jr., & Company, jewelers, Boston, 1882–89; engaged in fruit cultivation Moreno, Calif, 1889–99, contractor in Los Angeles 1899 until retirement 1939; manager Pacific Cement Water-Proofing Company 1899–1906; president Richards-Neustadt Construction Company 1906–39; 'uilder of Henry E Huntington House, First Congregational Church of Los Angeles, and during the first World War of the government cantonment at Camp Kearny and the aviation field at North Island, San Diego, Calif.; member Los Angeles Board of Harbor Commissioners 1911–12, 1921–24, chairman city planning committee of Los Angeles Municipal League 1919–20; president Children's Home Society of California 1920–40; member University Club of Los Angeles (president 1912), Yale Club of Southern California (vice-president 1914–16, president 1919–20), and First Congregational Church, Los Angeles.

Married June 5, 1889, in New Haven, Conn, Bertha Whittemore, daughter of Charles Smith and Harriet Newell (Merwin) Gray Son. Philip Hand, '17. Death due to myocardial degeneration. Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Los

Angeles Survived by wife, son, and two grandchildren.

Horace Dutton Taft, B.A. 1883.

Born December 28, 1861, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died January 28, 1943, in Watertown, Conn.

Father, Alphonso Taft (B.A. 1833, LL.D 1867). Mother, Louisa Maria (Torrey) Taft Yale relatives include: Asa H Waters (B.A 1829) (great-uncle); Charles P. Taft, '64, Peter R Taft, '67, William H. Taft, '78, and Henry W. Taft, '80 (brothers), Hulbert Taft, '00, Charles Howard Taft, '05, Walbridge S. Taft, '07, William Howard Taft, 2d, '09, Robert A. Taft, '10, and Charles P. Taft, 2d, '18 (nephews), Helen Taft Manning (M A. 1917, Ph D 1925) (niece); and David S Ingalls, '20, Hulbert Taft, Jr, '30, Henry T. Snowdon, '34,

William Howard Taft, 3d, '37, Robert Taft, '39, Lloyd B. Taft, '44, Seth Chase

Taft, '44, and Henry W. Taft, 2d, '46 (grandnephews)

Woodward High School, Cincinnati Third Freshman Scholarship, third Freshman Mathematics Prize, and second Berkeley Premium Freshman year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Townsend Premium Senior year; Commencement speaker, an editor Yale Daily News Junior year; member

Delta Kappa, Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa

Studied in Vienna 1883–84 and attended Cincinnati Law School 1884–85; admitted to the Ohio bar 1885, practiced law in Cincinnati with his father and Henry N. Morris (Taft, Morris & Taft) 1885-87; tutor in Latin Yale University 1887–90; founder Taft School 1890 (located at Pelham Manor, NY, 1890–93 and Watertown since 1893), headmaster 1890-1936, headmaster emeritus 1936-43, trustee 1926-43, and president of the board 1928-36, author Memories and Opinions (1942); contributed to numerous newspapers and periodicals, M.A. honorary Yale 1893; L H D. Williams College 1920, LL D Union College 1924, Dartmouth College 1935, Yale University and Amherst College 1936, and Temple University 1942; trustee Lebanon School for Boys (now Darrow School) 1932-38; founder Connecticut Merit System Association 1936, president 1936-39, and president emeritus 1939-43, president New Haven branch Connecticut League of Nations Association 1931-42, honorary chairman Connecticut chapter of the Fight for Freedom to Defend America, president Yale Alumni Association of the Naugatuck Valley 1914–16; delegate to meeting of Associated Yale Clubs of New England 1926, vice-president 1924-25; Class president 1883-1943 and Class agent 1891-1943, governor Yale Publishing Association; member Connecticut Headmasters Association, Connecticut Prison Association, New England Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools, and Connecticut committee of the American Historical Research Fund; attended Christ Episcopal Church, Watertown

Married June 29, 1892, in Niagara Falls, NY, Winifred Shepard Thompson

No children. Mrs. Taft died December 16, 1909

Death due to rupture of femoral artery Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Watertown. Survived by a sister, Mrs William A Edwards of El Cajon, Calif, and a brother, Henry W. Taft, '80, of New York City.

Reinert August Jernberg, B.A. 1884.

Born November 30, 1855, in Fredrikstad, Norway Died July 1, 1942, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, Peter August Jernberg, a shoemaker in Fredrikstad Mother, Anne Margrete (Skjoldal) Jernberg; daughter of Reinert Kristianssen and Anne Margrete (Langeland) Skjoldal.

Greenwich Academy, East Greenwich, RI, and General Russell's Collegiate and Commercial Institute, New Haven, Conn Second dispute appointment

Junior and Senior years, Class glee club Freshman, Junior, and Senior years; College Choir, member Delta Kappa Epsilon Attended Yale Divinity School 1884–85

Ordained in Methodist church, Hartford, Conn, 1885 and Congregational church 1887, minister East Berlin, Conn, 1883–85 and Mayville and Cooperstown, N Dak, 1885; attended Chicago Theological Seminary 1885–87 (B.D 1887), minister Puritan Church, Chicago, 1887–89 and Douglas Park Church 1890, instructor in Danish and Norwegian department Chicago Theological Seminary 1885–93, professor of Biblical and practical theology 1893–1916 (dean of department 1904–16), professor New Testament Greek and ecclesiastical history Union Theological College, Chicago, 1916–23; lecturer on New Testament Greek University of Southern California 1924–25, librarian School of Religion 1925–39, and librarian emeritus 1939–42, D.D. Chicago Theological Seminary 1910, founder *Evangelisten*, a Norwegian semimonthly, 1890 and editor 1890–1900, contributed to American and Norwegian religious periodicals, member First Congregational Church, Los Angeles

Married (1) May 5, 1887, in Boston, Mass, Sarah Emily, daughter of Arthur and Prudence Emerson (Montgomery) Libby Children: Prudence Emily Jernberg Abbott (Oberlin Coll 1906–09, Church School of Applied and Normal Art, Chicago, 1909–10, 1915–18); and Arthur Reinert. Mrs Jernberg died January 23, 1910 Married (2) March 11, 1922, in Chicago, Lenore, daughter

of Robert Fowler and Mary Augusta (Marston) Cummings.

Death due to myocardial degeneration Buried in Forest Hills, Mass. Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren

Yung Kwai, B.A. 1884.

Born March 2, 1861, in Sin Hui, Kwangtung, China. Died March 17, 1943, in Washington, D.C.

Parents, Yung Way Kin and Lee May Su

Springfield (Mass) High School Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Yale Chess Club, Yale Society of Natural History, and Kappa Sigma Epsilon Studied in Sheffield Scientific School 1885–86

Attended Columbia University School of Mines 1886–87, joined Chinese Legation, Washington, in 1890, successively interpreter, first secretary, adviser, and chargé d'affaires ad interim until retirement 1936, general adviser to the Chinese Embassy 1936–43, reporter New York Herald 1893–97, member Cleveland Park Church (Congregational), Washington

Married May 23, 1894, in Springfield, Mary Elizabeth Lyon Burnham (Smith Coll ex-'88), daughter of Alfred and Isabel (Wixon) Burnham Children: Flizabeth Yung Kwai (Wellesley ex-'20), the wife of Lew Suverkrop (B.S and E M Michigan Coll of Mines 1920), Burnham Yung Kwai, '19, Gertrude Yung Kwai Tong, Marina Yung Kwai (B A Bryn Mawr 1930; M A Rad-

cliffe 1931), the wife of Wilbur Carl Sze (George Washington Univ 1944), Addison Young, '24, and Dana Young, '26 S

Death due to diabetes. Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Washington Survived by wife, children, and eight grandchildren

Alexander Newton, B.A. 1884.

Born December 4, 1859, in Summit, Miss Died June 23, 1943, in Seminary, Miss

Father, Rev Oscar Newton (B D. Union Theological Seminary 1852), son of Rev. Alexander Newton, D D, and Elizabeth (Peacock) Newton of Shelby-ville, Tenn, and Jackson, Miss Mother, Susan Maria (Colton) Newton, daughter of Rev Simeon Colton and Maria (Fisher) Colton of Raleigh, N C.

Crystal Springs (Miss) Institute

Attended Union Theological Seminary 1884–87 (B D 1887), licensed by New York Presbytery 1888 and ordained by Southern Presbytery, Wesson, Miss, September 16, 1888, associated with Y M C A and engaged in mission work, New York City, 1887–88, minister Rodney (Miss) Presbyterian Church 1888–92; home missionary Mississippi Presbytery and teacher Zion Seminary 1892–1905, teacher Sanford, Miss, Moscos, Kelly Creek, Providence, and Seminary 1905–17, county superintendent of education Collins, Miss, 1917–27, did not run for reelection to this office but acted as assistant to his successor 1928–30, teacher of Latin Seminary Consolidated Schools 1930–33, retired in 1934; member Meridian Presbytery; attended Presbyterian church, Collins

Married October 4, 1894, in Rodney, Alice, daughter of John and Isabella (Winters) Mackie Children John (died in infancy), Cora, the wife of Claude Wainwright O'Donnell (B S in C E Alabama Polytechnic Inst 1923), Susie Isabella, the wife of William Hoffman Farrand (B A Hamilton Coll. 1922, M A. Univ. of Southern California 1926), Osma, George Alexander (B A Southwestern Univ 1925); Meliora, the wife of Winic Pierce, Mackie (B A. Southwestern Univ 1927); and Henry Colton

Death due to senility Buried in Crystal Springs Cemetery Survived by wife (died October 15, 1943), four daughters, three sons, twelve grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Osma Newton of Toledo, N C

Benjamin Scharps, B.A. 1884.

Born July 21, 1864, in Newburgh, NY. Died March 4, 1943, in New York City

Father, Simon A Scharps, a merchant and banker in Newburgh, son of Abraham and Hannah Scharps of Germany Mother, Rose (Kurtz) Scharps, daughter of Benjamin and Lena (May) Kurtz of Germany and New York City.

Yale relatives include David Scharps, '90 (brother), and Fred Hirschhorn, Jr., '42 (nephew)

Newburgh Academy Oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment and Scott Prize in German Senior year, member Delta Kappa and

Phi Beta Kappa

In office of Fullerton & Rushmore, lawyers, New York City, 1885–86 and managing clerk 1886–90; admitted to the bar 1886, partner Fullerton, Rushmore & Scharps 1890–93, Fullerton & Scharps 1893–1900, and Scharps & Scharps [David, '90] 1900–28, practiced independently 1928 until retirement 1941; specialized in corporation and surrogate work, member in perpetuity Metropolitan Museum of Art, member Bar Association of the City of New York, New York County Bar Association, New York County Lawyers Association, New York State and American Bar associations, and Temple Emanu-El, New York City

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Beth Jacob Cemetery, Newburgh Survived by a sister, Hannah S Hirschhorn (B.A Smith Coll. 1906), the wife of Fred Hirschhorn of New York City, and a brother, Sydney Kosmin Scharps of New York City

In 1935 his sister, Miss Tessie K Scharps, established at Yale the Benjamin

Scharps Prize in his honor

John Henry Booth, B.A. 1885.

Born December 20, 1863, in Vergennes, Vt Died May 3, 1943, in Plattsburg, NY

Father, Cyrus Austin Booth, a hardware merchant in Vergennes; son of Austin and Phebe Booth of Newtown, Conn. Mother, Sarah Booth (White) Booth, daughter of William H and Sally (Booth) White of Vergennes.

Vergennes High School High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Class tennis club, secretary Berkeley Association Junior year and president

Senior year, member Psi Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1885–87 (LLB. 1887), admitted to the bar 1887, in partnership with Judge L S Shedden, Plattsburg, NY, 1887–94; lawyer in Mooers, NY, 1894–97 and Plattsburg 1897–1943 (member Booth & Booth 1920–40), surrogate for Clinton County 1894–1905; trustee Plattsburg YMCA, secretary of the board Plattsburg Public Library 1897–1910, president 1910–11, member Plattsburg Board of Education, Lake Champlain Tercentenary Commission, Society of Colonial Wars, Masonic order, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Plattsburg (treasurer 1891–1934, warden 1903–43)

Married October 22, 1891, in Plattsburg, Marie Theresa, daughter of Millard Fillmore and Beatrice Theresa (Doran) Parkhurst. Children John Parkhurst, '14; Robert Cyrus, '16; and Katharine Marie, the wife of Lieut Col Henry Bean Margeson (B S United States Military Academy 1925)

Death due to cerebral arteriosclerosis Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Plattsburg Survived by wife, children, eight grandchildren, two of whom are Robert Townsend Booth, '45, and John Parkhurst Booth, Jr, ex-'45, and a sister, Mrs. Aaron B. Clark of St Louis, Mo.

John Loman, B.A. 1885.

Born December 14, 1861, in Philadelphia, Pa Died July 3, 1942, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, Dennis Loman, a farmer in Swedesboro, NJ Mother, Anne (Kelly) Loman.

Chester Valley Academy, Downington, Pa, and private tutor First Winthrop Prize Junior year; first dispute appointment and Berkeley Scholar Senior year.

Teacher of Greek and Latin Dwight School, New York City, 1885–87 and private tutor in New York City 1887–88, founder Duluth (Minn) Yale School 1888 and headmaster 1888–91; bookkeeper in Duluth 1891–93, teacher Duluth High School 1893–96 and principal 1896–99, headmaster Hamilton School, Philadelphia, 1899–1900 and owner Winthrop and Winthrop-Kingsley schools 1900–06, private tutor 1906–08, taught in school of mathematics and machine design of Franklin Institute 1909–10, assistant professor of science Southern Manual Training High School 1908–11, assistant professor of history and commerce West Philadelphia High School 1911–31 and professor of economic geography 1920 until retirement 1931, principal Southern Evening High School 1910–14 and West Philadelphia Evening High School 1914–30, examiner Bureau of Professional Education, Pennsylvania Department of Public Instruction, 1909–21, examiner of preliminary credentials National Board of Medical Examiners 1915–21 and evaluator of preliminary certificates from foreign countries, member Church of the Atonement (Episcopal), Philadelphia

Married April 23, 1888, in Ogdensburg, N.Y., May Helen, daughter of Samuel and Helen Mary (Congdon) Church Children Helen Kingsley (B.A. Univ of Michigan 1914), the wife of Henry Milburton Ware (Trinity Coll [N.C.] ex-'15); Stewart Kingsley (died April 1, 1890), Margaret Stewart; John Winthrop, '14, '16 S; Phillips Kingsley (died February 13, 1895), Katharine Church, the wife of John Birely Clothier, Jr. (B.S. in E.E. Univ. of Pennsylvania 1922); and Emily Linnard (B.A. Univ. of Michigan 1919), the wife of Rev. Cyril Beverly Harris (B.A. Harvard 1913, B.D. General Theological Seminary 1916).

Death due to acute leukemia Buried in Forest Hills Memorial Park, Somerton, Pa. Survived by wife, daughters, one son, and four grandchildren, one of whom is Stanley S Loman, '45.

B

Edward Newton Brandegee, B.A. 1886.

Born March 28, 1865, in Berlin, Conn Died March 8, 1943, in Port Angeles, Wash

Father, Elishama Brandegee (B A 1833, M D 1838) Mother, Florence (Stith) Brandegee Yale relatives include: Townshend Stith Brandegee, '70 S. (brother), Marius Brandegee (B A 1843) (uncle), and D Newton Barney, '81, and William Partridge Brandegee, '86 (cousins)

New Britain (Conn) High School First dispute appointment Junior year;

second dispute appointment Senior year, member Gamma Nu

Engaged in real-estate business in Kansas City, Mo, 1886–87 and in Denver, Colo, 1887–89, in real-estate and mining business in Helena, Mont, 1889–1922; collector of internal revenue, Helena, 1922 until retirement 1935, president Montana State Board of Horticulture 1902–03

Married October 26, 1899, in Helena, Harriet R, daughter of Francis and Hannah (Copp) Pope Children Florence Pope (Univ of Montana ex-'26), the wife of James Lewis McFadden (MD Univ of Toronto 1925), and Harriett Stith, the wife of Robert Lowell Watkins (BS Univ of Pennsylvania 1918). Mrs Brandegee died December 1, 1922

Death due to carcinoma Ashes interred in Forestvale Cemetery, Helena. Survived by daughters, one grandson, and a sister, Emily S Brandegee, ex-'80 Art, of Berlin, Conn

Wilson Lee Cannon, B.A. 1886.

Born August 22, 1865, in Dover, Del Died October 22, 1942, in New York City

Father, Wilson Lee Cannon, shipbuilder and farmer of Dover, member Delaware legislature, son of Richard C and Hester (Beswick) Cannon of Milford Neck, Del Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Jump) Cannon; daughter of Robert B Jump of Delaware

Wilmington Conference Academy and Wesley Collegiate Institute, Dover Dissertation appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year and Commencement speaker, special honors in political science, history, and law Junior and Senior years

Teacher of Greek and history Wilmington Conference Academy 1887–89; read law in Dover 1886–89, admitted to practice in Delaware 1889 and New York 1890, law clerk 1889–90 and practiced independently in New York City 1890 until retirement 1940, an organizer Republican Club of Flushing, N.Y, 1929 and vice-president 1929–42, on Queens County Republican Committee, historian Delaware Club, member First Congregational Church, Flushing

Married April 25, 1905, in New York City, Elizabeth Martha, daughter of

Sampson Quiggle and Rosanna (Bowers) Mingle Children Wilson Lee, Jr. (Drew Univ. 1936 and Theological Seminary 1939–42), Sanford Mingle (Drew Univ ex-'34; Columbia Univ 1931–32, 1935–36), Robert Barratt (Univ. of Alabama ex-'40), and Harry Bowers Mingle (Ohio Wesleyan Univ. ex-'40).

Death due to heart disease Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren

Abraham Lincoln Fellows, B.A. 1886.

Born November 1, 1864, in Kennebunk, Maine Died*December 23, 1942, in Denver, Colo

Father, Rev Franklin Ebenezer Fellows (B A Dartmouth 1855, grad. Andover Theological Seminary 1858), a Congregational minister, son of John and Paulina (Shedd) Fellows of Weathersfield, Vt Mother, Jane Eliza (Stiles) Fellows; daughter of Royal and Dorcas (Corbin) Stiles of Ceresco, Mich Yale relatives include a brother, George O. Fellows, '86

Norwich (Conn) Free Academy First Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years, competed in winter athletic games Sophomore and Senior years, Class Picture

Committee Senior year, member Yale Natural History Society

Teacher of mathematics and German Siglar School, Newburgh, NY, 1886– 87; successively chairman, chief engineer, and manager Montezuma Valley (Colo) Irrigation Company 1887-97, deputy state engineer of Colorado 1897-98; resident hydrographer US Geological Survey 1898-1902 (during this period explored canyon of Gunnison River and located route for Gunnison tunnel connecting river with Uncompangre Valley), district engineer U S Reclamation Service (Rocky Mountain region) 1902-05, State engineer of North Dakota 1905–07; secretary and general manager Field, Fellows & Hinderlider Engineering Company, Denver, 1907–18, irrigation engineer and senior irrigation engineer Bureau of Agricultural Engineering, U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1918–35; consulting engineer 1935–42, county surveyor Montezuma County 1891, United States deputy mineral surveyor 1895–97, engineer member Public Utilities Commission of City and County of Denver 1910-16 (president 1914–16), city engineer of Denver 1912 and member Board of Public Works; author: Measurement of Water (1901) and Water Resources of the State of Colorado (1902), on national council Brotherhood of St. Andrew, member Colorado State Forestry Association (president 1937–39), Colorado Society of Civil Engineers, New England and American Water Works associations, American Association of Engineers, American Society of Civil Engineers, American Society of Agricultural Engineers, American Association of Municipal Improvements, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Sons of the American Revolution, Masonic order, and Congregational church

Married December 20, 1905, in Webster, Pa., Blanche Irene, daughter of George and Ella Anna May (Brink) McCoy Children. Ella Jane (B A. Univ. of Denver 1928, M A 1930), the wife of Orval Philip Settles (B A Wabash Coll 1920, B S in E E Case School of Applied Science 1922), John Lincoln (B A Univ of Colorado 1931), and Dorothy (B A Univ of Denver 1936), the wife of Charles Henry Haines, Jr (B A Univ of Denver 1936, J D Univ. of Michigan 1939)

Death due to generalized carcinomatosis Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Denver Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Harriet Fellows of Washington, D.C.

Samuel Knight, B.A. 1887.

Born December 28, 1863, in San Francisco, Calif Died January 28, 1943, in San Francisco, Calif

Father, Samuel Knight, manager banking department Wells, Fargo & Company, San Francisco; son of Elisha and Lucy (Larned) Knight of Brookfield, Mass Mother, Elizabeth Stuart (Haight) Knight, daughter of Judge Fletcher Matthews Haight (B A Hamilton Coll 1818) and Elizabeth Stuart (MacLachlan) Haight of Rochester, N Y Yale relatives include Henry H. Haight (B A 1844) and Dugald C Haight (B A. 1847) (uncles), and Henry H. Haight, '88, and Louis M. Haight, '89 S (cousins).

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass First Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, high oration appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year, president Class Boat Club four years and on Class crew, secretary University Boat Club Junior year and president Senior year, president Dunham Boat Club Senior year, financial editor Yale Record Senior year, Junior Promenade Committee, member Gamma Nu, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa, graduate member Elizabethan Club

Attended Yale School of Law 1887-88 (honors Junior year) and Columbia University School of Law 1888-89 (LL B 1889), admitted to New York bar 1889 and California bar 1890, successively clerk Page [William D, '75] & Taft [Henry W, '80] and Evarts [William M, 1837], Choate [Joseph H, LL D. 1901] & Beaman, New York City, 1889-90, lawyer in San Francisco 1891-1943; member Cooper & Knight 1898-99, Page [Charles, '68], McCutchen & Harding (later Page, McCutchen & Knight) 1899-1913, and Knight & Boland [F Eldred, LL M 1905] and its successors Knight, Boland, Hutchinson & Christin, Knight, Boland & Christin, and Knight, Boland & Riordan 1918-43; assistant United States attorney for northern district of California 1893-94 and attorney 1894-98, commissioned Major, Judge Advocate General's Department, August 3, 1918, assigned to 16th Division, Camp Kearny, and later transferred to Port of Embarkation, Hoboken, overseas May-July, 1919, on

special assignment in France, Belgium, Luxembourg, and Germany; discharged July 4, 1919, trustee Hillsborough 1911–25; chairman San Francisco chapter American Red Cross 1923–37 and member Central Committee, Washington, D.C., 1929–40, president Yale Alumni Association of California 1899–1900, 1906–08, became honorary president Yale Alumni Association of Northern California 1932, member San Francisco, California State, and American Bar associations, American Society of International Law, American Academy of Political and Social Science, and Old First Presbyterian Church, San Francisco

Married October 8, 1895, in San Francisco, Mary Hurd, daughter of Charles

and Susan Maria (Hurd) Holbrook No children

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Cypress Lawn Memorial Park, San Mateo County, Calif Survived by wife and a brother, Robert Stuart Knight (Ph B Univ of California 1888) of Oakland, Calif

William Albert Setchell, B.A. 1887.

Born April 15, 1864, in Norwich, Conn. Died April 5, 1943, in Berkeley, Calif

Father, George Case Setchell, a wood-type manufacturer in Norwich, son of William and Maria (Case) Setchell of Norwich Mother, Mary Ann (Davis) Setchell, daughter of George and Emma (Knoyle) Davis of Warminster, England

Norwich Free Academy High oration appointment Junior year, philosophical oration appointment and special two-year honors in natural and physical sciences Senior year, member Yale Society of Natural History, Gamma Nu, Phi Beta Kappa, and Sigma Xi

Attended Harvard University 1887–90 (M A 1888, M A and Ph D 1890; assistant in biology 1888–91), assistant in biology Yale University 1891–92 and instructor 1892-95; professor of botany and chairman of the department University of California 1895–1934 and professor emeritus 1934–43, botanist California Agricultural Experiment Station and director Botanical Gardens, in the 1920's undertook a study of flora of Tahiti under auspices of Department of Marine Biology of Carnegie Institution of Washington, an authority on the taxonomy, distribution, and economic uses of the marine algae of the Pacific coast of North America, he was the author of a large number of papers appearing for the most part in University of California Publications in Botany, Proceedings of American Academy of Arts and Sciences and California Academy of Sciences, Transactions of the Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, Occasional Papers of the Bernice P Bishop Museum, Contributions from the Cryptogamic Laboratory of Harvard University, and the Year Book of the Carnegie Institution of Washington; author: Laboratory Practice for Beginners in Botany (1897), in 1936 Essays in Geobotany in Honor of William Albert Setchell, edited by T H Goodspeed, was published; fellow American Academy of Arts and Sciences,

Washington Academy of Sciences, California Academy of Science, American Association for the Advancement of Science (vice-president Section G 1915), Société pour l'Etudes Océaniennes, and Torrey Botanical Club; foreign member Linnean Society of London and Royal Society of Science and Arts (Goteborg, Sweden), member Western Society of Naturalists, National Academy of Sciences, American Philosophical Society, American Anthropological and Geographical societies, Société de Biographie, Société Linnéenne de Lyon, Authors Club of London, Alpha Zeta, Phi Sigma (national president), and Alpha Epsilon Sigma

Married December 15, 1920, in Edgewood, R.I., Clara Ball Pearson Caldwell, daughter of Robert Allen and Clara Moulton (Johonnot) Pearson No children.

Mrs Setchell died September 2, 1934

Death due to a shock Buried in Swan Point Cemetery, Providence Survived by four sisters, Mrs Mary S Rights, Mrs Jane L Davis, and Mrs Leila M. Cherry, all of Edgewood, and Mrs Harriet K Johnson of New Haven, Conn., and two brothers, Horace E Setchell, '97 S, and John E Setchell, '05 S

William Barrett Brinsmade, B.A. 1888.

Born December 24, 1864, in Brooklyn, NY. Died September 23, 1942, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, James B Brinsmade (B A 1845) Mother, Jennie (Newman) Brinsmade Yale relatives include James Beebe (B A 1745) (great-great-grandfather), David L Beebe (B A 1785) (great-great-uncle), James B. Brinsmade (B A 1813) (grandfather), Charles L Brinsmade (ex-'95 Spec S) (brother); James Beebee Brinsmade, '06, Adrian VanSinderen, '10, Henry B. VanSinderen, '11, Paul S Brinsmade, '12 (nephews), and Alfred White VanSinderen, '45 (grandnephew)

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute and Wilton (Conn) Academy Member

University Club, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key

Traveled 1888–89, attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1889–92 (M D 1892), interne Sloane Hospital for Women 1892 and Chambers Street Hospital 1892–93, studied in Vienna 1893, physician in Brooklyn 1894 until retirement from active practice 1929, president consulting staff St John's Hospital and Brooklyn Hospital; on staff Swedish Hospital and St Christopher's Hospital for Children, chief of surgical clinic Long Island College Hospital 1903–20, member faculty Long Island College of Medicine 1895–1942 (instructor in practical obstetrics 1895–96, assistant demonstrator of anatomy 1896–97, demonstrator of anatomy 1897–1900, instructor in surgical diagnosis and operative surgery 1900–07, clinical professor of surgery 1907–20, professor emeritus 1920–42), a frequent contributor to medical journals; commissioned Lieutenant Commander, Medical Corps, U S. Naval Reserve, April, 1917, promoted Commander April, 1919, organizer and commanding officer Naval Base Hospital No 1, on foreign service September 15, 1917–February 6,

1919, surgical director Mobile Hospital No 7, French Hospital No 49, and Base Hospital No 202, Orléans, surgical consultant to Brest group of hospitals, cited by General Pershing April 19, 1919, discharged May, 1920, chevalier Légion d'Honneur 1925, awarded Order of the Purple Heart 1933, trustee Poor Association and South Brooklyn Savings Institution, fellow American College of Surgeons, member New York Pathological and New York Surgical societies, Medical Association of Greater New York, Brooklyn Surgical Society, medical societies of Kings County and New York State, American Medical and American Surgical associations, American Academy of Medicine, International Surgical Association, Sons of the American Revolution, and Dutch Reformed church

Married February 19, 1929, in New York City, Elizabeth Tyler Hollister Fish, daughter of Samuel Whiting and Henrietta Kellogg (Trowbridge) Hollister.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Albany (NY) Rural Cemetery. Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Alice Brinsmade (died November 3, 1943), two stepdaughters, Elizabeth F Howard, the wife of Dr Christopher Howard of England, and Anne F Sands, the wife of Edward VanV Sands, '18, and five stepgrandchildren

Thomas Burnham Enders, B.A. 1888.

Born May 14, 1865, in Hartford, Conn Died January 25, 1943, in New London, Conn

Father, Thomas Ostrom Enders, a former president Aetna Life Insurance Company, Hartford, son of Jacob Enders Mother, Harriet Adelaide (Burnham) Enders, daughter of Dennis Burnham Yale relatives include two nephews, Dr John F. Enders, '19, and Ostrom Enders, '25

Hartford Public High School First colloquy appointment Semor year, member Gamma Nu.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgcons, Columbia University, 1888–91 (M D 1891), interne Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1891–92, physician and surgeon in New York City 1892–94 and West Hartford, Conn, 1894 until retirement 1897, since retirement had traveled extensively and devoted much of his time to landscape painting, fellow Medical Society of the State of New York, member Hartford County and Connecticut State Medical societies, American Medical Association, and St John's Church (Episcopal), Hartford

Married (1) August 15, 1894, in New York City, Elizabeth T Daly No children Dr and Mrs Enders were divorced in 1902 Married (2) December 22, 1925, in New York City, Alys Elizabeth Van Gilder Crary

Death due to chronic nephritis Buried in Fairview Cemetery, West Hartford Survived by wife and a brother, John Ostrom Enders of West Hartford

Dr. Enders made bequests to the Yale School of Medicine and the Yale Alumni University Fund Association

Arthur Lewis Moore, B.A. 1888.

Born January 20, 1866, in New York City Died July 11, 1942, in Northwood, Middlesex, England.

Father, William Henry Helme Moore, LL D. (B A Union Coll 1844), president Atlantic Mutual Insurance Company, New York City, and Life Saving Benevolent Institution, vice-president Seamen's Bank for Savings; son of Lieut Col Jeremiah Moore and Juliana (Brush) Moore of Greenport, N.Y. Mother, Adelaide Louisa (Lewis) Moore, daughter of Isaac and Cornelia (Donaldson) Lewis of New York City Yale relatives include Isaac Lewis (B A 1765) (great-great-grandfather), Isaac Lewis, Jr (B A 1794) (great-grandfather), and William C Moore, '89 (brother).

Everson and Halsey School, New York City. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, a steward Yale Athletic Association three years; floor manager Senior Promenade, member Class tennis club, Yale Assembly, Gamma

Nu, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

With New York Mutual Insurance Company 1888-89 and Hard & Rand, Inc, coffee merchants, New York City, 1889 until retirement 1932 (in charge London office 1892-1932), member St George's Conservative Association and St John's Presbyterian Church, Northwood

Married February 25, 1892, in New York City, Sara Frelinghuysen, daughter of Rev Talbot Wilson Chambers, S.T D, LL D (B A Rutgers 1834), and Louisa Mercer (Frelinghuysen) Chambers Children Louisa (Mrs George Harold Wilberforce Linnell Brown, died July 24, 1919), William Henry Helme (died October 19, 1915), and Zara Adelaide (Roedean School, Brighton, England, 1914–16), the wife of Arthur Brandram (Trent Coll., Nottingham, England, 1907–09) Mrs Moore died January 6, 1940.

Death due to heart block. Ashes interred in Golders Green Crematorium, London, England Survived by one daughter, four grandchildren, and a sister, Adelaide M Herrick, the wife of Elias Hicks Herrick (B.A Princeton 1888) of

New York City

Edward James Gavegan, B.A. 1889.

Born April 5, 1863, in Windsor, Conn. Died February 6, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Matthew Gavegan of New Haven, Conn, a journalist, veteran of the Civil War Mother, Helen J (Barry) Gavegan

Rockville (Conn) High School. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, Freshman Glee Club; University Glee Club two years, College Choir, member Porter Literary Society and Delta Kappa Epsilon. Attended

Yale School of Law 1889-91 (LL B 1891, shared Munson Prize Senior year, member University Glee Club and Kent Club)

Clerk in office of Simeon E Baldwin, '61, New Haven, 1891–92 and Strong, Harmon & Mathewson, New York City, 1892–93, admitted to New York bar 1892; partner Ames [Paul K, '86] & Gavegan 1893–96 and Gavegan & McQuaid [William A, '89] 1906–09, counsel Merchants and Manufacturers Board of Trade, justice Supreme Court of New York State for First Judicial District 1910 until retirement 1933 and official referee 1934–43, represented several labor unions of the building trade 1906–09, member of President Theodore Roosevelt's White House labor conference, director American Institute of Criminal Law and Criminology, on advisory board St Vincent's Hospital, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State and County Bar associations, New York County Lawyers Association, American and International Bar associations, Society of Medical Jurisprudence, Academy of Political Science (New York), American Federation of Musicians, Society of St Vincent de Paul, and Roman Catholic Church

Married October 14, 1897, in New York City, Anna Ida Walters O'Mara. No children.

Buried in Calvary Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife

Howard Wills Vernon, B.A. 1889.

Born June 27, 1867, in Brooklyn, NY. Died November 3, 1942, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Thomas Vernon, a paper manufacturer in New York City, son of Richard and Elizabeth (Wills) Vernon of Devonshire, England Mother, Ianthe (Steele) Vernon; daughter of Joseph and Eliza Ann Steele. Yale relatives include two cousins, Frederick R Vernon, '81, and Francis Joseph Vernon, '86

Adelphi Academy, Brooklyn First dispute appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year, substitute Freshman Crew, Class crew Junior year, winner Dunham single-scull race Sophomore year; captain Dunham Boat Club Senior year, Class historian, member Yale Assembly, Porter Literary Society, Psi Upsilon, and Chi Delta Theta

Associated with E. L. G. Steele & Company, commission merchants, San Francisco, 1890–93; due to ill-health was unoccupied for a few years, partner Paul E. Vernon & Company, paper, New York City, 1902 until retirement 1936; half owner H. W. & P. E. Vernon, real estate, 1903–42, secretary department of ethnology Brooklyn Institute of Arts and Sciences 1930–42, member '89 Class committee and Class reunion committees, secretary of the Class 1936–42, member Merchants Association of New York, National Paper Trade Association, and Alpine Club of Canada

Married June 27, 1919, in Northampton, Mass, Susan Dickinson Huntington

(B A Wellesley 1900, M A Columbia 1908), daughter of James Monroe and

Elizabeth Rogers (Barstow) Huntington No children

Death due to carcinoma. Survived by wife, three sisters, Miss Edith Lavrington Vernon of Brooklyn and Florence V Griffith (B A. Vassar 1895) and Isabelle V Cook, both of New York City, and a brother, Paul Egbert Vernon of Brooklyn. Two other brothers, Thomas A Vernon, '75 S., and Harold Vernon, '83, died in 1904 and 1911 respectively.

Thomas Pinckney Waring, B.A. 1889.

Born February 28, 1867, in Savannah, Ga. Died January 8, 1943, in Savannah, Ga

Father, Dr James J Waring (B A 1850). Mother, Mary Brewton (Alston) Waring Yale relatives include. Thomas P Alston (B.A 1814) (grandfather); Jacob M Alston (B A 1815) (great-uncle); William R Waring, ex-1848, and Joseph F Waring (B A 1852) (uncles), P Alston Waring, ex-'81, and James J. Waring, '87 (brothers); W Frederick Waring, ex-'92 S (cousin), Antonio J Waring, '03, James J Waring, '04 S, and J Frederick Waring, '23 (nephews), and Antonio J Waring, Jr, '38, and William W Waring, '45W S. (grand-nephews)

Savannah High School and Greylock Institute, South Williamstown, Mass Second colloquy appointment Senior year, Class supper committee, member

Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1889–92 (M D 1892), studied at University of Edinburgh summer 1890 and universities of Kiel and Berlin 1894; interne Bellevue Hospital 1892–94; physician and surgeon in Savannah 1895–1943, on staff Telfair, Savannah City, and St. Joseph hospitals, owner and medical director Oglethorpe Sanatorium 1910–43; assistant surgeon State of Georgia Volunteers 1895–1903, alderman of Savannah and chairman Savannah Sanitary Board 1917–18; contributed articles on historical and medical subjects to periodicals, president Savannah Yale Club 1922–25, fellow Southern Surgical Association, American College of Surgeons, and American Medical Association, member Medical Association of Georgia, Society of Colonial Wars (former governor, and deputy governor for State of Georgia 1936–43), Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Savannah

Married December 24, 1902, in Savannah, Martha Gallaudet, daughter of Henry Edward and Alice (Hardee) Backus Children Alice (Vassar ex-'26; B S P.H Univ of Georgia 1930), the wife of Frederick Meriam Stetson (Harvard ex-'30), Mary Alston (B A Vassar 1929, M A Columbia 1933; died July 12, 1941), and Thomas Pinckney, Jr (B.A Washington and Lee 1938; M.D. Vala 1942). Mrs. Wasna died Japanese 1942.

M D Yale 1942) Mrs Waring died January 27, 1943

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Bonaventure Cemetery, Savannah Survived by one daughter and son

Thomas Francis Bayard, B.A. 1890.

Born June 4, 1868, in Wilmington, Del. Died July 12, 1942, in Wilmington, Del

Father, Thomas Francis Bayard of Wilmington, United States Senator 1869–85; Secretary of State 1885–89, Ambassador to England 1893–97, son of James Asheton Bayard (B A Union Coll 1842) and Anne (Francis) Bayard Mother, Louisa Sewell (Lee) Bayard, daughter of Josiah and Catherine Eloise (Sewell) Lee of Baltimore, Md.

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH. Freshman Football Team, secretary-treasurer Freshman Baseball Team and of Yale Athletic Association Sophomore year (president Junior year), member Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones Attended Yale School of Law 1890–91 (on board Yale Cooperative Society; member Corbey Court)

Read law with his father 1891–93, admitted to practice in Delaware 1893 and New York 1897, lawyer in Wilmington 1893–97, 1901–42 and New York City 1898–1901, assistant corporation counsel New York City 1897–98, city solicitor of Wilmington 1917–19; chairman Democratic State Committee 1906–16, United States Senator 1922–29 (at various times member committees on appropriations, finance, claims, foreign relations, and territories and insular possessions); president Delaware Hospital 1914–21, elected president Yale Alumni Association of Delaware 1923, secretary Class of 1890 from 1900 to 1920, member Boston Sesquicentennial Commission 1926 and Immanuel Church (Episcopal), Wilmington.

Married October 3, 1908, in Rencourt, Greenville, Del, Elizabeth Bradford, daughter of Alexis Irénée duPont (B A Univ of Pennsylvania 1863, M D 1866) and Elizabeth (Bradford) duPont Children Elizabeth duPont, the wife of William Stone Weedon (B S Univ of Virginia 1930, M A Harvard 1933), Thomas Francis, Jr (Georgetown Univ ex-'37); Ellen Lee, the wife of Reginald Grice Kennelly (B A Harvard 1931, M A 1933, Ph D 1935); James Asheton, and Alexis Irénée duPont (B A Princeton 1940)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Old Swedes Cemetery, Wilmington Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs William H Hilles.

William Alfred Korn, B.A. 1890.

Born October 19, 1869, in Norwich, Conn Died May 29, 1943, in San Jose, Calif

Father, Charles Frederick William Korn, a watchmaker in Norwich Mother, Henrietta (Torbahn) Korn

Norwich Free Academy Class picture committee Senior year Attended Yale School of Medicine 1890-92 (MD 1892)

House surgeon Bridgeport (Conn) General Hospital 1892-93; physician in Norwich 1893-96 and Colchester, Conn, 1896-98; studied in New York City 1898-99, member United States Public Health and Marine Hospital Service 1899–1933, commissioned Assistant Surgeon 1899, promoted Passed Assistant Surgeon 1904 and Surgeon 1912, stationed successively at Chicago, Ill., Evansville, Ind, and Immigration Station, Philadelphia, 1899–1904 and at Perth Amboy, N.J., Reedy Island Quarantine, via Port Penn, Del., and Marine Hospital, New York City, 1904-12, assistant director of health for Philippine Islands, with headquarters in Manila, 1912–14, attached to American Consulate, Hongkong, China, 1914–15, health officer National Quarantine, San Francisco, in charge Quarantine Station at Angel Island 1915-19; attached to Marine Hospital, Fort Stanton, N.Mex, 1919-20, in charge Marine Hospital, Louisville, Ky, 1920 and Fort Thomas 1921–22, chief of relief station and immigration and quarantine activities, Providence, R I, 1922-25, head of Puget Sound quarantine service, Port Townsend, Wash, 1925-28, medical officer in charge Marine Hospital, Port Arthur, Texas, 1928 until retirement 1933; fruit grower in Cupertino, Calif, 1933-43, member American Medical Association and Congregational church, Norwich

Married November 14, 1894, in Newton, Mass, Mary Agnes, daughter of Henry and Ann (Kilday) Ferren Son George Frederick (Univ of California ex-'20)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Madrona Cemetery, Saratoga, Calif. Survived by wife and son.

Alfred Mainwaring Coats, B.A. 1891.

Born April 12, 1869, in Paisley, Scotland. Died July 21, 1942, in Barrington, R.I.

Father, Sir James Coats, director J & P. Coats, Ltd, thread manufacturers; son of Sir Peter Coats and Gloranna (Mackenzie) Coats. Mother, Sarah Ann (Auchincloss) Coats, daughter of John and Elizabeth (Buck) Auchincloss of New York City Yale relatives include David Buck (B A 1823) and Edward Buck (B A 1835) (great-uncles); Frederick L Auchincloss, '71, John W. Auchincloss, '73 S, Hugh D Auchincloss, '79 (uncles), and Samuel S Auchincloss, ex-'94, Edgar S Auchincloss, '96, Hugh Auchincloss, '01, C. Russell Auchincloss, '03, Charles C Auchincloss, '03, James C Auchincloss, '08, J Howland Auchincloss, '08, Gordon Auchincloss, '08, Reginald Auchincloss, '13, and Hugh D Auchincloss, '20 (cousins)

St Paul's School, Concord, NH Class crew Freshman year, Junior Promenade Committee, cup man, member University Club, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

Traveled around the world 1891-92; associated with J & P. Coats, Ltd., 1893 until retirement 1910 (in charge American branch at Pawtucket, R I, 1902-10), vice-president Lorraine Manufacturing Company, Pawtucket; re-

sided in New York City 1912–16 and Providence, RI, 1916–42, chairman finance committee Providence chapter American Red Cross 1917 and on New England committee Red Cross War Fund, federal food commissioner for Rhode Island during World War I, president Yale Association of Rhode Island 1919–22 and Rhode Island Golf Association 1931; member Episcopal church

Married September 4, 1895, in Flushing, NY, Elizabeth, daughter of Morris and Eliza (Hall) Barnewall Children. Archibald, ex-'20 (died October 25, 1918), Mabel, the wife of William B MacColl, and Elizabeth Mrs Coats died November 5, 1940

Death due to general arteriosclerosis. Buried in Swan Point Cemetery, Providence Survived by daughters, grandchildren, and two brothers, Sir Stuart Auchincloss Coats and James Monro Coats, both of London

Carroll Preston Davis, B.A. 1891.

Born February 1, 1868, in Pittsburgh, Pa Died March 22, 1943, in Shields, Pa

Father, George Carson Davis, manufacturer of white lead in Pittsburgh; son of John J. Davis of Pittsburgh. Mother, Westanna (Preston) Davis, daughter of Barclay and Catherine (Smith) Preston of Pittsburgh Yale relatives include George B Preston, '81 (uncle), and Barclay P. Schoyer, ex-'97, and William E. Schoyer, '00 (cousins)

Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Junior year, member University Club, Dunham Boat Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head

Read law in Pittsburgh 1891–92; admitted to the bar 1892; lawyer in Pittsburgh 1892–1904 and 1936–43, with The Union Trust Company of Pittsburgh 1904–36 (assistant trust officer 1906–18, trust officer 1918–31, vice-president 1931–36), director Allegheny General Hospital; member Civic Club of Allegheny County, Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania, Allegheny County and American Bar associations, and Shields Presbyterian Church

Married (1) April 24, 1907, in Pittsburgh, Matilde, daughter of J Chalmers and Eliza (Zug) Clarkson Mrs. Davis died April 8, 1909 Married (2) September 1, 1915, at Ahmic Lake, Ontario, Susan Shields, daughter of Halsey and Martha (Cook) Williams No children.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in family mausoleum, Shields Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs John Marshall of Orange, N J

Henry King Sheldon, B.A. 1891.

Born September 10, 1870, in Brooklyn, NY Died October 26, 1942, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Lucius Marcus Sheldon of Brooklyn, son of James Sheldon Mother, Harriet (Hutchinson) Sheldon.

Polytechnic Preparatory School, Brooklyn. Member University Club.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1891–92 and New York Law School 1892–93 (LL B 1893), admitted to the bar 1893, lawyer in New York City 1893–1914 and Westport Point, Mass, 1914–23; assistant treasurer St. Michael's Church, New York City, 1923–42 and trustee 1933, superintendent St Michael's Cemetery 1932–42

Married April 4, 1908, in Washington, D.C., Alice, daughter of Charles Tillinghast and Nancy Slade (Brightman) Wing. Daughter. Gladys, the wife of Henry Plante

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by wife, daughter, and one granddaughter

Egerton Swartwout, B.A. 1891.

Born March 3, 1870, in Fort Wayne, Ind. Died February 18, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Satterlee Swartwout of Stamford, Conn, and New York City; son of Robert and Sarah Stearns (Satterlee) Swartwout Mother, Charlotte Elizabeth (Edgerton) Swartwout, daughter of Alfred Peck and Charlotte (Dixon) Edgerton Yale relatives include Louis Manierre, '01, Alfred E. Manierre, '02, Arthur Manierre, '03, and Francis E Manierre, '07 (cousins).

King School, Stamford First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year, member Class Literary Society and Psi Upsilon.

In office of McKim, Mead & White, architects, New York City, 1891–1900; partner Tracy [Evarts, '90] & Swartwout 1900-22; independently engaged as architect 1922-43, specialized in monumental architecture and drew plans for hospitals, churches, clubs, banks, and federal, state, and municipal buildings in various sections of the United States, architect original Yale Club in New York and the Art Gallery at Yale, designed St-Mihiel Monument at Montsec, France, and Memorial Chapel, Brookwood Cemetery, near London, for American Battle Monuments Commission, appointed member National Commission of Fine Arts 1931, on committee of visitors School of Architecture, Columbia University, 1914 until about 1925 and 1927–34; author. The Classical Orders of Architecture (1918), The Use of the Order in Modern Architecture (1920), and An Architectural Monograph Some Old Time Churches of Vermont (1927), in charge of reviews of current architectural publications American Architect and Architecture 1922–26; fellow American Institute of Architects (secretary New York chapter 1912–14, vice-president 1914–16, president 1917–19, as member of firm Tracy & Swartwout awarded medal of honor 1920), director Fine Arts Federation of New York and secretary 1914–17, academician National Academy of Design, honorary member Société Nationale des Beaux Arts; member National Institute of Arts and Letters

Married June 20, 1904, in Cambridge, England, Isabelle Geraldine, daughter of Gerald and Geraldine (Stockbridge) Devenport Children Robert Egerton (B A. Univ. of Cambridge 1928, M A. and M Litt 1931) and Charlotte Elizabeth (died in infancy).

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery,

Tarrytown, N.Y. Survived by wife and son

Clifford Gray Twombly, B.A. 1891.

Born May 7, 1869, in Stamford, Conn. Died December 29, 1942, in Concord, NH.

Father, Rev. Alexander S Twombly, '54 Mother, Abigail Quincy (Bancroft) Twombly Yale relatives include Edward B Twombly, '12, and Alexander H Twombly, Jr., '18 (nephews); and Doane Twombly, '39, and Edward Twombly, Jr., '45W (grandnephews)

Boston Latin School Second Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Scott Prize in French Junior year, Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Banjo Club Sophomore year; member Yale Assembly, Alpha Delta Phi, and Phi Beta

Kappa.

Attended Andover Theological Seminary 1891–93 and Episcopal Theological School, Cambridge, Mass., 1893–94 (B D 1894), ordained deacon 1894 and priest 1895; assistant minister Grace Church, New Bedford, Mass, 1894–97, rector St Paul's Church, Newton Highlands, Mass, 1897–1907 and St James' Church, Lancaster, Pa, 1907 until retirement 1939, honorary canon St Stephen's Cathedral, Harrisburg, 1931–39, chairman social service committee Diocese of Harrisburg 1911–15, member standing committee of the Diocese 1917–19, 1927, and 1931–39, and on executive council 1931–39, chairman executive committee Lancaster Law and Order Society 1914–39, on executive committee Lancaster Community Service Association and Lancaster Tuberculosis Society; author of many printed addresses and papers, D D Franklin and Marshall College 1916, member St Paul's Church, Concord

Married July 1, 1897, in Holderness, N H, Edith Cazenove, daughter of Rev Canon Lewis Penn Witherspoon Balch, D.D. (B A Princeton 1834), and Emily (Wiggin) Balch. Children Gray Huntington (B A Franklin and Marshall Coll 1925, M D. Harvard 1929) and Alexander Stevenson (B A. Franklin and Marshall Coll 1926, B D Episcopal Theological School 1933)

Mrs. Twombly died January 19, 1938

Death due to cerebral embolism. Buried in Trinity Cemetery, Plymouth, N.H Survived by children and a brother, Henry B Twombly, '84 Two other brothers, Edward L. Twombly, '81, and Howland Twombly, '96, died in 1935 and 1939 respectively.

Leonard Eugene Wales, B.A. 1891.

Born April 14, 1870, in Wilmington, Del Died March 27, 1943, in Wilmington, Del

Father, John Patten Wales (M D Univ of Pennsylvania 1852), physician in Wilmington; Captain 17th U.S. Infantry during Civil War, son of John Wales (B A 1801) and Ann (Patten) Wales of Wilmington. Mother, Ellen Maria (Wood) Wales, daughter of William H and Ellen (Seal) Wood of Portland, Maine Yale relatives include. Samuel Wales (B A. 1767) (great-grandfather); Isaac M Wales (B A 1793) and Leonard E. Wales (B.A. 1807) (great-uncles); Leonard E Wales (B A. 1845) (uncle); Joseph P Wales, '94 S (brother); and George Perkins Bissell, '90 S (cousin)

Shortlidge Academy, Media, Pa First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, captain University Cricket Team and president University Cricket Association Senior year, Second Glee Club; College Choir; member Sigma Nu.

Studied law with his uncle, Leonard E Wales, 1891–92; attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1892–94, admitted to the bar 1894; associated with Hoffecker & Hoffecker [James H, '71], Wilmington, 1894 until about 1900; practiced independently in Wilmington 1900–43; secretary to Senator L. Heisler Ball 1903–05; referee in bankruptcy for New Castle County 1908–21; United States District Attorney for Delaware 1927–35; judge Court of Common Pleas, New Castle County, 1935–43, member Delaware State and New Castle County Bar associations, Historical Society of Delaware, Law Library Association of New Castle County, Delaware State Society of the Cincinnati, and Masonic order, trustee First and Central Presbyterian Church of Wilmington

Married February 3, 1906, in Wilmington, Katherine Tiel, daughter of William R and Nellie K (Hume) Garrett No children. Mrs Wales died October 2, 1929.

Death due to thrombosis Buried in Wilmington and Brandywine Cemetery, Wilmington Survived by two sisters, the Misses Isabelle Belin and Elizabeth Bent Wales, both of Wilmington.

Stansbury [Tiffany] Hagar, B.A. 1892.

Born December 9, 1869, in San Francisco, Calif. Died December 23, 1942, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Thomas Smith Hagar, bookkeeper Tiffany & Company, New York City, son of William and Mary (Smith) Hagar of Brooklyn. Mother, Chloe Amanda (Tremblay) Hagar; daughter of Daniel and Harriet Amanda (Tiffany) Tremblay of Brooklyn Yale relatives include a great-uncle, William H. Tiffany (B A 1840)

Brooklyn Latin School, Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute, and Briar Cliff Military Academy, Ossining, N Y. Entered with Class of 1891, president Class Literary Society Freshman year; member Yale Union

Attended New York Law School 1895-97 (LL B 1897); admitted to the bar 1898; practiced independently in New York City 1898 until retirement 1925; student of American Indian ethnology and of archaeology, especially the symbolic astronomy of Peru and Mexico, secretary department of ethnology Brooklyn Institute of Arts and Sciences 1908–21 and president 1922–39, on executive committee department of astronomy 1903-39, secretary of council 1922-39, contributed numerous articles on ethnology and astronomy to various scientific journals, fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science (counselor and emeritus life member) and American Ethnological Society (elected treasurer 1915); honorary member Swedish Astronomical Society, member International Congress of Americanists (delegate to meeting in Paris 1900, New York City 1902, Vienna 1908, and New Mexico 1910), Anthropological Association, Institut Internationale d'Anthropologie, American Forestry Association, National Institute of Social Sciences, Astronomical Society of the Pacific, Indian Rights Association, Society of American Indians, Explorers Club of New York (treasurer and secretary), Salmagundi Club, Vedanta Society of New York, and Episcopal church

Married September 20, 1900, in Boston, Mass, Clara Finck, daughter of George Appleton and Jane (Easterbrooks) Robinson Children Dorothy (died in infancy), and Thomas and Margery (adopted) Mrs Hagar died April 17, 1934.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by one daughter and son.

Arthur Merwin Marsh, B.A. 1892.

Born August 7, 1870, in Bridgeport, Conn Died November 22, 1942, in Southport, Conn

Father, Daniel Edwin Marsh, a contractor in Bridgeport, superintendent Wheeler & Wilson Manufacturing Company; son of John Buckley and Laura (Hine) Marsh of New Milford, Conn Mother, Sarah Florinda (Merwin) Marsh; daughter of Horace and Sarah Florinda (Peet) Merwin of Kent, Conn

Bridgeport High School Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Yale Union, Zeta Psi, and Elihu.

Attended Harvard Law School 1894–96 (LL B 1898, an editor Harvard Law Review); admitted to Connecticut bar 1898 and to practice before Supreme Court of the United States 1903; lawyer in Bridgeport 1896–1942; associated with Stoddard, Bishop & Shelton 1896–1909; member Stoddard, Marsh & Boardman [William B, '93] 1902–06, Stoddard, Marsh & Stoddard 1906–09, Marsh, Stoddard [Sanford, '99] & Day [David S, '02, '04 L] 1909–42, and

Marsh, Day & Calhoun April 1-November 22, 1942, attorney for United States Shipping Board and later special counsel for Emergency Fleet Corporation during World War I, trustee Bridgeport Y.M.C.A. 1900-42; co-author, with Charles S Haight, '92, Questions and Answers for Bar Examinations (1899; 2d edition 1909), alderman City of Bridgeport 1900-01, chairman Bridgeport City Planning Commission 1915 and Zoning Commission for Fairfield, Conn, 1926-39, member Connecticut Civic Association (on executive committee), Military Order of the Loyal Legion (New York), Association of the Bar of the City of New York, State Bar Association of Connecticut, Fairfield County Bar Association (chairman committee on recommendations for admissions to the bar), American Bar Association, and Southport Congregational Church.

Married October 28, 1909, in Montclair, N J, Irene Lee, daughter of Alvin James and Irene (Lee) Graffin Children: Margaret (B A Bryn Mawr 1934), the wife of Sheldon R Luce, '33, and John Lee (B.A Dartmouth 1936). Mrs.

Marsh died September 1, 1936

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Center Cemetery, New Milford Survived by children, four grandchildren, and a brother, Egbert Marsh, '95 S.

Thornwell Mullally, B.A. 1892.

Born January 17, 1868, in Columbia, S C. Died March 16, 1943, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Rev Francis Patrick Mullally, DD, a Presbyterian minister; president Adger College, Columbia, son of Thomas and Jane (Mandeville) Mullally of Clonmel, Ireland Mother, Elizabeth Keith (Adger) Mullally; daughter of Rev. John Bailey Adger, DD (Princeton Theological Seminary 1829–33), and Elizabeth Keith (Shrewsbury) Adger of Columbia. Yale relatives include a nephew, Mandeville Mullally, Jr, '39

Adger College, University of South Carolina, and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven Third composition prize Sophomore year; first dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, Junior Exhibition Speaker, Townsend Premium; participated in Yale-Harvard debate Senior year; an editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; Junior Promenade and Ivy committees; member University Club, Yale Union, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, Chi Delta Theta, and Scroll and Key.

Attended University of Virginia Law School 1892 and New York Law School 1892–94 (LL B 1894), in office of Betts [Frederic H, '64], Atterbury [Charles L, '64], Hyde & Betts [Samuel Rossiter, '75] 1892–93 and Alexander & Green 1893–94, admitted to New York bar 1894 and to California bar, lawyer in New York City 1894–1906 (member Atterbury & Mullally) and San Francisco 1919–43, assistant to the president United Railroads, now Market Street Railway Company, San Francisco, 1906–17, member Committee of Fifty which took charge of civilian needs following San Francisco fire 1906, chairman transportation committee and committee for removal of debris; a

director Panama-Pacific International Exposition 1915 and on advisory commission for San Francisco and State participation committee Golden Gate International Exposition 1939–40; organizer and grand marshal San Francisco Preparedness Day Parade 1916; member Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1894–99; military observer and correspondent with General Pershing on punitive expedition to Mexico 1916, organized in 1915 and commander 1915-17 San Francisco Cavalry Troop and 2d California Field Artillery, federalized August 3, 1917, as 144th Field Artillery ("California Grizzlies"), 40th Division, commissioned Lieutenant Colonel, California National Guard, August 3, 1917, and Lieutenant Colonel, Federal Service, August 4, 1917, promoted Colonel October 6, 1917, overseas August 14, 1918–January 3, 1919, as commander 144th Field Artillery, for a time commanding officer 65th Field Artillery Brigade; discharged February 6, 1919; commissioned Colonel, Officers Reserve Corps, 1919, Brigadier General 1921, and Brigadier General, Auxiliary Reserve, 1926, in command 188th Artillery Brigade 1923-26, on inactive list 1936-43, awarded Distinguished Service Medal 1923, an organizer Association of the Army of the United States 1922 and first national commander, commander-inchief American War Veterans; honorary member Spanish War Veterans; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, Association of Exmembers of Squadron A, American Legion, and Veterans of Foreign Wars; trustee Calvary Presbyterian Church, San Francisco

Unmarried.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by three sisters, Miss Susan Dunlap Adger Mullally, Elizabeth Keith Mullally (B A Smith Coll 1898), and Mary Clare M Norton (B A Smith Coll 1901), the wife of Benjamin V Norton, ex-'99 S, all of New York City, and two brothers, Mandeville Mullally, '98, and William T. Mullally, ex-'02.

Erman Jesse Ridgway, B.A. 1892.

Born August 6, 1867, in Otsego, Ohio. Died June 16, 1943, at Clifton Springs, NY.

Father, Dr. Nathaniel Boerum Ridgway, a physician in Otsego and Galion, Ohio; son of Basil and Mary (Boerum) Ridgway of Adamsville, Ohio Mother, Catherine (Erman) Ridgway, daughter of Nicholas and Catherine Erman of Otsego.

Northwestern Preparatory School, Evanston, Ill, attended Northwestern University 1887–90 (member Delta Upsilon) Entered Yale College 1890, second dispute appointment Senior year, University Baseball Team Senior year

Salesman National Folding Box Company, New Haven, Conn, 1892–94; vice-president Bicycle Coupler Manufacturing Company, Philadelphia, 1894, with Ridgway & Chapman, contractors, 1895, vice-president and general

manager Frank A Munsey Company, publishers of Munsey's Magazine, 1896-1903; president Ridgway Company 1903 until its absorption by Butterick Publishing Company 1909, editor-in-chief of all Butterick and Ridgway publications 1909–17, associate publisher New York Sun, New York Herald, and Munsey's Magazine 1917 until retirement 1923, resided in California 1924–39 and in Providence, RI, and New York City 1939–43, chairman Class dinner committee 1922, member Periodical Publishers Association of America and Broadway Tabernacle Church (Congregational), New York City.

Married (1) October 27, 1897, in New Haven, Conn, Greye, daughter of Melville B and Dora (McCarthy) Chapman Mrs Ridgway died December 15, 1897 Married (2) June 28, 1899, in West Union, Iowa, Anna Eleanor Robinson (B A Northwestern Univ. 1891), daughter of Stephen Eddy and Elizabeth (Artman) Robinson Children Eleanor (Northwestern Univ ex-'25), the wife of Edwin Pulver Cook (B S Brown 1914); Robin Elizabeth (B A. Vassar 1922), the wife of Ira Alfred Hinsdale (B A Syracuse Univ 1910; M D. Cornell 1919), and Thayer Mrs Ridgway died September 7, 1940.

Death due to malignant melanoma Ashes interred in Forest Hills Cemetery, Boston. Survived by children, five grandchildren, and a half sister, Gail R. Brown (B A Oberlin 1904), the wife of Sydney Barlow Brown, Litt D.

(B A Oberlin 1908, M A Yale 1911), of Tucson, Ariz.

Walter Ralph Steiner, B.A. 1892.

Born November 18, 1870, in Frederick City, Md. Died November 4, 1942, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Lewis Henry Steiner, LL D., Litt D. (B A Marshall Coll. 1846; M.D. Univ of Pennsylvania 1849, M A. Hon Yale 1869), physician and teacher; chief inspector U S Sanitary Commission, Army of the Potomac, 1861–65; senator in Maryland legislature 1872–84, librarian Enoch Pratt Free Library, Baltimore, 1884–92, son of Christian and Rebecca (Weltzheimer) Steiner of Frederick Mother, Sarah Spencer (Smyth) Steiner; daughter of Ralph D. Smyth (B A. 1827) and Rachel Stone (Seward) Smyth of Guilford, Conn. Yale relatives include: Abraham L Smyth (M D. 1823) (great-uncle), Walter H. Smyth, '63, and Richard E Smyth, '66 (uncles), John C. Smith, '81, and Ralph H Smith, '88 S (cousins), Bernard C. Steiner, '88 (brother), and Richard L. Steiner, '36 E (nephew)

Frederick Academy, University School for Boys, Baltimore, and private tutor Dissertation appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year; member Zeta Psi Graduate member Elihu M.A. 1895.

Graduate student in chemistry Johns Hopkins University 1892–94; attended Johns Hopkins School of Medicine 1894–98 (M D 1898), resident house officer Johns Hopkins Hospital 1898–99, physician in Hartford 1900–42, chairman medical and surgical staff Hartford Hospital 1925–33, consulting physician

New Britain General, Meriden, and Middlesex hospitals, Charlotte Hungerford Hospital (Torrington), and Hartford Orphan Asylum, honorary physician Manchester Memorial Hospital, director and member executive board Gaylord Farm Sanatorium; on State Water Commission 1925-42 and Hartford Sewage Commission 1927-30, member Committee on High Costs of Medical Care 1928-32 and committee on research and engineering Tri-State Treaty Commission for Abatement of Pollution of Harbor and Coastal Waters of Metropolitan Area from 1931 to 1941, contributed to Modern Medicine, edited by Sir William Osler, LLD 1901 (vol. 6, 1909), History of Connecticut, edited by Norris G. Osborn, '80 (1925), A Text-Book of Medicine, edited by Russell L Cecil (1927), New Oxford Loose Leaf System of Medicine, Nelson's Loose Leaf System of Medicine, and to medical journals, L.H.D. Trinity College 1931; Gamma Alpha lecturer at Yale 1923, delivered historical address at centennial celebration of Yale School of Medicine 1914; president Medical Library Association 1931-33, American Clinical and Climatological Association 1934-35, and American Association for the Study of the History of Medicine 1938-39, secretary Congress of American Physicians and Surgeons 1911-32, secretary Connecticut State Medical Society 1905–12, chairman of the council 1929–33, president 1934-35, librarian Hartford Medical Society 1903-41 and president 1929; fellow American Medical Association (member House of Delegates), American College of Physicians, and American Association for the Advancement of Science; director National Tuberculosis Association, on advisory council Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine, member New York Academy of Medicine, Hartford County Medical Association, Association of American Physicians, American Association of Pathologists and Bacteriologists, Society of American Bacteriologists, Maryland, Virginia, and Connecticut Historical societies, Beaumont Medical Club, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, Hartford.

Unmarried.

Death due to cerebral anemia. Buried in Mt Olivet Cemetery, Frederick. Survived by three sisters, the Misses Gertrude Rachel and Bertha Rebecca Steiner, both of Hartford, and Amy Louise Steiner (B A Bryn Mawr 1899) of Baltimore.

A Yale memorabilia room in the Historical Library, Yale Medical Library, has been furnished and named in honor of Dr. Steiner

Thomas Hamilton Breeze, B.A. 1893.

Born December 27, 1871, in San Francisco, Calif Died January 4, 1943, in San Francisco, Calif

Father, Thomas Breeze, partner Murphy, Grant & Company, wholesale drygoods merchants, San Francisco, son of Hamilton and Elizabeth (Gourlay) Breeze of Killeagh, Ireland. Mother, Louisa (McCrea) Breeze, daughter of

Alan and Matilda (Thistlewaite) McCrea of Killeagh. Yale relatives include: William F Breeze, '89 S (brother), and Thomas M. Benson, ex-'17 S. (nephew).

Private tutor Second Berkeley Premium in Latin Composition Sophomore year, dissertation appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year, University Drum Corps Senior year; member University Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon Attended Yale School of Law 1893–95 (LL B cum laude 1895; secretary Kent Club, on board Yale Law Journal, member Corbey Court)

Admitted to Connecticut bar 1895 and California bar 1896; lawyer in San Francisco 1896–97 and 1900–43 and in Stockton, Calif, 1897–1900 (member Fairall & Breeze 1899–1900); with Reddy, Campbell & Metson 1900–03; member Campbell, Metson & Campbell 1903–05, attorney United States Smelting, Refining and Mining Company of Boston 1925–31; in the early 'thirties made an unpublished translation of the *Epodes* and four books of the Odes of Horace under the title "The Songs of Horace", contributed to California Law Review; president Yale Alumni Association of Northern California 1926–29, president board of trustees San Mateo Union High School and Junior College Districts 1928–34, trustee Hillsborough Elementary School District 1918–39.

Married August 5, 1905, in Menlo Park, Calif., Frances Hay, daughter of Austin Dickinson Moore (B A. Princeton 1852) and Frances Jane (Phillips) Moore. Children Thomas Hamilton, Jr. (Stanford Univ. 1923–27), and Austin Dickinson Moore.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Cypress Lawn Memorial Park, San Mateo County, Calif Survived by wife, sons, and two sisters, Miss Louisa Breeze (died March 3, 1943) and Mrs. Harry C Benson of Burlingame, Calif

Alfred Kindred Merritt, B.A. 1893.

Born November 25, 1866, in Weldon, NJ. Died March 28, 1943, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Munson Lyman Merritt, a building contractor in Newark, N J., and Brainerd, Minn Mother, Cornelia Jane (Kindred) Merritt; daughter of John Eddy and Eunice (Dickerson) Kindred of New Jersey

Shattuck School, Faribault, Minn. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year, substitute Freshman Baseball Team, member Delta Kappa Epsilon, Wolf's Head, and Phi Beta Kappa

Registrar of Yale College, with assistant professorial rank, 1893 until retirement 1935, resided in Harper, Wash, 1939–43, on committee for forty-year reunion of Class of 1893, member Methodist church

Married (1) January 24, 1904, in New York City, Nettie Linwood, daughter of Rufus Bartlett and Henrietta Grace (Monson) Hoyt. Son. Alfred Kindred, Jr. (died June 11, 1918). Mrs. Merritt died August 9, 1935 Married (2) Decem-

ber 22, 1938, in Tacoma, Wash., Georgia Congdon Parks, daughter of Edgar Thomas and Emma Eudora (Vaughan) Congdon

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Washelli Cemetery, Seattle Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Florene M Packard of Bellingham, Wash

Albert Hooker Morse, B.A. 1893.

Born March 28, 1868, in New Haven, Conn Died June 10, 1943, in Rochester, NY.

Father, Francis Burnham Morse, superintendent Henry Hooker Company, carriage manufacturers, New Haven, and H D Smith Company, Plantsville, Conn., son of Nahum B and Britania (Burnham) Morse of Westbrook, Maine Mother, Alice (Burnham) Morse, daughter of Eppes and Mary (Kingman) Burnham of Bridgton, Maine Yale relatives include a brother, Henry H. Morse, '88 D.

Bridgton Academy Second colloquy appointment and one-year honors in philosophy Senior year; winner 440-yard dash Spring games Freshman year, member Sigma Nu

Headmaster Episcopal Academy, Cheshire, Conn, 1893–94, teacher Boardman Trade School, New Haven, 1894–97; superintendent of schools Webster, Mass, 1897–1904, manager Balch Brothers, publishers, Buffalo, NY, 1904–13 and Houghton, Mifflin & Company, Rochester, NY, 1913–16, special worker with tools and dies General Railway Signal Company and Symington Forge Company, Rochester, 1916–19, and Savage Arms Company, Utica, NY, 1919–20; with Eastman Kodak Company, Rochester, 1920 until retirement 1940; an organizer Rochester Advertising Club, member Masonic order, attended Baptist church, Rochester.

Married December 24, 1895, in New Haven, Nellie Velzorah Angus (Yale School of Music ex-'96), daughter of Albert Warren and Emma (Palmer) Angus Children Alice Burnham (B A Univ of Rochester 1919), the wife of Lieut Col Elwood Hilton Snider (B S Univ of Rochester 1920), Emma Diantha, the wife of Fremont Lowell Thrasher, Roger Winfield (B S Univ of Illinois 1934), Nellie Velzorah (died December 8, 1937), Harvey Francis, Albert Henry; Elizabeth Kingman; Gilbert Balch, and Donald Stewart

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Rochester Survived by wife (died June 20, 1943), three daughters, five sons, and five grandchildren.

Thomas Cann [Quincy] Trask, B.A. 1893.

Born August 18, 1870, in Frederick, Md. Died July 29, 1942, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Brainard Packard Trask, lawyer and teacher, served in United States Army in Civil War, son of Rev. George Trask and Nancy (Quincy) Trask of Massachusetts. Mother, Mary Sanger (Cann) Trask; daughter of Rev. Thomas McMullen Cann and Mary (Sanger) Cann of Frederick, and Scranton, Pa.

School of the Lackawanna, Scranton, attended Amherst College 1890–92. Entered Yale College Senior year, one-year honors in history, member Theta Delta Chi M A 1903

Teacher Brooklyn Latin School 1893–95, head of language department Newburgh (N Y) Academy 1895–99, teacher Morris High School, New York City, 1899–1900 and 1902–10, Peter Cooper High School 1900–01, and High School of Commerce 1899–1910, head of history department Commercial High School, Brooklyn, 1910–41, instructor in history evening session College of the City of New York 1928–30; eastern agent Parsche Studios, handmade china, Chicago, 1920–30, expert on methods and bibliography in history for New York Board of Examiners 1923–39; editor of teachers service Review of Reviews 1920–25, on national ranking committee United States Lawn Tennis Association 1907, member American Historical Association, St. Nicholas Society of New York, Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce, and First Presbyterian Church, Scranton.

Married (1) June 28, 1900, in New Windsor, Conn., Mary, daughter of John Cornell. No children. Mr and Mrs. Trask were divorced in 1915. Married (2) February 8, 1916, in Philadelphia, Jessie, daughter of Francis Xavier and Margaret (Crawford) Parsche. Daughter Margaret Crawford (B A. Barnard Coll. 1939)

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Forest Presbyterian Church Cemetery, Middletown, Del Survived by wife, daughter, two half sisters, Miss Margaret Lovell Plumley of New York City and Mrs. George Wilson of West Los Angeles, Calif, and three half brothers, Howard Plumley of Scranton, Gardiner Plumley of Charleston, W.Va., and Stuart Plumley of Winnetka, Ill.

Frank Lyon Polk, B.A. 1894.

Born September 13, 1871, in New York City. Died February 7, 1943, in New York City.

Father, William Mecklenburg Polk, LL D (M D. Columbia 1869), a physician and surgeon in New York City, professor of obstetrics and gynecology and dean Cornell Medical College, served in Confederate Army in Civil War; son of Right Rev Leonidas Polk, D D, LL D (grad U.S. Military Academy 1827), and Frances Ann (Devereaux) Polk of Tennessee and Louisiana Mother, Ida Ashe (Lyon) Polk, daughter of Francis Strother and Sarah Serena (Glover) Lyon of Demopolis, Ala Yale relatives include a brother, John M. Polk, '96 S.

Groton (Mass) School Freshman Football Team and Freshman Crew; Class crew three years; substitute University Football Team Freshman year; Class cup committee, member University Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1894-97 (LL B 1897), admitted to the bar 1897; lawyer in New York City 1897–1943, clerk Evarts [William M, B.A. 1837], Choate [Joseph H, LL D. 1901] & Beaman 1897-1900, partner Watriss & Polk (later Alexander, Watriss & Polk) 1900-14 and Stetson, Jennings & Russell (successively Stetson, Jennings, Russell & Davis John W , LL.D. 1921], Davis, Polk, Wardwell [Allen, '95], Gardiner & Reed [Lansing P, '04]) 1914-43; member Board of Education, New York City, 1906-07, and Municipal Civil Service Commission 1907-09 (president 1908-09); treasurer Bureau of Municipal Research 1911-13, Collector of Port of New York 1913–14, corporation counsel City of New York 1914–15, counsel Department of State of the United States 1915–19 and Under Secretary of State 1919-20; Acting Secretary of State December 4, 1918-July 18, 1919, appointed Commissioner Plenipotentiary to Negotiate Peace July 17, 1919, and chairman American delegation to Peace Conference July-December, 1919, served with Troop A, New York Volunteer Cavalry, April, 1898; appointed Captain and assistant on Quartermaster Staff of General Ernst's Brigade, June 19, 1898; stationed at Chickamauga, Ga, Charleston, SC, and in Puerto Rico, honorably discharged November 30, 1899; vice-president Kips Bay Neighborhood Association 1913–14 (president 1915), Pan-American Society 1931–35 (honorary president 1936-43), and Church Pension Fund of Protestant Episcopal Church 1933-43; elected vice-president British War Relief Society January, 1943, chairman American Friends of Yugoslavia, Inc, 1941-43; national director Paderewski Fund for Polish Relief, Inc; trustee New York Orthopedic Hospital 1905-23 (vice-president 1924-43), United Hospital Fund 1910-16, New York Public Library 1921-43 (secretary of board 1923-32, second vicepresident 1928-32, president 1932-43), United States Trust Company 1923-43, Bowery Savings Bank 1928-43, Woodrow Wilson Foundation 1929-34 and 1937-42 (president 1937 and 1938, vice-president 1931, 1932, 1933, 1941), Cathedral of St. John the Divine 1929-43, Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York 1930-43, and Metropolitan Museum of Art 1931-37, MA Hon Yale 1918; D C.L. University of the South 1928; LL D Rollins College 1930 and New York University 1935; created grand officer Order of Leopold (Belgium) 1920 and Légion d'Honneur (France) 1926; awarded Grand Cross of Order of the Crown of Roumania, and Order of Polonia Restituta (1st class); received Heraldic Order of Cristóbal Colón (Dominican government) 1940; chairman Atlantic division Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; on advisory committee Human Welfare Group, member council Yale-in-China 1927-31; president Kingsley Trust Association 1926-28, governor Yale Publishing Association; councilor American Geographical Society, on board of governors New York Hospital 1923-43, member Bar Association of the City of New York, New York County, New York State, and American Bar associations, National Civic Federation, National Municipal League (president 1924-27, honorary vice-president 1929-41), The Pilgrims, Sons of the Revolution, Society of the Cincinnati, Southern Society of New York, Tennessee

Society, and Church of the Heavenly Rest (Episcopal), New York City. Married January 27, 1908, in Philadelphia, Elizabeth Sturgis, daughter of James and Elizabeth (Sturgis) Potter. Children: John Metcalf, '31, Elizabeth Sturgis, the wife of Raymond R Guest, '31; Frank Lyon, Jr, '34, James Potter, ex-'38, and Alice Potter, the wife of Winthrop Rutherfurd, Jr (B A. Princeton 1928)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, children, and eight grandchildren.

Ulysses Simpson Grant Bassett, B.A. 1895.

Born July 7, 1872, in Port au Prince, Haiti. Died December 14, 1942, in Washington, D.C

Father, Ebenezer Don Carlos Bassett (grad Connecticut State Normal School 1853), a teacher in New Haven, Conn., and Philadelphia, United States minister to Haiti 1869–77 and 1879–88, Haitian consul and consul-general in New York City 1898–1908 Mother, Eliza (Park) Bassett; daughter of Robert Martin and Frances (Boardman) Park of New Haven. Yale relatives include a brother, Ebenezer D C Bassett, ex-'85.

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years

Studied medicine at Howard University 1896; teacher of mathematics Dunbar High School (formerly M Street High School), Washington, 1895 until retirement July, 1942, trustee Home for Destitute Women and Children 1912-20, member St Mary's Church (Episcopal), Washington.

Unmarried

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by no immediate relatives

Edward Taylor Buckingham, B.A. 1895.

Born May 12, 1874, in Metuchen, NJ. Died July 30, 1942, in Bridgeport, Conn

Father, Walter Taylor Buckingham, deputy collector of customs, Bridgeport, son of Lucius Edwin and Julia Abigail (Taylor) Buckingham of Dover, NY, and Woodbury, Conn. Mother, Helen Emeline (Tolles) Buckingham; daughter of Robert Tolles of Waterbury, Conn

Bridgeport High School First dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment and one-year honors in political science and law Senior year. Attended Yale School of Law 1895–97 (LL B 1897, assistant librarian of the Law School)

Admitted to the bar 1897, lawyer in Bridgeport 1897-1901 and 1912-32

(member Buckingham & Bent [William W., '05 L.] 1912-32), justice of the peace 1898-1902, city clerk of Bridgeport 1901-09, mayor 1909-11 and 1929-33; workmen's compensation commissioner, Fourth Congressional District, 1913-27 and 1933-42 and candidate for Congress from the district 1934, one of Connecticut's commissioners on Tri-State Treaty Commission for Abatement of Pollution of Harbor and Coastal Waters of Metropolitan Area 1931–32, became president Connecticut Recreation Association 1940, first vice-president League of Municipalities in 1931; on Bridgeport Board of Recreation 1922-29 and Board of Education 1928-31; permanent chairman Armistice Day Committee 1933-42, general chairman Bridgeport Centennial Committee 1936; delegate to Recreational Congress for the United States and Canada, Toronto, 1931 and represented Connecticut at First International Recreation Congress, Los Angeles, 1932, vice-president Bridgeport Real Estate Investment Company, honorary member Veterans of Foreign Wars of the United States, Disabled American Veterans of the World War, and National Naval Veterans of the United States; member Bridgeport Bar Association, Bridgeport Chamber of Commerce, '97 L Reunion Committee, Yale Alumni Association of Fairfield County (president 1927–29), and Masonic order, trustee Olivet Congregational Church, Bridgeport.

Married (1) June 3, 1903, in Bridgeport, Bessie Louise Russell, daughter of John Diederich and Annie May (Russell) Budau and sister of John H D Budau, '00 M. Children: Russell Budau (died February 5, 1920) and Edward Taylor, Jr., '28 S. Mrs. Buckingham died November 18, 1940. Married (2) November 21, 1941, in Lexington, Mass, Agnes Gertrude Martyn Mullins, daughter of Herbert and Sarah Ellen (Blake) Martyn.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Lawncroft Cemetery, Fairfield, Conn. Survived by wife, one son, one grandchild, a sister, Mrs Thomas Joyce of Bridgeport, and three stepdaughters.

James Earnest Cooper, B.A. 1895.

Born March 13, 1873, in Lockport, N.Y. Died April 7, 1943, in Orlando, Fla.

Father, Rev. James W. Cooper, D.D (BA 1865) Mother, Mary Ellen (Hilliard) Cooper Yale relatives include five nephews, Stanley M Cooper, '24, Ford H. Cooper, '26, Chauncey P Goss, 3d, '26, Richard W Goss, '29, and Richard F. Cooper, '34.

New Britain (Conn) High School First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year, University Glee Club Senior year, College Choir; Class Day and Senior Promenade committees, member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head

Attended Harvard Law School 1895-97 (LL B 1898), in New Britain office of Hungerford, Hyde & Gilman 1897-98; admitted to the bar 1898, lawyer in

New Britain 1898-1943; member Kirkham [John H., '87] & Cooper 1898-1919 and Kirkham, Cooper, Hungerford [William C., '93 S.] & Camp 1919-21, vice-president and general counsel Stanley Works, hardware, tool, and steel manufacturers, New Britain, 1921-43; member City Council 1899-1900; assistant judge City and Police Court of New Britain 1901-03 and judge 1903-09, corporation counsel 1909-21, representative in General Assembly session of 1903 (clerk judiciary committee); Judge Advocate General, with rank of Colonel, on staff of Governor Roberts 1905-07, corporator Burritt Mutual Savings Bank 1911-43, director 1911-38, and president 1920-38; president Yale Club of New Britain 1923–28; incorporator Visiting Nurse Association of New Britain, Inc., 1905, director, chairman nurses' committee, and member executive committee 1905-09, president Nurses Training School 1911-18; trustee Jerome Home 1906-43 and secretary 1909-43; director New Britain General Hospital, member State Bar Examining Committee of Connecticut, Hartford County and Connecticut State Bar associations, and South Church (Congregational), New Britain, trustee Stanley Memorial Church (Congregational). New Britain, 1906-16

Married September 4, 1900, in New York City, Elizabeth Campbell, daughter of Rev Henry Nicoll Wayne (St. Stephen's Coll. 1869; grad. General Theological Seminary 1872) and Edith (Townsend) Wayne. Son: James Wayne, '26.

Death due to arthritic heart disease Buried in Eastside Cemetery, Woodbridge, Conn Survived by wife, son, three grandchildren, and a brother, Elisha H Cooper, '92.

Parker Corning, B.A. 1895.

Born January 22, 1874, in Albany, NY Died May 24, 1943, in Glenmont, N.Y.

Father, Erastus Corning (Union Coll ex-'48), president Albany City National Bank, son of Erastus and Harriet (Weld) Corning of Albany. Mother, Mary (Parker) Corning, daughter of Amasa Junius Parker (B.A. Union Coll. 1825) and Harriet Langdon (Roberts) Parker of Albany Yale relatives include: Daniel Parker (B.A. 1798) (great-grandfather); Amasa Parker (B.A. 1808) (great-great-uncle), Edwin Corning, '06 (brother), Amasa J. Parker, Jr, '91, and Lewis R. Parker, '92 (cousins); Erastus Corning, '03, Francis W. Rawle, '27, Erastus Corning, '2d, '32, and Edwin Corning, Jr, '42 (nephews)

St Paul's School, Concord, N.H Class Crew Freshman year; Class supper committee Senior year, member University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

Vice-president Albany Felt Company 1895–1918, president 1918–39, and chairman of the board 1939–43; first vice-president Ludlum Steel Company (later Allegheny Ludlum Steel Company) 1923–38; trustee Mechanics and

Farmers Savings Bank of Albany, Albany Insurance Company 1901–21, and Albany Cemetery Association 1901–43, member of Congress from 28th Congressional District of New York 1923–37; elected life member Albany Historical and Art Society 1928; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Albany.

Married October 31, 1910, in New York City, Anna Cassin McClure, daughter of John Joseph and Ellen (Walsh) Cassin. Daughter. Mary Parker, the

wife of Philip Iglehart, ex-'34 Mrs. Corning died April 3, 1943.

Death due to secondary gastro-intestinal hemorrhage. Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery. Survived by daughter, two grandchildren, and a sister, Harriet C. Elting, the wife of Dr Arthur W Elting, '94

Edward Branch Lyman, B.A. 1895.

Born June 7, 1872, in Greenfield, Mass. Died January 12, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Judge Edward Elisha Lyman of Greenfield, son of Horace and Elvira (Hubbard) Lyman of Sunderland, Mass. Mother, Martha Lucretia (Branch) Lyman; daughter of William Witter and Lucy (Bartram) Branch of North Madison, Ohio

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. An editor Yale Courant Senior year; secretary University Orchestral Club Sophomore year

Staff and sporting editor and special writer Spring field Republican 1896–97, editor Gazette and Courier, Greenfield, 1898–1900, special agent Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States 1900–04, associated with Home Life Insurance Company and Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York 1904–07; wire editor Associated Press, New York City, 1907, Canadian manager 1909–11, and New England manager 1911–14; did free-lance writing for New York World; publicity manager Belgian Relief Fund 1916 and Polish Relief Fund; active in national and international publicity, specializing in institutional and public relations; director of publicity Kosciuszko Foundation 1926, treasurer and trustee St. Stephen's College 1930–31, director New York Home for the Aged of the Protestant Episcopal Church; author The Last Chapter (booklet, 1898) and Me'ow Jones, Belgian Refugee Cat (1917), wrote motion picture plays and a great deal of verse including "Boy Scouts" (published in Scouts, July 1919); compiler Baseball Fanthology (1924); member All Angels' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married October 18, 1909, in New York City, Blanche Rodale, daughter of Captain John James Chrysler and Electra Ann (Swartfeguer) Chrysler No children.

Death due to a cerebral accident Buried in Greenfield Survived by wife, a sister, Ethel Lyman (B.A. Smith Coll. 1896) of Greenfield and New York City, and a brother, Henry W. Lyman, ex-'00

Lanier McKee, B.A. 1895.

Born March 1, 1872, in Washington, D.C. Died January 5, 1943, in Lawrence, N.Y.

Father, David Ritchie McKee, manager Washington Bureau of Associated Press 1882–93; son of Redick and Eliza (Ritchie) McKee of Wheeling, W Va. Mother, Frances Elizabeth (Dunn) McKee; daughter of William McKee Dunn, LL D (B A Indiana Univ 1832, M.A Hon Yale 1835), and Elizabeth (Lanier) Dunn of Washington Yale relatives include: Alexander C. Lanier (B A. 1844) (great-uncle), McKee D McKee, '96, and David R. McKee, '03 (brothers), W McKee Dunn, '11 (cousin), and E Bates McKee, '26 (nephew).

Phillips-Exeter First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; assistant manager University Baseball Association Junior year, president Senior year; Freshman Glee Club, Second Glee Club Sophomore year, College Choir Senior year, an editor Yale Record Junior and Senior years, member University Club, Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Attended New York Law School 1895–97 (LL B. 1897), lawyer in Alaska 1897–1901 and New York City 1901–43 (member McKee & John, and Hervey, Barber & McKee 1911–43), author. The Land of Nome (1902); chairman Legal Advisory Board No 127 of the City of New York during World War I.

Married July 12, 1921, in Morristown, NJ, Elizabeth Lloyd Lee Henry, daughter of Cassius Francis and Mary (Lloyd) Lee. No children.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Oakhill Cemetery, Washington. Survived by wife, a stepson, George G. Henry, Jr, '35, and two stepgrandchildren

George Merrill Bemis, B.A. 1896.

Born March 3, 1874, in Brookfield, Mass. Died April 3, 1943, in Salem, Mass.

Father, Oscar Bemis, a merchant in Brookfield; son of John and Mary Ann (Newton) Bemis of Brookfield Mother, Emeline (Converse) Bemis; daughter of James and Laura (Morris) Converse of Brookfield. Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Everette S Irvin, ex-'96

Brookfield High School First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year

Principal Michigan City (Ind) High School 1896-97 and 1898-1902, Harwich (Mass) High School 1898, and Chillicothe (Ohio) High School 1902-04; superintendent of schools Brookfield and North Brookfield 1904-06, Wrentham, Plainville, and Norton, Mass, 1906-11, Andover, Mass, 1911-13, Revere, Mass, 1913-20, and Salem 1920-43, president Salem chapter Society for Prevention of Cruelty to Children, director Associated Charities, chairman board of directors Crombie Street Congregational Church, Salem.

Married June 12, 1901, in East Brookfield, Fanny Niles, daughter of Samuel Sanford and Alice (Wheeler) Cole Children George Merrill, Jr (B S Harvard 1926), and Marjorie Converse (B S Simmons Coll 1932), the wife of Robert MacIlroy (B B.A Northeastern Univ 1932).

Death due to acute thrombocytopenia Buried in Brookfield Cemetery

Survived by wife, children, and one grandson

Frederick Wılliam Gaines, B.A. 1896.

Born January 8, 1873, in Cleveland, Ohio Died January 20, 1943, in Toledo, Ohio.

Father, James C. Gaines, manager of marble quarries and mills in Vermont; member 1st Regiment Vermont Volunteer Infantry 1861, son of James and Sarah Maryfield (Clark) Gaines of Castleton, Vt Mother, Lucy Lorett (Reed) Gaines; daughter of Aaron and Lucy (Woodward) Reed of Rutland, Vt

Central High School, Cleveland Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; member Zeta Psi. Attended Yale School of Law 1896–98 (LL B 1898)

Admitted to Ohio bar 1899, bar of United States Circuit and District courts for Northern District of Ohio 1901, and to practice before United States Supreme Court 1918; associated with Ford, Henry & McGraw, Cleveland, 1899–1900; lawyer in Toledo 1901–43 (member Doyle & Lewis); appointed deputy clerk United States District Court for Northern District of Ohio 1901 and United States Commissioner for that district 1904, contracting agent Wheeling & Lake Erie Railway Company, Cleveland and Detroit, 1900–01; attorney Toledo & Ohio Central Railway Company, New York Central Railroad Company, Ohio Central Lines, Zanesville & Western Railway, Kanawha & Michigan Railway, and Kanawha & West Virginia Railroad, attorney United States Railway Administration 1918–20, founder The Arxon Company, Toledo, and president 1928–43, member Toledo, Ohio State, and American Bar associations, and First Congregational Church, Toledo.

Married June 21, 1898, in Stamford, Conn, Fanny, daughter of James Hervey and Adelaide Frances (Meeker) Olmstead. Children James Olmstead (B A. Univ. of Michigan 1927), Frederick William, 3d (B S in M E Case School of Applied Science 1928); and Frances Mary (B A Lake Erie Coll 1934; B F A. Yale 1939, M.A. Univ. of Michigan 1942)

Death due to melanotic sarcoma. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, children, and five grandchildren

Herbert Edwin Hawkes, B.A. 1896.

Born December 6, 1872, in Templeton, Mass Died May 4, 1943, in New York City

Father, General George P. Hawkes, a farmer in Templeton, son of Benjamin and Mary (Ballard) Hawkes of Templeton. Mother, Abigail Elizabeth (Spar-

hawk) Hawkes, daughter of Samuel and Mary (Hudson) Sparhawk of Templeton.

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass Oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment and second DeForest Mathematical Prize Senior year, member Phi Beta Kappa Attended Yale Graduate School 1896–1900 (Ph D 1900, member Sigma X1)

Studied at University of Gottingen 1901-02, instructor in mathematics Yale University 1897–1904 and assistant professor 1904–10, member faculty Columbia University 1910–43 (professor of mathematics 1910–43 and in charge undergraduate work in mathematics 1912-18, acting dean Columbia College 1917-18, dean 1918-43, and member administrative board 1927); acting dean Bard College 1937, author Advanced Algebra (1905), Higher Algebra (1913), and College, What's the Use? (1927); co-author First Course in Algebra (1910), Second Course in Algebra (1911), Complete School Algebra (1912), Plane Geometry (1920), Solid Geometry (1921), contributed numerous articles on education and the function of the American college to mathematical journals; lectured extensively in many colleges, Ralph Hill Thomas Memorial Lecturer at Yale 1920-21 and James Humphrey Hoyt Lecturer 1941, administrative officer in charge of military affairs, Student Army Training Corps, Columbia, 1917–18, chairman for Navy's specialized program at Columbia 1943, M.A. Hon Yale 1920, L H D Hobart College 1928; LL D. Wabash College 1928, Columbia University and University of Rochester 1929, Bethany College 1941, and Houghton College 1942, on board of editors Construction and Use of Achievement Examinations 1936, president Middle States Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools 1927–28 and Association of Colleges and Universities of the State of New York 1934-35, chairman intercollegiate committee in charge current events contest sponsored by New York Times 1927 and American Council on Education 1938–39, member Class reunion committee 1916, Columbia University Committee on National Defense 1940, and American Mathematical Society

Married (1) July 8, 1896, in Huntington, Mass, Nettie May Coit (Smith Coll ex-'96), daughter of Edwin Hall and Emily (Adams) Coit. Children. John Ballard (B A Columbia 1920, M E 1923, Ph D 1938), Elizabeth Stanley (B A Smith Coll 1924), the wife of Charles Willard Miller (B S E Univ. of Michigan 1924), and Herbert Edwin, Jr (B A. Dartmouth 1934; Ph D. Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1940) Mrs Hawkes died October 10, 1932 Married (2) February 17, 1934, in New York City, Anna Lorette Rose (B A. George Washington Univ 1912, M A 1924, Ph.D. Columbia 1933), daughter of James Emerson Rose (Mansfield [Pa] State Teachers Coll 1867) and Margaret Burns (Everett) Rose No children

Death due to acute nephritis Buried in Westmore (Vt.) Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren

Norris Havemeyer Mundy, B.A. 1896.

Born August 12, 1874, in Chicago, Ill. Died January 5, 1943, in Bayside, NY

Father, Norris Woodruff Mundy (B A Union Coll 1867) of Watertown, N.Y, and Chicago; western agent American Sugar Refining Company, son of Pearson and Maria Donner (Woodruff) Mundy of Watertown Mother, Annie Amelia (Havemeyer) Mundy, daughter of Albert and Henrietta W (Sherman) Havemeyer of New York City Yale relatives include two cousins, Frederick C Havemeyer, '00, and Henry O Havemeyer, ex-'00

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH

In office of freight auditor Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Railway Company 1896–97, vice-president Manierre-Yoe Syrup Company, Chicago, 1897–1903, partner and president W A Havemeyer & Company, brokers in sugars and syrups and western agents for American Sugar Refining Company, Chicago, 1904–24, associated with James H Oliphant & Company, brokers, New York City, 1925 until retirement 1932, member St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married April 9, 1907, in South Orange, N J, Marion Perry, daughter of William Gardner and Josephine Anna (March) Shackford Children Norris Havemeyer, Jr, ex-'33, and William Gardner, '33 Mrs Mundy died February 28, 1923.

Death due to heart disease Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N.Y. Survived by sons, three grandchildren, and two brothers, Floyd Wood-ruff Mundy, ex-'98, and Roswell Flower Mundy (M E Cornell 1904) of Katonah, N Y

James Brown Neale, B.A. 1896.

Born October 4, 1872, in Kıttannıng, Pa Died February 11, 1943, in Buck Run, Pa.

Father, Alonzo Potter Neale, associated with Kittanning Iron Company, son of Dr Samuel Stanhope Neale and Margaret Eaton (Brown) Neale of Kittanning. Mother, Martha Elizabeth (Colwell) Neale, daughter of John Alexander and Rebecca (Pritner) Colwell of Kittanning Yale relatives include John H. Painter, '86, Henry C Colwell, '99, and Richard G Jennings, ex-'03 (cousins)

Phillips-Andover President Freshman Baseball Club; manager Class baseball team two years, business manager University Glee Club Senior year, an editor Yale Daily News two years (financial editor Senior year), Junior Promenade and

Class supper committees, member University Club, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

With Pennsylvania Coal Company 1896–99; superintendent and general manager Mt Pleasant Coal Mines, Scranton, Newton Coal Mining Company, Pittston, Old Forge Coal Company, Duryea, and Girard Coal Company, Mt Carmel, 1899-1901, president Buck Run Coal Company 1901 until retirement 1938 and an officer of its four affiliates, Repplier Coal Company and Darkwater Coal Company, New Castle, Pa, Sonman Shaft Coal Company, Cambria County, Pa, and Canmore Coal Company, Ltd., Alberta, Canada, president Locust Dale Coal Company 1917-38, vice-president Thorne [S. Brinckerhoff, '96], Neale & Company, Inc , New York City and Philadelphia, 1909-30 and president 1930-43, president and trustee Coxe Brothers, Hazleton, Pa, 1929-35, organized Colonial Colliery Company and operated and was president Natalie Colliery Company for a few years, interested in the welfare of the colliery workers, he made the town of Buck Run into a model community, providing churches, community house, schools, athletic field, and houses for the employees of the company, anthracite adviser U.S. Fuel Administration 1917-18 and director of production 1918, consultant on questions in connection with iron and coal mines in France and Germany, Paris, 1919; trustee Phillips-Andover 1923-43, governor Yale Publishing Association; eastern Pennsylvania State chairman, Atlantic Division, Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926, member Pottsville Chamber of Commerce, Pottsville Council Boy Scouts of America, Yale Engineering Association, and Trinity Chapel, Buck Run

Married April 20, 1936, in Buck Run, Katharine Brumm, daughter of Adam and Anna Catherine (Wells) Hay No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mt. Peace Cemetery, Minerville, Pa Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs Martha N Thatcher of Englewood, N J, and a brother, John C. Neale, '91 S.

Alfred Day Pardee, B.A. 1896.

Born February 16, 1873, in Hazleton, Pa Died July 23, 1942, in Cannes, France.

Father, Calvin Pardee (B S. Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. 1860), an anthracite coal operator in Pennsylvania, served in Civil War 1861-62, son of Ario and Elizabeth (Jacobs) Pardee of Hazleton Mother, Mary (Byrne) Pardee; daughter of William Byrne

Phillips-Andover Secretary and treasurer Freshman Baseball Association; member University Club, Hé Boulé, and Psi Upsilon.

Occupied in management of family interests 1896 until retirement 1913; president Pardee Brothers & Company, Inc., Harwood Electric Company, Schuylkill Gas & Electric Company, Harwood Coal Company, Blackwood

(Va) Land Company, and Blackwood Coal & Coke Company, and an officer in several other similar companies; private 1st Troop, Philadelphia City Cavalry, United States Volunteers, June 13-November 2, 1898, took part in Puerto Rico campaign; resided abroad 1913-42, traveled extensively throughout the world, member Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States and Second Presbyterian Church, Germantown, Pa

Married (1) August 24, 1909, in London, England, Helen Amos Campbell Robson, daughter of Rev. Archibald Campbell No children Mrs Pardee died in October, 1926 Married (2) January 1, 1927, in London, Marie

Antomette Ruelle Pearson, daughter of Pierre Ruelle.

Death due to general infection and heart failure Buried in the Protestant Cemetery, Cannes Survived by wife, three sisters, Estelle P Erdman, the wife of Rev Charles Rosenbury Erdman, DD, LLD (BA Princeton 1886), of Princeton, NJ., and Miss Olive Pardee and Mrs Walter Longfellow Foulke, both of Whitemarsh, Pa, and two brothers, Ario Pardee (BA Princeton 1897) of Princeton, and Howard Pardee, ex-'05

Hewlett Scudder, B.A. 1896.

Born August 9, 1875, in Northport, NY Died July 31, 1942, in Schenectady, NY

Father, Henry Joel Scudder, LL.D (B A Trinity Coll 1846, M A Hon Columbia 1862), a lawyer in New York City, trustee Trinity College 1858–86; member of Congress 1873–75; son of Henry and Elizabeth (Hewlett) Scudder of Northport. Mother, Emma Willard (Willard) Scudder, daughter of John Hart and Lucretia (Hudson) Willard of Troy, N Y Yale relatives include two nephews, Henry H Scudder, '17, and Alexander L Keyes, '33

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH High oration appointment Junior and

Senior years, Class crew Freshman year; member Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Columbia University 1896–99 (E E and M A 1899), traveled abroad 1900–01, engaged in electrical investigation in Hartford, Conn, 1901–02; associated with General Electric Company 1902 until retirement July, 1942, student engineer in Schenectady 1902–05; in railway engineering department 1905–07 and patent department 1907–42 (assistant patent attorney in charge foreign patents 1911–19 and in charge patent work of International General Electric Company, Inc, 1919–42); lecturer on patents Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute 1934–42; vice-president Yale Club of Schenectady 1910–11 and on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York, member Yale Engineering Association, American Institute of Electrical Engineers, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and Explorers Club, junior warden St George's Church (Episcopal), Schenectady

Married September 22, 1931, in Scarsdale, NY, Alice Mabel, daughter of Eugene Smith (B.A 1859) and Katharine Wadsworth (Bacon) Smith, grand-

daughter of Rev Leonard Bacon (B A. 1820), and sister of Leonard B Smith, '94, and Winthrop D Smith, '96

Death due to acute cerebral thrombosis Buried in Vale Cemetery, Schenectady Survived by wife, a sister, Emma W Keyes, the wife of Edward L Keyes (B A Georgetown 1892, Ph D. 1901, M D. Columbia 1895) of Tuxedo Park, N Y, and a half brother, Edward Mansfield Scudder (B.S. Trinity Coll. 1877; LL B Columbia 1879) of New York City.

John Oscar Creager, B.A. 1897.

Born September 3, 1872, in South Whitley, Ind Died January 5, 1943, in Eldorado, Ohio

Father, John Reuben Creager, a farmer near West Manchester, Ohio; son of Peter and Elizabeth (Rike) Creager of Farmersville, Ohio, and South Whitley. Mother, Julia Anne (Banfill) Creager, daughter of John and Hannah (Price) Banfill of Preble County, Ohio.

Prepared at a country school, attended Ohio State University 1893–94 and National Normal University 1894–96 (B A. 1896). Entered Yale College Senior year, high oration appointment and third Lucius F. Robinson Latin Prize; member Yale Union

Attended Yale Graduate School 1898-99 (M.A. 1899) and Harvard University 1900-01, Ph D New York University 1925; taught mathematics Cheshire (Conn) Academy 1897-98 and French and German Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, NY, 1899–1900, president National Normal University (later Lebanon University) 1901-07, head of English department University School for Boys, Cleveland, 1907-09, headmaster Berkshire Hills School, Great Barrington, Mass, 1909–10, principal State Normal School, Laramie, Wyo., 1910-14, professor of education University of Wyoming 1910-17 and dean College of Education 1914-17, State Commissioner of Education, Wyoming, 1917-19, president Arizona State Teachers College, Flagstaff, 1919-20, professor of education University of Arizona 1920-26, director School of Education 1920-21, and dean College of Education 1921-26; professor of education, dean College of Education, and director summer session University of Arkansas 1927-29, assistant professor of school administration New York University 1924-25, professor of college education 1926-27, chairman Department of College Education 1927-41, and professor of education 1929 until retirement August, 1942, instructor summer session Stanford University 1922 and University of Hawaii 1933, assisted in preparation of Texas Educational Survey Report (Vol I, 1925), president State Board of School Examiners, Wyoming; member Wyoming School Committee and editor Wyoming School Journal 1910–17; on Wyoming School Code Committee 1916-18 and Arizona Board of Education 1916-20, member Society of Advanced Education, National Education Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Sigma Chi, Phi Delta Kappa, Kappa Delta Pi, Masonic order, and Unitarian church.

Married December 19, 1899, in Pittsburgh, Leoti Fudge (grad Lebanon Univ. 1898), daughter of Wilson and Catherine (Creager) Fudge Children Joseph Tyler (died September 4, 1925) and Julia (died at birth)

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Monroe Cemetery, Preble

County Survived by wife.,

Joseph Lewis Davis, B.A. 1897.

Born January 9, 1877, in Helena, Mont. Died November 11, 1942, in Seymour, Ind

Father, Joseph Davis of Helena, son of Lewis and Elizabeth (Markley) Davis of Coatesville, Pa Mother, Flora Atwood (Marsh) Davis, daughter of Benjamin Franklin and Mary Dunham (Blish) Marsh of Helena. Yale relatives include Benjamin F Davis, ex-'71 S (uncle)

St Peter's School, Helena, and Seymour High School Second Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, oration appointment Junior

year; dissertation appointment Senior year.

Associated with Blish Milling Company, Seymour, 1897–98, in the Klondike 1898–1900, member Lack & Davis, real estate, Manila, P. I., 1900–09, agent at Manila for Pacific Mail Steamship Company 1909–15, export manager Pacific Commercial Company, New York City, 1917–19 and resident manager in Sydney, Australia, 1919–22, representative of The White Company, motor trucks, with headquarters in Mexico City and Havana, 1922–26, secretary and sales manager Blish Milling Company 1915–17, general manager 1926–42, and president 1927–42; president Jackson County Taxpayers Association, vice-president Southeastern Millers Association, American Millers Association, and Indiana Taxpayers Association, director Indiana Manufacturers Association of Manufacturers and National Economic League

Married October 12, 1909, in Manila, Luz, daughter of José Perez Rubio and Carolina Gomez de la Serna. No children

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Buried in Riverview Cemetery, Seymour Survived by wife, two sisters, Mrs F B Show of Arlington, Va, and Flora D. Boughton, the wife of Robert Lee Boughton (B S Univ. of Michigan 1908) of Cleveland, and a brother, William Tipton Davis of Honolulu

Robert Capen Gilmore, B.A. 1897.

Born August 9, 1873, in West Rutland, Vt Died November 18, 1942, in Montclair, N J.

Father, William Gilmore of Rutland; owner of a marble quarry in Vermont, State representative; son of William and Polly (Chatterton) Gilmore of West Rutland Mother, Eliza Stewart (Capen) Gilmore; daughter of Jonathan Capen of Fairhaven, Vt Yale relatives include a stepson, Allen Keith (Class of 1924).

Rutland High School and Phillips-Andover President Freshman Baseball Association; elected to Yale Daily News board Freshman year (on Alumni Weekly committee), member University Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and

Scroll and Key

Engaged in investment and securities business 1897–1907 and 1922–26; resided in Rutland 1897-1904, 1905-07, and New York City 1904-05; with Hincks Brothers [William T., '91, and Robert S, '97] & Company, Bridgeport, Conn, 1922, H D McMullen, Burlington, Vt, 1923-24, and Frederick Peirce & Company, New York City, 1925–26, president Trade Magazine Association, New York City, 1907-18, owner and president Advertising and Selling Magazine, Inc., 1909–18, associated with Brady industries, New York City, 1918–21, and with the Argus Press; in organization department Tamblyn and Brown, publicity agents, New York City, 1926–28, publisher Cellulose Publishing Company 1931 and Plastic Products Publications, Inc , 1932-34; associated with Congressional Intelligence Service Corporation, New York City, 1935, engaged in writing 1935–37, on editorial staff American Banker 1937–38, in sales division PurOlator Products, Inc., Newark, N.J., a few months in 1942, author Allen Keith; A Tribute (1922), president Rutland Y.M.C A. 1899-1905, member St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Montclair.

Married October 14, 1905, in Highland Park, Ill, Arabella Allen Keith (Univ. of Chicago ex-'97), daughter of James Lane Allen (B.A. Bethany [W Va] Coll. 1867) and Josephine (Fenkell) Allen. Children: Robert Capen,

Jr , and Araby Allen (B A Smith Coll 1934).

Death due to acute intestinal obstruction Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Rutland Survived by wife (died November 6, 1943), children, and two grandchildren.

Benjamin Hubbell, B.A. 1897.

Born November 11, 1875, in Derby, Conn. Died February 28, 1943, in New Rochelle, N.Y.

Father, Benjamin Hubbell of Derby, mayor of Derby 1902-04; son of Wakeman and Julia A (Lynes) Hubbell of Wilton, Conn. Mother, Alice (Marvin) Hubbell, daughter of Charles and Clarina (Merwin) Marvin of Wilton Yale relatives include. Stephen Hubbell (B A 1826) (great-uncle), Henry L Hubbell, '54, and James W Hubbell, '57 (uncles), James W Hubbell, '02, and Clara M Hubbell (Graduate School 1899-1903) (cousins).

Birmingham High School, Derby First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, member Beta Theta Pi

Teacher of languages Derby High School 1897-1902 and Rochester (NY)

High School 1902-07, secretary-treasurer Hubbell Hardwood Door Company, New Rochelle, 1907-43, trustee First Presbyterian Church, New Rochelle

Married August 15, 1906, in Rochester, Isabelle Helen, daughter of James and Mary Maria (Elliot) Ramage Son. Marvin Elliot (B A Hamilton Coll 1934).

Death due to uremia Buried in Fernchiff Cemetery, Hartsdale, N Y. Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Henry Marvin Hubbell of New Rochelle

George Bliss McCallum, B.A. 1897.

Born December 5, 1875, in Northampton, Mass. Died September 22, 1942, in Northampton, Mass

Father, Alexander McCallum, founder McCallum Hosiery Company, Northampton, son of Alexander and Susan McBeth (McBean) McCallum of Glengarry, Canada. Mother, Katherine Sanford (Kingsley) McCallum, daughter of Charles Phelps and Caroline (Bliss) Kingsley of Northampton.

Northampton High School. Second dispute appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year, on Yale Gymnastic Team Sophomore year.

Associated with McCallum Hosiery Company, later Propper-McCallum Hossery Company, Inc, 1897–1942 (treasurer 1900–19 and president 1919–42); an incorporator DeLuxe Hosiery Company of Providence, R I, 1911, treasurer Northampton Silk Company 1925–28, a founder Northampton Players 1915 and trustee and treasurer Municipal Theatre 1917–19, treasurer and trustee The Cooley Dickinson Hospital, Northampton, 1914–23, trustee and member finance committee Clarke School for the Deaf 1916–25, trustee Smith College 1918-28 and treasurer 1919-25; trustee Look Memorial Park 1928-31, first vice-president Northampton Chamber of Commerce 1919, member Northampton Common Council 1902-04 (president 1904) and alderman 1906, overseas with American Red Cross in World War I (outpost man in the Argonne; with 89th Division in France and Germany; and in Paris office American Red Cross); vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Central and Western Massachusetts; chairman Republican City Committee 1908, author of a series of essays on industrial democracy, in 1920 Mr. McCallum and his mother gave funds for construction of McCallum Nurses Home at The Cooley Dickinson Hospital, member Masonic order and First Church of Christ (Congregational), Northampton

Married March 11, 1901, in Evanston, Ill, Elizabeth Revell (B L Smith Coll. 1900), daughter of Fleming Hewitt and Josephine (Barbour) Revell and sister of Fleming H. Revell, Jr, ex-'07 Son: Revell, '24 Mr and Mrs. McCallum were divorced in 1915.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Bridge Street Cemetery, Northampton Survived by son and two grandchildren

Walter Dunham Makepeace, B.A. 1897.

Born April 27, 1875, in Gloucester, Mass. Died August 27, 1942, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, Rev Frank Barrows Makepeace (grad Hartford Theological Seminary 1873), a Congregational minister; son of Lysander Otis and Esther Eliza (Dunham) Makepeace of Norton, Mass. Mother, Helen Mary (Viets) Makepeace, daughter of James Rollin and Cordelia Tryphena (Rouse) Viets of East Granby, Conn Yale relatives include four nephews, Frank B Makepeace, 3d, ex-'35 E, Mark L Sperry, 2d, '35, Lloyd B. Makepeace, '37 S, and Leavenworth P. Sperry, Ir., '45W.

Phillips-Andover, Springfield (Mass) High School, and Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass First Berkeley Premium in Latin Composition Freshman year; first English Composition Prize and second Lucius F Robinson Latin Prize Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; Townsend Premium and one-year honors in political science and law Senior year; contributed dedicatory poem to Class Book, member Yale Union, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa Attended Yale Graduate School 1897–98 (M A. 1899) and Yale School of Law 1898–1900 (LL B. 1900, Junior class honors, Townsend Prize and Kent Club diploma Senior year, University Debating Team; business manager Yale Law Journal, registrar of the Law School 1899–1900; member Corbey Court)

Admitted to practice in New York 1900 and Connecticut 1907, lawyer in New York City 1900-07 (associated with his brother in firm of Makepeace & Makepeace 1904-07) and Waterbury 1907 until retirement 1939 (member Makepeace & Ells 1912-16), deputy coroner for Waterbury district 1907-16; chairman Republican Town Committee 1914-16, deputy judge District Court of Waterbury 1916-23 and judge 1924-27; enlisted as seaman, Connecticut Naval Reserve, June 15, 1898, assigned to USS Minnesota, promoted Quartermaster (1st class) and transferred to U.S.S. East Boston, discharged September 5, 1898, commissioned Captain, Ordnance, April 22, 1918, and Major, Judge Advocate General's Department, October 16, 1918; served in Washington until discharge December 14, 1918; Major Judge Advocate, Officers Reserve Corps, 1919-25 and Lieutenant Colonel 1925-34, an incorporator Black Hall School 1912, an organizer Associated Charities (Lincoln House Association) 1909 and trustee 1909–13, secretary American branch International Migration Service 1932-39, president Yale Club of the Naugatuck Valley 1924-27 and Associated New England Yale Clubs 1925-26 (representative on Alumni Board); on Class reunion committees; member State Bar Association of Connecticut, American Bar Association, Mattatuck Historical Society, Mental Hygiene Society of Waterbury, United Spanish War Veterans, American Legion, Military Order of Foreign Wars, Elizabethan Club, Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, Waterbury.

Married June 19, 1906, in Waterbury, Ethel Meliscent Sperry (B A Wellesley 1900), daughter of Mark Leavenworth and Julia Sherman (Porter) Sperry, granddaughter of Corydon S Sperry (B A 1832), great-great-granddaughter of Jesse Leavenworth (B A 1759), great-great-granddaughter of Mark Leavenworth (B A 1737), and sister of Leavenworth P Sperry, '02 S, and Roger S Sperry, '10 S. Children Roger Sherman, '29, Melicent Porter (diploma Sarah Lawrence Coll 1932), LeRoy McKim, '37, Evelyn Sperry, the wife of Douglas George Cochrane (B A Princeton 1939), and John Viets, '43

Death due to terminal bronchopneumonia Ashes interred in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Helen M Lillie (B A Smith Coll. 1899), the wife of Ralph Stayner Lillie, Sc D (B A Univ of Toronto 1896; Ph D Univ. of Chicago 1901), of Chicago, and a brother, Frank B Makepeace, Jr, '01 (died September 23, 1942, see page 72)

Albert Phelps Tuller, B.A. 1897.

Born March 1, 1876, in West Simsbury, Conn Died February 19, 1943, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Phelps Tuller, a farmer in West Simsbury, son of Jeremiah A and Lurannah Ensign (Phelps) Tuller of West Simsbury Mother, Eliza Myers (Bulkeley) Tuller, daughter of George W and Lucy (Sperry) Bulkeley of Bloomfield, Conn

Hartford Public High School Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years

Assistant principal Auburn High School, Providence, R I, 1897–98, Rectory School, New Milford, Conn, 1898–99, and Morris Academy, Morristown, N.J., 1899–1903, traveled and studied in Berlin and Athens 1903–05, professor of German and associate professor of Latin and Greek Villanova College 1905–10, teacher of German and French Ridgefield (Conn) School 1910–12 and of German Utica Free Academy 1912–13 and New Jersey Military Academy, Freehold, 1913–14, instructor in classics and French University of Akron 1914–19 and modern languages 1919–21; graduate student University of Chicago 1918–19, instructor in Greek and Spanish College of St Teresa 1921–22, professor of French and Spanish Emory and Henry College 1922–25, head department of romance languages Acadia University 1925–26, head of French department State Teachers College, Harrisonburg, Va, and modern language department Davis and Elkins College 1926–28; associate professor of Greek College of William and Mary 1928–29, teacher of French and Spanish Bellefonte (Pa.) Academy 1930–31, professor of modern languages and depart-

mental head Hartford Federal College 1934-40, taught Spanish at Air Base School, Bradley Field, Windsor Locks, Conn, 1941-42; member Modern Language Association of America, Masonic order, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford.

Unmarried

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Center Cemetery, Simsbury. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Edward Powis Vincent of Bloomfield, and two brothers, George Oliver Tuller of Philadelphia and Ernest Jeremiah Tuller of Hartford.

Elmer Ellsworth Beeck, B.A. 1898.

Born June 13, 1872, in New York City. Died July 16, 1942, in New York City

Father, Charles Augustus Beeck of New York City, a builder in Westchester County; son of George H. and Emily (Price) Beeck of New York City. Mother, Emily Elizabeth (Nees) Beeck, daughter of George H and Christine (Long) Nees of New York City

Dwight School, New York City, and Phillips-Exeter. Second colloquy

appointment Junior year, member Alpha Delta Phi

Engaged in banking and brokerage business in New York City 1898 until retirement 1937, associated with Lewisohn Brothers 1908–23, head of realestate department Hayden, Stone & Company 1923–37, individual trustee for Waldorf-Astoria Hotel, Madison Square Garden, and many banks; secretary Phillips-Exeter Alumni Fund 1918–19 and president New York Association of the Alumni of Phillips-Exeter 1931; member Faith Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married September 9, 1927, in New York City, Christine Cay Garden. Mr and Mrs. Beeck were divorced in 1934

Death due to heart disease Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by a sister, Mrs Hobart Park Hunt of Rye, N.Y, and a brother, Charles Augustus Beeck of Glen Rock, N J

Noah Arthur Burr, B.A. 1898.

Born March 28, 1875, in Goshen, Conn Died January 9, 1943, in Hıgganum, Conn.

Father, Horace Burr, a farmer and grain dealer in Winchester, Conn.; son of Noah and Polly (Kelsey) Burr of Haddam, Conn Mother, Sarah Jane (Andrus) Burr, daughter of John and Eliza (Buckingham) Andrus of Torrington, Conn Yale relatives include a great-uncle, Horace Burr (M.D. 1842).

Torrington and West Winsted (Conn) High schools. Honor division Fresh-

man year, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Yale Union and Phi Beta Kappa Attended Yale School of Medicine 1898–1901 (M D. cum laude 1901, chairman Yale Medical Journal 1900–01)

Interne S R. Smith Infirmary, Staten Island, N Y, 1901–03, did graduate work at New York Postgraduate Hospital 1912 and 1919; physician in Springfield, Mass., 1903–04 and South Manchester, Conn, 1904 until retirement 1938, resided in Higganum 1938–43, attending physician Manchester Memorial Hospital (chief of medical staff 1926–38), assistant medical director Cheney Brothers, silk manufacturers, Manchester, and in charge medical department during World War I, school physician of South Manchester 1927–38, Haddam health officer 1939–41, president Manchester Medical Association 1925–26, 1937–38; member Hartford County and Connecticut State Medical societies, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and Center Congregational Church, Manchester.

Married July 1, 1903, in Great Barrington, Mass, Rose Mary, daughter of Peter and Augusta (Frank) Steinway. Children: Harold Steinway (Amherst ex'26; B.S. Georgetown 1930), Marjorie Elizabeth (B S Cornell 1927, M A Columbia 1932), Horace Kelsey (B A Wesleyan 1935; M A Univ of Wisconsin 1937, Ph D 1941); and Louise Holmes (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1942, Yale School of Medicine 1945)

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Great Barrington. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Charles Levi Goodell of Higganum, and Mrs. Arthur Elmer Goodell of Great Barrington, and two brothers, Horace Judd Burr of Emmett, Idaho, and Elbert Burr of Higganum.

Andrew Storrs Campbell, B.A. 1898.

Born February 8, 1875, in East Windsor, Conn. Died August 7, 1942, in Hartford, Conn

Father, George Williams Campbell, agent for a publishing firm in Pennsylvania, son of Andrew and Sarah (Barrows) Campbell of Mansfield, Conn Mother, Sarah Jane (Bissell) Campbell, daughter of Charles and Roxanna (Wyles) Bissell of Rockville, Conn. Yale relatives include G H Glover Campbell, ex-'19 L (nephew).

Thompsonville (Conn.) High School. Attended Yale School of Law 1898-1900 (LL.B. 1901)

Admitted to the bar 1900; lawyer in Hartford 1900-42 (at time of death member Campbell, Sherman & Respess); counsel for Insurance Commissioner of Connecticut, member Hartford Board of Common Council 1908-12, Board of Aldermen 1912-14, and Hartford Charter Revision Commission 1914-15, represented Enfield in State legislature session of 1921; on State Bar Examining Committee 1929-42, contributed an article to the Connecticut Bar Journal on

the life of Edward J Phelps (1932), member Enfield Town Planning Commission, Hartford Tuberculosis Commission, Hartford County Bar Association, and State Bar Association of Connecticut; senior deacon Enfield Congregational Church

Married September 24, 1902, in New Haven, Conn, Mabel, daughter of Henry Benjamin and Celia (Stuart) Rowe and sister of Stuart H Rowe, '90. Children Stuart Bissell (died March 31, 1916), Celia Storrs (B A Univ. of New Hampshire 1929), the wife of Gerald Earl Thayer (B S. Middlebury Coll. 1931, M A Columbia 1935); Gordon Root (Wesleyan Univ. 1932–33; Univ. of North Carolina 1934–36), Allan Bissell; and Janet Shaw

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Enfield Street Cemetery, Enfield. Survived by wife, daughters, two sons, and a sister, Miss Anna Turner Campbell of New Haven

Joseph Livingston Fewsmith, B.A. 1898.

Born December 10, 1876, in Newark, NJ Died November 2, 1942, in Newark, NJ

Father, Lewis B Landmesser, '71 Mother, Caroline (Fewsmith) Landmesser Yale relatives include: Joseph FewSmith (B A 1840) (grandfather); William FewSmith (B A. 1844) (great-uncle), Livingston Fewsmith, ex-'70, and Joseph Fewsmith, '71 (uncles)

Newark Academy Second colloquy appointment Senior year; Class football team Senior year, University Gymnastic Team Freshman year; Yale Athletic Team Sophomore and Senior years

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1898–1902 (M D 1902), interne St. Michael's Hospital, Newark, 1902–03; physician in Newark 1903–42, on staff St Michael's Hospital (president of the board 1936–37), Presbyterian Hospital, Hospital of St. Barnabas, Newark Orphan Asylum, Protestant Foster Home, and Home for Aged Women, commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, June 30, 1918; stationed at U S. General Hospital No 2, Fort McHenry, Md, October 1, 1918, until discharge March 15, 1919; member Essex County Medical Society, New Jersey Society of Surgeons, New Jersey Pathological Society, Medical Society of New Jersey, American Medical Association, and Second Presbyterian Church, Newark

Married (1) June 25, 1903, in Brooklyn, NY, Eline Blount, daughter of Thomas M Robinson Dr and Mrs Fewsmith were divorced in 1914 Married (2) September 26, 1916, in New York City, Edna, daughter of Philander Coburn and Eleanor (Littlefield) Burns. Daughter Ruth Caroline (BA Smith Coll. 1940), the wife of Lieut Ernest Theodore Ofeldt, Jr

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Hollywood Cemetery, Union, N J Survived by wife and daughter

Philip Wılliam Grèce, B.A. 1898.

Born March 1, 1875, in New Haven, Conn Died August 19, 1942, in Jersey City, NJ

Father, William Grèce, '72 L Mother, Magdalena (Eder) Grèce.

Jersey City High School. Honor division Freshman year, dissertation appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year; member Yale Union

Studied with Abel I. Smith & Mabon, lawyers, Hoboken, N J, 1898–1901, admitted to the bar 1901; lawyer in Jersey City 1901–42 (associated with his father 1901–12, senior partner Grèce & Bierck 1913–32), judge Juvenile Court of the County of Hudson 1918–23 and Second District Court of Jersey City 1930–40; deputy city treasurer 1906–07, assistant prosecutor for Hudson County 1929–30; member Hudson County and New Jersey State Bar associations and St. Nicholas Church (Catholic), Jersey City

Married November 19, 1918, in Jersey City, Elsinor Edna, daughter of Thomas Henry and Anna Marie (Cordes) Smith Son Philip William, Jr (Stevens Inst. of Technology, ex-'43).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Flower Hill Cemetery, North Bergen, NJ Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs Peter Henn of Jersey City, four brothers, Charles Grèce and William Grèce, both of Jersey City, Joseph Grèce of Bronx, N.Y., and John Grèce of Hartsdale, N.Y.

Taber Hamilton, B.A. 1898.

Born July 8, 1876, in Fort Wayne, Ind Died December 26, 1942, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Andrew Holman Hamilton (B.A Wabash Coll 1855, M A. 1858, Harvard Law School 1859–60), a lawyer in Fort Wayne, member of Congress 1875–79; son of Allen and Emerine Jane (Holman) Hamilton of Fort Wayne. Mother, Phoebe Ann (Taber) Hamilton; daughter of Cyrus and Deborah Ann (Coles) Taber of Logansport, Ind. Yale relatives include a cousin, Herbert H. Wagenhals, '07.

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH.

Graduate student in mechanical engineering Purdue University 1898–99, associated with Pennsylvania Railroad System 1899 until retirement 1938 (inspector in motive power department, Buffalo, NY, 1903–05, successively assistant master mechanic at Verona and Harrisburg, Pa, and later general foreman at Columbia and Enola, Pa, 1905–07; master mechanic Cumberland Valley Railroad Company, Chambersburg, Pa, 1907–16, superintendent Peoria division Terre Haute & Peoria Railroad, Decatur, Ill, 1916–18, Louisville (Ky) division 1918–23, St. Louis division, Terre Haute, 1923–27, and Grand Rapids division 1927–30; engineer of motive power, Philadelphia, 1930–38); member First Presbyterian Church, Fort Wayne

Married June 3, 1909, in Chambersburg, Abigail Gillan (B A. Wilson Coll. 1899), daughter of Judge William Rush Gillan and Lucy (Winger) Gillan. Children Taber, Jr, '32 S, William Rush Gillan, '33, and Phoebe Taber (B A Vassar 1940)

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, Chambersburg. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, two sisters, the Misses Jessie and Agnes Hamilton of Essex, Conn, and a brother, Allen Hamilton (B.A. Williams Coll 1898, M.D. Columbia 1902), of Fort Wayne, and La Jolla, Calif.

Charles Potter Hine, B.A. 1898.

Born September 5, 1877, in Poland, Ohio. Died September 14, 1942, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, Samuel Hine, banker in Poland and merchant in Hubbard, Ohio, and Trumbull County, Ohio, son of Homer Hine (B.A 1797) and Mary (Skinner) Hine of Youngstown, Ohio. Mother, Emma Caroline (Kirtland) Hine; daughter of Billins and Ruthanna (Frame) Kirtland of Poland Yale relatives include a nephew, Edward K Hine, '39 E.

Cheshire (Conn) Academy Honor division Freshman year; high oration appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year; Class football team Senior year; member Zeta Psi, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale School of Law 1898–1901 (LL.B. 1901; Junior year honors; contributed to Yale Shingle, on Law School baseball team two years and manager Senior year; member Kent Club and Corbey Court).

Admitted to the bar 1901, lawyer in Cleveland 1901–42 with exception of a period spent in Columbus as second assistant attorney general of Ohio (1906–07); partner Thompson and Hine 1907–11 and Thompson, Hine and Flory [Walter L, ex-'06 L.] 1911–42; president Freehold Company 1924–42; contributed to various law reviews and had published privately several volumes of humorous verse, member Cleveland, Ohio State, and American Bar associations, Troop A (Cleveland) Veterans Association, and Church of the Covenant (Presbyterian), Cleveland

Married October 22, 1907, in Cleveland, Helen Maria, daughter of John Elliott and Mary Elizabeth (Seymour) Greene and sister of Edward B Greene, '00 Children Mary Elizabeth (Smith Coll ex-'30), the wife of Charles Dering Barkwill, Carolyn Kirtland (B A Smith Coll 1932), the wife of Charles R. Hogen, '29, and Helen Seymour (B A Wellesley 1936), the wife of Thomas Wilson Dunn (B A Harvard 1931, M B A. 1933) Mrs. Hine died May 22, 1928

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by daughters, six grandchildren, a sister, Miss Ellen L. Hine of Poland, and a brother, Homer H Hine of Seattle, Wash.

Herbert Elwin Nims, B.A. 1898.

Born November 1, 1873, in East Sullivan, NH Died February 26, 1943, in Richmond, Va.

Father, Lucius Pembroke Nims, a farmer in East Sullivan, son of Lucius and Nancy Breed (Sheldon) Nims of Sullivan, N. H. Mother, Julia Ann (Wilson) Nims; daughter of Harvey and Abigail (Robb) Wilson of Stoddard, N. H. Yale relatives include a brother, Wesley E. Nims, '00.

Cushing Academy, Ashburnham, Mass First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year Attended Yale School of Law 1898-99 (on football team) and student in English Yale Graduate School 1899-1900

Successively teacher in Westminster, Vt, and principal of a grammar school in South Ashburnham 1900–02, instructor in English Cushing Academy 1902–33 (in charge of Ashburnham House, the boys' dormitory, 1919–31, acting principal 1924–26, associate principal 1926–28, vice-principal 1928–33), since 1935 had resided in Richmond and devoted most of his time to compiling material for the Cushing Academy summer bulletin, member Federated Church, Ashburnham

Unmarried.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in East Sullivan. Survived by a sister, Miss L. Mabel Nims of Ashburnham.

David Francis Rogers, B.A. 1898.

Born April 5, 1876, in New York City Died April 9, 1943, in New Canaan, Conn

Father, John Rogers of New Canaan; sculptor, member National Academy, son of John and Sarah Ellen (Derby) Rogers of Boston Mother, Harriet Moore (Francis) Rogers, daughter of Charles Stephen and Catherine Rebecca (Jewett) Francis of New York City and Tarrytown, N Y Yale relatives include John Rogers, Jr, '20 S. (nephew), and Elizabeth R. Horan, '31 L (niece).

King School, Stamford, Conn. Second colloquy appointment Senior year, Freshman Crew, Class crew Sophomore and Junior years, University Crew Junior year, an editor Yale Daily News Senior year, Junior Promenade Committee; member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Employed in New York City 1898 until retirement 1927, with Brown Brothers & Company, brokers, 1898–99, Knickerbocker Trust Company 1899, and Rogers & Gould, bankers and brokers, 1899–1903, assistant cashier William Salomon & Company 1903–06, stock broker 1906–12 and in bond business 1912–27; salesman Equitable Trust Company for a time

Unmarried.

Death due to a gunshot wound Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, New Canaan

Survived by a sister, Miss Katherine Rebecca Rogers of New Canaan, and three brothers, Charles F Rogers, '90 S, Derby Rogers, '93, and Alexander P. Rogers, '94 S Another brother, John Rogers, '87, died in 1939.

Frederick Wheeler Tenney, B.A. 1898.

Born May 12, 1875, in Ayer, Mass. Died May 21, 1943, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, James Collins Tenney, a business man in Ayer, son of John and Sarah (Collins) Tenney Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Wheeler) Tenney; daughter of Aaron and Hannah (Dane) Wheeler Yale relatives include a nephew, John M. Wadhams, '19 S

Worcester (Mass) Academy. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years

Clerk with First National Bank of Chicago 1898–1901; associated with Coe Brass Manufacturing Company, Torrington, Conn., 1901–04, advertising department New York Evening Journal 1904–08, sales manager Polygraph Duplicator Company, Brooklyn, Parker Duplicator Company, Baltimore, and Universal Duplicating Typewriting Company, Toronto, 1908–11; part owner Baker (Ore) Herald 1911–17, associate editor and part owner San Pedro (Calif) Daily News 1917–22, president Hollywood Construction & Investment Company, Inc, architects and builders, 1922–37; advertising manager Los Angeles City News 1937–40, editor and manager Lincoln Heights Review, Los Angeles, 1940–43, attended Congregational church

Married (1) May 25, 1899, in New Haven, Conn, Sara Camille, daughter of George Henry Hotchkiss Son Hotchkiss Mr and Mrs. Tenney were divorced Married (2) May 15, 1911, in Nampa, Idaho, Irene Hand. Mrs Tenney died October 6, 1942

Death due to perforated duodenal ulcer with peritonitis. Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Los Angeles Survived by son.

Frederick Theodore vanBeuren, Jr., B.A. 1898.

Born February 10, 1876, in New York City. Died March 13, 1943, in Morristown, NJ.

Father, Frederick Theodore vanBeuren, manager Spingler-vanBeuren Estates, New York City; son of Michael Murray and Mary Spingler (van-Erden) vanBeuren of New York City Mother, Elizabeth Anne (Potter) vanBeuren, daughter of Edward F and Elizabeth Anne (Lambert) Potter of London, England Yale relatives include Homer T Joy, '93 (brother-in-law), and Homer vanB Joy, '29 S, and Frederick vanB. Joy, '34 (nephews).

Moss' Private School, New York City First colloquy appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year, University Track Team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; substitute University Glee Club Junior year and member Senior year; chairman Senior Promenade Committee, member University Club, Alpha Delta Phi, and Wolf's Head

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1898– 1902 (MD. 1902); interne Roosevelt Hospital, New York City, 1903-05, physician and surgeon in New York City 1905-43, on staff Roosevelt, Lincoln, Volunteer, and Presbyterian hospitals, and Sloane Hospital for Women, member faculty Columbia University 1905-43 (demonstrator of anatomy 1905-08 and associate 1908–10, assistant in surgery 1906–09 and 1914–16, clinical assistant 1913-14, instructor 1909-13, 1919-20, associate 1920-22, assistant professor 1922-28, and associate professor 1928-34, associate professor of clinical surgery 1934-37, and associate clinical professor 1937-43, chief of clinic 1910-13, associate dean College of Physicians and Surgeons 1921–34 and 1935–36), president Spingler-vanBeuren Estates, Inc., 1929-43 and Morristown Memorial Hospital 1933-43; vice-president Morris Community Chest 1939-43, director Morristown Library, Captain and assistant surgeon, Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1907–10; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, 1911, promoted Captain April 2, 1917, and Major May 13, 1918, called to active service May 28, 1917, director surgical service, Alternate Unit, Base Hospital No 15; overseas July 5, 1918–February 9, 1919, Commanding Officer, Section 3, Mobile Operating Unit No 1 until July 17, attached to Field Hospital No 1 and Evacuation hospitals Nos 5, 7, 3, 11, and 8 during the engagements at Soissons, Château Thierry, Second Marne, St-Miliel, Argonne, Champagne, Meuse-Argonne, and Argonne; discharged February 26, 1919, chief Morristown Emergency Medical Services and member Second Corps Area Advisory Board 1942-43; fellow American College of Surgeons, American Surgical Association, and American Medical Association; director American Society for the Control of Cancer; member Yale Engineering Association, New York Surgical Society, New York Pathological Society, Southern Surgical Society, New York Academy of Medicine, medical societies of New York County and New York State, Association of Military Surgeons of the United States, Holland Society of New York, and Episcopal church

Married May 26, 1906, in New York City, Jessica Thoune, daughter of John Henry and Louise Clara (Hahn) Mohlman and sister of George A Mohlman, '04, and Albert J Mohlman, '08 Children Frederick Theodore, 3d, '29 S, Jessica (Smith Coll. ex-'30); Michael Murray, 2d, ex-'34 S, and John Mohlman (Princeton ex-'37).

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Survived by wife, children, three grand-children, a sister, Louise V Bayne, the wife of Howard Bayne (E E Columbia 1901) of New Vernon, N.J., and a brother, Michael M van Beuren, ex-'96

Thomas Kearny, B.A. 1899.

Born March 6, 1878, in Louisville, Ky. Died July 13, 1942, in New York City.

Father, Brigadier General John Watts Kearny (LL B Columbia 1866) of Kearny, N J, and Lewis Mountain, Charlottesville, Va; Inspector General of New Jersey, son of Major General Philip Kearny (B A Columbia 1833) and Diana (Bullitt) Kearny of Paducah, Ky Mother, Lucy (McNary) Kearny, daughter of Dr. Thomas McNary and Anne (Flournoy) McNary of Princeton, Ky.

Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, NY., and Phillips-Andover. Member University Club (assistant treasurer Junior year, member executive committee

and governing board Senior year) and Psi Upsilon.

Attended New York Law School 1899–1901 (LL B. 1901) and took special courses in law at the University of Virginia 1901, admitted to the bar 1901; lawyer in New York City 1901 until retirement 1933 (with Gould & Wilkie for a short time; partner Kearny & Davis 1905–11 and its successor Kearny & Dickinson 1911–18), founder member Pan American Society, Inc., 1912, member council 1912–34, on executive committee 1912–16, and elected honorary life member 1938, author General Philip Kearny, Battle Soldier of Five Wars (1937), a biography of John Watts, Jr, written for private circulation, and several articles on historical subjects, New York regional president Longstreet Memorial Association, honorary president Kearny's First New Jersey Brigade 1925–42, honorary member General Philip Kearny Post Grand Army of the Republic, member New York State Bar Association, Bar Association of the City of New York, American Bar Association, and Roman Catholic church.

Unmarried

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Long Island City, N.Y Survived by three sisters, Miss Mary Kearny of New York City, Mrs. Elizabeth Kearny Hibbard of Charlottesville, and Mrs. Lucy Kearny Hill of Richmond, Va, and a brother, Philip Kearny, ex-'99

George Lincoln Wakefield, B.A. 1899.

Born January 31, 1873, in Singapore, Straits Settlements Died January 12, 1943, in Englewood, NJ.

Father, Cyrus Wakefield of Wakefield, Mass; president Wakefield Rattan Company, Boston, son of James Patterson and Hannah B (Hall) Wakefield of Winnebago County, Wis Mother, Annie Bentley (Pierce) Wakefield, daughter of George and Annie (Bentley) Pierce of Liverpool, England Yale relatives include two nephews, John U Barton, '44, and Richard S Barton, '45W.

Wakefield High School and Phillips-Andover First colloquy appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year, Freshman Baseball Team

Attended Harvard Law School 1899–1901, traveled around the world 1901–02; admitted to New York bar 1902 and Massachusetts bar 1907, lawyer in New York City 1902–07 and 1912–43 (with Harmon & Mathewson 1902–07) and in Boston 1907–12; in legal department Title Guarantee and Trust Company, New York City, 1905–07 and 1922–43, member Masonic order

Married February 28, 1906, in New York City, Julia Steele, daughter of Charles Edward Barton (M D New York Univ 1890) and Kate Ella (Caldwell) Barton and sister of Howard Barton, '14 Adopted son [George] Barton Mrs

Wakefield died October 13, 1935

Death due to carcinoma Ashes interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by son, a sister, Mrs Ruby W. Dunham of Belfast, Maine, and a brother, Cyrus Wakefield of Nanuet, N Y

William Savage Johnson, B.A. 1900.

Born August 26, 1877, in Portsmouth, Ohio Died December 15, 1942, in Lawrence, Kans

Father, Sherman Gilbert Johnson, member Johnson & Roads, manufacturers of carriage hubs and spokes, Portsmouth, son of Samuel Camp and Phoebe Baldwin (Camp) Johnson of Ironton, Ohio Mother, Emily Harriet (Savage) Johnson; daughter of William Henry and Adah Ann (Camp) Savage of Berlin and Middletown, Conn. Yale relatives include a cousin, Howard E Boardman, '99 S.

Meriden (Conn) High School Entered with Class of 1899, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years, two-year honors in ancient languages Senior year, honorable mention Albert Stanburrough Cook Prize in Poetry Senior year, member Chi Delta Theta and Phi Beta Kappa

Master of classics The Yeates Institute, Lancaster, Pa, 1900-02, substitute Foster School, Cornwall, Conn, 1902; student in English Yale Graduate School 1902-05 (Ph D 1905; Albert Stanburrough Cook Prize in Poetry 1904); instructor in rhetoric Yale University 1905 and English 1905-08, assistant professor of English University of Kansas 1908–13, associate professor 1913-20, professor 1920-42, and chairman department of English 1924-40, instructor in war aims course University of Kansas 1917–18 and acted as Battalion Adjutant in student training regiment, chairman Carruth Poetry Prize Committee 1927-42 and University Senate advisory committee 1932-36, president Kansas College Teachers of English; editor Ben Jonson's The Devil Is an Ass (Yale Studies in English, Vol XXIX, 1905), Selections from the Prose Works of Matthew Arnold (1913), and Carlyle's Sartor Resartus (1924), author Thomas Carlyle A Study of His Literary Apprenticeship, 1814–1831 (1911), contributed poems to Yale Literary Magazine and Yale Anthology of Verse, and articles to Journal of English and Germanic Philology, Saturday Review of Literature, and other publications, chairman Douglas County branch Fatherless

Children of France, member Sons and Daughters of New England, Society of Midland Authors, Modern Humanities Research Association, Modern Language Association of America, American Association of University Professors, and University, Country, and Fortnightly clubs, Lawrence; vestryman Trinity Church (Episcopal), Lawrence

Married June 19, 1920, in Lawrence, Claudia Clara Pendleton (B A Univ. of Kansas 1908), daughter of William Henly and Matilda Mary (Poehler)

Pendleton (Univ of Kansas 1878-80) No children

Death due to pulmonary embolism Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Lawrence. Survived by wife and a brother, Sherman F Johnson, '97. Another brother, Nelson C Johnson, '01 S, died in 1937

Thomas Davidson Newmyer, B.A. 1900.

Born April 30, 1874, in Connellsville, Pa. Died November 23, 1942, in Connellsville, Pa.

Father, Porter S Newmyer, a lawyer in Connellsville, son of Joseph and Elisabeth (Strickler) Newmyer of Dawson, Pa. Mother, Mary (Davidson) Newmyer, daughter of Thomas Rogers and Isabella (Austin) Davidson of Connellsville

Lawrenceville (N J) School and private tutor. College Choir Sophomore year, Apollo Glee Club Junior year, member University Club. Attended Yale School of Law 1900-03 (LL.B 1903, Class picture committee)

Admitted to the bar 1903; lawyer in Pittsburgh 1903–14 and about 1930–42, and Vanderbilt, Pa, 1914–15, salesman Frederick Seebick Company, real estate and mortgages, Pittsburgh, member Allegheny Bar Association and First Christian Church of Connellsville

Married October 6, 1900, in New York City, Elizabeth Frances, daughter of Joseph and Margaret Healey Children. Thomas Davidson, Jr; Mary Davidson; and Elisabeth Austin Mr and Mrs Newmyer were divorced

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Hill Grove Cemetery, Connellsville Survived by children and a sister, Mrs Isabel N Evans of Connellsville.

Walter Sharp Page, B.A. 1900.

Born November 11, 1878, in Columbus, Ohio. Died June 13, 1943, in Columbus, Ohio.

Father, Walter Benjamin Page (B A Ohio Wesleyan Univ 1869), senior member Page, Page and Page, lawyers, Columbus, son of William Henry Harrison and Mary Ann (McKaig) Page of Columbus. Mother, Mary Belle (Sharp) Page, daughter of Abram and Harriett (Rees) Sharp of Columbus.

Phillips-Andover Second dispute appointment and second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; first dispute appointment and one-year honors in history, political science, and law Senior year, member Freshman Union and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Ohio State University College of Law 1900-03 (LLB 1903), admitted to the bar 1903, lawyer in Columbus 1903 until retirement 1942 (member Page, Page and Page), member Ohio Bar Association and Trinity

Church (Episcopal), Columbus.

Married February 23, 1916, in Columbus, Esther Carnes Johnson (Wellesley Coll. ex-'16), daughter of Thomas and Mary (Carnes) Johnson Children Walter Sharp, Jr (B A. Ohio State Univ 1938, M A 1939), Thomas Johnson (Ohio State Univ ex-'42); Mary Johnson (Ohio State Univ ex-'44), and Esther

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Green Lawn Cemetery, Columbus Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Harriet P Baber (Wells Coll ex-'06), the wife of Erl Armitage Baber (M D Univ of Louisville 1909) of Cincinnati, Ohio

Alexander Cameron, B.A. 1901.

Born April 29, 1880, in Brooklyn, NY Died January 23, 1943, in Syracuse, NY

Father, Alexander Cameron, '69 Mother, Florence (Burt) Cameron

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H Freshman Crew and Class crew, four-oared crew and College Crew Sophomore year; University Crew Junior and Senior years; member University Club, Kappa Psi, Alpha Delta Phi, and Wolf's Head

Associated with American Grass Twine Company, New York City, and later assistant manager Ulster Iron Works, Dover, NJ, 1901 until about 1907, broker in New York City from about 1907 to 1914 (in charge New York office George H. Thacher & Company), apprentice Bethlehem Steel Corporation 1914–16; director of sales Tidewater Steel Products Corporation 1916–18, district sales representative United Alloy Steel Corporation 1918–19, New England sales representative F W D Auto Company, Clintonville, Wis, 1920, sales representative in Chicago district Michigan Steel Corporation 1920–24; assistant to general manager of sales and later assistant to vice-president Lukens Steel Company, Coatesville, Pa, in charge of sales Fleming Oarless Lifeboat Corporation 1939–43; member Episcopal church

Married March 18, 1908, in Sioux City, Iowa, Maude Anzonella Wolfe Wright, daughter of Christopher and Emma Hart (Leavitt) Wolfe Children Alexander, Jr, and Florence Mr and Mrs Cameron were divorced in 1927

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by children, two grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs George W Topliff of Binghamton, N.Y.

Frank Barrows Makepeace, Jr., B.A. 1901.

Born July 17, 1878, in Champlain, N.Y. Died September 23, 1942, in Houston, Texas.

For family history see biography of his brother, Walter D Makepeace, '97

(page 58)

Springfield (Mass) High School Shared second McLaughlin Prize Freshman year, first dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; Yale Athletic Team Sophomore and Junior years, Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Glee Club; Sophomore year, College Choir three years.

Attended New York Law School 1901–03 (LL B 1903), admitted to the bar 1903, lawyer in New York City 1903–18, 1922–42 and in Springfield 1920–22 (member Makepeace & Makepeace 1904–07, Dawson, Makepeace & Jones 1926–29, and Murphy, Makepeace & Paley 1929–40), attorney for Eastern States Petroleum Company, Inc., and its subsidiaries since about 1929 and in 1939 transferred to their Houston office, commissioned Captain, Air Service, February 19, 1918, assigned to Office of Chief Signal Officer, Washington, in charge assignment of aviators, received flying training at Bolling Field, discharged March 25, 1919, member Squadron A, New York National Guard, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich, Conn.

Married October 24, 1908, in New York City, Lucetta Plum, daughter of David and Lucetta (Plum) Banks. Children David Banks (Major, U.S. Army Air Forces), Frank Barrows, 3d, ex-35 E, Lloyd Brenecke, 37 S, and Paul

Bleecker (Captain, R A F Ferry Command)

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Granby, Conn Survived by wife, sons, two grandchildren, and a sister, Helen M Lillie (B.A Smith Coll. 1899), the wife of Ralph Stayner Lillie, Sc D, of Chicago

Charles Houghton Baxter, B.A. 1902.

Born December 5, 1876, in Bath, N.Y. Died February 13, 1943, in Sarasota, Fla.

Father, Colonel Archibald Easton Baxter, a lawyer in Elmira, N.Y; clerk New York Assembly 1895–1907; Civil War veteran Mother, Rosamond (Wheeler) Baxter

Elmira Free Academy, Albany (N Y) Academy, and The Hotchkiss School. First dispute appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year; manager University Hockey Team and on auditing committee Yale Athletic Subscription Fund Senior year, Freshman Glee Club, member Psi Upsilon.

With Ellingwood & Cunningham, brokers, New York City, 1902-04; became partner Hackley, Baxter & Seed [Allen H, '97 S], bankers and brokers, New York City, 1904, associated with an automobile supply house; in insurance business in New York City 1909-43, with Lyall & Taylor 1916-19; senior

member Baxter & Harstedt, Inc , 1919–43 (president 1932–43); first vice-president Eben-Baxter-Harstedt, Inc , 1928–32, treasurer Farrelly & Company, Inc , 1930–43; with 7th Regiment, New York National Guard, on Mexican border 1916, attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, May 31–August 14, 1917; member Drug and Chemical Club and Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich, Conn

Married (1) September 25, 1906, in Hartford, Conn, Anne Forbes, daughter of Major Edwin Strong and Annie (Forbes) Strong Daughter Barbara Strong, the wife of Quincy G. Ryan, ex-'33. Mr and Mrs Baxter were divorced about 1913. Married (2) September 1, 1923, in Sayville, NY, Helen Beatrice Stiebeling. No children

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N Y Survived by wife (died March 18, 1943), daughter, two grandchildren, and two sisters.

Frederic Burnham, B.A. 1902.

Born March 7, 1881, in Chicago, Ill Died July 8, 1942, in Glencoe, Ill

Father, Edward Burnham, founder E Burnham, Inc, Chicago, 1871, son of James and Lucy Ann (Taylor) Burnham of Windham, N H Mother, Mary (McGee) Burnham; daughter of Peter and Alice (Murphy) McGee of Chicago

Harvard School for Boys, Chicago. Honorable mention Hugh Chamberlain Greek Prize at entrance, second Berkeley Premium in Latin Composition Freshman year; philosophical oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment and Townsend Premium Senior year, Freshman Basketball Team, University Gymnastic Team Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Chicago-Kent College of Law 1902-04 and Northwestern University Law School 1904-05 (LL B. 1905), admitted to the bar 1905, law clerk Hoyne, O'Connor & Hoyne, Chicago, 1902-05, in office of Lloyd W Bowers ['79], general counsel Chicago & North Western Railway Company, 1905-09; assistant state's attorney for Cook County 1909-12, independently engaged in law practice 1912-16; partner Northrup, Burnham, Fairbank & Klein, Chicago, 1916-17 and Mayer, Meyer, Austrian & Platt 1917-42, member Chicago, Illinois State, and American Bar associations, American Institute of Criminal Law and Criminology, Phi Delta Phi, and Catholic church

Married January 4, 1911, in Denver, Colo, Adda Marguerite, daughter of William Cannon and Adda (Carleton) Ghost Adopted daughters Marilyn (died October 10, 1925) and Cynthia

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Oak Woods Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, one daughter, two sisters, Mary Genevieve Burnham Connors (B A Smith Coll 1905), the wife of John Leo Connors (B S Purdue Univ 1905, M E. 1909) of Mansfield, Ohio, and Isabel Burnham McNally

(Smith Coll. ex-'12), the wife of Thomas F McNally (LL.B. Washington Univ 1912) of Winnetka, Ill, and seven brothers, Norbert Burnham of Chicago, Raymond Burnham, '03 S, Clarence Burnham, '06 S (died January 13, 1943, see page 202), Gerald Burnham, '09 S, Harold Burnham, ex-'13 S., Julian Burnham, '16 S, and Donald Burnham, '19 S.

Sidney Norton Deane, B.A. 1902.

Born June 10, 1878, in Westmoreland, NY. Died May 4, 1943, in Northampton, Mass

Father, Rev James Deane (B A Williams Coll. 1857; Auburn Theological Seminary 1858-60, M A Hamilton Coll 1868), a Congregational minister; son of James Dean (B A Union Coll 1810) and Esther Cornelia (Norton) Dean of Utica, N Y Mother, Annie Maria (Bosworth) Deane; daughter of Thomas Bradley and Malona Callista (Granger) Bosworth of Salisbury, Conn.

Crown Point (N Y) Union School. Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Berkeley Premium in Latin Composition Freshman year, first Lucius F Robinson Latin Prize and honors in English composition Sophomore year, Winthrop Prize Junior year; two-year honors in classical languages and literature Senior year, member Phi Beta Kappa Attended Yale Graduate School 1902-04 and 1905-06 (Ph D 1914)

Studied at American School of Classical Studies in Athens 1904-05; assistant curator of classical antiquities Boston Museum of Fine Arts 1906-09 and secretary to the director 1910–12, member Smith College faculty 1912–43; associate professor of Greek 1912-14 and professor 1914-38, professor of classics 1938-43, professor on the L. Clark Seelye Foundation 1916-43; curator Museum of Classical Antiquities 1926–43, member Committee on Graduate Instruction 1916–25 (chairman 1921–25); acting librarian 1942–43; author of articles on classical art published in Boston Museum of Fine Arts Bulletin, translated Anslem's Monologium and Proslogium (1903), managing editor for New England Classical Weekly 1919-24, special editor for classical antiquities Webster's New International Dictionary (2d edition, 1934); associate editor American Journal of Archaeology 1920-24, corresponding member German Archaeological Institute; on managing committee American School of Classical Studies 1932-43 and chairman committee on fellowships 1936-43, member Archaeological Institute of America, American Philological Association, and Society for the Promotion of Hellenic Studies, attended St. John's Church (Episcopal), Northampton

Unmarried

Death due to toxic hepatitis Ashes interred in Union Cemetery, Westmore-land Survived by a sister, Mary Cornelia Deane (grad New York State Normal School 1896) of Middlebury, Vt, and two brothers, Allen Griswold Deane of Long Branch, NY, and Rev John P Deane, '98 D.

Holland Sackett Duell, B.A. 1902.

Born January 29, 1881, in Syracuse, N.Y. Died November 25, 1942, in Larchmont, NY.

Father, Charles Holland Duell, LLD (B A. Hamilton 1871, LL B 1872), senior member Duell, Warfield & Duell, lawyers, New York City, State assemblyman 1878, 1880; U S Commissioner of Patents 1898–1901; associate justice U S Court of Appeals, District of Columbia, 1905–07; son of Rudolph Holland and Mary Ledyard (Cuyler) Duell of Cortland, N Y Mother, Harriet Maria (Sackett) Duell; daughter of William A and Charlotte (Buttrick) Sackett of Saratoga Springs, N Y Yale relatives include a cousin, Harold Stone, '02.

Syracuse High School and Jenner Preparatory School, Syracuse Second colloquy appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year, member University Club.

Attended New York Law School 1902-04 (LL B cum laude 1904), admitted to the bar 1904; lawyer in New York City 1904-42, specializing in patent law, with Duell, Megarth & Warfield 1904-05; partner Warfield & Duell 1907-24, Duell, Anderson & Duell 1924-26, Duell, Dunn & Anderson 1926-34, and Duell & Kane 1934-42; assemblyman from second district of New York 1907, 1909 and senator from twenty-sixth district 1921-22 (awarded Distinguished Service Palm by New York State Association 1922), president Klauder-Weldon Dyeing Machine Company, vice-president McClure's Magazine, attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg; commissioned Captain, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917, promoted Major December 31, 1917, assigned to 306th Field Artillery, 77th Division, as regimental adjutant September, 1917, attended School of Fire, Fort Sill, December, 1917-March, 1918, overseas April 24, 1918-February 1, 1919, participated in all engagements of 77th Division, as Major, commanding 2d Battalion, 306th Field Artillery, wounded slightly and gassed at Chery Chatreuve (Château-Thierry sector) August, 1918, and gassed at Fismes September, 1918, recommended for Distinguished Service Medal and Croix de Guerre, received army citation, discharged February 15, 1919, Lieutenant Colonel, U.S. Reserve, 1920 and Colonel 1924, awarded New York State Conspicuous Service Cross and Distinguished Service Cross (1922), editor: The History of the 306th Field Artillery (1920), director Yale Alumni Association of Westchester County, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, Washington and American Patent Bar associations, New York Patent Law Association, Westchester County, Bronx, New York State, and American Bar associations, and Presbyterian church, Yonkers, N Y

Married (1) September 29, 1904, in New York City, Mabel, daughter of Charles Eliezer and Anne (Brown) Halliwell. Children Charles Halliwell, '27, Helen (B A. Vassar 1927), the wife of Thomas Witter Chrystie (B A Columbia 1924, LL.B. 1926); Holland Sackett, Jr.; Harriet Anne (Vassar ex-'31, Mrs H.

Duell Wood), and Halliwell Ledyard, ex-'35 Mr and Mrs. Duell were divorced in 1925 Married (2) September 1, 1925, in London, England, Emilie Miller, daughter of Walter Peet and Emily (Miller) Brown

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va Survived by wife, children, ten grandchildren, a sister, Mary D. Kean (Smith Coll ex-'06), the wife of Otho Vaughan Kean (B.S. United States Military Academy 1905) of Providence, RI, and a brother, Charles H. Duell,

Jr, ex-'11 Another brother, W. Sackett Duell, ex-'04, died in 1926

Nathaniel Roscoe Francis, B.A. 1902.

Born January 9, 1879, in Winchester, Tenn. Died February 20, 1943, in Nashville, Tenn.

Father, John Patterson Francis, a farmer in Winchester, son of William and Margaret (McIlheran) Francis of Winchester Mother, Ellen (Elliott) Francis, daughter of Benjamin F and Betty Jane (Stewart) Elliott of Winchester Yale relatives include a nephew, Charles D Francis, Jr, '36.

Winchester Normal College First DeForest Mathematical Prize Sophomore year, dissertation appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year, College Football Team, Class wrestler Sophomore year; member Zeta Psi.

Teacher Taft School, Watertown, Conn, 1902–04 and Baker-Himmel School, Knoxville, Tenn, 1904–05, private tutor in Litchfield, Conn, 1905–06, attended Sheffield Scientific School 1906–08 (electrical engineering course; Ph B 1908), graduate student in electrical and mechanical engineering Yale University 1908–13 (assistant in mechanical engineering 1911–12 and laboratory assistant 1912–13); with New York Edison Company 1913–14; associated with Roxbury Tutoring School 1914–34 (assistant director New Haven branch 1914–22, director 1923–34), owner and director Elm City Tutoring School 1934 until retirement 1942, member Masonic order and Presbyterian church, Winchester

Married June 30, 1904, in Winchester, Lora, daughter of Nathan Green and Mary (Mathews) Shook No children

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Winchester. Survived by wife and two brothers, Enoch Guy Francis of Nashville, Tenn., and Charles D. Francis, '02

George Walter Lindenberg, B.A. 1902.

Born June 22, 1879, in Columbus, Ohio Died February 21, 1943, in Columbus, Ohio.

Father, Philip Lindenberg, general manager The M C Lilley & Company, manufacturers of uniforms and equipment, Columbus, son of Theodore

Lindenberg of Columbus Mother, Clara Caroline (Kanmacher) Lindenberg, daughter of George and Marie (Zimmerman) Kanmacher of Columbus Yale relatives include Carl R. Lindenberg, '95 S, Frank H Lindenberg, '99 S, Paul Lindenberg, '03, and Robert Lindenberg, ex-'05 S (cousins)

Curtis Academy and Phillips-Andover First colloquy appointment Junior year; secretary University Football Association Junior year, cup man, triennial committee; member University Club, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

Associated with Columbus Brass Manufacturing Company 1902-43 (secretary and manager 1902-28, president 1928-43), secretary Yale Club of Columbus until 1927.

Married March 7, 1905, in St Louis, Amy Dukehart, daughter of Henry Colman and Anna (Allison) Townsend. Children Ann Townsend, the wife of John V. Huling, '32; George Walter, Jr (Univ of Colorado 1926–28, died January 10, 1939); and John Townsend, '32 (died August 25, 1940)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Greenlawn Cemetery, Columbus Survived by wife, daughter, three grandchildren, two sisters, Miss Mary Lindenberg and Mrs Vernon Harrison, both of Columbus, and a brother, Philip Lindenberg, '16. Another brother, Otto H Lindenberg, '99 S, died in 1938

Edwin Gates Norman, B.A. 1902.

Born October 27, 1878, in Preston, Conn Died July 12, 1942, in Worcester, Mass.

Father, Thomas Peckham Norman, a farmer in Preston and Ledyard, Conn, member school board, son of Richard Cornell and Rachel (Peckham) Norman of Newport, R I Mother, Martha (Peckham) Norman, daughter of Rev Stephen Hazard Peckham and Fanny (Gates) Peckham of Ledyard Yale relatives include: Frederick T. Fitch, '04 M, and Everett H. Fitch (M A 1913) (cousins), and Richard L Norman, '30 (nephew)

Norwich (Conn) Free Academy First dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year

Attended Harvard Law School 1902–05 (LL.B. 1905), admitted to the bar 1905; lawyer in Worcester 1905–42 (senior member Norman & Campbell [Alexander B., ex-'10 L] 1916–42), representative in Massachusetts General Court sessions of 1920, 1921, assistant district attorney Middle District (Worcester County) 1923–30 and district attorney 1930–35; legal adviser Massachusetts Prohibition Administration; co-author. Massachusetts Trial Evidence (1911), an organizer Worcester division Northeastern University Evening Law School 1919 and associate dean 1919–26, president Yale Club of Worcester 1937–39 and Worcester County Bar Association 1940–41, treasurer Rufus Putnam Memorial Association; life member American Law Institute, member Massachusetts and American Bar associations and Worcester Historical Society, deacon Central Church in Worcester (Congregational) 1916–29, president

Young People's Association 1909, and Sunday School superintendent 1913, 1914 Married June 30, 1910, in Norwich, Louise Hayward, daughter of Seneca Howard and Annie Hamilton (Hayward) Thresher and sister of Harold H. Thresher, ex-'11 Daughter Hope (B.A Wellesley 1933; MFA. Yale 1938), the wife of James W Miller, ex-'37.

Death due to chronic pyelonephritis with uremia Ashes interred in Rural Cemetery, Worcester Survived by wife, daughter, one granddaughter, five sisters, Mrs Eckford G Pendleton and Mrs. Harry D Myers, both of Norwich, Miss Mary E Norman of North Stonington, Conn, Mrs Elmer E Richmond of Willimantic, Conn, and Mrs. Byron C Willcox of Hasbrouck Heights, NJ, and two brothers, Hibberd R. Norman, '99, and Albert C. Norman, '05.

Harry Warren Tompkins, B.A. 1902.

Born June 25, 1878, in Matteawan, NY. Died December 22, 1942, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, Charles Henry Tompkins, a manufacturer in Beacon, N Y. Mother, Hester (Cooper) Tompkins

Mount Hermon (Mass) School Second colloquy appointment Junior year;

first colloquy appointment Senior year; member Phi Kappa Epsilon.

Credit man and general manager wholesale grocery firm of Robert Hill, New York City, 1902, sales manager Americana Company, New York City; cashier, credit man, and later assistant treasurer Capewell Horse Nail Company, Hartford, Conn, 1909–20, traveled 1920–23; vice-president Ernest T. Bower ['00], Inc, real estate and insurance, New York City, 1923–42; member Masonic order and Congregational church.

Married November 8, 1909, in Hartford, Ella Virginia, daughter of Thomas Courtenay and Ella Virginia (Bates) Hoge and sister of Thomas C Hoge, ex-'07 L No children.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife and a brother, Rev. Henry Herbert Tompkins (diploma Bangor Theological Seminary 1927, B.R E. Hartford Seminary Foundation 1930) of Miami, Fla

Paul Hamilton Welch, B.A. 1902.

Born July 25, 1880, in Oil City, Pa Died March 24, 1943, in Poughkeepsie, N.Y.

Father, Philip Henry Welch, member editorial staff New York Sun; son of Joseph B Welch and Ann (Collins) Welch of Angelica, N Y Mother, Margaret Welles (Hamilton) Welch, daughter of Theodore Frank and Emily (Welles) Hamilton of New York City. Yale relatives include a brother, Philip H. Welch,

ex-'09. Timothy Collins (BA 1718) and Noah Welles (B.A 1741) are ancestors.

Boys' High School, Brooklyn, N.Y. Second colloquy appointment Senior year

Studied law in office of his uncle, T F. Hamilton, Saratoga Springs, NY, 1902-03; attended New York Law School 1903-04; admitted to the bar 1904, assistant solicitor Boston & Maine Railroad Company 1904, attorney Lawyers Title Insurance and Trust Company of New York 1905-07 and various subsidiary companies of United States Steel Corporation in Northwest, Duluth, Minn., 1907-21; in sales department Halo Battery Company and Storage Battery Corporation, Oneonta, NY, 1921-24, lawyer in New York City 1925 until retirement 1937, associate counsel Lewis & Kelsey 1925, with Breed, Abbott and Morgan 1926-29; practiced independently 1929-37, enlisted August 26, 1917, attended Second Officers Training Camp, Fort Snelling, commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, November 27, 1917, assigned to 311th Ammunition Train, Camp Grant, attended 25th Class, School of Fire, Fort Sill, June-September, 1918; Commanding Officer, Battery C, 38th Field Artillery, discharged January 29, 1919; commissioned Captain, Field Artillery Reserve Corps, April 10, 1919, member Classon Avenue Presbyterian Church, Brooklyn, N.Y.

Married June 24, 1916, in Duluth, Ruth, daughter of Adelbert Augustus Hobbs. Son. Alan Hamilton Mr. and Mrs Welch were divorced in 1942

Death due to myocarditis Ashes interred in Sebago, Maine Survived by son and a sister, Emily Hamilton Welch (B A Vassar 1904) of Pleasant Valley, N Y

James Wright, B.A. 1902.

Born February 1, 1881, in New York City Died January 4, 1943, in New York City

Father, Andrew Wright, member W. & J Sloane, merchants in New York City, son of Rev. James Wright and Catherine (Wilson) Wright of Harwick, Scotland Mother, Sarah Katherine (Runk) Wright, daughter of William T and Elizabeth R (Stagg) Runk of New Brunswick, N J, and New York City Yale relatives include. William R Wright, '94 (brother), and William R Wright, Jr, '33 (nephew)

Miss Reynold's School and Cutler School, New York City Freshman Crew and Freshman Religious Committee, an editor Yale Daily News Junior and Senior years; member triennial committee, University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with Van Norden Trust Company, New York City, 1902-09; vice-president and secretary Van Dyck and Ver Planck estates and secretary Onderdonk estate 1909-19; executive secretary New York State division Republican Ways and Means Committee 1919-21, secretary European Relief

Council 1920, engaged in reconstruction work for Irving National Bank in the Southwest, Yucatan, and Cuba 1920–21, with General Motors Acceptance Corporation 1921-23 (vice-president and treasurer Petriccione Company in Cuba and assistant manager Detroit area); vice-president and treasurer Uppercu Cadillac Corporation, New York City, 1923-30; secretary liquidating committee Plaza Trust Company, New York City, 1931, president and treasurer G R Kinney Company, shoe manufacturers, 1932-35 and Wright-Rowe, Inc., real estate, 1935-38; treasurer J Edgar Leaveraft & Company, real estate and insurance, 1938–43, commissioned Captain, Quartermaster Corps, August 26, 1918, assigned to Requirements Division, Office of Director of Purchase, Storage, and Traffic Division, Washington, discharged January 8, 1919; governor Yale Publishing Association, secretary Class of 1902 from 1912 to 1943 and permanent chairman Class reunion committee, chairman board of directors of the Class, president Yale Association of Class Secretaries 1928-30 and ex officio member Alumni Advisory Board (second vice-chairman 1928), chairman 1492 United Graduates Reunion Dinner 1914, on publicity committee Yale Alumni University Fund 1916-17 and secretary 1917-18; worker Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926, member Real Estate Board of New York, National Council of Shoe Retailers, Inc , Amateur Comedy Club, Inc , and Players Club.

Married February 8, 1905, in Hartford, Conn, Helen Griswold, daughter of

Niles Pratt and Leila (Griswold) Hough. No children.

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife

Erastus Corning, B.A. 1903.

Born October 22, 1879, in Albany, NY. Died November 11, 1942, in Albany, NY

Father, Erastus Corning of Albany, engaged in steel business; son of Erastus Corning (Union Coll ex-1848) and Gertrude (Tibbits) Corning of Albany. Mother, Grace FitzRandolph (Schenck) Corning; daughter of Rev Noah Hunt Schenck and Anna Pierce (Pendleton) Schenck of Brooklyn, NY. Yale relatives include Parker Corning, '95, and Edwin Corning, '06 (uncles), and Francis W Rawle, '27, Erastus Corning, 2d, '32, and Edwin Corning, '42 (cousins)

Albany Academy and St. Mark's School, Southboro, Mass. Second colloquy appointment Senior year, vice-president University Dramatic Association Junior year and president Senior year; Fence orator Sophomore year; Class historian Senior year, member University Club, Hé Boulé, and Skull and Bones.

Attended Albany Medical College 1903-07 (M D 1907; member Nu Sigma Nu), interne Albany Hospital 1907–08; physician in Albany 1908 until retirement 1940, on staff Albany, Memorial, and St. Peter's hospitals; assistant attending physician Albany Tuberculosis Sanatorium and examiner Ray Brook Sanatorium; medical director Albany Felt Company 1920–42, commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, June 28, 1917; assistant adjutant Walter Reed General Hospital, Washington, August–November, 1917, adjutant and registrar Base Hospital No. 33 (Albany Unit) November 21, 1917–May 25, 1918, overseas May, 1918–October 15, 1919, Commanding Officer Camp Hospital No. 36, Southampton, England, May–August, 1918, and Base Hospital No. 33, Portsmouth, England, August, 1918–February 4, 1919, promoted Major, October 1, 1918, and Lieutenant Colonel November 15, 1918, chief surgeon American Expeditionary Force, Archangel, North Russia, February 4–October, 1919, discharged October 24, 1919, contributed to Quindecennial and War Record of the Class (1922), president Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York 1925–26 and representative on Alumni Board 1928–29, trustee New York State College for Teachers, member Albany County Medical Society (secretary, president 1930), Medical Society of the State of New York, American Medical Association, and Cathedral of All Saints (Episcopal), Albany

Married May 17, 1906, in Washington, Edith Harlan, daughter of Frank Linus Child (B.A. Brown 1870, LL B Boston Univ 1873) and Edith (Harlan) Child. Children: Edith Harlan, Gertrude Tibbits (Mrs Corning Déak), and Erastus, Jr. Dr. and Mrs Corning were divorced

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery Survived by children and two grandchildren.

George Augustus Goss, B.A. 1903.

Born April 1, 1881, in Waterbury, Conn. Died October 13, 1942, in Middlebury, Conn

Father, Chauncey Porter Goss, president Scovill Manufacturing Company, Waterbury; son of Ephraim and Margaret (Porter) Goss of Pittsford, N Y Mother, Caroline Amelia (Ketcham) Goss, daughter of Cornelius and Caroline (Ryan) Ketcham of Bushnell's Basin, N Y. Yale relatives include: William M. Goss, ex-'17, Chauncey P Goss, 3d, '26, John B Goss, '28, Richard W. Goss, '29, Ehot P. Goss, '31, and Milton W Goss, '32 (nephews); and William M. Goss, Ir, ex-'44 (grandnephew).

The Hotchkiss School Class wrestler Freshman year; University Track Team three years; University Football Squad Freshman year and member Team Junior and Senior years; second football team Sophomore year, cup man; Class Day and Class Cup committees, member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Whiffenpoofs, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

Associated with Scovill Manufacturing Company 1904–42 (superintendent manufacturing division 1921–29, director 1923–42, and vice-president 1926–42; had not been active in business since 1929), commissioned Captain, Ordnance, June 1, 1917; overseas September, 1917–December 25, 1918, chief of ammunition supply, Ordnance Department, A.E.F., September, 1917–August, 1918,

chief inspector of ammunition, 1st Army, A.E.F., August-December, 1918; discharged December 26, 1918, received citation for "exceptionally meritorious and conspicuous services" as chief of the ammunition supply; traveled around the world 1903-04, climbed and explored Mt Kina Balu in British North Borneo, his paper on the exploration of the mountain was submitted to the Royal Geographical Society, London, and led to his election as a fellow of that Society, on the trip he made a collection of birds, butterflies, and mollusks which were later presented to the Smithsonian Institution; vice-president and president Mory's Association, on thirty-fifth reunion committee of his Class, member Laurentian Club (Canada), Royal Societies Club (London), and First Congregational Church, Waterbury

Married (1) October 10, 1906, in Ansonia, Conn, Elise Marion, daughter of Franklin and Lillian (Clark) Farrel, granddaughter of Wilson H. Clark (LL.B. 1845), and sister of Franklin Farrel, Jr, '03. Mr. and Mrs. Goss were divorced in 1916 Married (2) July 9, 1919, in Paris, France, Lillian Estelle Farrel, sister of his first wife. Son. George Augustus, Jr, '42

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Water-bury Survived by wife, son, two sisters, Mrs. Hugh Lindsay Thompson of Waterbury and Mary G Kelley-Patterson, the wife of William Kelley-Patterson (Trinity Coll, Dublin, Ireland) of Waterbury, and two brothers, John H Goss, '94, and Chauncey Porter Goss, Jr., of Middlebury.

Harvey Childs McClintock, B.A. 1903.

Born January 16, 1882, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died January 18, 1943, in New York City

Father, Oliver McClintock, '61 Mother, Clara Courtney (Childs) McClintock Yale relatives, in addition to those listed in the biography of his brother, Norman McClintock, '91, which appears in the 1937–38 Obstuary Record, include three cousins, Kenneth McClintock, ex-'13 S., Harvey Childs, 3d, '20, and Blair Childs, '25.

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh, and Phillips-Andover. Second colloquy appointment Junior year and first colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Football Team, substitute Freshman Crew, second University Football Team two years, University Crew squad Senior year; member Freshman Religious Committee, Kappa Psi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Elihu

Attended Harvard Law School 1903-06 (LL B 1906), admitted to Pennsylvania bar 1907 and New York bar 1916, lawyer in Pittsburgh 1906-15 (associated with Charles G Carter, '91, 1907-09, partner Young, McClintock & Painter 1909-15); complaint clerk Police Department of New York City 1915-17, secretary to police commissioner and special deputy police commissioner 1917, associated with White & Case, lawyers, New York City, 1918-43; became member Allegheny County Court of Arbitration 1911; on Class dinner

committee; member Allegheny County Bar Association, warden Christ

Church (Episcopal), Bronxville, NY

Married November 11, 1911, in Quogue, NY, Fanny, daughter of Charles De Hart Brower (B.A Columbia 1878, LLB 1880) and Mary (Bailey) Brower. Children Harvey Childs, Jr, '35, Jeannette (died March 4, 1917), and Brower, '40

Death followed an operation Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by wife, sons, two grandchildren, three sisters, Emma M Darling, the widow of Thomas Darling, '86, and Mrs Wallace Osburn and Mrs Frank D Nicol, both of Pontiac, Mich, and a brother, Walter McClintock, '91

Paul Ford Mann, B.A. 1903.

Born February 12, 1881, in Hartford, Conn Died February 7, 1943, in White Plains, NY.

Father, Dr. Matthew D Mann, '67 Mother, Elizabeth (Pope) Mann Yale relatives include: Moses Bagg (B A 1837) and Matthew Bagg (B A 1839) (great-uncles); Charles A Mann, '56, and James F Mann, ex-'59 (uncles); John H. Mann, '83 S., Frederick J Mann, '90 S, and Joseph R Swan, '02 (cousins)

Nichols School, Buffalo, NY, and St. Paul's School, Concord, NH Second colloquy appointment Senior year, Senior Promenade and Class Picture committees, secretary and treasurer Berkeley Association Junior year; member

Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

With Force Food Company, cereal manufacturers, Buffalo, 1903–04, studied architecture Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1904–06 and at École des Beaux Arts 1906–08, in office of Holabird & Roche, Chicago, 1908–09; successively with Carrère & Hastings and Cram [Ralph A, '15 Hon], Goodhue & Ferguson, New York City, 1909–11; architect in Buffalo 1911–43 (member Mann & Cook 1912–20 and Plumer and Mann, Inc., 1920–26), enlisted in Squadron A, New York National Guard, October 28, 1910, on January 4, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant, 3d New York Field Artillery, federalized as 106th Field Artillery, 27th Division, July 3, 1917, promoted First Lieutenant October 1, 1917, stationed at Camp Wadsworth July, 1917–January, 1918; overseas February 3, 1918–September 15, 1919, transferred to Renting, Requisitions, and Claims Department, Tours, February 18, 1918; commissioned Captain, Army Service Corps, February 13, 1919, discharged September 30, 1919; member American Institute of Architects (president Buffalo chapter 1922); attended St Paul's Cathedral (Episcopal), Buffalo

Unmarried

Death due to aneurysm of left ventricle of heart Ashes interred in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by three brothers, Matthew D Mann, Jr, '06 S., Alan N. Mann, '08, and Richard L Mann, '09 S Another brother, Rev. Arthur S Mann, '99, died in 1907.

Arthur Daniel Mullen, B.A. 1903.

Born August 17, 1879, in New Haven, Conn. Died October 13, 1942, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, John Mullen, member New Haven Fire Department; son of Francis and Margaret A (Cahill) Mullen of New Haven. Mother, Mary Anna (O'Keefe) Mullen; daughter of Edmund and Margaret (Morrison) O'Keefe of Woodbridge, Conn

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Oration appointment Junior year;

dissertation appointment Senior year.

Cashier Columbus (Ohio) office Travelers Insurance Company 1903–05; in office of Sargent & Company, hardware manufacturers, New Haven, 1905–06; with Underwriters Agency Company, general insurance, 1906, clerk office of city controller, New Haven, 1906–08, chief clerk 1909–11, city controller 1912–14 and 1917–25, entered real-estate and insurance business 1916 (secretary The Katz & Mullen Company 1917–22); an organizer American Bank & Trust Company 1914, treasurer 1914–18, and vice-president 1932–40; chief appraiser New Haven office Federal Home Owners Loan Corporation 1933–34; assistant director excise division, Office of State Tax Commissioner, 1935–36; advisory member Unemployment Compensation Commission, State Department of Labor, 1938–42, member Roman Catholic church.

Married October 19, 1912, in South Manchester, Conn, Katherine Leola, daughter of John and Katherine (Hurley) O'Keefe Children. Mary Ann (B A. Albertus Magnus Coll 1936), the wife of Stephen G. McKeon, ex-'35; Arthur Daniel, Jr (died in infancy), Arthur Daniel, Jr (B A Wesleyan 1941); John O'Keefe, '40 E, and Margaret Morrison

Death due to chronic pulmonary tuberculosis Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, daughters, two sons, two granddaughters, and a sister, Mrs Irene M Callahan of New Haven.

Wıllıam Kenney Terriberry, B.A. 1903.

Born June 23, 1880, in Glen Gardner, NJ Died April 22, 1943, in Binghamton, N.Y.

Father, Andrew Miller Terriberry, member Terriberry & Kenney, merchants, Somerville, NJ, son of Nathan and Margaret (Stires) Terriberry of Junction, NJ Mother, Mary Pickel (Kenney) Terriberry, daughter of William James and Eleanor (Queen) Kenney of Hampton, NJ Yale relatives include a cousin, William S Terriberry, '93

Mr Leal's School for Boys, Plainfield, N J. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1903-07

(M.D 1907; member Nu Sigma Nu); interne Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1907–08; temporary member house staff St Luke's Hospital, New York City, January–March, 1909, physician in New York City 1909–18 (on staff St Mary's Hospital for Children, Bellevue Hospital, and Hospital for the Ruptured and Crippled), demonstrator in physiology, Columbia University, 1909–11, and instructor 1911–14; examiner and consultant to chief adjuster, Eastern division, Continental Casualty Company 1911–14; home office medical examiner Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York 1914–18; associated with medical division Standard Oil Company of New Jersey 1918 until retirement 1935 (medical director Package Division, Bayonne Works, 1918–30 and New Jersey Marketing Division 1930–34, assistant medical director, New York City, 1934–35); did special work in cardiac diseases at the Jersey City Medical Center following retirement; in recent years resided in Binghamton, member medical societies of New York County and New York State, American Medical Association, and Brick Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married (1) July 6, 1914, in New York City, Minnie Wick, daughter of William and Mellisa (Ford) Kittleman. No children Mrs Terriberry died March 13, 1931 Married (2) April 26, 1932, in Binghamton, Katherine Marcella, daughter of Philip and Joan (Gorman) Finley

Death due to arteriosclerotic cardiovascular disease and pneumonia Buried in St. Patrick's Cemetery, Binghamton. Survived by wife and mother

Ralph Huntington Thacher, B.A. 1903.

Born November 23, 1881, in Albany, NY Died January 18, 1943, in New York City

Father, Ralph Wheeler Thacher (B A Hamilton Coll 1859), a grain commission merchant; president Albany Art Union, son of Ralph and Jerusha (Harrison) Thacher of Brockport, N Y Mother, Louise Clinton (Huntington) Thacher; daughter of Henry and Harriet (Douw) Huntington of Schoharie, N.Y.

Albany Academy Second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; member Psi Upsilon

With Tacks Manufacturing Company, Utica, NY., 1903–05, Utica & Mohawk Valley Railway Company 1905–06, Central New York Telephone & Telegraph Company, Syracuse, 1906–11, and Genesee Motor Car Company, Syracuse, 1911–16, in investment business 1916–43 (independently engaged in Utica 1916–18; bond salesman Guaranty Trust Company, Albany, 1918–20, with Douglas M Ross Company, Utica, 1920–23 and D E French, Syracuse, 1926–27; vice-president Partlow Corporation 1923–26, in trading department American National Company, Inc , 1928–29 and its affiliate Pacific Trust Company, New York City, 1929–30; with Charles H Drew & Company 1930–33, assistant secretary and director Gonder, Kelley & Company, Inc , New York

City, 1936-43), on Class dinner committee, member Masonic order and First Presbyterian Church, Utica.

Married (1) June 15, 1909, in New York Mills, N.Y., Hannah Elizabeth, daughter of John Franklin and Adelaide (Walcott) Calder. No children. Mrs Thacher died July 7, 1925 Married (2) September 2, 1926, in Albany, Dorotha, daughter of Frank Warren and Julia (Orvis) Rosebrook. No children.

Death due to coronary arteriosclerosis Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery.

Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Francis White Stedman.

Howard Spencer Woodward, B.A. 1903.

Born August 16, 1877, in Lordstown, Ohio. Died December 8, 1942, in Cleveland, Ohio

Father, Delbert King Woodward, a fruit grower, breeder of Percheron horses, and insurance man in Lordstown, son of Leonard and Ann (Moherman) Woodward of Lordstown. Mother, Anna Elizabeth (Spencer) Woodward; daughter of Clarence B and Sophia (Foote) Spencer of Chardon, Ohio

Hiram College Preparatory School, B A Hiram College 1902 Attended Yale College 1900-01 and 1902-03, high oration appointment Junior and

Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa

Studied at Harvard University 1903–05, instructor in public speaking Illinois State Normal University 1905–09, member faculty Western Reserve University 1909–42 (instructor in English 1909–11, assistant professor 1911–14, associate professor 1914–24, and professor 1924–27; professor of speech and departmental head 1927–42); organized Western Reserve chapter of Delta Sigma Rho 1911, national president 1939–42; treasurer National Association of Teachers of Speech 1915–17, president 1918–20, and business manager of its publication Quarterly Journal of Speech 1915–17; an organizer Civic Oratorical League 1909; became president Northern Oratorical League in 1933; chairman for Ohio, Intercollegiate Peace Association, 1913–14, member Christian Church, Lordstown

Married June 17, 1920, in Cleveland, Helen Margaret, daughter of Rev. Richard F. Boethelt (Halle Univ) and Margaret (von Stockhausen) Boethelt. No children

Death due to pulmonary embolus Buried in Village Cemetery, Lordstown. Survived by wife.

Arthur Shinkle Baker, B.A. 1904.

Born April 5, 1876, in Akron, Ohio. Died May 18, 1943, in Morristown, NJ.

Father, Rev Henry Baker, D.D. (B.A. Wesleyan Univ. 1864, M.A. 1867), a Methodist minister, pastor First Methodist Church, New Haven, Conn., 1903-

06, son of Henry Baker of Pennington, N J. Mother, Sarah Jane (Wood) Baker; daughter of Joseph and Sarah Jane (Marsh) Wood of Spring Valley, N.Y

Private tutor; B.A. Lafayette College 1903 Entered Yale College beginning of Senior year; member Alpha Chi Rho. Attended Yale Graduate School 1904-05.

Teacher Middlebury (Conn.) High School 1905-06, Wabon School and New York Military Academy 1906-07, and Breesport (NY) Union School 1907-08; with Metropolitan Life Insurance Company 1910, professional nurse 1910-11; engaged in business in Bridgeport, Conn, 1911-14; metaphysical healer in Brooklyn 1919-25; resided in Morristown since 1925, member Methodist church, Morristown

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Pennington Cemetery Survived by a sister, Anna B Giffin, the wife of Rev Mortimer Powell Giffin, D D. (Drew Theological Seminary 1895–98 [B.D 1929]; Union Theological Seminary 1898–1900), of Morristown

William Arthur Brenner, B.A. 1904.

Born October 8, 1876, in Grand Junction, Iowa Died April 15, 1943, in Evanston, Ill

Father, John Wesley Brenner, a farmer and real-estate agent in Canton, S.Dak.; civil court judge, son of Adam and Susan (Yardy) Brenner of Freeport, Ill Mother, Nancy Jane (Shore) Brenner; daughter of Joshua and Nancy (Parks) Shore of Shannon, Ill.

Preparatory department, Augustana College, Canton; B A Western College (Iowa) 1901. Entered Yale College beginning of Senior year; high oration appointment.

Chief clerk and auditor The Travelers Insurance Company, Hartford, 1904–06; associated with American Telephone & Telegraph Company 1906 until retirement 1941; assistant chief operator 1906–07, supervisor of traffic Chicago 1907–09; district traffic chief Cincinnati 1909; traffic engineering assistant New York City 1910–12; division supervisor of traffic New York City 1912–16 and Chicago 1916–18; assistant division superintendent of traffic Chicago 1918–20; division superintendent of traffic St. Louis 1920–23 and Chicago 1923–41; member Telephone Pioneers of America, Yale Engineering Association, and St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Evanston

Married October 2, 1909, in Pittsburgh, Pa, Alice Irene, daughter of William and Ella Margaret (Flynn) Robinson Children. Hope Robinson (Gulf Park Coll. ex-'31), the wife of Milton Pollard Rasmussen (B S. Univ. of Illinois 1933); and William Arthur, Jr, ex-'39 Mrs. Brenner died April 1, 1943

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by children and a sister, Nellie Elizabeth Brenner (B A Yankton Coll 1910) of Canton.

Ernest Hamilton Hurd, B.A. 1904.

Born January 20, 1878, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died January 25, 1943, in Elizabeth, N.J.

Father, Edwin D Hurd of Wilton, Conn, retired military officer Mother, Sarah (Beers) Hurd

Norwalk (Conn) University School Attended Yale School of Law 1904–05. With Prudential Insurance Company in New York City and Pittsfield, Mass., 1905–06, control bookkeeper St Regis Hotel, New York City, 1906–07; teacher of languages in private schools 1906–09; instructor in Latin and German Elizabeth Senior High School 1909–10, taught modern languages Newark (N.J.) high schools 1912–15 and St John's College, Brooklyn, N.Y., 1916; control bookkeeper during construction of Fox Hills (N.Y.) Military Hospital during World War I, studied music at Yale 1903–04 and with private teachers; gave piano instruction and was in charge of music in several churches in New York City, Newark, and Elizabeth; composer of several pieces, including "Hymn to Elizabeth" (on the occasion of the town's 250th anniversary), "Prayer for Peace," "America, My Country," and a number of hymns; member New Jersey Federation of Music Clubs and First Presbyterian Church, Elizabeth.

Married January 1, 1910, in Springfield, Pa, Lora Adell Turner (Pd M Edinboro [Pa] State Teachers Coll 1894, BA. Oberlin 1904), daughter of Winfield Scott and Helen Elizabeth (Welch) Turner. No children.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in East Springfield (Pa.) Cemetery Survived by wife and a brother, Clinton H Hurd of Chester, Vt.

Charles William Lawrance, B.A. 1904.

Born June 11, 1880, in Indianapolis, Ind.

Died June 22, 1943, in Kensington, Md.

Father, Milo Elonson Lawrance, president Lawrance Grain & Milling Company, Checotah, Okla Mother, Annie (LaMar) Lawrance; daughter of Alfred and Laura (Mason) LaMar of Grand View, Ind

Kansas City (Mo) High School Second colloquy appointment Junior year; honors in history and second dispute appointment Senior year; member Zeta Psi

Worked in a lumber camp at Bon Ami, La, 1904–07; superintendent Long-ville (La) Long Leaf Lumber Company 1907; vice-president and general manager Lawrance Grain & Milling Company 1907–09; general sales manager Sabine Lumber Company, Kansas City and St Louis, 1909–15; district sales manager The Long-Bell Lumber Company, Chicago, 1915–25 and manager Chicago district 1925–34; federal employee in Washington 1934–43 (chief of administrative department Lumber Code Authority 1934; technical specialist Bureau of Agricultural Economics and administrative officer Soil Conservation

Service 1935-39, chief of lumber division, Procurement Policy, Division of War Production Board, 1939-43), member Lumbermen's and Builders' clubs of Chicago; chairman of the board and first reader Seventh Church of Christ

(Scientist), Chicago

Married (1) April 5, 1909, in Muskogee, Okla., Mae Strickland, daughter of Philip Melankthan and Mary (Brown) Liddy Daughter Elizabeth LaMar (Northwestern Univ 1930–32), the wife of John Lacey Reynolds (B A Vanderbilt 1932). Mr and Mrs. Lawrance were divorced in 1939. Married (2) November 7, 1940, in Washington, Elizabeth, daughter of Herbert Henry and Anne Wright (Marron) Marshall

Death due to dilatation of the heart. Buried in Rock Creek Cemetery, Wash-

ington. Survived by wife, daughter, and one granddaughter

Edward Stetson Paine, B.A. 1904.

Born August 31, 1882, in Bangor, Maine Died February 11, 1943, in New York City

Father, Levi L Paine (B A. 1856). Mother, Jennette (Holmes) Paine Yale relatives include: Frederick H Paine, '88 (brother), and Langdon W. Clark, ex-'17 S, and Frederick Tillinghast Paine, '22 (nephews).

Bangor High School and Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, chairman Yale Record board and an editor Yale Courant

Senior year; member Chi Delta Theta.

Attended Harvard Law School 1904–06; admitted to New York bar 1906 and Puerto Rico bar 1907, with Rounds, Hatch, Dillingham [Frank A, '91] & Debevoise [Thomas M, '95], lawyers, New York City, 1906-17 (resident partner in Puerto Rico 1907-13; partner 1913-17), with Military Intelligence Division, General Staff, Washington, 1917–18, partner William Schall & Company, bankers and brokers, New York City, 1918-30, treasurer Pan American Industries, Inc , New York City, 1935–43, managing partner Russell & Company, sugar properties in Puerto Rico, 1935-43, vice-president Antilles Navigation Company 1908-10, treasurer Cerveceria Nacional Dominicana, Inc, and Cerveceria Nacional Dominicana, C. por A, 1930–43, Usine à Glace de Port-au-Prince 1930-43, Corona Brewing Corporation (Puerto Rico) 1933-43, Brasserie de la Couronne 1934-43, Crown Beverages, Inc., San Juan, Puerto Rico, 1934-43, and Standard Beverages, Inc, Canada Dry Bottling Company of New Orleans, Inc., and Canada Dry Bottling Company of Charlotte, NC, Inc, 1938-41, secretary Central Romana, Inc., and its successor, Central Romana Corporation, 1919–42 and Yngenio Santa Fe (Dominica) 1926-40; assistant secretary South Porto Rican Sugar Company 1919 and secretary 1919-35; chairman Board of Foreign Vintages 1934-40, on Class dinner committee; studied oil painting under Gifford Beal, N A, and had exhibited at

the amateur art shows at New York Yale Club, member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hewlett, N Y.

Married September 12, 1907, in Bangor, Florence Margaret Bragg (B.A. Smith Coll 1905), daughter of Charles Fred and Florence (Wingate) Bragg. Children Edward Bragg, '31; Jennette Holmes (died May 25, 1911); Wingate Holmes, '36, and Leonard Frederick, '40 Mrs. Paine died March 21, 1929.

Death due to heart failure following pneumonia. Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Bangor Survived by sons, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mary P. Gould (B A Smith Coll 1896), the wife of Rev. J. Harold Gould (B A. and B D Bates Coll 1904, S T B Harvard 1909) of Wakefield, Mass.

Herbert Spencer Petry, B.A. 1904.

Born October 12, 1883, in Darlington, NJ. Died July 25, 1942, in Summit, NJ.

Father, John Petry, a gentleman farmer in Darlington and trader in stocks and bonds New York City; son of George and Helen (Low) Petry of Paterson, NJ Mother, Ruth Elliot (de Fau) Petry; daughter of Henri and Caroline (Ruprect) de Fau of New York City.

Peddie School, Hightstown, NJ

With Title Guarantee & Trust Company, New York City, 1904–05; agent Mutual Life Insurance Company 1905–15 and mercantile salesman in New York City, with Noiseless Typewriter Company of Middletown, Conn, 1915–25 (in New York office 1915–19, district sales manager Pittsburgh office 1919–21 and Detroit office 1921–25); bond salesman in Detroit 1925–28, associated with Remington Rand Business Service, Inc., Baltimore, 1928–29; independently engaged in advertising business in New York City 1930–42; member Hightstown Presbyterian Church.

Married December 5, 1919, in Pittsburgh, Emilie Marie, daughter of Rudolf and Emilie (Lindner) Kuebler. Children: Lois (Brooklyn Coll. 1938–39; Pratt Inst 1939–40) and John Kenneth.

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Rosedale Cemetery, Linden, N J Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Miss Mildred Petry of Summit, and a brother, Howard James Petry of Washington, D.C.

Norman Nienstedt Rupp, B.A. 1904.

Born October 28, 1882, in Saginaw, Mich. Died November 25, 1942, in Portland, Ore.

Father, John Jacob Rupp, a lumberman and banker in Saginaw; son of Gutheb and Margaret (Hartman) Rupp who lived near Frankenmuth, Mich.

Mother, Betty (Nienstedt) Rupp; daughter of Henry and Betty (Heitman)

Nienstedt of Michigan.

Saginaw High School. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, Freshman Debating Team, on academic team in interdepartmental debate Sophomore year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Yale Union, and University Club.

Dealer in timber investments on the West coast, in Idaho, Louisiana, Mississippi, and Florida and an officer in various timber-holding syndicates and operating companies since graduation; made his headquarters in Saginaw 1904–10 and in Portland 1910–42, president Rupp Investment Company 1928–42; secretary-treasurer Saginaw Valley Development Company 1915–16, secretary Palmer-Rupp Logging Company 1916–18; secretary-treasurer Huron Timber Company 1928–33, vice-president 1934–35, president 1936–42, treasurer Mitchell Dorr Realty Company 1927; assistant secretary-treasurer Rubedew Lumber Company; assistant food administrator for Oregon in World War I and on War Rationing Board No 2, Portland, in World War II, president Oregon Yale Alumni Association 1924–27 and representative on Alumni Board 1924–25, 1929–37; member Masonic order.

Married May 22, 1917, in Portland, Margaret Savier, daughter of Samuel Maxwell and Laura (Savier) Mears Children Laura Virginia (died in infancy), Virginia (Scripps Coll. 1937–40), the wife of Richard Albert Shearer (Univ of Oregon 1931–35); Norman Nienstedt, Jr (Reed Coll 1940–42, Massachusetts Inst. of Technology 1942–43); and John Mears (died October 13, 1927)

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Riverview Cemetery, Portland. Survived by wife, one daughter, one son, one granddaughter, and two sisters, Mrs. Meta R. Cobb of New York City and Mrs Harold Polson of Saginaw.

Roy Willet Hemingway, B.A. 1905.

Born April 19, 1881, in Brooklyn, N.Y Died July 10, 1942, in Auburn, NY.

Father, Harvey Clayton Hemingway, president H C Hemingway & Company, fruit and vegetable canners, Syracuse and Auburn, N Y, and Lockport (N.Y.) Canning Company; son of Willet and Lydia (Bradley) Hemingway of Fair Haven, Conn. Mother, Mary Granger (Noble) Hemingway, daughter of James and Nancy (Granger) Noble of Syracuse Yale relatives include a nephew, Stuart C. Hemingway, '39.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, member Alpha Delta Phi.

Associated with H. C. Hemingway & Company 1905-42 (assistant manager

Auburn plant 1905–10, manager 1911–42; vice-president of the company 1920–29, president 1929–42), president H. F. Hemingway & Company, Inc., Baltimore, 1929–39 and Lockport Canning Company 1929–40; president Associated Charities 1923–26, Auburn Community Chest 1926–27, Auburn Chamber of Commerce 1928, Auburn Board of Education 1930–38, and Cayuga Museum of History and Art 1942, on executive board Auburn City Hospital and New York State Y.M. C.A., chairman local unit Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; director National Canners Association, member Association of New York State Canners (president 1925) and Second Presbyterian Church, Auburn

Married April 27, 1910, in Bradford, Pa, Mary Elizabeth, daughter of Albert Bamber and Margaret Dorcas (Bovaird) Booth Children: Booth, '34, Harvey Willet, '35, David Stuart (B A Princeton 1936), and Margaret

Death due to injuries received in a fall. Buried in Fort Hill Cemetery, Auburn. Survived by wife, children, a grandson, and a brother, Stuart C. Hemingway, '05 S

Alfred Ethridge, B.A. 1906.

Born July 12, 1884, in Rome, N.Y. Died May 12, 1943, in Bartow, Fla.

Father, James Murdock Ethridge, a wholesale grocer in Rome; son of Alfred and Abby Murdock (House) Ethridge of Rome Mother, Minnie Irene (Patrick) Ethridge, daughter of Simeon and Elosia Pauline (Halstead) Patrick of Albany, N Y.

Rome High School and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn

Traveled around the world 1906, secretary The Ethridge Company, advertising, New York City, 1907–09 and member firm 1909–16; vice-president The Ethridge Association of Artists 1916–17; assistant chief, advertising section, U S Food Administration, Washington, 1917–18; Captain Ordnance Department, overseas October 27, 1918–February 21, 1919; associated with his father in A Ethridge & Company 1919–25; president Clinton (N Y) Canning Company 1925–28 and Ethridge Canning Company, Clinton, 1928 until retirement 1937, assistant marketing specialist, U S Food Distribution Administration, passing on quality of canned goods for Armed Forces and Lend-Lease 1942–43, member First Presbyterian Church, Rome

Married June 28, 1921, in Utica, NY, Jean, daughter of Leslie Warnick and Anne (Huntington) Brown Children Alfred, Jr, and Leslie-Ann.

Death due to acute heart failure Buried in Rome Cemetery Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Mrs Edward Gould, Jr, of Osterville, Mass., and Mrs Leonard McAneny of Yonkers, NY, and a brother, James Murdock Ethridge, Jr., '09

William Buell Sprague, B.A. 1906.

Born October 26, 1885, in Flushing, N.Y Died August 22, 1942, in Torrington, Conn.

Father, Edward Everet Sprague (B.A Harvard 1868), a lawyer in New York City; son of William B. Sprague (B A. 1815) and Henrietta Burnett (Lathrop) Sprague. Mother, Hannah Nelson (Hoover) Sprague; daughter of Joseph Brognard and Almy Medora (Rodgers) Hoover of Flushing Yale relatives include: Joseph Lathrop (B A. 1754) (great-great-grandfather), Samuel Lathrop (B.A. 1792) (great-grandfather); Aaron Buell (B A. 1778) (great-great-uncle), and William M. Lathrop (B.A. 1825) and John Lathrop (B A. 1829) (great-uncles).

St. Paul's School, Garden City, N Y First division stand Freshman year, second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, Apollo Glee Club Freshman year; University Glee Club three years (recorder Junior year, president Senior year); president Yale Glee, Banjo, and Mandolin Clubs Association Senior year; coach '07 Freshman Glee Club and Apollo Glee Club, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1906–09 (LL B. 1909); admitted to the bar 1908; lawyer in New York City 1908–42 (associated with his father 1908–20; member Sprague, Seymour [Origen S, '94] & Sprague 1921–42); counsel Trinity Church Corporation, James McCreery Realty Corporation 1919–42, and Louis Adler Realty Corporation 1926–29, trustee Flushing Hospital and Dispensary 1912–32, secretary 1912–16, treasurer 1927–32, and counsel 1931–32; commissioned Captain, Chemical Warfare Service, October 15, 1918, assigned to Camp A. A. Humphreys and later transferred to Camp Kendrick, discharged December 12, 1918, a collector of early American industrial implements, he founded the Early American Industries Association 1933 (president 1933–38; editor of its publication *The Chronicle* 1934–42 and contributor of many articles), member Bar Association of the City of New York, American Philatelic Society (vice-president 1915–17), Litchfield Historical Society, New York State Historical Society, Down Town Association of New York, and St. George's Church (Episcopal), Flushing

Married February 28, 1911, in Flushing, Valeria Fay, daughter of Charles Henry and Lily Valeria (Fay) Wilmerding Children William Buell, Jr (B A. Williams Coll 1937); Mary Wilmerding, the wife of Peter Hollins Nicholas (Harvard ex-'39), and Harry Wilmerding (died January 31, 1922)

Death due to injuries received in a fall Buried in Flushing Cemetery Survived by wife, daughter, one son, two sisters, Hannah S. Dodge, the widow of Ozias Dodge, '99 Art, of Norwich, Conn, and Mrs. Robert Hathaway Boyd of Litchfield, Conn., and a brother, Edward Buell Sprague (Harvard ex-'03) of South Norwalk, Conn.

Richard Henry Deming, B.A. 1907.

Born July 20, 1885, in Hartford, Conn Died April 17, 1943, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, William Henry Deming, secretary Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company, Hartford, son of William Strong and Mary Martin (Gaines) Deming of Hartford, and Malden, Mass. Mother, Emma Louise (Judd) Deming; daughter of Henry Clay and Mary Peck (Young) Judd of Hartford. Yale relatives include an uncle, Edwin Y Judd, '85 S.

Hartford Public High School. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Glee Club; Apollo Glee Club Sophomore and Junior

years, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club

Attended Harvard Law School 1907–10 (LL B 1910); admitted to the bar 1910, lawyer in Hartford 1911–43 (in office of Hugh M. Alcorn 1911–12); prosecuting attorney Town Court of West Hartford 1923–25, judge and clerk 1925–29, corporation counsel West Hartford 1929–40, representative in Connecticut General Assembly session of 1915 and senator session of 1919 (on judiciary committee both sessions), secretary Universal Power Engineering Company, chairman local draft board 5A, West Hartford, 1941–43; member Yale Alumni Association of Hartford, Hartford County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut, Masonic order, and St. John's Church (Episcopal), West Hartford.

Married January 30, 1915, in Columbus, Ohio, Mary Darst, daughter of Edward Chapman Fuller (U S. Naval Academy 1874) and Katharine Winters (Darst) Fuller Son Richard Henry, Jr, '40 E

Death due to uremia. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Mrs Cyril Fancher of Rochester, NY.

Isaac Lamson Jennings, B.A. 1907.

Born January 14, 1885, in Cleveland, Ohio Died May 30, 1943, near Elgin, Ill.

Father, John Gould Jennings, '78 Mother, Lillian May (Lamson) Jennings. Yale relatives include Isaac Jennings (M.D. Hon. 1828) (great-grandfather), Isaac Jennings (B. A. 1837) (great-uncle), and George Conkling Jennings, '83 (uncle).

University School, Cleveland. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; member University Tennis Team and Beta Theta Pi.

Associated with The Lamson & Sessions Company of Cleveland, manufacturers of bolts, nuts, and screws, 1907-43 (assistant superintendent 1910-11,

salesman 1911–19, assistant secretary and director 1919–23, secretary and manager of sales 1923–26, director of sales 1926–34, vice-president 1926–43, and treasurer 1934–43); officer candidate, Field Artillery Central Officers Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, November 7–14, 1918, contributed articles on bolt and nut industry to trade journals, trustee Associated Charities 1916–43 (secretary 1917–27, vice-president 1932–34), Jones Home for Friendless Children 1919–43, The Musical Arts Association, operating the Cleveland Symphony Orchestra, 1926–43 (vice-president 1937–39), and Congregational Union of Cleveland 1940–43; member Society of Automotive Engineers, trustee and deacon Pilgrim Congregational Church, Cleveland.

Married April 26, 1919, in Cleveland, Gladys, daughter of John Whittlesey and Gertrude Louise (Hutchinson) Walton Children John Lamson (Colorado

Coll. ex-'43) and Walton

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife and sons.

Raymond Richards McOrmond, B.A. 1907.

Born April 17, 1886, in Clinton, Mass. Died January 3, 1943, in Harrisville Township, Ohio.

Father, William M McOrmond, associated with Singer Manufacturing Company, Marlboro, Mass.; son of William McOrmond of Scotland, and Quebec, Canada Mother, Emma Eugenie Richards (Wood) McOrmond

Haverhill (Mass) High School. Member Yale Union

Instructor in mathematics and physical director Woodberry Forest School, Orange, Va, 1907-09, associated with The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn, 1909-23 (instructor in mathematics 1909-23 and departmental head 1912-23, director of music, head coach of football, secretary Cum Laude Society, and faculty member News board); founder and headmaster The Choate Summer Tutoring School (later the McOrmond Summer School), headmaster Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn., 1923-36, instructor in mathematics and music, and president and treasurer of the School corporation, reader in mathematics College Entrance Examination Board 1917-22, author "Algebra Outlines" (1915), "Outline of Plane Trigonometry" (1915), "Plane Geometry" (1916), and "Outline of Elementary Algebra" (1921), special representative and in charge of sales for southern New England, Yale University Press, 1936-43, joined Harvard Regiment, Reserve Officers Training Corps, July 1, 1918, commodore Sachem's Head Yacht Club, Guilford, 1933-34, member Connecticut Mathematical Association, Yale Alumni Association of Hartford, and Holy Trinity Church (Episcopal), Haverhill

Married June 26, 1913, in Haverhill, Alice Bishop, daughter of Frank Eddy and Alice (Bishop) Dudley. Children. Alice Dudley (B A Vassar 1934), the

wife of George D Vaill, '35, Raymond Richards, Jr., ex-'39 S.; and Jean, the wife of Wilbur R Greenwood, Jr, '36.

Death due to exposure after an automobile accident. Buried in Linnwood Cemetery, Haverhill Survived by wife, children, and five grandchildren.

Henry Hawley Swords, B.A. 1907.

Born July 8, 1883, in Stamford, Conn. Died April 14, 1943, in Morristown, N.J.

Father, Albert Smith Swords, a coal merchant in New York City; son of Henry and Mary (Smith) Swords Mother, Georgiana (Hoyt) Swords; daughter of George A and Sarah (Hawley) Hoyt of Stamford. Yale relatives include: George L Brown, '98 S (cousin), and Albert D. Swords, ex-'10 (brother).

Morristown and Pomfret schools. Entered with Class of 1906; joined 1907 in Senior year, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with Guaranty Trust Company of New York City 1907-08; had been unoccupied since 1908 because of ill-health and resided a large part of the time at Saranac Lake, N Y; member St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Morristown, and St Luke's Church, Saranac Lake

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Woodland Cemetery, Stamford. Survived by two sisters, the Misses Jane Hawley and Marian Swords, both of Morristown

Loughran Scott Thomson, B.A. 1907.

Born June 17, 1884, in Bovina Center, NY. Died January 16, 1943, in Norristown, Pa

Father, David Lyle Thomson, a farmer in Bovina Center, son of William and Amelia (Lyle) Thomson of Bovina Center. Mother, Agnes Jane (Scott) Thomson, daughter of Robert and Martha (Loughran) Scott of Bovina Center

Delaware Academy, Delhi, NY., and Walton (NY) High School. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year

Clerk general sales department Carnegie Steel Company, Pittsburgh, 1907–13, salesman LaBelle Iron Works, Steubenville, Ohio, 1913–19, assistant manager structural division Midvale Steel and Ordnance Company, Philadelphia, 1919–23, assistant to vice-president in charge of sales Alan Wood Steel Company of Conshohocken, Pa., 1920–30 and 1937–43; salesman Wheeling Steel Corporation, Philadelphia, 1931; Philadelphia sales representative Gulf States

Steel Company, Birmingham, Ala., 1932, member Masonic order and United Church (Presbyterian), Bovina Center.

Unmarried

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in Bovina Center Survived by a sister, Leona T Thompson, the wife of Marvin John Thompson (B A Monmouth Coll. 1898) of Davenport, NY, and a brother, William Irvin Thomson of Delmar, NY.

Henry Freeman Walradt, B.A. 1907.

Born November 6, 1885, in Downington, Pa Died November 12, 1942, in Columbus, Ohio.

Father, Henry M Walradt, '75 Mother, Elnora Frances (Freeman) Walradt (grad Mount Holyoke Coll 1874) Yale relatives include Arthur E Walradt, '80, and Albert M Freeman, '89 (uncles), and Albert M Freeman, Jr, '30 (cousin).

Needham (Mass) and Newton (Mass) High schools Honors in studies of Freshman year; dissertation appointment and third-rank honors Junior year, oration appointment and Cobden Club Silver Medal Senior year Attended Yale Graduate School 1907–11 (MA 1908, Ph D. 1911)

Member faculty Ohio State University 1911–42, instructor in economics and sociology 1911–12 and assistant professor 1912–22, assistant professor of economics 1922–25 and professor 1925–42, assisted Professor Fred R Fairchild [Ph D. 1904] in an investigation of tax system of Connecticut made under auspices of Connecticut Chamber of Commerce 1916–17 and joint author of resulting report, with research bureau War Trade Board 1918–19 and co-author and editor of the Board's Report (1920), advisor for Ohio Council of Retail Merchants on matters relating to state and local taxation 1923–24, tax adviser for State of Kentucky 1931, tax analyst under United States Secretary of the Treasury 1934, author: The Financial History of Connecticut from 1789 to 1861 (1912), "Who Ultimately Pays the Taxes" (1927), "Balancing the Budget" (1933), and frequent articles on public finance and taxation, member Ohio Tax Association (president 1924–25), National Tax Association, American Economic Association, American Association of University Professors, Alpha Kappa Psi, Beta Gamma Sigma, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Columbus.

Married December 31, 1912, in Columbus, Laura Parsons Thomas (B A. Wellesley 1905, M A Ohio State Univ. 1908), daughter of Benjamin Franklin and Caroline Clarissa (Parsons) Thomas Children PerLee (B A Ohio State Univ 1940), David Henry (B A Cornell 1941, M B A Harvard 1943), and Irving Freeman, '41.

Death due to chronic lymphatic leukemia Ashes interred in Maple Grove Cemetery, Granville, Ohio Survived by wife and children

Cortlandt Stuyvesant Wheeler, B.A. 1907.

Born April 23, 1886, in Utica, N.Y Died March 22, 1943, in London, England.

Father, Frank Erastus Wheeler, '76 Mother, Louise Vanette (Ames) Wheeler. St Mark's School, Southboro, Mass, and Utica Academy Second colloquy

appointment Senior year, member Alpha Delta Phi.

Salesman and later secretary Brandegee, Kincaid & Company, wholesale manufacturers of men's clothing, Utica, 1907–17; assimilated rank of Captain American Red Cross, overseas October 1, 1917–January 1, 1919; in charge American Red Cross Bureau of Personnel October, 1917–March, 1918, with French Army at Compiègne and American Army at Château-Thierry; in charge evacuation hospitals in Fismes sector and at Villers-Daucourt; in business in London 1919–43, foreign representative Patent Cereal Company of Geneva, NY, 1919–20, managing director Ashley Trading Company, Ltd, 1920–43 and its subsidiaries, Miracle Mills, Ltd, and Rex Paste, Ltd, 1925–33, managing director International Onepipe Heater, Ltd, 1920–32, Dic-A-Doo, Ltd., 1930–35, Rilling Wahl England, Ltd, 1939–41, chairman Phelps Beddard, London, 1933–41; member Westminster Presbyterian Church, Utica.

Married February 27, 1942, in London, Hilda, daughter of Edwin Holden

and Annie Millecent (Huthersall) Towler No children.

Death due to mitral stenosis. Cremated at Golder's Green Crematorium, London Survived by wife and a sister, Mabel W Crouse, widow of Beecher M Crouse, '93, of Utica

Gordon Auchincloss, B.A. 1908.

Born June 15, 1886, in New York City. Died April 16, 1943, in New York City

Father, Edgar Stirling Auchincloss (B A New York Univ 1864), commission merchant in New York City, member Auchincloss Brothers; son of John and Elizabeth (Buck) Auchincloss of New York City. Mother, Maria La Grange (Sloan) Auchincloss, daughter of Samuel and Margaret (Elmendorf) Sloan of New York City Yale relatives include. David Buck (B.A. 1823) and Edward Buck (B A 1835) (great-uncles), Frederick L. Auchincloss, '71, John W. Auchincloss, '73 S, Hugh D Auchincloss, '79, and Richard C Colt, '85 (uncles); Alfred M Coats, '91, C Russell Auchincloss, '03, J Howland Auchincloss, '08, W Simpson Sloan, ex-'09 S, S Sloan Colt, '14, Julian R. Sloan, ex-'18, and Hugh D Auchincloss, '20 (cousins), and Edgar S Auchincloss, '32, Douglas Auchincloss, ex-'36, and Gordon Auchincloss, ex-'39 (nephews).

Groton School Second dispute appointment Senior year, Freshman Football Team, Freshman Four-Oar Crew, University Crew Senior year; floor manager

Sophomore German Committee; treasurer Junior Promenade Committee, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

Attended Harvard Law School 1908–11 (LL B 1911); associated with Hawkins, Delafield & Longfellow, New York City, 1911–13; assistant United States District Attorney, Southern District of New York, 1913–15; special assistant to Attorney General of United States in charge of tax litigation 1915–17; assistant to Counselor of State Department, Washington, 1917–19 (secretary of American War Mission to Paris and London and to Colonel Edward M. House during peace conference), partner Miller and Auchincloss (later Parker, Marshall, Miller, Auchincloss & Randall, Parker, Marshall, Miller & Auchincloss; Parker, Marshall & Auchincloss, and Auchincloss, Alley & Duncan) 1915–43; president Rican Corporation 1940–43, assistant treasurer Democratic National Committee 1916; director New York Association for the Blind 1926–43 and chairman Lighthouse Campaign Drive 1939–40, helped establish Maria Sloan Auchincloss Fund at Yale, member New York State Bar Association, Bar Association of the City of New York; trustee Riverside Church, New York City.

Married September 14, 1912, in Beverly, Mass, Janet, daughter of Colonel Edward Mandell House (Cornell ex-'82) and Loulie (Hunter) House Children Louise, the wife of Edward Hutchinson Robbins (Harvard ex-'35), and Edward House

Death due to Hodgkin's disease. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and four brothers, Dr Hugh Auchincloss, '01, Charles C. Auchincloss, '03, James C Auchincloss, '08, and Reginald L. Auchincloss, '13 His brothers, Samuel S Auchincloss, ex-'94, and Edgar S Auchincloss, '96, died in 1934 and 1910 respectively

Courtlandt Palmer Dixon, B.A. 1908.

Born July 2, 1884, in Seabright, N J Died March 17, 1943, in Broadmoor, Colo

Father, William P Dixon, '68 Mother, Evelena Franklin (Babcock) Dixon. Yale relatives include: Nathan Fellows Dixon (1835–36 L) (great-uncle), Ephraim W. Dixon, '81 (uncle); Eben Stevens, '92 (brother-in-law); Henry B Barnes, '93, Courtlandt D Barnes, '02, Theodore P Dixon, '07, Thomas S Barnes, '10, George A Dixon, Jr, '13, L Lee Stanton, '19, William T Stanton, '20, Victor C. Dixon, ex-'34 (cousins); and Byam K Stevens, '19, and William D. Stevens, '23 (nephews).

Browning School, New York City. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year, Freshman Tennis Team, University Polo Team; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Broker in New York City 1909-41, associated with Boisswain & Company

8 DeCoppet 1917 until retirement January 1, 1932, and special partner 1932–41, co-agent for Class of 1908 Yale Alumni University Fund 1917–20; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hewlett, N Y

Married January 26, 1911, in New York City, Hortense, daughter of Louis Meredith and Virginia Lee (Lawrence) Howland. Children: a son who died in

infancy, Courtlandt Palmer, Jr., '39, and Lawrence Howland, '41.

Death due to tuberculosis. Ashes interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, two sons, and one granddaughter.

Geoffrey Konta, B.A. 1908.

Born November 13, 1887, in St. Louis, Mo. Died November 24, 1942, in New York City.

Father, Alexander Konta (grad Univ. of Budapest), a stockbroker in New York City, son of Joseph J and Jeannette (Szarvas) Konta of Budapest, Hungary Mother, Annie Laurie (Lemp) Konta; daughter of William Jacob and Julia Lemp

Lawrenceville (N J) School Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; third-rank honors and Scott Prize in French Junior year, member Zeta Psi.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1908–11 (LL B 1911; editor Columbia Law Journal, member Phi Delta Phi), admitted to the bar 1910; lawyer in New York City 1911–42, specializing in corporation law (associated with Simpson, Thacher [Thomas, '71] & Bartlett [Philip G., '81] 1911–15, partner Konta & Kirchwey [Karl W, '08] 1915–18, Konta, Kirchwey, France & Michael 1919–21, Konta, Kirchwey & Michael 1922–26, and Konta, Kirchwey & Engel 1926–42), member Modern Historic Records Association, New York County Lawyers Association, Bar Association of the City of New York, and New York State and American Bar associations.

Married November 30, 1912, in New York City, Phyllis, daughter of Charles Edward and Maria Amanda (Fisher) Goodhue and sister of Fisher Goodhue, '11, and C Prentice Goodhue, ex-'16 Children Anne-Marie Konta Lucci Brewer, the wife of Capt. Wilfred R Brewer, and Phyllis, the wife of Renzo Olivieri.

Death due to pneumonia. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

Nathaniel Burton Sewell, B.A. 1908.

Born February 17, 1878, in London, Ky. Died August 23, 1942, in London, Ky.

Father, Charles Sewell, an architect and builder in Kentucky, son of Nathaniel Sewell of Liverpool, England Mother, Lucinda (Mullins) Sewell; daughter of Wesley and Orlena (Moore) Mullins of Laurel County, Ky.

Sue Bennett College, London, and preparatory department National Normal University; B.E. National Normal University 1903 and B.A. 1905, public-school teacher in Kentucky 1896–1900; editor London Kentuckian 1897–98, instructor in normal department Sue Bennett College 1901–03 and assistant principal of the college 1905–06, superintendent of schools Crab Orchard, Ky., 1906–07 and London 1907, engaged in general merchandise and timber business 1897–1907. Entered Yale College Senior year, high oration appointment

Editor and publisher London Democrat 1908–09, general agent in central and western states for Ginn and Company, textbook publishers, 1909–15, studied law privately and admitted to Kentucky bar 1914, engaged in buying and selling of coal and timberlands in Kentucky 1914–30; president and general manager East Kentucky Coal Company, London, 1918–42, and Knox Coal Company, owner and manager Nat B Sewell Realty Company 1925–31, lawyer in London 1942; vice-president First National Bank, East Bernstadt, Ky; State inspector and examiner of Kentucky 1916–19, 1932–36, State budget officer 1934–36, and director of Post Audits 1936–40, on Kentucky Workmen's Compensation Board 1919–23; M A. (Hon.) Berea College 1918, member Ken'ucky Good Roads Association, The Filson Club of Louisville, and Disciples of Christ church

Married (1) February 16, 1918, in Louisville, Mattye Reid (M A Hon. Berea 1918), daughter of James T and Rebecca Ann Reid Daughter Ann Reid Mrs. Sewell died May 30, 1924 Married (2) March 1, 1941, in Jellico, Tenn, Martha Irene, daughter of Nat B and Rachel Virginia (Craft) Smith

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage and uremic poisoning Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, London Survived by wife and daughter

Wheaton Augur, B.A. 1909.

Born July 18, 1888, in Chicago, Ill Died March 23, 1943, in Santa Fe, N Mex

Father, Walter Wheaton Augur (B A Univ of Michigan 1878, LL B 1881), a lawyer in Chicago; member Marston, Augur & Tuttle, son of Major General Christopher Colon Augur, U S.A, and Jane Elizabeth (Arnold) Augur of Washington, D C Mother, Nellie Jane (Avery) Augur, daughter of Newell and Nancy Clapp (Eddy) Avery of Detroit, Mich

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Oration appointment Senior year, University Track Team; Apollo Banjo Club Sophomore and Junior years, University Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Senior year, member University Debating Association, Zeta Psi, and Elihu

Attended Harvard Law School 1909–12 (LL B 1912), admitted to Illinois bar 1912 and New Mexico bar 1933, lawyer in Chicago 1913–17, 1919–30 and in Santa Fe, New Mexico, 1933–43 (with Isham, Lincoln & Beale 1913–17 and West & Eckhart 1919–26); unoccupied 1930–33 because of ill-health, legal

adviser and secretary McCrossen Hand Woven Textiles, Inc., Santa Fe, 1933–43, special attorney Bureau of Internal Revenue 1920 and Northern Trust Company of Chicago 1921; entered service May 14, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Sheridan, commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 13, 1917, overseas 1917–19; attended Artillery School, Saumur; assigned to Battery B, 151st Field Artillery; transferred to 124th Field Artillery, 33d Division; with A.E.F. Student Detachment, Toulouse University; discharged October, 1919, commander Santa Fe Post, Veterans of Foreign Wars; member Kiwanis Club (president 1940) and Chicago and Illinois State Bar associations, vestryman Church of the Holy Faith (Episcopal), Santa Fe

Married March 24, 1926, in Evanston, Ill., Gladys Spry (B A. Bryn Mawr 1912), daughter of John Charles and Jennie Lind (Wilce) Spry. No children.

Death due to tuberculosis. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, two sisters, Ellen A. Orr, the wife of Robert Clement Orr (B.A. Princeton 1912) of New York City, and Margaret Avery Augur (B.A. Barnard Coll 1912) of Bloomfield Hills, Mich, and a brother, Newell A. Augur, '19.

John Kendrick Bangs, Jr., B.A. 1909.

Born April 4, 1888, in Yonkers, N.Y. Died August 20, 1942, in Detroit, Mich

Father, John Kendrick Bangs (Ph B Columbia 1883) of Yonkers; editor, author, and lecturer, son of Francis Nehemiah Bangs (B A. New York Univ 1845; Yale School of Law 1846–47) and Frances Amelia (Bull) Bangs of Yonkers Mother, Agnes Lawson (Hyde) Bangs; daughter of Jabez B. and Sarah Elizabeth (Bull) Hyde of Brooklyn, N Y.

Halsted School, Yonkers, and Cutler School, New York City. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year; Class golf team, member Delta Kappa Epsilon

With Brown Brothers & Company, bankers, New York City, 1909–10, in accounting department Pere Marquette Railway Company, Detroit, 1910–13 and cost and timekeeping department American Car & Foundry Company, Detroit, 1913–17, 1919–22, engaged in brokerage business in Detroit 1922–42; with Charles A Parcells ['12] & Company 1922–23, Lewis, Bonbright Company 1923–24, Watling, Lerchen & Company (later Watling, Lerchen & Hayes) 1924–31, and Crouse & Company (later Crouse, Bennett, Smith & Company) 1931–42, attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Sheridan; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps, August 15, 1917, assigned to Camp Custer; transferred to Office of Depot Quartermaster, New York City, November 20, 1917, promoted First Lieutenant June 5, 1918; assistant to Chief of General Supply Division, Purchase, Storage and Traffic Division, General Staff, October 1, 1918, until discharge June 28, 1919; editor-in-chief As You Were (1919), vice-president Michigan Yale Alumni Association 1927–28

and president 1928-29, member Society of Colonial Wars, vestryman Christ

Church Chapel (Episcopal), Grosse Pointe, Mich

Married April 6, 1918, in Chicago, Katharine, daughter of Robert Dean and Rose (Woodbridge) McFadon. No children Mrs Bangs died September 20, 1933.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Detroit Survived by a brother, Francis Hyde Bangs, '15, and his stepmother, Mrs. Mary Gray Bangs of Estes Park, Colo.

William Raymond Barss, B.A. 1909.

Born February 15, 1885, in New Germany, Nova Scotia Died January 20, 1943, in Belmont, Mass.

Father, Robert Barss, a farmer in New Germany, son of George and Sara Ann (Brown) Barss of New Germany. Mother, Hannah De Wolfe (Lantz) Barss; daughter of David and Elizabeth (Langill) Lantz of New Germany

Pictou Academy, Pictou County, Nova Scotia; B S Acadia University 1907. Entered Yale College Senior year; philosophical oration appointment, member Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School 1909–12 (Ph D 1912, member

Sigma X1; assistant in physics 1909–12)

Instructor in physics Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1912–21, faculty rank 1921–24, and assistant professor 1924–31, director of education and superintendent of building Masonic Temple, Boston, contributed articles on architectural acoustics to scientific journals; member American Physical Society, Masonic order, and Baptist church, Arlington, Mass.

Married July 5, 1911, in Aylesford, Nova Scotia, Emma Belle, daughter of

Caldwell James and Clara Belle (Power) West. Son. Murray Caldwell

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Belmont Cemetery. Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs George Freeman of Middleton, Nova Scotia, and a brother, Horace S Barss of New Boston, N H

Maurice Raymond Plumb, B.A. 1909.

Born February 2, 1886, in Bridgeport, Conn Died October 16, 1942, in Boston, Mass

Father, Seymour Edwards Plumb, clerk Farmers Supply & Roofing Company, Bridgeport, son of Oliver E and Sarah Ann (Beardsley) Plumb. Mother, Ida Seward (Beach) Plumb; daughter of George Wolcott and Eliza Jane (Brinsmade) Beach of Trumbull, Conn.

Bridgeport High School; B.A. Carleton College 1908 Entered Yale College Senior year; alternate on team debating against Harvard, member University Debating Association, Alpha Sigma Phi, and Delta Sigma Rho. Attended Yale

Divinity School 1908–11 and Yale Graduate School 1910–11 (B D. and M.A. 1911, member team debating against Princeton 1909–10, second Mersick Prize)

Ordaned in First Congregational Church, Plymouth, Conn, 1911 and minister there 1911–12; minister First Congregational Church, Windham, Conn, 1912–19 and Edgewood Congregational Church, Cranston, R.I., 1919 until retirement 1940, resided in Windham 1940–42; secretary Rhode Island Congregational Conference 1921–33, director Cranston District Nurses Association, Boston Seamen's Friend Society, and Rhode Island State Sunday School Association; member Commission on Evangelism and Devotional Life of National Council of Congregational Churches 1925–27 and Commission on the Ministry 1938–42.

Married November 11, 1913, in Windham, Helen Ermina Larrabee (Simmons Coll 1908–09), daughter of Charles and Julia Maria (Gates) Larrabee. Children Charles Seymour (B S Duke Univ. 1937); Gates Larrabee (B A. Oberlin Coll 1939, M S Boston Univ 1942); and Paul Brinsmade, ex-'40 (B S Bryant Coll 1940)

Death due to sarcoma Buried in Windham. Survived by wife, sons, mother, and one granddaughter

Harold Cady Reynolds, B.A. 1909.

Born August 12, 1888, in Danbury, Conn. Died February 5, 1943, in Danbury, Conn.

Father, Mortimer Percy Reynolds, founder M. P. Reynolds Company, house furnishings, Danbury, son of Gilbert M and Mary Gooding (Cady) Reynolds of Ridgebury, Conn Mother, Nellie (Keeler) Reynolds; daughter of John Platt and Eliza Ann (Mead) Keeler of Ridgebury

Danbury High School Winston Trowbridge Townsend Prize and secondrank honors Freshman year, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Phi Beta Kappa.

On New York Evening Sun 1909–12 and Evening Telegram 1912, with International News Service 1913–17; cable editor New York Tribune 1917–19, press agent Interchurch World Movement of North America, Centenary of Methodist Episcopal Church, and Salvation Army 1919; with New York Evening Mail, New York American, New York Evening World, and Journal of Commerce during 1920–21, editor Nassau County Item, associated with M P Reynolds Company 1921–43 (sole manager 1925–43), member First Congregational Church, Danbury

Married (1) July 26, 1912, in Mount Vernon, N.Y, Elsie Annie, daughter of Abel A and Caroline Wilhelmina (Tonjes) Holmes. Children: Harold Cady, Jr, '35 S, Winifred Elsie, and Elizabeth May (B.A. Middlebury Coll. 1938). Mrs Reynolds died June 16, 1920 Married (2) September 10, 1924, in Bethel,

Conn., Helen Louise, daughter of Frank Hamilton and Lydia Elvira (Bennett) MacGregor Daughter Margaret Louise.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Ridgebury Cemetery, Ridge-field, Conn. Survived by wife, children, a grandson, and two brothers, Carlton M. Reynolds, '12, and Ralph Keeler Reynolds (M E Cornell 1917) of Spring-field, Mass.

Stephen Merrell Clement, B.A. 1910.

Born November 10, 1887, in Buffalo, NY Died February 28, 1943, in New York City

Father, Stephen M Clement, '82 Mother, Carolyn Jewett (Tripp) Clement. Yale relatives include Chester D. Tripp, '03 S, Lowell C Frost, '05, Roswell C. Tripp, '06 S, Donald F Tripp, '14 S, and Rufus Frost, '15 S (cousins), David H. Clement, '31, Stephen M Clement, 2d, '36, Harold T Clement, Jr, '42, Norman P Clement, Jr., '42, and Stuart H Clement, Jr, '43 (nephews) Stephen Steel (B A. 1718) is an ancestor.

Nichols School, Buffalo, Thacher School, Ojai, Calif, Adirondack-Florida School, Coconut Grove, Fla., and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; chairman Yale Record Senior year, University Banjo and Mandolin Clubs three years; Senior Council, Sophomore German Committee; floor manager Junior Promenade Committee, superintendent Bethany Mission Senior year; contributed to Class Book, member Yale Dramatic Association, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key Graduate member Elizabethan Club.

Academic secretary Dwight Hall 1910–11; with Marine National Bank, Buffalo, 1911, attended Harvard Graduate School 1912-14 (M A. 1913), instructor in English Yale 1914–16 and student in English Yale Graduate School 1916–17; commissioned First Lieutenant, Aviation Section, Signal Corps, August 23, 1917; assigned to Schools Section, Washington, overseas January-May, 1918, promoted Captain, Air Service, August 20, 1918, listed for transfer to Field Artillery as Second Lieutenant effective November 11, 1918, discharged December 4, 1918, attended Columbia University School of Architecture 1919-22 (B Arch 1922, winner American Institute of Architects medal 1922); associate architect Edward B Green & Sons, Buffalo, 1922-24, studied in Rome, Paris, Florence, and Vienna 1924–26, architect in New York City 1926 until retirement June, 1942; primarily a designer of private houses, he planned the Genesee Building in Buffalo and remodeled the Holmes Chapel of Westminster Presbyterian Church in that city, chairman 1910 Decennial Reunion Committee, member Class executive and dinner committees, Class agent Yale Alumni University Fund Association 1935-43 and a director of the Fund; on committee for administration of James Humphrey Hoyt Memorial

Fund, member American Institute of Architects and Westminster Church, Buffalo

Married August 12, 1915, in Buffalo, Jean, daughter of George Watson and Marie Louise (Muller) Derrick and sister of Robert O Derrick, '13. Children: Carolyn Tripp (B A Bennington Coll. 1938; M.A. Columbia 1940; Yale School of Nursing ex-'41), the wife of George McPherson Ogilvie; Patricia Derrick (B A Bennington Coll. 1940), the wife of Donald Edwin Bishop (B A Univ of North Carolina 1941), Stephen Merrell, Jr. (died July 23, 1928); and Joan Bianca

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo Survived by wife, daughters, mother (died December 29, 1943), and three brothers, Norman P Clement, '07, Harold T Clement, '12, and Stuart H. Clement, '17

Henry Glen Heedy, B.A. 1910.

Born November 14, 1887, in Youngstown, Ohio Died October 7, 1942, in Shaker Heights, Ohio.

Father, Henry Weddell Heedy, secretary and treasurer The Andrews & Hitchcock Iron Company, Youngstown; son of Michael and Mary Elizabeth (Glen) Heedy of Cleveland Mother, Sarah Ann (Shook) Heedy; daughter of Calvin and Julia Anne (Stambaugh) Shook of Youngstown.

Montgomery School, Youngstown, and Asheville (N.C.) School. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Glee Club; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Assistant secretary and treasurer The Andrews & Hitchcock Iron Company 1910–17, secretary to vice-president The Youngstown Sheet and Tube Company 1917–25 and assistant to vice-president 1925–30, manager ore sales department Pickands, Mather & Company, Cleveland, 1930–42; president Yale Alumni Association of Youngstown 1926–30; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Cleveland 1934–36 and president 1936–37; member Yale Engineering Association, American Iron and Steel Institute, American Society of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, Youngstown Chamber of Commerce, and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Cleveland.

Married January 11, 1913, in Youngstown, Cecelia Long, daughter of Henry Jackson and Cecelia (Long) Stambaugh. Children: Henry Glen, Jr., '37; Sara Stambaugh, the wife of William Arthur Feather, Jr. (B A. Princeton 1938); Mary Elizabeth (B A Connecticut Coll for Women 1940), the wife of John Davol Williams (Cornell ex-'39, diploma Babson Inst. 1938); Nancy, and William, '45W.

Death due to myocardial infarction. Buried in Belmont Cemetery, Youngstown Survived by wife, children, and one granddaughter

Thomas Slater Johnston, B.A. 1910.

Born February 11, 1885, in Rochester, NY. Died September 24, 1942, in Medford, Ore

Father, Thomas Slater Johnston, director Sibley, Lindsay & Curr Company, drygoods merchants, Rochester, son of Peter and Elizabeth (Slater) Johnston of Orkney Islands, Scotland. Mother, Mary Ann (White) Johnston; daughter of John and Christina (Mowat) White of Stromness, Orkney Islands

Bradstreet School, Rochester, Holbrook School, Ossining, NY, and Phillips-Andover. Freshman Glee Club; member Psi Upsilon and Scroll and

Key

Engaged in fruit and cattle ranching in Rogue River Valley, Oregon, 1910–42; associated with his classmate, J. Brookes Spencer, 1910–14, president Antelope Orchard Company 1920–42; vice-president Guy Conner Fruit Company 1936–38; assistant to manager 14th Division, American Red Cross, Washington, D.C., 1917–20, president Rogue River Valley University Club 1936–38, member First Church of Christ (Scientist), Medford

Married (1) August 10, 1932, in Medford, Hazel Bebb Bromley, daughter of Henry Evan and Emma (Mee) Bebb. No children Mrs Johnston died June 19, 1937. Married (2) October 29, 1938, in Eugene, Ore., Lois Quisberry Day,

daughter of Walter F. and Stella (Burgess) Quisberry

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester. Survived by wife, a sister, Elizabeth J Carter, the wife of Paul Epler Carter (C E. Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. 1908) of Rochester, and two brothers, John White Johnston (B.A. Harvard 1905) of Rochester, and Louis W Johnston, '05.

Arthur Thomas Keefe, B.A. 1910.

Born September 22, 1888, in New London, Conn Died May 16, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Arthur Keefe; associated with Humphrey-Cornell Company, wholesale grocers, New London, son of Arthur and Mary (Henesey) Keefe of New London. Mother, Jennie Cecelia (Brennan) Keefe, daughter of Thomas and Mary (Cunningham) Brennan of New London

Bulkeley School, New London, and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn University Swimming and Water Polo teams Junior year.

Read law in New London summer 1910, attended Yale School of Law 1910–13 (LL.B. 1913, member Corbey Court), admitted to Connecticut bar 1913, lawyer in New London 1913–43, in office of John C Geary 1913–15; member Geary, Davis & Keefe 1915–43; chairman New London Board of Education 1931–34; member executive committee Connecticut Merit System Association,

and New London council Boy Scouts of America 1920–43 (president 1936–40; awarded Silver Beaver 1937), director Diocesan Bureau of Social Service, Roman Catholic Diocese of Hartford, an incorporator St. Thomas More Association at Yale 1937 and president board of directors St. Thomas More Corporation 1942–43, member State Bar Association of Connecticut (represented New London County in House of Delegates, chairman committee on civil rights 1938–43) and St Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), New London.

Married November 11, 1915, in New London, Mabel Virginia, daughter of Thomas Francis and Ellen Teresa (Shea) Foran Children: Donald Foran, '38,

Roger Manton, '41, and Arthur Thomas, Jr, '42

Death due to carcinoma Buried in St Mary's Cemetery, New London. Survived by wife, children, three sisters, Gretta K Dunn, the wife of Frank Martin Dunn (M D Baltimore Medical Coll 1908), and Mildred K Smiddy (B A Connecticut Coll for Women 1919), the wife of Charles Leo Smiddy (B S Middlebury Coll 1913, LL B Harvard 1917), both of New London, and Charlotte Anne Keefe (B A Connecticut Coll for Women 1919; M A. Columbia 1920) of New York City, and two brothers, Robert Anthony Keefe of New London and Joseph C Keefe, '23

John Joseph MacCarthy, B.A. 1910.

Born April 1, 1888, in North Brookfield, Mass Died June 11, 1943, in Boston, Mass.

Father, John Gregory MacCarthy, United States Government inspector of leather, son of Michael and Catherine (Keating) MacCarthy of Northboro, Mass Mother, Anna Eunice (Doyle) MacCarthy, daughter of John and Mary (Bergin) Doyle of North Brookfield

North Brookfield High School Honors in studies of the Freshman and Junior years, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; chairman Yale Courant Senior year, contributed to Yale Literary Magazine and Yale Alumni Weekly, member Delta Kappa Epsilon Attended Yale School of Law 1910–13 (LL B 1913; member Corbey Court)

Admitted to Connecticut and Massachusetts bars 1913, lawyer in Worcester, Mass, 1913–16 and 1919–43 (associated with Taft & Stobbs 1913–16; partner McGrath & MacCarthy 1919–28 and MacCarthy & Ceaty 1938–43); assistant counsel legal department American Optical Company, Southbridge, Mass., 1916–17, inducted into federal service October 7, 1917; attended Third Officers Training Camp, Fort Devens, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, June 1, 1918, acted as summary court officer, instructor in military law, and staff officer of Training Detachment at University of Missouri, promoted First Lieutenant, Infantry, U.S R, discharged January 2, 1919, president Southern Worcester County Health Association 1929–33 and Worcester County Bar Association 1934, vice-president Worcester council, Boy Scouts of America,

1931-34; trustee Bay State Savings Bank; chairman of the board Worcester County Law Library Association 1935-43; member Massachusetts and American Bar associations, Foresters of America, American Legion, Worcester Chamber of Commerce, Foreign Policy Association, and Blessed Sacrament Church (Roman Catholic), Worcester

Married July 27, 1918, in Columbia, Mo, Sylvia Anna, daughter of Mortimer P. and Katherine A (Mahoney) Howard Children Philip Joseph, '41, Alice

Sylvia; and Anne Kathleen

Death due to a brain tumor. Buried in St Joseph's Cemetery, North Brookfield Survived by wife, children, a sister, Miss Helen Anna MacCarthy of North Brookfield, and a brother, William Robert MacCarthy of Worcester

George Fish Parsons, B.A. 1910.

Born October 13, 1886, in New York City Died May 16, 1943, in New York City.

Father, George Fish Parsons (B A and M A Susquehanna Collegiate Inst. 1878), partner GaNun & Parsons, opticians in New York City, son of Elijah A and Ethlyn A (Brown) Parsons of Towanda, Pa Mother, Maud Rosetta (Peters) Parsons, daughter of Charles and Frances M Peters of New York City

Columbia Grammar School, New York City, and Phillips-Andover Second

colloquy appointment Junior year, member Chess Club Senior year

Registered in absentia Yale Graduate School 1910-15 (MA 1915), successively with D Appleton & Company, publishers, Butler Brothers, commission merchants, and GaNun & Parsons, 1910–15, partner M W. Parsons, chemists, importers, and manufacturers, New York City, 1916-17, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, May 2, 1917, at Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg; overseas September 12, 1917-July 28, 1919, promoted First Lieutenant September 23, 1918, took part in battles of Verdun, Château-Thierry, Soissons, Pont-à-Mousson, St-Miliel, and Meuse-Argonne, assigned to Headquarters Staff, 2d Division, on detached service, Headquarters, First Army, September-October, 1918, with 9th Infantry, 2d Division, attended General Staff College, with Army of Occupation, discharged August 14, 1919, adjuster for Employers Liability Assurance Corporation, Ltd., New York City, 1919–26, registrar New Jersey Law School, Newark, 1927–28, unoccupied 1928–38 because of illhealth; vice-president GaNun & Parsons 1938-42 and secretary 1939-42; chairman Writer's Corporate, New York City, 1939-43; director The Parsons' School for the Discussion of Sign-Using 1941-43, member Company A, Seventh Regiment, New York Infantry, and St. Agnes Chapel, Trinity Parish, New York City.

Married (1) September 25, 1923, in New York City, Florence May, daughter of Edward Clifford and Gundrun (Gudmondsen) Collier Son George Fish, 3d Mr. and Mrs. Parsons were divorced in 1940 Married (2) December 12, 1940,

in New York City, Rowena, daughter of William Benard and Ann (Heffernan) Keane

Death due to a heart ailment. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, son, mother, and a brother, Langdon Parsons of New York City

Thomas Lawrason Riggs, B.A. 1910.

Born June 28, 1888, in New London, Conn. Died April 26, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Elisha Francis Riggs (St. Mary's Coll, Oscott, Warwickshire, England), president Riggs & Company (later Riggs National Bank), Washington, D.C; son of George Washington Riggs (ex-1833) and Janet Madeleine Cecelia (Shedden) Riggs of Washington. Mother, Medora (Thayer) Riggs, daughter of James Smith Thayer (B.A. Amherst 1838) and Medora (Cheatham) Thayer of New York City. Yale relatives include a brother, E. Francis Riggs, '09

University School, Washington, and Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn. Honors in English composition Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; an editor Yale Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Dramatic Association Junior year, president Senior year, on Class Book Committee, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Lindau Sandle Literary Magazine, secretary Yale University Club, Psi Literary Magazine, secretary Yale

Upsilon, Scroll and Key, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa

Traveled abroad 1910–11, attended Harvard Graduate School 1911–15 (M A. 1912, assistant in English 1912-13), instructor in English at Yale University 1916–17, enlisted in Mobile Hospital No 39 (Yale unit) June 27, 1917; overseas August 22, 1917-July 5, 1919, served at Limoges September 20, 1917-April 10, 1918 and Aulnois-sous-Vertuzey (Meuse) until transferred to Mobile Hospital No 3, Paris, July 27, 1918, attached to American Mission, Bureau Interallié, Paris, August, 1918-May, 1919, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, as of September 8, 1918, assigned to 866th Company, Transportation Corps, Bordeaux, discharged July 15, 1919; attended Catholic University of America 1919-20, St Joseph's Seminary, Yonkers, NY., 1920-21, and St Thomas' Seminary, Hartford, Conn, 1921–22, ordained priest in Roman Catholic church June 10, 1922, chaplain Catholic Club at Yale 1922-38 and its successor The More Club 1938-43; founded St. Thomas More Association for Catholic students at Yale 1937 and through the Association was instrumental in the building of St. Thomas More Chapel, author. The Book of Kildare and Other Verses (1911), Mr Goodenough on Christianity (pamphlet, 1930), and The Saving Angel (1943), translator Social Principles of the Gospel by Alphonse Lugan (1928) and The Last Night of Don Juan by Edmond Rostand (1929); an editor The Christendom Series, contributed to The Harvard Illustrated Magazine, Yale Alumni Magazine, Yale Scientific Monthly, The Catholic World, La Revue des Jeunes

(Paris), Ecclesiastical Review, The Symposium, and other publications; on editorial council and contributor to The Commonweal, member advisory council Albertus Magnus College 1925–43 and instructor in religion 1925–38, on executive committee National Conference of Christians and Jews 1928–43, administrator Church of Our Lady of Pompeu, East Haven, 1922–38, associate fellow Calhoun College 1933–43, trustee The Newman School, Lakewood, N.J; director The Calvert Associates, governor Yale Publishing Association

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New

Haven. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Father Riggs left a bequest to St Thomas More House, the income of which is to be used for the salary of the chaplain.

Richard Ware Hall, B.A. 1911.

Born May 4, 1888, in Omaha, Nebr. Died September 27, 1942, in Omaha, Nebr

Father, Richard Smith Hall (LL B. Washington Univ 1877), member Hall & Stout, lawyers, Omaha, son of Augustus and Jane Brown (Smith) Hall of Bellevue, Nebr Mother, Florence (Ware) Hall, daughter of Jasper Anderson and Ellen (Kinney) Ware of Nebraska City, Nebr.

Omaha High School. First dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and Alpha Delta Phi.

Engaged in investment banking business in Omaha 1911–42 (assistant trust officer Peters Trust Company 1911–17; member Rainbolt & Hall 1917–21, in bond sales department Wachob-Klauser Company 1921–22, vice-president James T. Wachob & Company 1922–25, president Ware Hall & Company, Inc., 1925–42; president Hall Investment Company 1924–36), private 340th Field Artillery, Camp Funston, attended Third Officers Training Camp, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, June 1, 1918, assigned to 28th Field Artillery, 10th Division, Camp Funston, promoted First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, October 1, 1918; overseas November 5, 1918–March 8, 1919, discharged March 11, 1919; chairman military affairs committee of Omaha Chamber of Commerce 1941–42, member All Saints' Church (Episcopal), Omaha.

Married April 6, 1921, in Omaha, Mildred Bernice, daughter of Walter Hancock and Flora (Wolff) Rhodes Children Richard Smith, 2d (Iowa State Coll. 1939–41, Univ of Nebraska 1941–42), and Robert Faulkner

Death due to a gunshot wound. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Omaha Survived by wife, sons, two sisters, Miss Dorothy Hall of New York City and Mrs. Edward Wilcox Ayerigg of Darien, Conn, and a brother, Jasper L. Hall, '24.

Jonathan Francis Kılbourn, B.A. 1911.

Born January 2, 1891, in Hartford, Conn. Died January 17, 1943, in South Norwalk, Conn.

Father, Joseph Austin Kilbourn (M D Coll of Physicians and Surgeons, Baltimore, 1897), physician and surgeon in Hartford, son of Horace and Mary (Young) Kilbourn of Glastonbury, Conn Mother, Sarah Alacoque (Dooley) Kilbourn, daughter of Timothy and Mary (Birney) Dooley of Hartford Yale relatives include a nephew, Samuel V D. Kilbourn, '37

Hartford Public High School Dissertation appointment and third-rank honors Junior year, oration appointment Senior year; Class baseball team; Freshman Glee Club, member Zeta Psi.

Associated with American Trading Company, New York City, 1911–18; partner Eastment & Kilbourn, importers, New York City, 1918–23; assistant cashier National Exchange Bank, Providence, R I, 1923–24, cashier 1924–25, and assistant manager 1925–27, manager Exchange Branch, Industrial Trust Company, Providence, 1927–29, partner McDonnell [Hubert, '09] & Company, investment brokers, New York City, 1929–34 and manager San Francisco branch, president Mortgage Service Company, Philadelphia, 1934–36, executive vice-president Trust Company of New Jersey, Jersey City, 1937–43; an organizer American Bank in Virgin Islands; closed bank director for New England, Reconstruction Finance Corporation, 1932–34; appointed head of Philadelphia Federal Reserve Division 1934, and in charge disaster loan corporation, Louisville, Ky, 1937–38, vice-president Kilbourn Family Association 1935–43, member Colonial Sons and Daughters, Sons of the American Revolution, and Roman Catholic church

Married October 5, 1915, in South Norwalk, Clara Vivell Kent (Coll. of New Rochelle ex-'13), daughter of William Joseph and Elizabeth (Ward) Kent and sister of William J Kent, Jr, '20 Children Jonathan Francis, Jr, '37; Ann Ward, Elizabeth Kent, Clare Kent, the wife of Robert Marshall, Mary Birney, Cornelia, Joseph Austin, 2d, and Olivia

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Mount St. Benedict Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Herbert Payan of Providence, and four brothers, Horace O Kilbourn, '07, Austin Kilbourn, '11, Orrin P. Kilbourn, '14, and Joseph Birney Kilbourn (B A Trinity Coll [Conn] 1909; M D Coll of Physicians and Surgeons [Baltimore, Md.] 1911) of Hartford.

Henry Panet Hastings, B.A. 1912.

Born August 18, 1891, in Hartford, Conn. Died August 18, 1942, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Henry Eurotas Hastings, treasurer Security Trust Company, Hartford, son of Rev Eurotas Parmelee Hastings, D.D (B A. Hamilton Coll 1842;

diploma Union Theological Seminary 1846), and Anna (Cleveland) Hastings of Caldwell, NJ Mother, Harriet Greene (Day) Hastings, daughter of Robert E. Day (BA 1852) and Harriet North (Greene) Day. Yale relatives include William Hungerford (BA 1809) (great-great-uncle), Richard F Cleveland (B.A. 1824) (great-grandfather), and Henry A Hastings, '42 E (nephew)

Hartford Public High School Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior

years; Class and Dunham Crew squads, member Zeta Psi

Graduate student in chemistry Johns Hopkins University 1912–14 and University of Wisconsin 1914–17 (M A 1915); research chemist E I du Pont de Nemours & Company 1917–19 (credited with being one of the developers of mustard gas); chief chemist and technical supervisor United States Rubber Company plant at Hartford 1919–25, consultant Anaconda Wire Cable Company 1925–27, member American Chemical Society and First Church of Christ (Congregational), Hartford

Married (1) April 27, 1918, in Milwaukee, Wis, Harriet, daughter of Arthur Snell Mrs Hastings died August 5, 1918 Married (2) August 13, 1920, in New York City, Marion M, daughter of John and Catherine (Waldron) Scanlon Children Marion Cleveland, Barbara, Dorothy Day, and Panet.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife, children, two brothers, Robert D Hastings, '11, and R Cleveland Hastings, '14, and a half brother, Lawrence H. Hansel, '19

William Huntington Russell, B.A. 1912.

Born March 20, 1888, in New Haven, Conn Died January 28, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Dr Thomas H Russell, '72 S Mother, Mary Katte (Munson) Russell Yale relatives include William Russell (BA 1709) (great-great-greatgrandfather), Daniel Russell (BA 1724) (great-great-great-great-uncle), Enoch Huntington (BA 1759) (great-great-grandfather), William Russell (BA. 1745), Nathaniel Huntington (BA 1747), Joseph Huntington (BA 1762), Samuel Huntington (M A Hon 1779) (great-great-great-uncles), Noadiah Russell (B A. 1750) (great-great-grandfather), Matthew T Russell (B A. 1779) and Thomas Hubbard (M D Hon 1818) (great-grandfathers), Enoch Huntington (B.A 1785), Joseph Russell (B A 1793), Samuel G Huntington (B.A. 1800) (great-great-uncles); William H. Russell (B A 1833) and Lyman E Munson (LL.B 1851) (grandfathers), Thomas G Hubbard (B A 1822) (great-uncle), Talcott H Russell, '69, Philip G Russell, '76, Edward H Russell, '78 S., Robert G Russell, ex-'84, and Edward L Munson, '90 (uncles), Russell Hulbert, ex-'96, George H Hulbert, '98 S, Philip G Russell, '13, William L Russell, '20 (cousins), Thomas H Russell, 3d, '42, Hewette E Joyce, Jr, '44, and John B. Russell, '45W (nephews), and Mary S W R. Hunting (ex-'41 Mus) (niece)

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, and New Haven High School. Class wrestler (lightweight) Freshman and Sophomore years; Class crew squad; member Beta Theta Pi Attended Yale School of Law 1912–14 (LL B 1914; member Corbey Court) and Yale Graduate School 1922–23

In office of George E Beers, '89 L., New Haven, 1914; with Southern New England Telephone Company, Bridgeport, Conn., 1914–15, engaged in settling his father's estate and managing his farm in Woodbridge, Conn., 1916–17; in law office of Charles P Latting, '73, New York City, 1916–17; lawyer in New Haven 1919–37, resided in Bethlehem, Conn., 1937–43; member New Haven Board of Aldermen 1925–27, attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, August–November, 1917, enlisted as private, Quartermaster Corps, January 16, 1918; attended Officers Training Camp, Camp Joseph E. Johnston; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps, July 6, 1918; transferred to Motor Transport Corps, Commanding Officer, Training Company, Camp Joseph E Johnston, assigned to inventory motor-transport equipment at various camps January, 1919, until discharge April 26, 1919; author Friendly Nature (1941), member World Court Committee of New Haven; deacon Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married November 28, 1917, in New Brunswick, N.J., Evelyn Van Santvoord Knox (B A Smith Coll 1912), daughter of Rev. William White Knox, D D (B A Princeton 1862, grad Princeton Theological Seminary 1866), and Anna Maria (Van Santvoord) Knox and granddaughter of Cornelius Van Santvoord (B A. 1833) No children.

Death due to circulatory failure Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, two sisters, Eleanor R. Joyce, the wife of Hewette E. Joyce, '12, and Miss Mary Talcott Russell of New Haven, and two brothers, Dr. Thomas H Russell, '06 S, and Edward S Russell, ex-'16 S

John Wentworth Luce, B.A. 1913.

Born August 12, 1889, in New York City. Died November 24, 1942, in New Rochelle, N.Y.

Father, Daniel H. Luce (M D New York Homeopathic Medical Coll. 1889), a physician in Oneonta, N Y Mother, Emily Grace (Shumway) Luce; daughter of Sands and Jane Ophelia (Mallory) Shumway of Toddsville, N Y Yale relatives include Robert L Luce, '89, Henry W. Luce, '92, and Floyd M Shumway, Jr, '39 (cousins)

Auburn (N Y) High School and Hartwick (N Y.) Union School First-rank honors Freshman and Junior years, third Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, third Benjamin F. Barge Prize Freshman and Sophomore years, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Beta Theta Pi, Elihu, Phi Beta Kappa, and Sigma Xi.

Tutor The Hotchkiss School 1913–14; associated with Fleischmann Company 1915–29 (in Chicago manufacturing division 1915–18, assistant superintendent Peekskill [N.Y] factory 1919–21 and superintendent 1921–29), production manager Standard Brands, Inc., New York City, 1929–40, vice-president in charge of manufacture 1940–42, and vice-president in charge purchasing and traffic and a director 1942; vice-president and director Fleischmann Distilling Corporation 1940–42; police commissioner of Mamaroneck 1938–42, entered service May 27, 1918, as private, 21st Infantry, San Diego, Calif; attended Field Artillery Central Officers Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, September 1, 1918, until discharge December 7, 1918, member Methodist Episcopal Church, Hartwick

Married January 16, 1918, in Chicago, Laura Edythe, daughter of Presly Grant and Amelia (Ottmann) Stoll Son John Wentworth, 3d, '43

Death due to rupture of the esophagus Survived by wife, son, mother (Mrs. Hutson), a sister, Mrs Chester Ernest Loper of Abbottstown, Pa, and two brothers, Daniel Luce (B A Hamilton Coll. 1917) of Chicago, and Dolphus S Luce, '25 S

John Henry Johnson, B.A. 1914.

Born September 7, 1891, in Rahway, NJ Died February 8, 1943, in New York City

Father, John Henry Johnson, a real-estate dealer in Brooklyn, NY, son of Jere Johnson, Jr., and Maria Ann Johnson of Brooklyn. Mother, Elizabeth (Woodruff) Johnson; daughter of Erastus and Mary (Williams) Woodruff of Rahway.

Rahway High School and Rutgers Preparatory School, attended Rutgers University 1909–10. Second-rank honors Freshman and Junior years, high oration appointment and honorable mention Philo Sherman Bennett Prize Junior year, philosophical oration appointment and honors in social sciences Senior year; University Orchestra Freshman and Junior years; member Phi Beta Kappa

With Bureau of Municipal Research, New York City, 1914–17 (in training school for public service and later principal assistant to head of division of personnel service); commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance, August 20, 1917, assigned to Civilian Personnel Division, Office of the Chief of Ordnance, Washington, until April, 1918; Proof Officer, Aberdeen Proving Grounds, April–June, 1918, in Purchase, Storage, and Traffic Division, General Staff, June, 1918, until discharge January 6, 1919, promotion manager Moses, Pope & Trainer, Inc., industrial engineers, New York City, 1919–20, with J. L. Jacobs, industrial engineer, Chicago, 1920, assistant secretary New York State Association 1921–24 and Citizens Union of New York City 1922, attended Columbia University School of Law 1921–24 (LL.B. 1924, an editor Columbia Law

Review, Kent scholar; member Phi Delta Phi); studied in England on Cutting Traveling Fellowship from Columbia 1924–25; lecturer in law Columbia 1925–27, associated with Worcester [Edwin D, '76], Williams & Saxe (later Williams & Saxe, Saxe & Sheafe; Saxe, Gerdes, Bacon & O'Shea, and Saxe, Bacon & O'Shea), lawyers, New York City, 1927–43 (partner 1930–43); assistant counsel New York City Charter Commission 1934, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State Bar Association, American Bar Association, Civil Service Reform League, and American Legion, deacon Brick Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married November 22, 1934, in New York City, Mary Ben Wilson Fuller (B A Univ of Wyoming 1913), daughter of Dr John Ben Wilson and Nellie

(French) Wilson No children

Death due to heart disease Buried in Rahway Cemetery Survived by wife, a sister, Mary J Greenwood (B A Vassar 1915), the wife of Charles Ernest Greenwood (B A Harvard 1904) of Scarsdale, N.Y., and a brother, Woodruff Johnson, '17

[Isaac] Laurance Lee, B.A. 1915.

Born February 13, 1892, in Denver, Colo. Died October 22, 1942, in Syracuse, NY.

Father, Henry Newton Lee, a newspaperman; son of Isaac Newton and Abıgaıl (Peck) Lee of New Britain, Conn Mother, Erma (Conkling) Lee

American High School, Mexico City, and Hartford Public High School. First colloquy appointment Senior year, Apollo Glee Club two years and Col-

lege Choir four years, member Beta Theta Pi.

In college banking class National City Bank of New York 1915–16; attended Yale School of Forestry 1916-19 (MF 1919), traveled in South America as secretary to foreign representative American International Corporation January-October, 1918, member faculty New York State College of Forestry, Syracuse University, 1919-42 (instructor in wood technology 1919-20 and forest extension 1920-26, assistant professor of forest extension 1926-27, forestry and English 1927-39, and English 1939-40, registrar 1926-42), teacher of short-story writing Syracuse summer school 1928-42; M.A. Syracuse University 1932, author The Snake God's Treasure (1935); contributed to juvenile magazines, on graduate advisory board Yale School of Forestry 1919-20; secretary Classes of 1918 F and 1919 F from 1923 to 1942, member American Association of University Professors, Society of American Foresters, Modern Language Association of America, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Gamma Alpha, Pi Mu Epsilon, Alpha Xi Sigma, Phi Kappa Phi, Phi Beta Kappa, Robin Hood Society, and St Alban's Church (Episcopal), Syracuse

Married June 24, 1922, in Albion, NY, Minnie Estella Church (B.A. Syra-

cuse Univ 1921, M.A. 1924), daughter of John Cuneen and Louise (Burkla) Church. Children: Charles Northam, 2d, Erma Louise, and Laurance Conkling. Death due to acute spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage. Ashes interred in Oakwood Cemetery, Syracuse. Survived by wife and children

Clyde McClellan Stauffer, B.A. 1915.

Born April 24, 1891, in Hagerstown, Md Died November 14, 1942, in Phoenix, Ariz

Father, Harvey McClellan Stauffer, a farmer in Washington County, Md. Mother, Clara Ellen (Johnson) Stauffer

Washington County Male High School and Washington College Preparatory Department, B A Washington College, Chestertown, Md, 1913 Entered Yale College Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year, associate member Yale University Dramatic Association, member Alpha Sigma Phi

With United States Steel Corporation in New York City 1915–17, enlisted December 13, 1917, service at Fort Hamilton, General Hospital No 1, Williamsbridge, N Y., General Hospital No 16, New Haven, Conn, and General Hospital No. 21, Denver, Colo, sergeant, Quartermaster Corps, on discharge February 14, 1920, resided in Phoenix 1920–29 and Flagstaff 1929–42, State senator 1935–37 and representative 1937–39, had been reelected to State legislature November, 1942; on board of education Arizona State Teachers College 1933–35, member board Flagstaff City Library 1934–41, American Legion (commander Flagstaff post 1934 and state chairman Community Service work), Masonic order, and Episcopal church

Married February 16, 1920, in Denver, Eleanor Mary, daughter of Patrick Gladstone and Nancy Anne (Gould) Hayes Children Clyde McClellan, Jr (Univ. of Arizona 1938–40, Tempe [Ariz] State Teachers Coll. 1941), Eleanor Mary (B.A. Tempe State Teachers Coll. 1943), and Elsie Adeline (Univ. of Arizona 1947)

Death due to congestive heart failure Buried in Greenwood Memorial Park, Phoenix Survived by wife and children

Leonard Story Zartman, B.A. 1915.

Born November 4, 1893, in Waterloo, NY. Died September 10, 1942, in Kenmore, N.Y.

Father, George Emanuel Zartman (B A Syracuse Univ. 1883, M A 1886), a lawyer in Waterloo, president G. E. Zartman & Company, bankers Mother, Ella (Story) Zartman

Waterloo High School and Phillips-Exeter Scholar of the third rank Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year, Freshman Mandolin Club, member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1915-17 (LLB 1917), sergeant, Motor Transport Corps, April 12, 1918-February 13, 1919, assigned to 306th Mechanical Repair Shop Unit and later to Company A, Repair Unit 321, Motor Transport Corps, Camp Holabird, admitted to the bar, member G E Zartman & Company and lawyer in Waterloo 1919-27, associated with Dudley, Stowe & Sawyer, lawyers, Buffalo, NY, 1927-37; independently engaged in practice of law in Kenmore 1937-42

Married January 17, 1925, in New York City, Eva Cushman (B A. Stanford Univ 1914), daughter of Cyrus Curtis Cushman. Son. Leonard Story, Jr.

Death due to chronic congestive heart failure Buried in Waterloo Survived by wife and son

Edward Waite Hubbard, B.A. 1916.

Born June 29, 1893, in Auburn, NY. Died October 7, 1942, in New York City.

Father, Rev William Henry Hubbard, D.D., LLD (BA. Amherst 1871; grad Princeton Theological Seminary 1874), a Presbyterian minister, son of William Henry Hubbard (B A Brown 1845) and Anna (Hinds) Hubbard of Lexington, Ky Mother, Elizabeth Allen (Skinner) Hubbard (B A Vassar 1880), daughter of William and Sarah Elizabeth (Allen) Skinner of Holyoke, Mass Yale relatives include William Skinner, ex-'79, Joseph A. Skinner, '83 S, and Robert S Kilborne, '97 S (uncles); William Skinner, 2d, '18 S, R Stewart Kilborne, Jr, ex-'27, and William S Kilborne, '35 (cousins); and Allen S Hubbard, Jr, '37, and David R Hubbard, '39 (nephews)

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Freshman Football Team, University Foot-

ball Team Sophomore year, member Psi Upsilon and Wolf's Head

Traveled in China, Japan, the Philippines, and Korea 1916-17, attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917, on duty with Battery B, 303d Field Artillery, Camp Devens, August 17, 1917-May 1, 1918, later at Headquarters, Field Artillery Replacement Depot, Camp Jackson, and School of Fire, Fort Sill; discharged December 5, 1918, bond salesman Guaranty Trust Company of New York 1919-21, with American Exchange National Bank 1922, independently engaged since 1922, member Second Congregational Church, Holyoke

Married November 3, 1917, in New York City, Marjory, daughter of Frederick Kimball Stearns (Univ. of Michigan ex-'77) and Helen Elizabeth (Sweet) Stearns Children Sylvia Ann (Mrs. Junoud) and Marjory Joan

(Vassar 1946) Mr and Mrs Hubbard were divorced in 1938.

Died suddenly Buried in Forestdale Cemetery, Holyoke. Survived by daughters, one granddaughter, and two brothers, William H. Hubbard, '09 S., and Allen S. Hubbard, '11.

Farwell Knapp, B.A. 1916.

Born November 28, 1893, in Bridgeport, Conn Died September 19, 1942, in West Hartford, Conn

Father, Howard H. Knapp, '82, '84 L Mother, Emily Hale (Perkins) Knapp Yale relatives include. Joseph Perkins (B A. 1727) (great-grandfathers), Edward Beecher (B A. 1822), George W. Perkins (B A. 1824), George Beecher (B A. 1828), and William H. Beecher (M A. Hon. 1833) (great-great-uncles); Thomas C. Perkins (B A. 1818) (great-grandfather), Frederick B. Perkins (B A. 1850) (great-uncle), Arthur Perkins, '87, and James Hoyt Knapp, '96 (uncles). Thomas Clap, President of Yale College 1740–1766, was an ancestor

Taft School, Watertown, Conn, and Hartford Public High School First-rank honors Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; shared third Lucius F. Robinson Latin Prize Sophomore year, Freshman Football Team and Freshman Track Team (coach Senior year), University Track Squad one year, Senior Council, Class Day committee; member Elizabethan Club, Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Harvard Law School 1916–18, 1919–21 (LL B 1921), admitted to the bar 1922, law clerk Shipman [Arthur L, '86] & Goodwin [Charles A, '98], Hartford, 1921-25, counsel inheritance department, Tax Commission of Connecticut, 1925 and assistant tax commissioner of Connecticut 1925-37, assistant clerk Hartford District Probate Court 1929, partner Marsh [Arthur M, '92], Stoddard [Sanford, '99] & Day [David S , '02], Bridgeport, 1937–41, in trust department Phoenix State Bank & Trust Company, Hartford, 1941 until retirement 1942 (associate trust officer January, 1942), instructor in law Hartford College of Law 1928-38, dean 1932-33, trustee 1934-42, vice-president 1934-38, and president 1938-42; trustee Hartford College of Insurance 1939-42, director Hartford Public Library, chairman Sexennial Reunion Committee; executive secretary to Federal Food Administrator for Connecticut January-April, 1918; enlisted as private, 302d Field Artillery, April 27, 1918; overseas July 16, 1918-May 3, 1919, as regimental supply sergeant, discharged May 7, 1919, member Bridgeport, Hartford County, Connecticut State, and American Bar associations, New England Tax Officials Association, National Association of Cost Accountants, and National Tax Association

Married June 23, 1923, in South Manchester, Conn, Helen, daughter of Hugh A Bayne, '92, and Helen (Cheney) Bayne and granddaughter of Thomas L Bayne (B.A 1847). Children Emily Perkins and Elizabeth Cheney

Death followed a long illness Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife and children

Hugh McConnell, B.A. 1916.

Born February 13, 1893, in Chester, Pa. Died September 21, 1942, in New York City.

Father, Thomas McConnell, president and general manager Hampton Company, cotton goods and rayon manufacturers, Easthampton, Mass; son of Hugh and Elizabeth (Clark) McConnell of Neilston, Scotland Mother, Mary (Kerr) McConnell, daughter of William Robert and Agnes (Goodall) Kerr of Glasgow, Scotland

Lawrenceville (N J) School and Ridgefield (Conn) School for Boys. Member University Club and Alpha Delta Phi.

Engaged in textile business in South Carolina 1916–17 and Easthampton 1919–42, assistant treasurer and assistant secretary Hampton Company 1926–29, vice-president 1929–38, president and general manager 1938–42; president Hampton Spinning Company, Clover, S.C., 1938–42, vice-president Albert H. Vandam Company, Inc., New York City, 1932–42, secretary Hawthorn Spinning Mills, Clover, 1919–29, civilian instructor United States Navy Ground School at Massachusetts Institute of Technology December, 1917, commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve Flying Corps, February, 1918; assigned to Ground School, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, until June, 1918, when detached to Ground School, 13th Naval District, Seattle, where he served as ordnance officer and instructor in ordnance, gunnery, and bombing, discharged February, 1919, member Masonic order and First Congregational Church, Northampton, Mass

Married December 26, 1918, in New York City, Sara Madeline Eldon (Smith Coll ex-'19), daughter of William McKee and Anna (Bare) Eldon. Children Anne (B A Vassar 1941), Mary Elizabeth, and Hugh, Jr

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Northampton. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Robert C. Hodgkins of Northampton, and a brother, Archibald Campbell McConnell of Northampton. Another brother, Robert K McConnell, 18, died in 1938.

Frank Mauran, Jr., B.A. 1918.

Born July 8, 1896, at Lake Placid, NY. Died February 18, 1943, in Providence, R.I.

Father, Frank Mauran (Ph B. Brown 1885), member Mauran, Mulford & Company, brokers, Philadelphia, son of Frank and Mary Louise (Nichols) Mauran of Providence Mother, Harriette Fletcher (Ames) Mauran; daughter of William and Harriette Fletcher (Ormsbee) Ames of Providence

Prepared at Chestnut Hill Academy, Philadelphia, in Munich, Germany, and at St George's School, Newport, R I Second colloquy appointment Junior year, Freshman Glee Club, manager Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year;

assistant manager University Glee, Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Association Junior year and manager Senior year, cup man, member Whiffenpoofs, University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key B A honoris causa 1919.

With American Field Service, Paris, June-September, 1916, entered military service May 11, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Niagara, May-August, 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917, overseas September 12, 1917-July 29, 1919, graduated from Saumur Artillery School December, 1917; with 101st Field Artillery, 26th Division, during Chemin des Dames operations, transferred to 6th Field Artillery, 1st Division, April 1, 1918, in action at Aisne-Marne, Montdidier-Noyon, Second Marne, and Saizerais sectors; detached from regiment and sent to Saumur Artillery School September, 1918–January, 1919, as instructor in artillery to United States officers, at Armistice ordered back to 6th Field Artillery stationed at Coblenz; attached to U.S Relief Administration in Paris and Baltic Provinces April–July, 1919, awarded Croix de Guerre with gold star May 10, 1918, and Silver Star; discharged August 1, 1919, commissioned Captain, Field Artillery, Rhode Island National Guard, 1931, and assigned to 68th Field Artillery Brigade; attended Harvard Law School 1919-20, employed in a cotton mill 1920; assistant to treasurer Crompton Company, textile manufacturers, Providence, 1921-23, plant manager 1923-29, plant director 1926-29, and vicepresident 1928-29, in Providence office Smith [Kenneth R, ex-'17 S], Graham [Fred W W., Jr, '18] & Rockwell [Foster, '06], later Graham & Company, brokers, 1929-38 and Jackson & Curtis, investments, 1938-42, managing director Providence Steamboat Company 1923-33 and vice-president 1933-43, in office of Coordinator of Information, Washington, 1941-43 (on mission to Cairo, Egypt, and the Near East December, 1941-March, 1942), secretary State of Rhode Island Beverage Commission 1933-35, chairman Rhode Island Republican State Finance Committee 1938–40, vice-president Yale Association of Rhode Island 1931-33, president 1940-41, and representative on Alumni Board 1941-43 (on executive committee 1942-43), member Yale Library Associates and First Congregational Church, Providence

Married December 15, 1923, in Providence, Marion Amcotts, daughter of Duncan and Abby (Lippitt) Hunter Children: Frank, 3d, and Duncan Hunter

Death due to an embolism Buried in Swan Point Cemetery, Providence Survived by wife, children, parents, and a brother, W Ames Mauran of Tanganyika Territory, East Africa.

Allan Murray Price, B.A. 1918.

Born May 11, 1896, in Brooklyn, N Y Died February 16, 1943, in New York City

Father, Henry Allan Price, an engrosser in Brooklyn; son of George Allan and Adelaide Augusta (Wentz) Price of Brooklyn Mother, Emily (Murray)

Price, daughter of Lindley and Fanny Russell (Palman) Murray of Brooklyn Yale relatives include an uncle, Frank Julian Price, '92.

Polytechnic Preparatory School, Brooklyn, and The Hotchkiss School. Freshman Glee Club, member ROTC at Yale, University Fencing Associa-

tion, and Alpha Delta Phi B A honoris causa 1919

Enrolled as seaman (1st class), U S Naval Reserve, May 17, 1917; commissioned Ensign April 17, 1919; served aboard U S.S. Aloha May, 1917, until discharge April 20, 1919; claim investigator T G R Pierson Company, Inc, insurance, New York City, 1919–20, salesman American Bank Note Company, engravers and printers, New York City, 1920–35 and manager of domestic sales 1935–43, trustee The Lenox School, New York City, 1937–43, attended St James' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married March 27, 1924, in Scarsdale, N.Y, Harriette Lorraine Woodruff (Smith Coll ex-'21), daughter of Oscar Abbott and Alberta (Slawson) Wood-

ruff Children Cynthia and Woodruff Murray

Death due to chronic heart disease Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N Y Survived by wife, children, and parents.

Douglas Bement, B.A. 1919.

Born August 19, 1898, in Lansing, Mich. Died May 14, 1943, in Seattle, Wash

Father, Howard Bement, Litt D, LL.D (Ph.B Univ. of Michigan 1896, M A Olivet Coll 1906), head department of English The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa, headmaster Asheville (N C) School 1927–36, son of George Willis and Sara Marilda (Finsthwaite) Bement of Lansing. Mother, Margaret Alice (Douglas) Bement (Univ of Michigan ex-'97), daughter of William Welles and Kate Louise (Henderson) Douglas of Ann Arbor, Mich. Yale relatives include a cousin, D Dwight Douglas, '14 S

The Hill School Preliminary honors in history, honors of the third rank, and Berkeley Premium in Latin Composition Freshman year, oration appointment Junior and Senior years; honors of the third rank in history Senior year; member Yale University Orchestra (manager Junior and Senior years), College Choir Senior year, Yale ROTC, member Zeta Psi Commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, September 5, 1918, at Camp Jackson; attended Field Artillery Central Officers Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, until discharge December 4, 1918.

Attended Harvard Law School 1919-21 (member Phi Delta Phi), University of Michigan Law School 1921-22 (LL B 1922), and George Washington University Graduate School 1929-30 (M A 1930), admitted to the bar 1922; law clerk Helmer, Moulton, Whitman & Whitman, Chicago, 1922; associate Whitman, Thompson, Tyrrell & Chambers 1923 and Defrees, Buckingham & Eaton 1924, taught English and mathematics The Hill School 1924-25, on

editoria! staff Review of Reviews Corporation 1925-26, instructor in English George Washington University 1926-34, assistant professor 1934-40, and associate professor 1940-41, professor of English and director division of composition and creative writing University of Washington 1941-43, taught at Bread Loaf School of English, Middlebury College, summer 1938 and Writing Center, New York University, summers 1940 and 1941, director Short Story Workshop of Western Writers Conference, Boulder, Colo, summers 1938, 1939, lecturer on creative writing universities of Iowa, New Mexico, and Omaha, author: Weaving the Short Story (1931), Modern English Writing (1936), and The Fabric of Fiction (1943); co-author: The Story of Zeta Psi (1932), joint editor. Reading the Short Story (1941); adviser on texts for several publishers, president College English Association of the Middle Atlantic States, executive secretary Intercollegiate Newspaper Association of Middle Atlantic States, member Modern Language Association, Free Lancers (Seattle), Committee for Organizing War Commission Players in Seattle, and Colebrook (Conn.) Congregational Church

Married July 9, 1927, in South Egremont, Mass, Rita Esperanza, daughter of

José and Margarita (Marrero) Rozada Son Peter Perkins

Death due to diabetes Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Asheville Survived by wife, son, and mother

Stephen Vincent Benét, B.A. 1919.

Born July 22, 1898, in Bethlehem, Pa. Died March 13, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Colonel James Walker Benét, U.S.A., Ret (grad U.S. Mılıtary Academy 1880), son of Brigadier General Stephen Vincent Benét, LL D (grad U.S. Mılıtary Academy 1849), and Laura (Walker) Benét of Washington, D.C. Mother, Frances Neill (Rose) Benét, daughter of William John and Mary Lee (Mahon) Rose of Carlisle, Pa. Yale relatives include an uncle, Laurence Vincent Benét, '84 S.

Summerville Academy, Augusta, Ga Scholar of the third rank Freshman year, Albert Stanburrough Cook Prize in Poetry Sophomore year, first dispute appointment and third Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year, first John Masefield Poetry Prize Senior year, on editorial board Yale Literary Magazine Junior year, chairman Senior year, associate editor Yale Record Sophomore year and literary editor Junior and Senior years, on board of editors The Yale Graphic and Yale Banner and Pot Pourri Senior year, Class poet, member Yale University Dramatic Association, Elizabethan Club, The Pundits, Alpha Delta Phi, Wolf's Head, and Chi Delta Theta Cipher clerk Department of State, Washington, D.C., July 1-December 21, 1918, and later in Office of the Counselor of the Department.

Poet, novelist, and short-story writer, his published works include Five Men

and Pompey (1915), The Drug-Shop, or, Endymion in Edmonstoun (1917), Young Adventure (1918), Heavens and Earth (1920), Ballade of the Camel's Back (1920), The Beginning of Wisdom (1921), Young People's Pride (1922), King David ("The Nation" prize poem, 1923), The Ballad of William Sycamore, 1790-1880 (1923), Jean Huguenot (1923), Tiger Joy (1925), Spanish Bayonet (1926), John Brown's Body (1928), The Barefoot Saint (1929), The Litter of the Rose Leaves (1930), Ballads and Poems, 1915–1930 (1931), A Book of Americans (with Rosemary Carr Benét, 1933), A Portrait and A Poem (1934), James Shore's Daughter (1934), Burning City (1936), Thirteen O'Clock (1937), The Devil and Daniel Webster (1937), Johnny Pye & the Fool-Killer (1938), Tales before Midnight (1939), The Ballad of the Duke's Mercy (1939), Nightmare at Noon (1940), Tuesday, November 5th, 1940 (1941), A Summons to the Free (1941), Sing a Song of Americans (with Rosemary Carr Benét; 1942), Selected Works of Stephen Vincent Benét (1942), They Burned the Books (play for radio, 1942), and Western Star (1943); prepared script and dialogue for motion picture "Abraham Lincoln" (1929); joint editor The Yale Book of Student Verse, 1910-19 (1919), editor. "The Yale Series of Younger Poets", a frequent contributor to magazines and literary publications, awarded John Simon Guggenheim Memorial Fellowship 1926-28 (resided in France and wrote John Brown's Body), winner of Pulitzer Prize 1929. O Henry Memorial Prize 1932, and Theodore Roosevelt Memorial Association Medal 1933, Litt D Middlebury College 1932, Dickinson College 1933, Yale University 1937, and University of Rochester 1940, Francis Bergen Memorıal Lecturer at Yale 1937; director Brearley School, New York City; trustee New York Society Library 1942-43, on governing board Yale Publishing Association 1925–30; vice-president National Institute of Arts and Letters 1936-43 (posthumously awarded its gold medal May, 1943) and a director American Academy of Arts and Letters 1940–43, associate fellow Calhoun College 1933-43

Married November 26, 1921, in Chicago, Ill, Rosemary Carr (Ph B. Univ. of Chicago 1918, École Normale, Sèvres, France, 1919–20), daughter of Thomas and Rachel (Hickey) Carr Children Stephanie Jane (Swarthmore Coll. 1942–43, Barnard Coll 1946), Thomas Carr, and Rachel Felicity.

Death due to coronary thrombosis To be buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Stonington, Conn Survived by wife, children, a sister, Laura Benét (B.A. Vassar 1907) of New York City, and a brother, William Rose Benét, '07 S

William [Joseph] John Carr, B.A. 1919.

Born March 22, 1897, in Brooklyn, NY. Died May 22, 1943, in Casablanca, Tunisia.

Father, William John Carr, LL D (B A Coll of St. Francis Xavier 1882; LL B Villanova Coll. 1905), Justice Supreme Court, State of New York; son of Cornelius and Mary (Gallagher) Carr of Brooklyn. Mother, Julia (Fryer) Carr;

daughter of Edward and Margaret (McGinnis) Fryer of Brooklyn Yale relatives include a nephew, Edward Q Carr, Jr, '41

Newman School, Hackensack, N J Second colloquy appointment Junior year; on Freshman Debating Team, Student Council Junior year; managing editor Yale Daily News and vice-president Yale Dramatic Association Senior year, Fence orator; member R O.T C at Yale, Whiffenpoofs, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key

Enlisted August 14, 1918, attended Field Artillery Central Officers Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery Reserve Corps, December 3, 1918; discharged December 4, 1918 Attended Yale School of Law 1919-21 (member Corbey Court)

Successively clerk Jenks & Rogers, in office of Garrett A Brownback, '04, and with Webb [Vanderbilt, '13] & Patterson, lawyers, New York City, 1921–23; admitted to the bar 1923, associate Webb, Patterson & Hadley [Morris, '16] 1924–28, with Davies, Auerbach, & Cornell (later Davies, Auerbach, Cornell & Hardy) 1928–33 and partner 1933–42, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Officers Reserve Corps, December 4, 1923, and Captain, Army Air Forces, June 10, 1942; trained at Miami and Harrisburg, attached to Army Air Force Combat Intelligence; chairman Class luncheon committee 1924 and on Class dinner committee 1926, 1927; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York County Lawyers Association, New York State Bar Association, American Bar Association, Archbishops Committee of the Laity, and Society of the Friendly Sons of St Patrick.

Unmarried.

Death due to injuries received in a motor vehicle accident Buried in Military Cemetery outside Casablanca. Survived by three sisters, Mary C Carlin, the wife of George Andrew Carlin (B A Amherst Coll 1912) of Garden City, N.Y., Elecia C Knickerbocker (B A Barnard Coll 1919), the wife of Patrick J. Knickerbocker of Douglaston, N Y, and Margaret Fryer Carr (B A Barnard Coll. 1915) of Garden City, and two brothers, Edward Quintin Carr (B A Georgetown Univ 1910; LL B. Columbia Univ 1913) of New York City, and Almet Francis Carr of Brooklyn.

Francis Cathcart Luce, B.A. 1919.

Born August 21, 1897, in Niantic, Conn Died March 27, 1943, in Stafford Springs, Conn.

Father, John Francis Luce, erecting engineer with Automatic Refrigerating Company, Hartford, Conn, son of Francis Cathcart and Susan Jane Luce of Niantic. Mother, Laura Reed Smith Luce; daughter of Fred and Emma (Sherman) Reed of Wassaic, N.Y.

Norwich (Conn) Free Academy Scholar of the third rank and second dispute appointment Junior year; Class crew Freshman and Sophomore years, member

Zeta Psi, and Yale Naval Training Unit 1917 Enrolled as Boatswain's Mate (2d class), U S Naval Reserve, February 23, 1918; stationed at Nantucket Island and aboard U S S Yank, discharged December 21, 1918.

Employed in wool scouring mill 1919–20, associated with Oelrichs & Company, wool storage, Boston, 1920–31, with Cyril Johnson Woolen Company, Stafford Springs, 1921–43 (assistant treasurer and purchasing agent 1921–28, general manager 1928–33, and vice-president and general manager 1933–43); vice-president and trustee Johnson Memorial Hospital 1933–43; trustee Stafford Savings Bank 1924–43, vice-chairman of the board Stafford Springs branch Hartford-Connecticut Trust Company 1937–43; chairman budget and finance committee State of Connecticut Development Commission and Stafford Board of Finance 1939–43, warden for the town of Stafford 1929–32, treasurer Republican Town Committee 1930–43 and Navy Relief Society for Tolland County 1940–43, director Manufacturers Association of Connecticut (vice-president 1936–40) and National Association of Woolen Manufacturers, member Masonic order and Stafford Springs Congregational Church

Married September 14, 1921, in Stafford Springs, Katherine Denholm, daughter of Alexander Ireland and Susie Celeste (Potter) Mitchell. Children: Elizabeth Mitchell (Connecticut Coll for Women 1944) and Janet Reed

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Stafford Springs Cemetery. Survived by wife and children.

Humphrey Morris, B.A. 1919.

Born June 28, 1897, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 24, 1942, in Dickerson, Md.

Father, Edward P Morris, '74 Mother, Charlotte Webster (Humphrey) Morris Yale relatives include Heman Humphrey (B.A. 1805) (great-grandfather); Edward D Morris (B A 1849) (grandfather); and James Humphrey (1833-34 L) (great-uncle)

New Haven High School and Taft School, Watertown, Conn Third-rank honors Freshman year; oration appointment Junior year, Freshman Track Team and Freshman Football Squad, University Track Squad three years; member Beta Theta Pi B A honoris causa 1919

Enrolled as seaman, U S Naval Reserve Force, March 22, 1917, at Naval Training School, New Haven, April-July, 1917, on foreign service July 30, 1917–January 8, 1919, patrol and convoy duty aboard U S S Gumevere until November, 1917, when transferred to mine sweeper U S S Douglas; promoted boatswain's mate (1st class) October, 1918; discharged January 21, 1919; attended University of Pittsburgh Law School 1919–22 (LL.B cum laude 1922), admitted to the bar 1922, lawyer in Pittsburgh 1922–42 (associated with John Bruce Orr 1919–28), special master in railroad reorganization cases for Third Circuit Court of Appeals 1939–42, secretary United States Glass Company

1937-42; member Allegheny County Bar Association and Shields (Pa) Presbyterian Church.

Married October 26, 1923, in Tulsa, Okla, Ramona Davis Russell (Iowa State Coll. 1917–18), daughter of Murray Daniel and Lucille (Davis) Russell. Children: Edward Parmelee, '45W, Marcia, and Robert Humphrey

Death due to injuries received in a train wreck Buried in Saybrook Point Cemetery, Old Saybrook, Conn. Survived by wife, children, mother, and a sister, Margaret M. Hoskins (B.A. Bryn Mawr 1908, Ph D Yale 1916)

Eugene Melvin Reed, B.A. 1920.

Born September 18, 1900, in Danielson, Conn. Died April 10, 1943, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Frederick Melvin Reed, member The Church Company, clothing and men's furnishings, Danielson; son of Alfred and Ellen (McFarland) Reed of Danielson. Mother, Mary Emily (Nash) Reed, daughter of Eugene Sheffield and Ann Frances (Dodge) Nash of Danielson.

Killingly (Conn.) High School Private, Field Artillery Unit, SATC at Yale, September-November, 1918.

With Brown Thompson, Inc., Hartford, 1920–23, associated with Aetna Life Insurance Company, Hartford, 1923–43, group representative in Pittsburgh 1923, New York City 1923–30, and Cleveland 1930–31, successively in group department, advertising department, and agency department, Hartford, 1931–43; editor *The Life Aetna-izer* 1936–39, president Aetna Players 1932–33 and Aetna Life Men's Club 1942–43; member St Albans Church (Episcopal), Danielson.

Married May 7, 1930, in Montclair, N J, Kathleen Johnstone Weld Scudder (B.A. Wellesley 1926), daughter of Rev Henry Johnstone Scudder, D D (B.A. Rutgers 1890, M A and B D. 1897), and Margaret Foster (Booraem) Scudder. Children David Scudder, Thomas Melvin, and Eugene Melvin

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Westfield Cemetery, Danielson Survived by wife, sons, mother, and a sister, Marion Emily Reed Pardee (Boston Univ 1920-23; Columbia Univ 1924-25 and New York Univ 1926-27), the wife of Albert Isaac Pardee of Bolton, Mass

Charles Brownell Carroll, B.A. 1921.

Born February 5, 1899, in Minneapolis, Minn. Died February 16, 1943, in Evansville, Ind

Father, Walter Nicholas Carroll (LLB Univ of Minnesota 1895, LLM 1896, DCL. 1902), lawyer, banker, and broker in Minneapolis, son of Nicholas and Hannah (Clark) Carroll of England, Philadelphia, Pa, and Iowa Mother,

Elizabeth (Brownell) Carroll, daughter of William and Anna (Clark) Brownell of England and Iowa

Château de Vidy, Lausanne, Switzerland, and Blake School, Minneapolis. Honorable mention Scott Prize in French Junior year; University Debating Association (participated in Freshman-Sophomore tournament), University Orchestra Senior year Awarded B A at Commencement 1922 with enrollment in Class of 1921

Enlisted in Medical Reserve Corps June 6, 1917 (active service from December 15, 1917), stationed with Base Hospital No. 26 at Fort McPherson, Ga., December 15, 1917-May 20, 1918, overseas June 4, 1918-August 17, 1919; at Allerey, France, with Base Hospital No. 26, until February 1, 1919, acting as interpreter, discharged February 15, 1919; Second Lieutenant, American Red Cross Supply Service, Paris and Formerie, February 16-August 17, 1919; attended University of Minnesota Law School 1922-24 (LL B 1924); admitted to the bar 1924, general manager, secretary-treasurer, and later president Northwest Manufacturing Company (later Strand Manufacturing Company), Minneapolis, with Northland Securities Corporation 1928–29, statistician and trader Harold E. Wood & Company, investment bankers, St. Paul, 1929; president Charles B. Carroll & Company, bonds, 1930-31, general manager Belt Line Brick & Flooring Corporation, Minneapolis; lawyer in Minneapolis 1931-41 (member Carroll & Carroll); associated with a manufacturer of bowling alleys, Boston, 1941, with Bass-Steenberg-Fleisher Company, Morganfield, Ky, 1942, haison officer for facilities Republic Aviation Corporation, Evansville, 1942-43, member St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Minneapolis.

Married January 1, 1931, in Minneapolis, Jean May Cotton (B A Univ. of Minnesota 1926), daughter of Charles Edgecomb Cotton (V.M D. Univ of Pennsylvania 1893) and May (Malin) Cotton Children: Mary Malin and James Cotton

Death due to myocardial degeneration. Buried in Pine Glen Cemetery, Prescott, Wis Survived by wife, children, parents, and a sister, Helen C Peck (B A Smith Coll 1922), the wife of Mark B Peck of White Plains, N.Y.

Willard David Litt, B.A. 1921.

Born December 17, 1899, in East Patchogue, NY. Died October 26, 1942, in the Pacific area.

Father, Jacob VanDeer Litt, president Litt Realty Company, New York City. Mother, Ruth Carpenter Clements Litt.

St Paul's School, Garden City, N.Y, Institut Sillig, Vevey, Switzerland, and Phillips-Exeter Freshman Track Team, University Track Squad two years; winner third Willisbrook trophy for quarter-mile two years; assignment editor Yale Daily News Senior year; Junior Promenade and Class Day committees; on executive committee Dwight Hall, Class deacon; Student Council; member

Yale University Dramatic Association, University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Member R.O.T.C at Yale and Camp Jackson, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, September 13, 1918 (as of September 5), attended Field Artillery Central Officers Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, discharged December 4, 1918, in credit department Bankers Trust Company, New York City, 1921–23 and new business department 1923–27, partner Taylor, Thorne & Company, brokers, New York City, 1927–28 and W R K. Taylor & Company 1928–42; an organizer Time, Inc , 1922; secretary Class of 1921 from 1921 to 1931; on executive committee Yale Association of Class Secretaries 1927 and board of managers, West Side branch, New York Y M C A , member Sons of the Revolution.

Unmarried.

Volunteered for service February, 1942; received training as aviation specialist at Naval Air Combat Information School, Naval Air Station, Quonset Point, RI; commissioned Lieutenant February 16, 1942, and assigned to USS. Hornet.

Lieutenant Litt lost his life in the Battle of Santa Cruz in the Pacific area Survived by a brother, Captain John Carpenter Litt (Columbia ex-'20) of Port Washington, N.Y.

Robert Chapman Bates, B.A. 1923.

Born July 27, 1901, at Bay Shore, NY Died December 1, 1942, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Brevet Brigadier General William Graves Bates (B A. Columbia 1880, LL B 1882), a lawyer in New York City, son of Levi Miles and Martha Arnold (Tucker) Bates of New York City Mother, Amy Rowan Scott Johnson Bates; daughter of James and Sarah Antoinette (Tams) Scott of New York City

The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn, and Phillips-Andover Scholar of the second rank and Scott Prize in French Junior year, Montaigne Prize Senior year, an editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year, member Yale University Dramatic Association, Elizabethan Club, The Pundits, Alpha Delta Phi, and Chi Delta Theta.

With Guaranty Trust Company, New York City, 1923–25, registered in department of romance languages Yale Graduate School 1925–30 (Ph D 1930, reader in English 1926–28); studied at the Sorbonne and École Pratique des Hautes Études 1929–30; instructor in French at Yale 1930–37 and assistant professor 1937–42, fellow Jonathan Edwards College 1933–42 and executive officer 1938–42, editor. Le conte dou barril . . (1932) and L'hystore Job . (1937); contributed to Studies by Members of the French Department of Yale University (1941); compiled. Clippings on the Peace Conference (1918–22), a distinguished linguist he spoke and wrote five languages, and had an extensive knowl-

edge of Greek and Latin, member Military Order of the Carabao, Society of Colonial Wars, Guild of St. Golias, Les Thélèmites, and St George's Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to chronic pulmonary insufficiency. Buried in Trinity Cemetery, New York City Survived by parents and a half sister, Mrs. Herbert Groesbeck, Jr, of New York City

The Robert Chapman Bates Memorial Fund was established at Yale on

March 13, 1943, by gifts from friends and former students

Otis Buckingham, B.A. 1923.

Born April 4, 1901, in Evanston, Ill. Died February 5, 1943, in Pasadena, Calif

Father, Henry Winthrop Buckingham, a stockbroker in Chicago; son of John and Kate Moseley (Buck) Buckingham of Chicago Mother, Florence (Otis) Buckingham, daughter of Joseph Edward and Maria (Taylor) Otis of Chicago Yale relatives include: Joseph E Otis, ex-'90 S., and Clifford H Buckingham, '97 S (uncles); Joseph E Otis, Jr, '16, George W. Otis, '19, J Sanford Otis, '19, Stuart H Otis, ex-'23, and Raymond Otis, '24 (cousins).

Thacher School, Ojai, Calif University Crew Squad four years; member

University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

Engaged in construction business, Pasadena, 1923–24 and oil business 1924–26, in credit department Security-First National Bank of Los Angeles 1926–29, assistant cashier loan department 1929–35, and assistant vice-president 1935–1943; district committeeman on West coast for Class reunion 1938, member Church of Our Savior (Episcopal), San Gabriel, Calif

Married September 3, 1925, in Pasadena, Susan, daughter of William Lucas and Lucy Chandler (Robinson) Valentine Children Otis, Jr (died August 5,

1941), and Henry Winthrop

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in San Gabriel Cemetery Survived by wife, one son, a sister, Elizabeth B Russell, the wife of Dr Ernest F. Russell, '16, and two brothers, Winthrop Buckingham, '20, and John H. Buckingham, '30.

Dorr Sweet Hickey, B.A. 1923.

Born September 21, 1898, in Milford, NY Died October 31, 1942, in Oneonta, NY.

Father, Thomas Matthew Hickey, owner Hickey Drug Company, Milford; partner Empire State Oil Company, Inc., Oneonta; son of Thomas and Julia (Robinson) Hickey of Binghamton, N.Y. Mother, May (Sweet) Hickey; daughter of John and Adalin (Morris) Sweet of Milford

Milford High School and Phillips-Exeter Entered with Class of 1922, transferring to 1923 Freshman year, Freshman Baseball Team, University Baseball Team Junior and Senior years, Class basketball team, on Dr Bull's Football Squad Junior year, seaman (1st class) NROTC at Yale fall of 1918, member Delta Kappa Epsilon

Associated with R. T French Company, importers of spices and manufacturers of food products, Rochester, NY, 1923–25 and American Art Works, New York City, 1925–26, vice-president and manager Empire State Oil Company, Inc, 1926–42; an alderman of Oneonta 1937–42 and appointed mayor by Common Council October 28, 1942, to fill vacancy, chairman board of trustees Huntington Memorial Library 1931–37, Boy Scout commissioner for Otsego, Delaware, and Schoharie counties 1931–32, secretary Newark Baseball Club (International League) 1926; member Oneonta Chamber of Commerce and Masonic order; attended Presbyterian church

Married February 25, 1928, in Jamestown, N Dak, Lois Durfee Eddy (B A Univ. of Minnesota 1924), daughter of Porter Wade and Lillian (Curtis) Eddy. Children: Thomas Eddy and Gracia Ann

Death due to uremia and chronic nephritis Buried in Milford Survived by wife, children, and parents.

Hale Ellicott Cullom, B.A. 1924.

Born May 26, 1903, in Nashville, Tenn Died April 30, 1943, in Nashville, Tenn.

Father, Marvin McTyeire Cullom (B A Vanderbilt Univ 1894, M D 1896), a physician in Nashville, son of Rev Jeremiah Walker Cullom and Mary Bowling (Isom) Cullom of Woodford, Tenn Mother, Eva (Bellinger) Cullom; daughter of A A. Bellinger of Tonawanda, N Y

Wallace University School, Nashville, and Webb School, Bell Buckle, Tenn Class football team Freshman and Senior years, Dr Bull's Squad Sophomore year; member Yale Gun Team (manager Junior year)

Attended Vanderbilt University School of Medicine 1924–26 and 1928–30 (M D 1930); interne Grant Hospital, Columbus, Ohio, 1930–31, interne in ophthalmology Albert Meritt Billings Hospital 1931–32; assistant to chief ophthalmologist Crile Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio, 1932–33, in practice with father 1933–36; commissioned Captain, Army Medical Reserve Corps, 1936 and stationed at Pensacola, Fla, and Dothan and Greenville, Ala, blinded in gun accident 1937, director sight conservation and prevention of blindness for State of Tennessee 1938–43; alternate ophthalmological chief Nashville City Hospital; assistant in clinical ophthalmology Vanderbilt School of Medicine 1933–36, on staff St. Thomas Hospital, Nashville, president Yale Alumni Association of Nashville 1934, member Nashville Society of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology, Nashville Academy of Medicine, Davidson County and

Tennessee State Medical societies, American Medical Association, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Nashville

Married February 4, 1928, in New Orleans, La., Mildred Romona, daughter of Christian and Katherine (Casey) Holmes Children: Miriam Holmes, Marvin McTyeire, 2d, and Hale Ellicott, Jr

Death due to pneumococcic meningitis Buried in Mt Olivet Cemetery, Nashville. Survived by wife, children, parents, and a sister, Isabella C. Lincoln (Goucher Coll ex-'24), the wife of John Henry Lincoln (Washington and Lee Univ. ex-'22) of Nashville.

William Edmund Scholtz, Ph.B. 1925.

Born July 24, 1903, in Denver, Colo. Died September 20, 1942, at Camp Davis, N C.

Father, William Otley Scholtz, retail druggist in Denver and president Western Lime Company; son of Louis and Maria (Nelsey) Scholtz of Des Moines, Iowa Mother, Menah Inez (Hyams) Scholtz; daughter of Joseph and Minnie Hyams of Pittsburgh, Pa

East Denver High School, Page Military Academy, Los Angeles, Calif, and Pawling (N Y.) School University Boxing Squad Sophomore year; member Beta Theta Pi

Associated with Monterey Bay Redwood Company, Santa Cruz, Calif., 1926–34 and 1938–41 (secretary 1930–34 and vice-president 1938–41); assistant commandant Page Military Academy 1933–35 and instructor in English and Spanish 1935–37, engaged in crop dusting with the Aero Corporation of California; Pacific Coast distributor for the Rex Manufacturing Company of Denver, flying cadet Army Air Forces, March Field, Riverside, Colo., but did not complete course, inducted into Army of the United States as private, Anti-aircraft Replacement Training Center, Camp Callen, Calif., May 23, 1942; promoted corporal July, 1942, sent to Officer Candidate School, Antiaircraft Artillery School, Camp Davis, September 6, 1942, member Episcopal church.

Unmarried

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Los Angeles Survived by an aunt, Mrs Beatrice Van Orman of Los Angeles.

William Arthur Schautz, Ph.B. 1926.

Born February 7, 1904, in Scranton, Pa Died September 21, 1942, in New York City.

Father, Louis George Schautz, superintendent Scranton Post Office; son of George John and Catherina (Ruoff) Schautz of Scranton Mother, Margaret

(Borchers) Schautz; daughter of August and Henrietta (Ulrich) Borchers of Danville, Pa.

Technical and Central High schools, Scranton Class football team Sophomore year, Dr. Bull's Squad Junior year; University Boxing Team Senior year, University Band two years, member Playcraftsmen

Teacher of English Suffield (Conn.) Academy 1926–27 and football coach, took training course at R H Macy & Company 1927–28, associate editor *The Novelty News*, New York City, 1928–29, assistant advertising manager Frederick Loeser & Company, Inc., Brooklyn, 1929 and advertising manager The May Company, Baltimore, Md, 1929–30, advertising copywriter Howland, Oliphant & McIntyre, Inc., New York City, 1930, with Partridge-Wirth Company, blueprinting, Scranton, 1931; owner and president The William A Schautz Advertising Agency, Scranton, 1931–40 and William A Schautz, Inc., New York City, 1940–42; treasurer Mamaroneck flotilla, Coast Guard Auxiliary, 1941–42, member Elm Park Methodist Church, Scranton

Unmarried

Death due to an embolism Buried in Dunmore (Pa) Cemetery Survived by mother (died January 25, 1943), two sisters, Esther S Schneider, the wife of Peter Adam Schneider (B A Wesleyan 1914; M S Univ of Vermont 1917) of Shaker Heights, Ohio, and Anna S Guild (B S Boston Univ 1939, M A. 1941), the wife of Reuben Joseph Edward Guild (Boston Univ ex-'39) of Newton, Mass, and two brothers, John Louis and George Frank Schautz, both of Scranton.

Clarence Levin, Ph.B. 1927.

Born November 30, 1906, in Lewiston, Maine Died January 31, 1943, in Tunisia

Father, Israel Max Levin, a real-estate dealer in Boston, Mass; son of Louis and Sarah (Baker) Levin of Sharon, Mass Mother, Gertrude (Smith) Levin, daughter of Louis and Charlotte (London) Smith of Boston

Boston Latin School Scholar of the third rank Sophomore and Junior years; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Football Squad, Class football and baseball squads Sophomore year, University Water Polo Squad Junior year, University Band two years, member Sigma Alpha Mu

Attended Harvard Law School 1927–30 (LL B 1930); admitted to the bar 1930, lawyer in Boston 1930–41 (associated with Anderson, Mintz & Owen 1930–38, associate Levin & Levin 1938–41), member Boston, Norfolk County, and American Bar associations, Law Society of Massachusetts, Massachusetts Conveyancers Association, Reserve Officers Association, and Masonic order

Married August 8, 1938, in Portland, Maine, Mary Frances, daughter of Thomas Joseph and Elizabeth Eleanor (Henchey) Gorman No children Commissioned First Lieutenant, 389th Field Artillery Reserve, 1924; called to active duty June 1, 1941, assigned to 7th Field Artillery, 1st Division, Fort Devens and Camp Blanding, promoted Captain November, 1941, and Major December 26, 1942; went overseas July 31, 1942; trained in England until embarkation for North Africa November, 1942

Major Levin was killed in action in Tunisia and was buried near the spot where he fell. Survived by wife, father, a sister, Mrs. Irving J. Finn of Boston, and two brothers, Harold Lee Levin (B.A. Harvard 1929; LL B. Northeastern Univ. 1935) and Sidney Levin (B.A. Harvard 1934; M.D. Tufts 1939), both of Brookline, Mass

Arthur Buell Armstrong, Jr., Ph.B. 1928.

Born July 18, 1906, in Indianapolis, Ind. Died April 13, 1943, in New Orleans, La.

Father, Arthur Buell Armstrong, manufacturer and banker in Kokomó, Ind.; son of Dr Horace Armstrong and Ellen (Mathews) Armstrong of Kokomo. Mother, Amanda (Shafer) Armstrong; daughter of Jacob P and Rebecca (Coppes) Shafer of Goshen, Ind

Attended Wabash College 1923-24 (member Delta Tau Delta) Entered Yale College with the Class, member championship Class crew Sophomore year

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1928–30 (M B A 1930), clerk General Electric Company, Schenectady, N Y, 1930–33; studied at University of Southern California School of Law 1934–37 (LL.B. 1937, member Phi Alpha Delta, on board Southern California Law Review); admitted to the bar 1938, practiced law with Alford P. Olmstead in Los Angeles 1938–41; associated with Osborne & Harvey, tax counselors, Beverly Hills, Calif, 1941–42, member Grace Methodist Church, Kokomo.

Unmarried

Joined Army of the United States July, 1942, attended Officer Candidate School, Camp Crowder, and Officer Training School, Fort Monmouth; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Signal Corps, January, 1943; assigned to duty at Macon, Ga, and then attached to Signal Corps No. 896, Army Air Base, New Orleans

Lieutenant Armstrong was killed by the accidental discharge of a gun Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Los Angeles, Calif Survived by mother, three sisters, Geraldine A Scott (Northwestern Univ ex-'24), the wife of Thomas Charles Scott (B A Wabash Coll 1921) of Kokomo, and Beatrice A Wolfe (Indiana Univ ex-'28), the wife of Conrad Wolfe (Indiana Univ. ex-'26), and Fran Jean Corbin, the wife of Walter Augustus Corbin, both of Beverly Hills, and a brother, Generous Armstrong of Chicago

John Andrew Howard, Jr., B.A. 1928.

Born October 13, 1904, in Wheeling, W.Va Died September 16, 1942, in Glendale, Calif

Father, John Andrew Howard, member Howard & Howard, lawyers, Wheeling; son of John and Mary (McGarrell) Howard of Wheeling Mother, Jane Agnes (Handlan) Howard; daughter of William Carroll and Anna (Woods) Handlan of Wheeling

Phillips-Exeter. Member Elizabethan Club and Alpha Delta Phi Attended

Yale School of Law 1928-30 (LL B 1930)

Admitted to the bar 1930, associated with Howard & Howard 1930-35; practiced independently in Wheeling 1935-41; member Ohio County (W Va) Bar Association (secretary and member executive committee) and Roman Catholic church.

Unmarried.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Holy Cross Cemetery, Los Angeles, Calif. Survived by mother, a sister, Jane Howard Billington, the wife of Dan Baker Billington (B.S. in C.E Case School of Applied Science 1931) of Buffalo, N.Y., and a brother, William C Howard, ex-'21 S, of Wheeling

Cheney Cowles, B.A. 1930.

Born September 7, 1908, in Spokane, Wash. Died May 12, 1943, near Vinegar Bend, Ala.

Father, William Hutchinson Cowles, '87, '89 L., publisher Spokesman-Review, Spokane, and director Associated Press, son of Alfred Cowles (Univ. of Michigan ex-'54) and Sarah Frances (Hutchinson) Cowles of Chicago Mother, Harriet Bowen (Cheney) Cowles, daughter of Knight Dexter Cheney (B A Brown 1860) and Ednah Dow (Smith) Cheney of South Manchester, Conn Yale relatives include: Giles Hooker Cowles (B A 1789) (great-great-grandfather); Alfred Cowles, '86, Philip B Stewart, '86, Clifford D Cheney, '98, Thomas L. Cheney, '01, Russell Cheney, '04 (uncles), and Alfred Cowles, 3d, '13, Knight C Cowles, '16, Thomas Hooker Cowles, '17, John C Cowles, ex-'19, and John W. Stewart, ex-'19 (cousins)

Thacher School, Ojai, Calif. John Hubbard Curtis Prize Senior year, Freshman Crew and Polo squads, University Boxing Squad and Class crew Junior year, Crew squad Senior year; on production staff Yale University Dramatic Association Junior year; member University Club and Cannon and Castle

Successively reporter, advertising salesman, assistant city editor, news editor, and executive editor Spokesman-Review 1930-39, managing editor Spokane Daily Chronicle 1939-41, president Mt Spokane Association, received Spokane Junior Chamber of Commerce Distinguished Award 1936, secretary Yale Club of Spokane 1936-43; member Associated Press Managing Editors Association

Married June 14, 1939, in Spokane, Sarah Elizabeth Ferris (B.A. Smith Coll. 1937), daughter of Joel Edward and Clara Louise (Hughes) Ferris. Daughter Phoebe

Called to active service May 1, 1941, as First Lieutenant, Field Artillery Reserve, and immediately assigned to Army Air Forces as assistant military intelligence and public relations officer, Second Air Force, Fort George Wright, Spokane, promoted Captain February 1, 1942, and Major December 17, 1942; graduated from Command and General Staff School, Fort Leavenworth, April 25, 1942, assigned to Intelligence, Second Air Support Command, Colorado Springs, Colo, as assistant chief of staff, A-2, in March, 1943, unit absorbed by Third Air Force and headquarters moved to Barksdale Field, Louisiana.

Major Cowles was killed in the crash of a bomber plane in Alabama. Survived by wife, daughter, father, a sister, Harriet Cowles Hammett (B A. Vassar 1922), the wife of Buell Hammett, '18, and a brother, William H. Cowles, Jr., '24.

John Milton Guiterman, B.A. 1930.

Born November 23, 1907, in Beaumont, Texas. Died December 15, 1942, in Liberia, West Africa

Father, Milton Guiterman, president Acorn Oil Company, Beaumont; son of William and Rosalie (Bettman) Guiterman of Cincinnati, Ohio. Mother, Nora De Haven (Simpson) Guiterman; daughter of James Albert and Sarah Rebecca (De Haven) Simpson of Veedersburg, Ind.

Taft School, Watertown, Conn Freshman Football Squad, University

Swimming Squad Freshman year; member Chi Psi

Attended Graduate School of Business Administration, New York University, 1931–32, in credit department National City Bank of New York 1930–36; associated with The Texas Company 1936–42 (field work 1936–38; scout, west Texas division, land and lease department, 1938–42), enlisted as private, U.S. Army Air Forces, July, 1942 and assigned to Sheppard Field; went overseas December 1, 1942, with ground crew service of the bomber force in Liberia December 1–15, 1942

Unmarried

Private Guiterman died of injuries received while endeavoring to save the lives of the crew of a burning British aircraft Buried in a military reserve in Liberia Survived by mother, three sisters, Helen G Underwood (B A Bryn Mawr 1928), the wife of Louis Ivan Underwood (Worcester Polytechnic Inst. ex-'25) of Rye, N Y, Jean G Vinton (B A Vassar 1931), the wife of Alfred Merton Vinton (B S Harvard 1930) of Buenos Aires, and Frances G. Baikow (Vassar ex-'36), the wife of Vsevolod E Baikow (Russian Imperial Naval Academy 1918, Ch E Univ of Liége 1923) of Huntington, N.Y.

Richard Mather Boardman, Jr., B.A. 1931.

Born June 2, 1909, in New York City. Died September 11, 1942, in New York City

Father, Richard Mather Boardman (B.S. Dartmouth 1897), a lawyer in Jersey City and New York City, son of Rev William Joseph Boardman and Mary (Withington) Boardman of Newburyport, Mass, and Barnett and St Joseph, Vt. Mother, Dorcas Floyd (Leese) Boardman (B L Smith Coll. 1901), daughter of Wilton St. John and Alida Marie (Donnell) Leese of Augusta, Ga Yale relatives include. Seth M. Milliken, '98 (uncle), and Seth M Milliken, '32, and John F Milliken, '42 (cousins)

The Loomis School, Windsor, Conn, and Phillips-Exeter. Class tennis team Freshman year and Class basketball team four years, on Yale Budget Fund

Committee Junior year; member Alpha Delta Phi

With Loomis-Sayles Mutual Fund, Inc., New York City, 1932, attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1932–34 (M B A 1934); engaged in research and statistical work with Pacific Mills, New York City, 1934–36; manager research and investment advisory departments Kean, Taylor & Company, investment securities, New York City, 1936–42, elder Madison Avenue Presbyterian Church and member church extension committee of New York Presbytery.

Married June 24, 1934, in New York City, Diantha Roberts, daughter of Roberts and Edna (Morse) Walker and stepdaughter of Percy Jackson, '85 S Son William Mather

Death due to pancreatitis Survived by wife, son, mother, a sister, Eleanor B Hester (B.A Smith Coll 1929), the wife of Charles Baker Hester, '23, and a brother, Dr Donnell W Boardman, '34

Raymond Howe High, B.A. 1931.

Born November 4, 1909, in Chicago, Ill Died November 11, 1942, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Shirley T High, '95 Mother, Helen Elizabeth (Raymond) High. Yale relatives include an uncle, William Raymond, '94

Chicago Latin School. Scholar of the third rank Junior year; Freshman Boxing and 150-pound Crew squads, Class football squad Junior year, member Alpha Chi Rho

Attended Northwestern University Law School 1932-35 (JD 1935), admitted to the bar 1936, independently engaged in the practice of law in Chicago 1936-42.

Married April 17, 1941, in Chicago, Edith, daughter of Elmer L and Martha M. (Newman) Simpson

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, a brother, James L. High, '28, and stepmother.

Clarence Lyman Collens, 3d, B.A. 1932.

Born May 4, 1910, in Cleveland, Ohio Died September 17, 1942, in New York City.

Father, Clarence Lyman Collens, '96 S, president Reliance Electric & Engineering Company, Cleveland, son of Rev. Charles Terry Collins, '67, and Mary Abby (Wood) Collins Mother, Clara Ransom (Latimer) Collens, daughter of Jonathan Columbus Latimer (B A Knox Coll 1864; LL.B. Harvard 1866) and Angie (Ransom) Latimer of Tioga Center, N.Y Yale relatives include: Charles Collens, '96, and Arthur M Collens, '03 (uncles); and J Latimer Lee, '19 S, and Elisha Lee, Jr, '31 (cousins).

Hawken School, Cleveland, and Phillips-Exeter. Scholar of the third rank Junior year, Freshman Football Squad, University Glee Club Senior year

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1932–33, 1935–36 (M B A 1936); associated with Central National Bank, Cleveland, 1933–35 and Van Strum & Towne, Inc., investment counselors, New York City, for a short time 1936, engaged in sales promotion work with Kellems Products, Inc., New York City, 1938–42, member Fairmount Presbyterian Church, Cleveland Heights.

Unmarried

Death due to an accident Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford, Conn. Survived by parents, a sister, Emilie C. Sewall (B A. Vassar 1930), the wife of Grenville Strong Sewall (B A. Williams Coll 1923, LL.B. Harvard 1926) of Rye, N Y, and two brothers, Jonathan L Collens, '38 S., and Granger Hall Collens (B A Williams Coll. 1941) of Cleveland

James Henry Roberts, B.A. 1933. [formerly James Henry Romberg]

Born July 22, 1911, in New York City. Died December 9, 1942, in Bucyrus, Ohio.

Father, Albert Henry Romberg, former partner and treasurer Fox, O'Hara & Company, stocks and bonds, New York City; son of Henry J. and Lydia (Fleischmann) Romberg of New York City Mother, Hilda Belle (Drucker) Romberg, daughter of Jay and Bertha (Doctor) Drucker of Zanesville, Ohio. Yale relatives include a brother, Charles A Romberg, ex-'37.

Franklin School, New York City, and Peddie School, Hightstown, N.J. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year and of the third rank Sophomore year, oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Crew Squad.

Attended Harvard Law School 1933-34 and University of Cincinnati Law School 1934-35, secretary Alvey-Ferguson Company, manufacturers of conveying equipment, Cincinnati, Ohio, 1935-37 and vice-president 1937-41, successively assistant purchasing agent Sanderson & Porter, engineering and construction work, Charlotte, N.C., and United States Rubber Company of Marion, Ohio, 1941; owner Talawanda Springs, Inc., bottled spring water, Cincinnati, 1941-42

Married September 16, 1934, in New York City, Jane Andrews Walter (Simmons Coll ex-'37), daughter of John Charles Walter (E E Columbia 1904) and Ethel (Andrews) Walter. Children Hilda Walter and James Henry, Jr.

Death due to pneumonia Survived by wife, children, and father

Lloyd [Allen] Dewell, B.A. 1935.

Born May 9, 1913, in Sioux City, Iowa Died April 7, 1943, near Fondouk, Tunisia.

Father, Wilbur Eugene Dewell, vice-president and general manager Mc-Kesson and Robbins, Inc, wholesale drugs, Bridgeport, Conn, son of George Allan and Agnes Woodside (Moore) Dewell of Cushing, Iowa Mother, Minna Anna (Ehlers) Dewell; daughter of William George and Elizabeth (Ladenthin) Ehlers of Sioux City

Burlington (Iowa) High School. Scholar of the third rank Junior year; football squad Freshman year, University 150-pound Football Team Junior year, member R.O T.C at Yale and Trumbull College Attended Yale School of Medicine 1935-36 and Columbia University 1936-37

Eastern sales manager, plastic division, Owens-Illinois Glass Company, New York City, 1939–41; member First Methodist Church, Burlington

Married September 2, 1939, in Bridgeport, Patricia Hubbard (B A Connecticut Coll for Women 1939), daughter of John T L Hubbard, '11 L, and Gertrude (Russell) Hubbard No children.

Entered active service December, 1941, as First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, Fort Sill, and took battery officers course, Field Artillery School, and officers specialist course in equitation, promoted Captain February 1, 1942, and assigned to 34th Division, Fort Dix; went overseas April 29, 1942, assigned as escort to King and Queen of England at artillery exhibition in Ireland, sent to Scotland as Battalion Fire Direction Officer August, 1942, landed in Algiers November, 1942, and sent immediately to Tunisia as service and supply officer (Battalion S-4).

Captain Dewell died of multiple wounds received in action in North Africa He was posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by wife and parents.

Burrall Barnum, B.A. 1936.

Born October 17, 1913, in New York City. Died April 1, 1943, in Hunan Province, China.

Father, Walter Barnum, '10, associated with Electric Boat Company, Groton, Conn., son of William M Barnum, '77, and Annie Theresa (Phelps) Barnum of New York City Mother, Rowena (Stewart) Barnum; daughter of Charles Augustus and Elisabeth (Wurtz) Stewart of Biddeford, Maine. Yale relatives include William H Barnum, '04 S, and Phelps Barnum, '13 (uncles), and Walter B Levering, ex-'33 (cousin)

Prepared at Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn, and in Lausanne, Switzerland Freshman Crew Squad and 150-pound crew Freshman year; manager University Soccer Team Junior year, University Crew Junior and Senior years, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Beta Theta Pi, and Saybrook College (on crew Sophomore year and baseball team Junior year).

With Crowell Publishing Company, New York City, 1936–37, engaged in engineering investigations 1938, associated with Wright Aeronautical Corporation, Paterson, N J, 1939–40, member Episcopal church

Married June 12, 1937, in Greenwich, Conn, Lucille, daughter of Louis Ford and Elisabeth (McCormick) Hall Son David Burrall Mr and Mrs. Barnum were divorced in 1940

Enlisted as Flying Cadet, Army Air Forces, September 9, 1940, received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant April 25, 1941, at Maxwell Field, Montgomery, Ala, stationed successively at Gunter and Craig fields, Alabama, with Air Force Intelligence, Washington, at Mitchel and Sikorsky fields; promoted First Lieutenant February 1, 1942, on May 12, 1942, left for China in command of first group of Army pilots sent to relieve American Volunteer Group under Major General Chennault, initial member 75th Fighter Squadron, 23d Pursuit Group; about August 1 cited for gallantry in action, recommended for Silver Star, and promoted Captain, later in August was cited again for single-handed action against a large force of Zeros and for this action was awarded Distinguished Flying Cross on December 23, received official commendation from General Chennault for planning, executing, and reporting aerial reconnaissance, posthumously awarded Air Medal with Oak Leaf Cluster, and Order of the Purple Heart

Captain Barnum was shot down during a battle near an airdrome in Hunan Province while attempting to land his plane which had developed engine trouble Buried with full military honors. Survived by son, father, mother, stepmother, two stepsisters, Mrs Robert A Tietze and Audrey Hooper Flasch (B A Smith Coll 1941), the wife of O T. Flasch, and a half brother, Private Humphrey Barnum, A U.S

Theodore Leroy Chamberlin, B.A. 1936.

Born February 22, 1915, in Hartford, Conn. Died May 1, 1943, in the North Atlantic

Father, Albert Hamilton Chamberlin of Glastonbury, Conn, salesman Charles G. Lincoln & Company, Hartford; son of Frederick LeRoy and Julia Maria (Loomis) Chamberlin of Coventry, Conn. Mother, Christine (Ackerly) Chamberlin; daughter of William and Adeline (Brooks) Ackerly of Northport, N.Y.

The Loomis School, Windsor, Conn. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; oration appointment and scholar of the third rank Junior year, member Undergraduate Medical Club and Branford College Attended Yale School of Medicine 1936–40 (M.D. magna cum laude 1940, Parker Prize Senior year, member Nathan Smith Club and Alpha Omega Alpha, assistant in research in anatomy 1938–40)

Interne Presbyterian Hospital, New York City, 1940–42, contributed to Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine and co-author of papers in field of endocrinology; commissioned assistant surgeon with rank of Lieutenant (Jg), US Public Health Service, April 10, 1942; assigned to US Coast Guard as medical officer, Maritime Training Station, Fort Trumbull, April–September, 1942, U.S. Marine Hospital, Chicago, September, 1942–February, 1943, and sea duty aboard a Coast Guard cutter in the North Atlantic February 18, 1943; member First Church of Christ (Congregational), Glastonbury

Married September 4, 1937, in Hartford, Frances Marie Foley (B A. Skidmore Coll. 1936), daughter of Frank Farrington and Abbie Juliet (Langrish) Foley. Children Brooks and Theodore Leroy, Jr (born July 19, 1943)

Lieutenant Chamberlin lost his life in an airplane crash Survived by wife, sons, parents, and a brother, William Chamberlin of New Britain, Conn.

Curtis Charles Rodgers, B.A. 1936.

Born June 12, 1913, in Chicago, Ill. Died May 1, 1943, in Cairo, Egypt

Father, Charles Loring Rodgers (B S Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1905), retired construction engineer, son of Harris Gilbert and Elizabeth Clawson (Jones) Rodgers of Binghamton, N.Y. Mother, Pluma Evangeline (Gunn) Rodgers; daughter of John David and Maud (Sherman) Morgan and foster daughter of Curtis A. Gunn, of Eau Claire, Wis

Arnold School, Pittsburgh, Pa, and The Harris Schools, Chicago Honorable mention John Masefield Poetry Prize Sophomore year, third-rank stand and

Francis Bergen Memorial Prize Junior year; Swimming Squad Freshman year; editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; NRO.T.C four years and commissioned Ensign at graduation; member Chi Delta Theta and Jonathan Edwards College

Following graduation studied painting in oils and water colors and also did work in sculpture with Alexander Archipenko; attended School of Design in Chicago 1938–40, studying modern design, photography, and sculpture; exhibited work in Chicago and in traveling shows; in 1936 edited and printed by hand an anthology of contemporary North American and Mexican verse (Teotecuhtli); author: L'extinction and Estimation (1933), The Hybris Poems (1934), Poems for Xavier and Rudolpho (1935), and many letters and drawings published in AFS Letters, commissioned by a Chicago hotel to design and build kinetic light sculpture 1941

Unmarried.

Volunteered with the American Field Service and entered on duty as squad leader February 17, 1942, trained as ambulance driver in Syria and served in Egypt and Libya with General Montgomery's British Eighth Army during advance from El Alamein to Tripoli; returned to Cairo on detached duty to teach English and art at The American University at Cairo; reënlisted for second term in the Field Service

Death followed a physical breakdown resulting from his services in the Middle East Buried in the American Military Cemetery, Heliopolis, Egypt. Survived by parents.

Frederick Mears, 3d, B.A. 1937.

Born December 25, 1915, in Anchorage, Alaska. Died June 26, 1943, near Naval Air Station, San Diego, Calif.

Father, Col Frederick Mears, U S A, army officer and civil engineer; assistant chief engineer, Great Northern Railway Company, son of Col Frederick Mears, U S A, and Elizabeth (McFarland) Mears Mother, Jennie Pound Serrell (Wainwright) Mears, daughter of Major Robert Powell Page Wainwright (grad U S Military Academy 1875) and Josephine (Serrell) Wainwright

Shattuck School, Faribault, Minn Scholar of the third rank Junior year; James Gordon Bennett Prize Senior year; Freshman Boxing Squad, member Zeta Psi and Davenport College (on boxing team and crew Junior year).

Attended University of Washington School of Law 1937–38, special reporter Spokesman-Review, Spokane, 1938–39, in news-service department National and Mutual Broadcasting companies, New York City, 1939–40; entered U S. Naval Reserve as aviation cadet January 15, 1941, received primary training at Floyd Bennett Field, N Y., and advanced training in carrier-based aircraft at

Jacksonville and Miami (Fla) Naval Air stations; commissioned Ensign and received wings November 1, 1941, stationed at Naval Air Base, San Diego, until April, 1942, and Naval Air Base, Honolulu, until June, 1942, served with Torpedo Squadron 8 at Battle of Midway (received group citation), detailed to carrier duty in South Pacific with Torpedo Squadron 3, July, 1942, promoted Lieutenant (J.g.) October 1, 1942; stationed at Henderson Field, Guadalcanal, September 25–November 7, 1942, with Composite Squadron 18, Puget Sound Naval Air Station, Whidby Island, January, 1943, until transferred to San Diego Naval Air Station April 4, 1943, awarded Distinguished Flying Cross for action in the Solomon Islands June, 1943; author. Carrier Combat (1944); member St Mark's Cathedral (Episcopal), Seattle, Wash

Unmarried.

Lieutenant Mears lost his life when his plane crashed and burned near the Mexican border. Ashes flown to sea with aerial escort from Sand Point Naval Air Station, Seattle. Survived by mother and two sisters, Josephine Wainwright Mears McVay (B A Vassar 1929), the wife of Lieut Comdr John P McVay, U.S.N.R. (B S. Univ of Washington 1925, M S 1928, M D Univ of Oregon 1932), and Elizabeth McFarland Mears Meiggs (B A. Vassar 1932), both of Seattle.

John Bowlby Bauer, B.A. 1938.

Born April 26, 1915, in Plainfield, N J Died November 28, 1942, in Boston, Mass

Father, Alfred Ghiselin Bauer, Jr, vice-president and sales manager George S. Daugherty Company, packers and distributors of canned foods, Pittsburgh, son of Alfred Gay and Bessie Lee (Ghiselin) Bauer of Santa Fe, N Mex Mother, Helen Marguerite (Bowlby) Bauer, daughter of George McPherson and Ann Von Runkle (Baylor) Bowlby of Plainfield

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh. Entered Yale with '37 S; joined '38 in Sophomore year, member Timothy Dwight College (on football team Junior and Senior years)

With McKelvey & Company, stockbrokers, Pittsburgh, 1938–40; salesman in Washington, Baltimore, and State of Virginia, George S Daugherty Company 1940–42; commissioned Ensign (communications) July 6, 1942, entered Naval Training School, Harvard University, August 1, 1942, attended Presbyterian church.

Unmarried.

Ensign Bauer lost his life in the fire at the Cocoanut Grove night club, Boston. Buried in Somerville (NJ) Cemetery Survived by father and a brother, Alfred G. Bauer, Jr, '36 S (Lieut Comdr. US Navy)

John Cleveland, B.A. 1938. [formerly H. John Friedman]

Born May 5, 1917, in Cleveland, Oh1o. Died September 22, 1942, in Quantico, Va.

Father, Sidney Simon Friedman (Western Reserve ex-'06), secretary-treasurer Friedman, Blau, Farber Company, manufacturers of knit goods, Cleveland, son of Herman and Lena (Blau) Friedman of Cleveland. Mother, Rosalind (Scheuer) Friedman; daughter of Samuel E and Tillie (Bloch) Scheuer of Cleveland

Cleveland Heights High School and University School, Cleveland. Scholar of the third rank Junior year, an editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year;

member Pierson College and Chi Delta Theta

In collaboration with Luther Berryhill Davis, '38, was the author of stories and profiles appearing in Collier's, Cosmopolitan, New Yorker, Physical Culture, Reader's Digest, Movies, and of a movie script called The Mayor of Forty-Fourth Street, contributed to scripts for Who's Who (1938), Crazy With the Heat (1941), and New Faces (1943), movie and theatre critic of Judge 1938, author of a manual for civilian defense called Lady, It's Your War. Win It! (1942); entered U.S. Marine Corps as private (1st class), August, 1942, and sent to Officer Candidate School, Quantico, member The Temple, Cleveland

Unmarried

Death due to an accidental gunshot wound received on the rifle range at Quantico Buried in Mayfield Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by parents and a brother, Robert Sidney Friedman (Univ of Wisconsin 1947) of Cleveland.

William Mason Stevens, B.A. 1938.

Born May 23, 1915, in Annapolis, Md. Died July 19, 1942, at sea in the Pacific area.

Father, William Oliver Stevens, Litt D (B A Colby Coll. 1899; Ph D. Yale 1903), author and teacher, son of Rev Edward Oliver Stevens, D.D. (B A. Brown 1861), and Harriet Callista (Mason) Stevens of Moulmein, Burma Mother, Claudia Wilson (Miles) Stevens, daughter of Lieut Charles Richard Miles, U S N, and Evelyn Byrd (Wilson) Miles Yale relatives include an uncle, Albert Mason Stevens, '05

Cranbrook School, Bloomfield Hills, Mich; attended Haverford College 1933-34 and University of Michigan 1934-35 (member Chi Phi) Entered Yale College beginning of Sophomore year, scholar of the third rank Sophomore and Junior years, oration appointment Junior and Senior years; University 150-pound Football Team two years, member Timothy Dwight College.

Worked on a pineapple plantation in Honolulu 1938–39, with Dodd, Mead & Company, New York City, 1939, agent American Airlines at Arlington (Va.) Airport 1939–41; enlisted US Naval Reserve as seaman (2d class) August 15, 1938; elimination flight training, Naval Reserve Aviation Base, Squantum, Mass, August 15–September 14, 1938, and on active training duty USS. Trenton April 17–May 23, 1939; honorably discharged November 20, 1939, and disqualified from flying because of blood pressure, reenlisted US. Naval Reserve as apprentice seaman September 30, 1940, on active training duty U.SS. New York November 25–December 21, 1940, enlistment terminated June 15, 1941, appointed midshipman, US Naval Reserve, June 16, 1941; at Naval Reserve Midshipmen's School, Northwestern University, June 16–September 11, 1941, promoted Ensign September 12, 1941, and assigned to 5th Naval District for active duty, gunnery officer aboard airplane carrier Hornet at time of death, member Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), New York City.

Unmarri d.

Ensign Stevens lost his life as a result of an airplane crash in the Pacific area Survived by parents and a brother, Hugo Osterhaus Stevens (Pratt Inst 1927, Lieut. [j.g], US.NR).

Laurence Gorham Bagg, B.A. 1940.

Born April 21, 1918, in Holyoke, Mass Died February 7, 1943, at Fort Riley, Kans

Father, Edward Parsons Bagg (B.A 1907; M D Harvard 1911), a physician in Holyoke; son of Edward Parsons and Eliza Crane (Parsons) Bagg of Holyoke Mother, Marion Emma (Sears) Bagg (B A Vassar 1906), daughter of Henry Gorham and Fannie (Ford) Sears of Holyoke. Yale relatives include John L Bagg, '09 S (uncle), and John L Bagg, Jr, ex-'41 (cousin).

Deerfield (Mass) Academy Entered with '39, joined '40 Senior year, Freshman Swimming Team, Freshman Glee Club, University Glee Club three years; member Whiffenpoofs and Berkeley College (swimming team two years)

Assistant to chemist and later cost accountant Millers Falls (Mass) Paper Company 1940–42; inducted into Army of the United States November, 1942; private (1st class), Company G, 14th Armored Regiment, 9th Armored Division, Fort Riley, member Second Congregational Church, Holyoke.

Unmarried.

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Forestdale Cemetery, Holyoke. Survived by father, a sister, Miss Marjorie Bagg of Holyoke, and two brothers, Edward P Bagg, 3d, '36, and Henry Sears Bagg (B A Dartmouth 1939) of Holyoke.

Henry Francis Chaney, Jr., B.A. 1940.

Born March 22, 1917, in Grosse Pointe, Mich. Died October 14, 1942, in the Solomon Islands

Father, Henry Francis Chaney (B A Univ of Michigan 1909), chairman of the board Baker, Fentress & Company, Portland, Ore; son of Henry Allen Chaney (B A Univ of Michigan 1869, LL B 1871) and Frances Martha (Hall) Chaney of Detroit, Mich Mother, Josephine (Alger) Chaney; daughter of Russell A and Marion (Jarves) Alger of Detroit Yale relatives include George H Chaney, '13 (uncle), and Allan Shelden, 3d, '38 (cousin).

Asheville (N C) School and Phillips-Andover Freshman Football Team; University Football Squad Sophomore year; manager Freshman Hockey Team Junior year and University Hockey Team Senior year; member Undergraduate Athletic Association, The Fence Club, Wolf's Head, and Timothy Dwight College (basketball and baseball teams two years; captain College team in

budget drive Senior year)

Attended University of Michigan Law School 1940-41, member Christ Church (Episcopal), Grosse Pointe.

Unmarried

Enlisted in United States Navy as aviation cadet April 1, 1941; stationed at Reserve Air Base, Grosse Ile, Mich, July 15, 1941, until transferred to Corpus Christi, Texas, for further training August 22, 1941, selected for Marine Air Corps March 1, 1942, received advanced training as a dive bomber March 15–June 3, 1942, named lieutenant commander of Aviation Cadet Regiment May 5, 1942, and commissioned Second Lieutenant, Marine Corps Reserve, June 3, 1942, went overseas in August, 1942

Lieutenant Chaney died in action in the Solomon Islands. Survived by father, mother (Mrs D Dwight Douglas), a sister, Miss Diane Chaney, and a brother, Alger Chaney, both of Grosse Pointe, his stepfather, D. Dwight Douglas, '14 S, two half brothers, David Dwight Douglas, Jr, and Jon Chaney, and a

stepsister, Mrs William Erhard Weiss, Jr

Alfred Conway Curtin, B.A. 1940.

Born October 12, 1918, in Union City, NJ. Died August 19, 1942, near Coco Solo, Canal Zone.

Father, Alfred James Curtin, president Hamilton National Bank, Weehawken, N J, son of James and Louisa (Smith) Curtin of Union City. Mother, Anna Elizabeth (Conway) Curtin, daughter of Peter and Elizabeth (Gorman) Conway of Union City.

Woodrow Wilson High School, Weehawken. Entered with '39; joined '40 in Sophomore year, Freshman Football and Basketball squads, Vanderbilt

Football Team one year, member Sachem Club, and Timothy Dwight College

(basketball team two years, football team one year)

Studied at Juilliard School of Music, New York City, and took courses in Portuguese and civil aeronautics at Columbia University (received pilot's license March, 1941), enrolled in U S Naval Reserve Aviation Corps as seaman (2d class) April 1, 1941; received preliminary training at Naval Reserve Air Base, Floyd Bennett Field, May-June, 1941, transferred to Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Fla, June, 1941, commissioned Ensign, U S Navy Air Corps, March 10, 1942, stationed at Naval Air Station, Key West, April 21-May 12, 1942; on foreign sea duty attached to Atlantic Fleet April 8-August 19, 1942, and was a member of the first squadron to be sent to Canal Zone, member Roman Catholic church.

Unmarried.

Ensign Curtin lost his life while on patrol and convoy duty in the Atlantic and Caribbean areas Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, near Colon, Canal Zone, until cessation of hostilities. Survived by parents, two sisters, Kathleen Curtin O'Brien (B A Coll. of New Rochelle 1937), the wife of Joseph Lawrence O'Brien (Manhattan Coll ex-'36) of Bronxville, NY, and Doris Curtin (B.A. Coll. of New Rochelle 1942) of Weehawken, and his maternal grandfather.

Walter Edward Levy, B.A. 1940.

Born April 30, 1918, in New York City. Died December 30, 1942, at Buckley Field, Colo.

Father, Edward Isidor Levy of Woodmere, NY, vice-president and treasurer H. Lissner & Company, Inc, manufacturers of trousers, New York City, son of Siegmund N and Sarah (Lieber) Levy of New York City Mother, Elma (Nathan) Levy, daughter of Phillip and Sarah (Bruckheimer) Nathan of Brooklyn, NY

Woodmere Academy. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year and of the third rank Sophomore and Junior years, Freshman Swimming Squad, member Timothy Dwight College (on swimming team two years)

In sales department H Lissner & Company, Inc, 1940–42, entered service as private November 2, 1942; assigned to Army Air Forces Technical Training Command, Armored Division, Buckley Field, November–December, 1942, member Temple Israel, Lawrence, N Y

Unmarried.

Death due to spinal meningitis Survived by parents, a sister, Helene L Bloomenthal (B S Columbia 1937), the wife of Ernest David Bloomenthal (B.A Northwestern Univ 1930, M D. 1935) of Woodmere, and a brother, Richard P. Levy, '45 S

In 1943 his father made a gift in his memory to be used for the benefit of Timothy Dwight College.

David McGregor Mersereau, B.A. 1940.

Born January 9, 1918, in Seattle, Wash. Died July 6, 1942, in Astoria, Ore

Father, Roland W Mersereau, '05, vice-president Rogue River Timber Company, Portland, Ore; son of William Bradford and Helen Emily (Leavens) Mersereau of Portville, NY Mother, Elizabeth (Parker) Mersereau (BA. Smith Coll 1908), daughter of Charles Lafayette and Catherine Helen (McGregor) Parker of Portland. Yale relatives include. John D. Mersereau, ex-'75 S. (great-uncle), Eugene L Mersereau, '06, and Egbert W Mersereau, '11 (uncles), and Eugene M Waith, '35, and John G Mersereau, '39 (cousins).

Lincoln High School, Portland, and Phillips-Andover Scholar of the third rank Sophomore and Junior years, oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Freshman 150-pound Crew Squad, manager University Basketball Team and member Undergraduate Athletic Association Senior year; Junior Promenade Committee, treasurer Interfraternity Council Junior year, on advisory council Dwight Hall and member Undergraduate Board of Deacons and Class Council Senior year, member Yale Community Council, Beta Theta Pi, Berzelius, and Branford College (on basketball team three years and captain Senior year, football team and crew two years; Class agent for the College 1940–42) Attended Yale School of Law 1940–January, 1942 (resident Freshman counselor 1940–42)

Attended Northwestern College of Law, Portland, February-June, 1942, and with Legal Aid Society January-May, 1942, commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, April 13, 1942, worked with Young's Bay Lumber Company, Warrenton, Ore, while waiting orders to report for duty; member Unitarian church

Married December 20, 1941, in Portland, Martha Macleay (Mills Coll. ex-'42), daughter of Roderick Lachlan Macleay (Princeton ex-'97) and Barbara (MacKenzie) Macleay

Death due to sunstroke Buried in Riverview Cemetery, Portland. Survived by wife, parents, and two brothers, William Bradford Mersereau (B A Pomona Coll 1938) of San Diego, Calif, and Charles P. Mersereau, ex-'39

John Clifford Cobb, B.A. 1941.

Born July 27, 1918, in Dubuque, Iowa. Died November 28, 1942, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Frederick Littlefield Cobb (B A Williams Coll 1911), president Cobb's Sunlit Bakery, Green Bay, Wis; son of Albert Clifford and Annie Storer (Littlefield) Cobb of Minneapolis, Minn. Mother, Marie Rosamond (Flower) Cobb (B A Univ of Wisconsin 1913), daughter of Clarence and Effie Genevra (Deming) Flower of Arlington, Iowa.

East Green Bay High School and Phillips-Andover Third-rank stand Sophomore year; captain Freshman Basketball Team, University Basketball Team Sophomore and Junior years and captain Senior year, Junior University Baseball Team Junior year; member Trumbull College (baseball team Senior year), Chi Psi, and Book and Snake

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1941-42; commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, March 11, 1942, and assigned to Ordnance Department.

Unmarried

Ensign Cobb lost his life in the Cocoanut Grove night club fire in Boston. Buried in Lakewood Cemetery, Minneapolis Survived by father and mother (died July 17, 1943)

James Gore King McClure, Jr., B.A. 1941.

Born March 20, 1919, in Asheville, N C Died April 3, 1943, in Biddeford, Maine

Father, James Gore King McClure, Sc D, LL D (B A Yale 1906), former Presbyterian minister; former president American Forestry Association, organizer and president Farmers Federation, Inc., son of Rev James Gore King McClure, LL D (B.A. 1870), and Phoebe Ann (Dixon) McClure Mother, Elizabeth Skinner (Cramer) McClure; daughter of Ambrose Cramer (grad U.S. Naval Academy 1881) and Susan (Skinner) Cramer Yale relatives include Archibald McClure, '12, Ambrose C Cramer, '13, and Nathan Dixon McClure, '18 (uncles), and Nathan Dixon McClure, Jr., '42, and Archibald McClure, Jr., '44 (cousins).

Asheville School for Boys and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Third-rank scholar Sophomore year; Freshman Glee Club, University Glee Club Junior and Senior years (toured South America with the Yale Glee Club summer 1941); manager Student Suit Pressing Company, Inc, three years and acting president Senior year; group leader Yale Community Council Sophomore and Junior years, member Berkeley College (swimming team Sophomore year and crew Junior year) and Yale Political Union

Associated with Farmers Federation, Inc, October-December, 1941, with Munitions Manufacturing Company (International Business Machine Plant No. 4), Poughkeepsie, NY, January-August, 1942; enlisted as Boatswain's Mate (2d class), U.S. Coast Guard Reserve, August 18, 1942, assigned to a patrol boat on off-shore patrol duty off the coast of Maine late in August, 1942, member Freedom Plains Presbyterian Church, Pleasant Valley, NY

Unmarried

Death due to an accident which occurred in line of duty Buried in Lake Forest City Cemetery, Lake Forest, Ill. Survived by parents and a sister, Elspeth McClure (Vassar 1944) of Fairview, N C

٥

George Houk Mead, Jr., B.A. 1941.

Born August 3, 1917, in Dayton, Ohio. Died August 19, 1942, on Guadalcanal.

Father, George Houk Mead, LL D (B L. Hobart Coll. 1897; B S Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1900), chairman of the board Mead Corporation, Dayton, member National War Labor Board; son of Harry Eldridge and Marianna Philips (Houk) Mead of Dayton. Mother, Elsie Louise (Talbott) Mead, daughter of Harry Elstner Talbott (B A Univ. of Cincinnati 1885) and Katherine (Houk) Talbott of Dayton Yale relatives include: Harold E. Talbott, ex-'10, and Nelson S Talbott, '15 S. (uncles); John B. Greene, '34, Harry T. Greene, '42, Nelson S Talbott, Jr., '43 S, George S. Greene, Jr., '43 S., and Albert B Hilton, 4th, '44 (cousins)

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Baseball Squad and Hockey Team Freshman year, Junior University Baseball and Hockey squads Sophomore year; Junior University Hockey and University Polo teams Junior year; Junior Promenade Committee, manager University Football Team and captain University Polo Team Senior year, member Fence Club, The Pundits, Scroll and Key, and Berkeley College (tennis and baseball teams Junior and Senior years; Class agent for Alumni Fund 1941–42) Member St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Oakwood, Dayton.

Unmarried

Enlisted in U.S. Marine Corps Reserve May, 1941; called to active duty November 1, 1941, at Marine Barracks, Quantico, Va., commissioned Second Lieutenant January 31, 1942, assigned to Fleet Marine Force April 5, 1942.

Lieutenant Mead was killed while leading a platoon against heavy sniper fire to cover the advance of another platoon and for this action was posthumously awarded the Navy Cross Survived by parents, three sisters, Elsie Louise M. Walker (B A Sarah Lawrence Coll 1937), the wife of Dr John M Walker, '31, and the Misses Katherine Talbott and Marianna Mead, both of Dayton, and two brothers, Harry Talbott Mead (Union Coll. ex-'43) and Nelson Strobridge Mead (Univ of Virginia ex-'44).

George Raymond Waldmann, 2d, B.A. 1941.

Born January 3, 1920, in New York City. Died January 13, 1943, in Jacksonville, Fla.

Father, Charles John Waldmann (cert New York Univ 1917), partner Kean, Taylor & Company, investment securities, New York City, son of Frank John and Frances (Urban) Waldmann of New York City. Mother, Bertha Florence (Sestak) Waldmann; daughter of Joseph and Catherine (Riha) Sestak of New York City.

Hempstead (N Y) and Manhasset (N.Y.) High schools. Freshman Lacrosse Team and Freshman Football Squad, University Lacrosse Team Sophomore and Junior years, member Jonathan Edwards College (on baseball, football,

squash, and basketball teams; athletic secretary Senior year)

Salesman Harris, Hall & Company, securities, Chicago and New York City, August-December, 1941; enlisted in U S Naval Air Reserve, January 5, 1942, called to active duty as seaman (2d class) at Naval Reserve Aviation Base, Floyd Bennett Field, February 26, 1942, aviation cadet, Naval Air Station, Jackson-ville, February 26-May 21, 1942, commissioned Ensign, U S Naval Reserve, November 27, 1942, and appointed naval aviator, member St Joseph's Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Unmarried

Ensign Waldmann was killed in an airplane crash at Jacksonville Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington. Survived by parents and a brother, Charles John Waldmann, Jr. (New York Univ ex-'44, USNR), of Manhasset

Morgan Wesson, B.A. 1941.

Born December 19, 1918, in Longmeadow, Mass. Died November 13, 1942, in the Battle of Guadalcanal

Father, Lieut Col. Victor Hawes Wesson of Longmeadow and Palmer, Mass, son of Joseph Hawes and Florence May (Stebbins) Wesson of Springfield, Mass. Mother, Eleanor Morgan (Williams) Wesson, daughter of Howard Sherman and Minnie Stearns (Morgan) Williams of Longmeadow

Deerfield (Mass) Academy. Manager Freshman Lacrosse Team Junior year and University Lacrosse Team Senior year, Freshman Glee Club, an editor Yale Record Senior year, member Yale University Dramatic Association,

N.R O T C at Yale, and Davenport College

Commissioned Ensign, U.S Naval Reserve, June 17, 1941, reported to U S Naval Academy, Annapolis, for active duty under instruction in communications August 19, 1941, detached to Federal Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, Kearny, N J, for duty in connection with fitting out U S S Atlanta (reported December 29, 1941) and on board when placed in commission, appointed Lieutenant (J g.) June 15, 1942; served on U S S Atlanta as coding officer and ship's secretary, member St. Andrew's Church (Episcopal), Longmeadow

Unmarried

Lieutenant Wesson was killed in action in the Battle of Guadalcanal Survived by parents, a sister, Florence W Nields (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-'43), the wife of Robert Littleton Nields (Williams Coll ex-'37) of Hardwick, Mass, and two brothers, Rufus Wesson, '36 E (Major, AUS), and Daniel Baird Wesson (Amherst ex-'40) of Springfield.

Philip Williams, Jr., B.A. 1941.

Born September 10, 1918, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 2, 1942, near Little Rock, Ark

Father, Philip Williams, Sr (B.A Ohio Wesleyan 1912), financial agent Newberry Library, Chicago; son of Philip and Jane (Lewis) Williams of Pontypridd, Glamorganshire, Wales, and Pittsburgh, Pa. Mother, Etta Wood (Porterfield) Williams (B Litt Ohio Wesleyan 1910), daughter of Ewing Lee and Emma (Wood) Porterfield of Delaware, Ohio

Phillips-Andover Freshman Lacrosse Team; University Lacrosse Squad

Sophomore and Junior years; member Pierson College.

Inducted into Army of the United States at Fort Sheridan, Ill, July 13, 1941, served with Medical Corps, Camp Grant, Ill, October-November, 1941; transferred to Air Forces as aviation cadet, received preliminary training at Kelly Field Replacement Center, San Antonio, Texas, November 10-December 15, 1941, stationed at Ellington Field, Houston, Texas, December 15, 1941-February 23, 1942 and Navigation School, Kelly Field, February 23-July 25, 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Air Forces, July 25, 1942, and assigned to 95th Bombardment Squadron, Barksdale Field, La.; member Union Church (Congregational), Hinsdale, Ill

Unmarried

Lieutenant Williams was killed in an airplane crash near Little Rock. Buried in Bronswood Cemetery, Hinsdale Survived by parents, a sister, Marcia Williams (B A Smith Coll 1943), and maternal grandmother.

John McKinlay Green, B.A. 1942.

Born February 10, 1919, in Albany, NY. Died October 17, 1942, in the Southwest Pacific.

Father, Gideon G W Green, '00, an attorney in Gloversville, N Y; treasurer Daniel Hays Glove Company, Gloversville, son of James Washington and Sarah Lois (Burton) Green Mother, Asenath (Deming) Green, daughter of Hiram and Sarah Elizabeth (Smith) Deming. Yale relatives include: James W. Green, Jr, '07 (uncle), and Frederick Mills, '36 (cousin)

Gloversville High School and Mercersburg (Pa.) Academy Freshman Wrestling Team, University Wrestling Team Sophomore and Senior years; NROTC (took civilian pilot training course), member Berkeley College (coxswain of crew Junior year) and Alpha Sigma Phi. Member First Presbyterian Church, Gloversville

Unmarried

Commissioned Ensign, U S Naval Reserve, June 8, 1942; attached to U S.S. Meredith

Ensign Green died in action in the Battle of the Solomons He was posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart on July 15, 1943 Survived by parents and two sisters, Lois Burton Green MacKay (M A Columbia 1926), the wife of James Ross MacKay (B A Univ of California 1930, LL B 1933) of Seattle, Wash., and Sarah Elizabeth Green (Alfred Univ. ex-'37) of Gloversville

Richard Schoenberg, B.A. 1943.

Born May 17, 1922, in New York City Died March 6, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Herman Bernard Schoenberg (M.D. New York Univ 1912), a physician and surgeon in New York City; son of Osias and Rebecca (Richman) Schoenberg of New York City Mother, Esther Charlotte (Wechsler) Schoenberg (grad New York Training School for Teachers 1918), daughter of Philip and Lena (Fischer) Wechsler of New York City

Fresnal Ranch School, Tucson, Ariz Oration appointment Senior year, honorable mention Andrew D White Prize in history Freshman year; Freshman Swimming Squad; Apollo Glee Club; member Silliman College, awarded B A. at Commencement December, 1942

Enrolled New York University Medical College with expectation of entering on medical studies in April, 1943, member Congregation B'nai Jeshurun, New York City

Unmarried.

Death due to endocarditis. Buried in Beth Olin Fields, Cypress Hills, N Y. Survived by parents, a sister, Edith S. Lynton (B A Vassar 1940), the wife of Harold S. Lynton, '29, and a brother, Harry Wechsler Schoenberg of New York City.

In 1943 his father established at Yale in his memory the Richard Schoenberg Prize in American Poetry.

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

Wılliam Wesley Gibson, Ph.B. 1876.

Born June 20, 1856, in Hamden, Conn Died May 23, 1943, in Washington, D.C

Father, Robert Gibson, superintendent L Candee Company, manufacturers of rubber products, New Haven, Conn; son of James and Anne (Neal) Gibson of Manchester, England Mother, Jemima (Carey) Gibson, daughter of Thomas and Jane (Christie) Carey of Preston, England. Yale relatives include. Robert J. Gibson, '76 S, and George W Gibson, ex-'80 S (brothers); and Robert B Gibson, '02 S, Willis C Noble, Jr, '06 S, William C Gibson, '07 S, and Julian B Gibson, '15 S (nephews).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Studied at Sheffield Scientific School

1873-75 (civil engineering course, awarded Ph B. 1879)

Attended United States Military Academy 1875-79 (BS 1879); commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, June 13, 1879, transferred to Artillery July 11, 1879, promoted First Lieutenant, Ordnance, February 21, 1887, Captain June 12, 1894, Major January 21, 1904, Lieutenant Colonel September 19, 1907, and Colonel September 2, 1912, stationed at Plattsburg, N.Y, 1879-81, Fort Barrancas, Fla, 1881-82, and Fort Monroe, Va, 1882-83; instructor in mathematics, ordnance, and gunnery United States Military Academy 1883-87; on foundry duty Midvale Iron Works, Philadelphia, 1887–88; assistant to Ordnance Board, New York City, and at United States Proving Ground, Sandy Hook, N J, 1888-92, inspector of ordnance Providence, R I, 1892; stationed at Watertown (Mass) Arsenal 1892–95, inspector of ordnance Cleveland, Alliance, Hamilton, and Columbus, Ohio, 1895–1900, on duty in office of Chief of Ordnance, Washington, 1900-03; principal assistant to Chief of Ordnance and recorder Board of Ordnance and Fortifications 1903, on General Staff 1903-07 (Chief of Military Information, Fort Santiago, Manila, Philippine Islands, 1903-05, military attaché St Petersburg, Russia, and Stockholm, Sweden, 1905-07, commissioned by President as representative of War Department in special embassy at coronation of King Haakon VII of Norway 1906), commanding officer Watervliet (NY) Arsenal and on board for testing rifles and cannon 1908-18, member priority committee War Industries Board March-June, 1918, acting chief of administration and chief of administration Ordnance Department, retired with rank of Colonel March 1, 1920, and had since resided in Vineyard Haven, Mass, and Washington, awarded Spanish War medal and Victory medal, member Fort Monroe Club, Army and Navy Club of Washington, Ends of the Earth Club, and West Point Army Mess.

Married October 25, 1913, in Loudonville, N.Y, Mary Emily, daughter of

John Alexander and Mary B (Warren) Manning. Son. Wesley Warren (Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst 1938-40)

Death followed an operation. Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Vineyard Haven. Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Mrs. Wilhelmina G Noble of Montclair, N.J

Bruce Fenn, Ph.B. 1877.

Born January 7, 1857, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 16, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Wallace Bruce Fenn, a merchant in New Haven, son of Hart and Belinda (Blakeslee) Fenn of Plymouth, Conn Mother, Ellen Jane (Mansfield) Fenn, daughter of Horace and Mary Jane (Dimock) Mansfield of New Haven Yale relatives include William Henry Fenn, '54 (cousin), Paul Fenn, '81 (brother); and Bogart Fenn Thompson, '39 (grandnephew)

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven Civil engineering course, honors for excellence in all studies Freshman year, honors Junior and Senior years, Commencement speaker, Class president Junior year, president Sheffield Football Club Junior and Senior years, Thanksgiving Jubilee Committee Senior year; member Alpha Chi, Phi Gamma Delta, and The Cloister and Book and Snake. Attended Yale School of Law 1877–80 (LL B cum laude 1879, LL M 1880; Jewell Prize Junior year)

Law student Coudert Brothers, New York City, 1880-81, managing clerk Davenport [John S, '66] & Leeds 1881-82, admitted to the bar 1882, partner Truslow & Fenn 1882-85 and Tracy & Fenn 1885-87, practiced independently 1887-88, because of ill-health unoccupied 1888-89, with Sargent & Company, hardware manufacturers, New Haven, 1889 until retirement 1942 (secretary 1900-17, vice-president 1920-41, member executive committee 1913-42), vice-president New Haven Savings Bank 1923-29, member Yale Engineering Association and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married (1) June 29, 1886, in New Haven, Elizabeth Craft, daughter of Joseph Bradford and Elizabeth Collier (Lewis) Sargent, and sister of Henry B Sargent, '71 S, Edward R Sargent, '80 S, G Lewis Sargent, '81 S, Joseph D Sargent, '81 S, Russell Sargent, '84 S, and John Sargent, '94 S Son Russell Sargent, ex-'10 (died July 7, 1939) Mrs Fenn died April 18, 1904 Married (2) September 10, 1908, in New Haven, Ellen Page Sargent, sister of his first wife No children Mrs Fenn died October 23, 1930

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by three grandsons, Bruce Fenn, 2d, '32, Russell S Fenn, Jr. (Wesleyan Univ. ex-'35), and Converse Gray Fenn (Dartmouth Coll ex-'38), and three great-grandchildren.

Edward Herndon Smith, Ph.B. 1878.

Born July 18, 1859, in Beardstown, Ill. Died May 1, 1943, in Oak Park, Ill.

Father, William Henry Smith, a railroad builder in Illinois; son of John Jay and Esther Smith of New York. Mother, Mary Hannah (Herndon) Smith; daughter of Augustus and Eliza (Travis) Herndon of Kentucky. Yale relatives include a brother, William H. Smith, Jr., '79

Select course, prize for excellence in chemistry Junior year, French prize Senior year; Class picture committee; member The Cloister and Book and

Snake

Clerk in a railroad office in Chicago; in lumber business, Kansas City, Mo., and Warsaw, Wis, 1887–90, with Central Trust Company of Colorado, Denver, 1890–98, and Oliver Typewriter Company, Chicago, 1898 until retirement 1923; director Presbyterian Theological Seminary (now Mc-Cormick Theological Seminary) 1905–43; elder Fourth Presbyterian Church, Chicago, 1900–43.

Married (1) December 15, 1886, in Urbana, Ill, Clara Mae Moore. Daughter: Helen Herndon Mrs Smith died May 23, 1889 Married (2) June 11, 1927, in Chicago, Vera, daughter of Harry Albertus and Eve Helen Lash.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Lexington (Ky.) Cemetery. Survived by wife and daughter (died May 16, 1943).

Arthur Dean Bevan, Ph.B. 1881.

Born August 9, 1861, in Chicago, Ill. Died June 10, 1943, in Lake Forest, Ill.

Father, Thomas Bevan (M D Maine Medical Coll. 1851 and L'École de Médecine, Paris), a physician in Chicago, son of Thomas and Elizabeth (Dean) Bevan of Ohio Mother, Elizabeth (Ramsey) Bevan, daughter of Colonel George Ramsey and Martha (Morrow) Ramsey of Ohio.

Chicago High School Studied at Sheffield Scientific School 1878-79; third prize in English composition, Class crew and Freshman Crew; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi. M.A Hon 1916, with enrollment in Class of 1881 S.

Attended Rush Medical College 1879–83 (M D. 1883), in United States Marine Hospital Service 1883–87; professor of anatomy Oregon State College 1886–87, surgeon in Chicago 1887 until retirement 1937; on faculty Rush Medical College 1887–1943 (professor of anatomy 1887–99; professor of surgical anatomy and associate professor of surgery 1899–1902; chairman department of surgery 1902–34, professorial lecturer on surgery 1901–24; Nicholas Senn clinical professor 1924–34; professor emeritus 1934–43); on staff Presby-

terian Hospital, Chicago, 1892-1943 (head of surgical service 1894-1934); author Collected Papers Chiefly on Surgery; editor Lexer's General Surgery (American edition, 1908); contributed to Textbook of Surgery by American Authors (1899) and Textbook of Anatomy by American Authors (1902), Major and surgeon Oregon National Guard; director of general surgery, surgical division, Office of the Surgeon General, U.S. Army, Washington, 1917–19, First Lieutenant, United States Army Medical Reserve, 1908-43, awarded Légion d'Honneur 1918; received gold medal and citation from American Medical Association 1931; president Chicago Medical Society 1898-99, Inter-State Postgraduate Medical Association 1931, and American Surgical Association 1932–33, member house of delegates American Medical Association 1902-03, chairman Council on Medical Education 1904-16, 1920-28, chairman section on surgery and anatomy 1906-07, and president-elect and president 1917-19, founder Chicago Surgical Society; fellow and founding member American College of Surgeons, Society of Clinical Surgery, and American Board of Surgery, member American Society for the Control of Cancer, American Association of Anatomists, American Urological Association, and Presbyterian church

Married February 3, 1896, in Barberton, Ohio, Anna Laura, daughter of Ohio C. and Laura L (Brown) Barber. No children

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Lake Forest Cemetery. Survived by wife.

Harry Smith Pope, Ph.B. 1882.

Born July 19, 1860, in New York City. Died January 6, 1943, in Bayonne, NJ.

Father, Thomas John Pope, member Thomas J Pope & Brother, metals, New York City, son of James and Rebecca (Jones) Pope of Hoboken, N.J. Mother, Catherine Ann (Buxton) Pope, daughter of Charles Cornelius and Catherine (Scott) Buxton of New York City

Stevens High School, Hoboken Select and dynamic engineering courses; University Bicycle Association Junior and Senior years; member Alpha Chi

Engaged in metal business in New York City 1882–1925 (with his father's firm 1882–89; member Thomas J. Pope's Sons 1889–1904 and Pope Metals Company, Inc, 1905–10, in New York office Luria Brothers & Company of Reading, Pa, 1912–17, manager New York office John J Caine, scrap iron and steel dealer of Philadelphia, 1917–24), independently engaged as a scrap iron broker in Bayonne 1925 until retirement 1932, member Calvary Church (Episcopal), Bayonne.

Married December 28, 1892, in New Canaan, Conn, Jessie Anne, daughter of William Allen and Mary Anne (Gastine) Reid Children Charles Buxton, Francis Reid (Pennsylvania State Coll 1915, cert. Pratt Institute 1931), Theo-

dore Clayton (died August 12, 1904); and Mary Clover (died December 15, 1936)

Death due to cerebral embolism Buried in Moravian Cemetery, New Dorp, Staten Island Survived by wife, two sons, a sister, Miss Bessie Pope of Jersey City, and a brother, James E Pope, ex-'82 S

Wayne Darlington, Ph.B. 1883.

Born October 16, 1862, in West Chester, Pa Died October 17, 1942, at Tarpon Springs, Fla.

Father, Stephen Paxson Darlington, a manufacturer in Philadelphia; son of William and Catharine (Paxson) Darlington of West Chester Mother, Josephine Jackson (Lewis) Darlington, daughter of Joseph Jackson and Mary Sinton (Miner) Lewis of West Chester Yale relatives include Charlton T. Lewis, '53 (uncle), Joseph M Lewis, '83, Charlton M Lewis, '86, and James McKeen Lewis, '11 (cousins)

Pennington (N J) School and North Broad Street Select High School, Philadelphia Dynamic engineering course, Class Cup committee; member The Colony and Berzelius

Studied chemistry, metallurgy, and geology in Freiberg, Saxony, 1883-85; assayer and chemist Pueblo (Colo) Smelting & Refining Company 1885-86; chemist Philadelphia Smelting Company, Ketchum, Idaho, 1886–88, chemist and metallurgist for Guggenheim Brothers, Pueblo, 1888-89, in charge Imperial Silver Mines in Mongolia 1889-91 and built lead-silver refinery and blast furnace at Jehol for Chinese government 1890-91, engaged in mine development White Hills, Ariz, 1892 and in investigation of southern Appalachian gold fields from Virginia to Georgia 1893–94, with Moctezuma Concentrating Company, Nacosari, Mexico, 1895–96 and White Knob Copper Company, Mackay, Idaho, 1899–1902; state engineer of Idaho 1903–04, manager Bagdad-Chase Gold Mines, California and Idaho, 1904-08, consulting engineer 1910 until retirement, general manager Southern Gold Mines, Inc., South Carolina, 1934-36, president Kay Development Company, Bayhorse Mines Corporation, and Darlington Development Company, dean engineering group Whitman College 1910–13, resided in Tarpon Springs 1924–42; member Yale Engineering Association, American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, Franklin Institute, and Masonic order

Married March 3, 1896, in Edgefield, S.C., Elizabeth Nicholson Children: Stephen Paxson, '21 S; Albert N., Catharine P., Joseph Lewis, Sophie Nicholson, the wife of Charles Frederick Deuel, 2d, Mary Lewis; Wayne, Jr.; and Benjamin Nicholson

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Edgefield Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Edward L Heydecker of New York City, and a brother, Frederic W. Darlington, '86 S

John Henry Mann, Ph.B. 1883.

Born May 11, 1863, in Utica, NY. Died December 29, 1942, in San Antonio, Texas.

Father, James Ford Mann, ex-'59, a lawyer in Utica, son of Charles Addison and Emma (Bagg) Mann of Utica Mother, Emma Louise (Oberteuffer) Mann, daughter of John Henry and Elizabeth (Mariner) Oberteuffer of Philadelphia Yale relatives are listed in the biography of his brother, Frederick J Mann, '90 S., published in the 1938-39 OBITUARY RECORD

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass Dynamic engineering course, Sheffield Scientific School Baseball Team Freshman and Junior years, Class picture

committee Senior year, member St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Studied law in Utica, Buffalo, and New York City 1883-85, admitted to the bar 1885, lawyer in New York City 1885 until retirement 1923, in recent years had traveled extensively in the United States, residing at various times in Comfort, Center Point, and San Antonio, Texas, author A Treatise on the Law of Foreign Business Corporations Doing Business in the State of New York (1906), member Yale Engineering Association

Unmarried

Death due to cardiac failure Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Utica Survived by two sisters, Miss Julia D Mann of Utica and Sophia M Doolittle, the wife of Julius T. A Doolittle, '84, and a brother, Clarence Churchill Mann (B A. Harvard 1899) of Toronto, Canada.

Henry Curtis Nutt, Ph.B. 1883.

Born November 12, 1863, in Council Bluffs, Iowa Died September 26, 1942, in Cambridge, Mass

Father, Henry Clay Nutt, president Atlantic and Pacific Railroad Company; veteran of the Civil War; son of Henry and Aseneth (Wheeler) Nutt of Montpelier, Vt. Mother, Evalina (Stringham) Nutt; daughter of Thomas and Ursula (Camp) Stringham of Des Moines, Iowa

Chicago High School Civil engineering course, prize for excellence in civil engineering Senior year; preliminary appointment, Commencement speaker, an editor Yale Record Senior year, historian Freshman year, Class Book committee; member Alpha Chi, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Successively rodman, engineer of construction, assistant superintendent, and general superintendent Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad Company 1883–1906, general superintendent Michigan Central Railroad Company 1906–07; general manager western lines Northern Pacific Railway Company 1907–09 and a vice-president 1909–12, general manager Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad Company 1912–18; president and general manager Monongahela Railway

Company and Pittsburgh, Chartiers & Youghiogheny Railway Company 1921 until retirement 1933, commissioned Major, Railway Transportation Corps, February 28, 1918, promoted Lieutenant Colonel August 20, 1918, and Colonel May 9, 1919, overseas March 28, 1918–October 17, 1920, service on General Staff, First Army at Souilly; after Armistice stationed at Verdun as assistant deputy director-general of transportation, in charge of rebuilding railways between Verdun and Conflans and Verdun and Sedan; stationed at Coblenz January 27, 1919, in charge of rail and water transportation, Army of Occupation; discharged August 28, 1919; president Coal Commission for Central Europe, with headquarters in Mahrisch-Ostrau, Czechoslovakia, 1919–20; awarded Légion d'Honneur 1919, member Episcopal church.

Unmarried

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Green Mountain Cemetery, Montpelier. Survived by a brother, Frank Allen Nutt of Brookline, Mass.

George Shipman Payson, Ph.B. 1883.

Born June 21, 1862, in Chicago, Ill. Died February 27, 1943, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, George Payson (B.A. Bowdom Coll. 1843), general counsel and treasurer Western Railroad Association, Chicago; son of Rev Edward Payson, D D (B A Harvard 1803), and Anne Louise (Shipman) Payson of Portland, Maine Mother, Margaret Almira (Codman) Payson, daughter of Randolph Augustus Laurence and Elizabeth Wadsworth (Stephenson) Codman of Portland

Barnes' Private School, Chicago Second English composition prize Freshman year, University Bicycle Association Junior year; member Yale Yacht Club (on spring regatta committee Senior year) and Franklin Hall and Theta Xi

With Adams & Westlake Manufacturing Company, railway supplies, Chicago, 1883–84, attended Union College of Law, Chicago, 1884–86, admitted to the bar 1886, associated with Isham, Lincoln and Beale, Chicago, 1884–86, Dent & Block 1886–87, and Banning & Company 1887–88, member Banning, Banning, and Payson 1888–93, general counsel and treasurer Western Railroad Association 1893–1943, attached to Naval Intelligence Department in World War I, member Yale Engineering Association, Art Institute of Chicago, Chicago Historical Society, and Field Museum of Natural History

Married January 3, 1889, in Chicago, Josephine, daughter of Joseph Turner and Ellen Griffin (Larned) Ryerson, and sister of Arthur Ryerson, '71, and Edward Larned Ryerson, '76 S Children Randolph, '14 S, and Ellen Larned (Mrs Payson Woods)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren

Arthur Bronson Adams, Ph.B. 1885.

Born October 19, 1863, in New Haven, Conn. Died April 27, 1943, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, James Norris Adams, associated with New Haven Clock Company, son of Joseph and Almira (Johnson) Adams of Plainville, Conn Mother, Emma (Bronson) Adams, daughter of James and Hannah (Halleck) Bronson of Brockport, N Y

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Chemistry course

Taught physics, chemistry, and mathematics at Shortlidge Academy, Media, Pa., 1885–91; assistant in chemistry Yale University 1891–93, instructor at various times at Brooke Hall, Media, Cutler School, New York City, Media Academy, and De Lancey School, Temple University, and Winthrop School, Philadelphia, head of science department and in charge laboratory Brown Preparatory School, Philadelphia, 1915 until retirement 1940, member Media Presbyterian Church

Married May 17, 1892, in Media, Hannah, daughter of Pratt and Matilda (Yarnall) Bishop. No children.

Death due to uremia Buried in Media Cemetery Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Edward Eri Poor of Passaic, N J

James Alward Seymour, Ph.B. 1885.

Born October 11, 1864, in Auburn, N.Y. Died June 28, 1943, in New York City

Father, James Seymour, Jr., a banker in Auburn, son of James and Myra Abigail (Hill) Seymour of Brockport, N Y. Mother, Mary Osburn (Lodewick) Seymour; daughter of John Miller and Emma Linda (Osburn) Lodewick of Schodack, N Y.

Fairview Academy, Saratoga Springs, NY, and Phillips-Andover Dynamic engineering course, shared first prize for general excellence in mathematics Junior year and in mechanical engineering Senior year, an editor Yale Daily News Junior and Senior years, member Alpha Chi, and The Cloister and Book and Snake Registered Yale Graduate School 1885–90 (ME 1890)

Cofounder McIntosh, Seymour & Company (later McIntosh & Seymour), manufacturers of steam engines, Auburn, 1886, partner 1886–1910, chief engineer 1886–1917, president 1911–17, chairman of the board and consulting engineer 1917 until retirement 1922, director 1910–36, in 1914 the firm undertook manufacture of Diesel oil engines under name of McIntosh & Seymour Corporation, in 1929 merged with American Locomotive Company and in 1936 became Diesel Engine Division of latter company, inventor and developer McIntosh & Seymour engine and of numerous other inventions in the applica-

tion of directly connected high-speed engines to electric generation, member Government advisory board to aid in development of Diesel engines for sub-marine propulsion 1917, contributed articles to scientific journals; prepared paper on "Steam Engines for the Infant Electric Industry—1885" and presented it at Watt Bicentenary in the United States, January 21, 1936, winner gold medal Panama Pacific Exposition, San Francisco, 1915, for excellence in design of device for regulating speed of Diesel engines; member Seymour Library Association 1900–43 and trustee Seymour Public Library, Auburn, 1907–40; honorary member American Society of Mechanical Engineers, associate member American Society of Naval Engineers; member American branch of the Newcomen Society of England, Yale Engineering Association, Cayuga County Historical Society, Cayuga Museum of History and Art, Auburn City Hospital Association, and Auburn Chamber of Commerce.

Married April 11, 1894, in Auburn, Marion Melita, daughter of Charles Augustus and Jane Hobart (Chedell) Smith Children. Jane Chedell, the wife of Paul William Hills (B A Princeton 1917), Mary Melita (B.A. Smith Coll. 1920), the wife of Pennington Sefton, ex-'19 S, and James Sayre, '24

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Fort Hill Cemetery, Auburn. Sur-

vived by wife, children, and six grandchildren.

Jay Russell Hickox, Ph.B. 1886.

Born April 3, 1865, in South Britain, Conn. Died November 2, 1942, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Henry Park Hickox, a farmer in South Britain, son of Russell and Mary A (Brown) Hickox of Southbury, Conn. Mother, Julia Elizabeth (Bradley) Hickox, daughter of Henry and Roxana (Atkins) Bradley of South Britain Yale relatives include a brother, George H Hickox, '96 S.

Parker Academy, Woodbury, Conn Civil engineering course

Associated with Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad Company 1886 until retirement 1935 (assistant division engineer on construction, Lines West, 1886–87, division engineer 1887–89, and resident engineer 1889–91; representative for the railroad in the Northwest, particularly in the Black Hills, 1891–1905, engineer of maintenance of way, Wyoming District, 1906–08, roadmaster Sterling, Alliance, and Sheridan divisions 1908–09 and trainmaster Sterling Division 1909–10, principal assistant engineer of maintenance of way, Lines West, 1910–24, hydraulic engineer for the system at Chicago 1924–35; consulting engineer 1935–42); independently engaged as civil and mining engineer in Deadwood, S Dak, 1898–1906; city surveyor of Deadwood and deputy United States mineral surveyor, with headquarters at Deadwood, 1899–1905; member American Society of Civil Engineers and American Association of Engineers, Lincoln (Nebr) Chamber of Commerce, Masonic order, and La Grange (Ill) Congregational Church.

Married November 28, 1895, in Deadwood, Minnie, daughter of John Adams and Matilda (Cline) Harding. No children

Death due to coronary disease. Ashes interred in Ames, Iowa Survived by wife.

Charles Joseph Goldmark, Ph.B. 1887.

Born September 23, 1867, in Brooklyn, N.Y Died November 3, 1942, in White Plains, NY

Father, Joseph Goldmark, a chemist and manufacturer of percussion caps and ammunition, son of Rubin and Edelise (Mendelsburg) Goldmark of Hungary Mother, Regina (Wehle) Goldmark, daughter of Gottlieb and Eleanora (Feigl) Wehle of Prague and New York City Yale relatives include three nephews, Charles P. Knaebel, '29 S, Richard Park, '31 S, and Edwards Park, '39

Wilson and Kellogg School, New York City. Dynamic engineering course. Attended Cornell University College of Engineering 1887–88, assistant engineer Field Engineering Company 1888–95, consulting engineer with offices in New York City 1896–1924; associated with Goldmark & Harrison 1912–17, designer and superintendent of construction of shops of Canadian Locomotive Company, Kingston, Ont, 1905–08, 1912–17, his many installations included railroads, factories, and shops in the United States and Canada and the Laurentian Sanatorium in Quebec, retired in 1925; member American Institute of Electrical Engineers, Illuminating Engineering Society, and Canadian Society of Civil Engineers.

Married (1) February 12, 1916, in Wellesley, Mass, Ruth, daughter of George Lyman and Cornelia Howard (Saunders) Ingersoll Son. Jonathan Edwards (B.A. Haverford Coll 1938; LL B Harvard 1941) Mrs Goldmark died October 13, 1917 Married (2) May 30, 1924, in Brookline, Mass, Alice, daughter of Charles Ware Park (B.A. Amherst 1867) and Anna Maria (Ballantine) Park and sister of Rev. Charles E. Park, D.D., '96

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Survived by wife, son, four sisters, Alice G. Brandeis, widow of Justice Louis D Brandeis, of Washington, DC, Mrs Felix Adler of New York City, and Pauline Goldmark (BA Bryn Mawr 1896) and Josephine Goldmark (BA Bryn Mawr 1898), both of Hartsdale, N.Y., and a brother, James Goldmark of Greenwich, Conn

Francis Timothy Smith, Ph.B. 1887.

Born November 5, 1858, in Zumbrota, Minn. Died July 11, 1942, in Bridgeport, Conn.

Father, Reuben Adams Smith, superintendent Toy, Bickford & Company, manufacturers of safety fuses, Simsbury, Conn Mother, Harriet (Chapman)

Smith, daughter of Seymour and Philomelia (Bissell) Chapman of Concord, N H

Granby (Conn) Academy, attended Lehigh University 1882–84. Special student in civil engineering Sheffield Scientific School 1884–86; awarded Ph B 1887

Surveyor Mexican National Railroad 1888–90 and Great Northern Railroad in State of Washington 1890–91, in engineering department New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1891–96; associated with mining interests in Mexico 1896–1907, became associated with Connecticut Company, Bridgeport, 1907, with Mais Motor Truck Company, Indianapolis, Ind, 1911–14, employed in Bridgeport 1914 until retirement; member Christian Science church

Married November 1, 1906, in San Antonio, Texas, Emma Brown Robinson. No children Mrs Smith died in 1930

Death due to acute indigestion Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Bridgeport Survived by a brother, Marvin Smith (M D New York Univ. 1883) of New Haven, Conn.

Edward Gilbert Williams, Ph.B. 1887.

Born May 8, 1865, in Essex, Conn Died October 22, 1942, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, Gilbert Williams of Essex; shipowner and merchant, son of Ebenezer and Philenda (Pratt) Williams of Essex Mother, Harriet Gauntlett (Gubb) Williams, daughter of William and Harriet (Gauntlett) Gubb of London, England.

General Russell's Collegiate and Commercial Institute, New Haven, Conn; studied in London, two years at sea on father's ship to China and East Indies. Civil engineering course, third prize for English composition and honorable mention in all studies Freshman year, shared prize for excellence in civil engineering Senior year, Class president Senior year; Commencement speaker.

Resident engineer on railroad construction Burlington & Missouri River Railroad Company in Nebraska, Dakota, and Wyoming 1887–91; general manager and chief engineer Caribbean Manganese Company and chief engineer New York Continental Jewell Filtration Company 1891–93, engaged in examining mining and railroad properties in South America 1893–94, in construction work in New York and Connecticut 1894–96; manager of railway and mining properties in South America, principally in Colombia, 1896–1903; chief engineer Long Island Motor Parkway, Inc., Lakeville Holding & Development Company, and Ridgefield Land Company 1905–09, associated with J. G. White and Company, Inc. (later J. G. White Engineering Corporation), New York City, 1909 until retirement 1941 (construction manager 1909–13, vice-president in charge of construction 1913–40, vice-president and treasurer

1933–41, consulting engineer 1941–42), advisory engineer Committee of Twenty-One for construction of Yale Bowl and chief engineer for Pennsylvania Railroad Company's tunnel under Washington, D C, contributed articles on manganese to engineering journals, member American Society of Civil Engineers, American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, Yale Engineering Association (vice-president 1920–21), Washington Society of Engineers, Society of Mayflower Descendants, Order of Descendants of Colonial Governors, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, Engineers and Lawyers Club of New York City, and Congregational church

Married July 25, 1897, in New York City, Alma, daughter of Ferdinand Heitmann (Heidelberg Univ.) and Mathilde (Karsten) Heitmann Children Gilbert, '20, Norman Ferdinand, '22 S, and Edward Walter (B A Rollins

Coll 1931; M A Columbia 1933)

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in River View Cemetery, Essex Survived by wife, sons, and three grandsons

Charles Griffin Miller, Ph.B. 1888.

Born December 28, 1867, in New Rochelle, NY Died September 1, 1942, in New York City

Father, Charles Griffin Miller of Buffalo, NY; a banker in New York City; son of Captain William T. Miller and Elizabeth (Griffin) Miller of Buffalo. Mother, Emily (Bryan) Miller, daughter of Dr John Gano Bryan and Eveline (McIlvaine) Bryan of St Louis, Mo Yale relatives include three brothers, Deane Miller, '85 S, Guy B Miller, '94, and Clark A Miller, ex-'96 S

Phillips-Andover. Select course, member Dunham Boat Club and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Traveled in Europe and Egypt 1888–90, cashier Bank of New Rochelle 1890–92; broker in New York City 1893, attended University of Buffalo Medical School 1893–96 (4 D. 1896); surgeon with American Red Cross during Spanish-American War and served on transport ship Lampasas and at Montauk Point (N Y) Hospital, studied in Berlin 1899, at University of Vienna about 1900–02, and Institut Pasteur, Paris, 1902–03, physician in New York City and engaged in settlement work 1902 until retirement 1912, president New Rochelle Hospital 1919–24; on staff American Red Cross Hospital, Munich, 1914; member executive committee Westchester chapter American Red Cross, local representative of U S Food Administration, New York Federal Food Board, 1918, director New Rochelle Trust Company 1920–41 and Yale Alumni Association of Fairfield County, Alumni Fund agent for Class of '88 S in 1918–19, Class secretary 1923–42

Married June 12, 1906, in New York City, Maud Adair, daughter of Benjamin H. and Olive (Powell) Wilson Children. Guy, '29, Charles Griffin, Jr, ex-'31 S; Adair; and Marion Mrs Miller died October 6, 1939

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by children and one grandchild

Charles Weaver Stewart, Ph.B. 1888.

Born December 12, 1865, in Newport, R I. Died March 26, 1943, in Newport, R I.

Father, Anthony Stewart, proprietor of a livery stable in Newport; son of Anthony and Mary (Comstock) Stewart of Newport Mother, Laura (Vose) Stewart, daughter of John and Caroline (Marshall) Vose of Providence, R I.

Roger High School, Newport Biology course, Freshman Crew, Dunham Boat Club Junior year, vice-president University Boat Club Senior year

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1888–91 (M D 1891); interne Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1892–93; studied in Vienna, Berlin, and Paris 1893–95 and in New York City 1895–96, physician and surgeon in Newport 1896–1943, chief surgeon Newport Hospital 1910–43 (president surgical and medical staff 1927–29), consultant United States Public Health Service during World War I, contributed to *Transactions* of Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences (1888–92) and *The Providence Medical Journal* (1906), on Representative Council of Newport; president Newport County Medical Society; fellow American College of Surgeons; member American Medical Association, and Channing Church (Unitarian), Newport.

Married (1) June 5, 1897, in New York City, Elsa, daughter of Heinrich and Sophie (Ruh) Ornstein Daughter Carolyn Matilda (B A Smith Coll. 1922) Mrs Stewart died in October, 1931 Married (2) June 10, 1939, in Newport, Gertrude, daughter of John Hodson and Margaret (Stevens) Pennington.

Death due to chronic myocarditis Ashes interred in Island Cemetery, Newport Survived by wife and daughter.

William Shinn Clawson, Ph.B. 1889.

Born April 21, 1866, in Woodstown, NJ Died August 13, 1942, in Mannington Township, Salem County, NJ.

Father, Isaiah Dunn Clawson (B A Princeton 1840, M D Univ of Pennsylvania 1843), a physician in Woodstown; member State Assembly 1854; representative in Congress 1855–59, son of Dr. Israel R Clawson and Charlotte (Shinn) Clawson of Woodstown Mother, Martha Woodnutt (Shinn) Clawson, daughter of William Jenks and Margaret Carpenter (Woodnutt) Shinn of Salem and Woodstown, N J Yale relatives include a cousin, Charles H. Reed, '72.

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Select course, Freshman Football Team; substitute University Football Team Junior year, vice-president Class Baseball Club Senior year, member The Cloister and Book and Snake

In mercantile business in Denver, Colo, 1889–96, attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1896–98 (LL B 1898), lawyer in Philadelphia 1898 until retirement 1936 (in partnership with Bradbury Bedell ['76] 1898–1902), trustee The Hill School 1920–42, Alumni Fund agent Class of '89 S from 1914 to 1942; member Yale Engineering Association and Woodstown Presbyterian Church

Married June 4, 1890, in Newark, N J, Mary Carnahan, daughter of James Carnahan and Mary (Condit) Macdonald Children Mildred Macdonald, the wife of Arthur Frederick Betz, and James Carnahan Macdonald

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Baptist Cemetery, Woodstown. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and one great-grandchild

William Hillard Conyngham, Ph.B. 1889.

Born June 7, 1868, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa Died April 25, 1943, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa

Father, William Lord Conyngham, coal sales agent for Pennsylvania Railroad Company, member Stickney, Conyngham & Company, retail coal dealers, New York City; son of Judge John Nesbitt Conyngham, LL D (B A Univ of Pennsylvania 1817, M A 1820), and Ruth Ann (Butler) Conyngham of Wilkes-Barre Mother, Olivia (Hillard) Conyngham, daughter of Oliver Burr and Harriet (Roberts) Hillard of Charleston, S C, and Wilkes-Barre Yale relatives include: John Nesbitt Conyngham, ex-'88 S (brother), John Butler Conyngham (B A 1846) and Thomas D Conyngham (B A 1850) (uncles), and Herbert Conyngham, '95 S (cousin).

Wilkes-Barre Academy Select course, cup man, member St Anthony and Delta Psi

Associated with Eastern Pennsylvania Supply Company, wholesale mine supply and hardware business, Wilkes-Barre, 1889–1943 (president 1910–43), vice-president Hazard Manufacturing Company 1919–23, president 1923–27, president First National Bank of Wilkes-Barre 1929–43, chairman of the board Lehigh Valley Coal Corporation and Lehigh Valley Coal Sales Company, chairman Luzerne County Republican Committee 1923–24, vestryman St Stephen's Church (Episcopal), Wilkes-Barre, 1935–43.

Married (1) February 17, 1897, in Wilkes-Barre, Mae, daughter of Samuel and Ella (Dietrick) Turner. No children Mrs Conyngham died February 22, 1902 Married (2) April 10, 1918, in Wilkes-Barre, Jessie Wright, daughter of George W Guthrie (M D Univ of Pennsylvania 1873) and Sarah Hollenback (Wright) Guthrie, and sister of Donald Guthrie, '01 S, and Malcolm C Guthrie, '03 S. Children William Lord, 2d, '42 (U S Navy), George Guthrie, '45W (Marine Detachment, Naval Unit), and John Nesbitt, 3d

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Hollenback Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre Survived by wife and children.

Ferris Jacobs Meigs, Ph.B. 1889.

Born February 5, 1868, in Jersey City, NJ. Died May 9, 1943, at Daytona Beach, Fla.

Father, Titus Benjamin Meigs, lumber manufacturer and merchant; member Dodge, Meigs & Company, New York City; son of Jabez and Une (Kelsey) Meigs of Delhi, N Y Mother, Lucia Lasell (Jacobs) Meigs; daughter of Dr. Ferris Jacobs and Nancy (Manning) Jacobs of Delhi. Yale relatives include: Sidney L Lasell, '92 (cousin), and William V Lawrence, 2d, '27, Dudley B. Lawrence, Jr, '28, and Christopher Lawrence, ex-'32 (nephews)

New York School of Languages Second glee club Freshman year, Apollo Glee Club Junior year, University Glee Club Senior year, member The Colony

and Berzelius

In lumber and real-estate business in the Adirondack region 1889–1943; successively local manager, superintendent, general manager, and treasurer Santa Clara (NY) Lumber Company 1889–1911, and president 1911–41; member Dodge, Meigs & Company, interested in development of real estate in Westchester County, delegate New York State Constitutional Convention 1915 and member New York State Republican Committee, trustee Tourist Church, Daytona Beach, and Bethune-Cookman College, Daytona Beach, 1928–32; director Chester Crest, Mt Vernon, NY.; member Empire State Forest Products Association, Association for Protection of the Adirondacks, Mendelssohn Glee Club, and Consistory of the Reformed Church, Bronxville, NY.

Married April 28, 1897, in New York City, Louise Adele Lawrence (B.A. Vassar 1891), daughter of William VanDuser and Sarah (Bates) Lawrence, and sister of Arthur W Lawrence, '97, and Dudley B Lawrence, '01. Children: Lucia Lawrence Meigs Stout Andrews (B A Vassar 1920), the wife of Charles Sperry Andrews, Margery Lawrence (B A Vassar 1923), the wife of Donald Knight Clifford (B A Bowdoin Coll 1921), and Hester Oakley (B A. Vassar 1927), the wife of Franklin Schenck Whitehouse (C.E Princeton 1917).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Burned in Delhi. Survived by wife, children, eight grandchildren, two sisters, Lucia M Birnie, the widow of Rev. Douglas P. Birnie, '78, of Washington, D C, and Frances M Lyford, the wife of Oliver S Lyford, '90 S, and a brother, Walter Meigs, '98

Roger Samuel Newell, Ph.B. 1889.

Born October 18, 1867, in Bristol, Conn. Died December 29, 1942, in Bristol, Conn.

Father, Samuel Pomeroy Newell (Yale School of Law 1847-48), a lawyer in Bristol, judge Bristol Probate Court, United States Collector of Revenue; son

of Roger Sherman and Naomi (Hawley) Newell of Farmington, Conn. Mother, Martha Judd (Brewster) Newell, daughter of Elisha Curtis and Elizabeth (Root) Brewster of Bristol. Yale relatives include Daniel Newell (B A 1718) (great-great-great-uncle), Samuel Newell (B A 1739) (great-great-great-uncle), Simeon Newell (B A 1775) (great-grandfather), Gad Newell (B A 1786) (great-great-uncle), Noah L Brewster (ex-1844) (uncle); John J Jennings, '76 (brother-in-law), Newell Jennings, '04, John J Jennings, '07 S, Robert B Birge, '36, and Kingsley H Birge (Graduate School 1938–43) (nephews), and Miles P. Jennings, '35 (grandnephew)

Bristol High School and Hartford Public High School Civil engineering course; University Orchestra three years (business manager Junior and Senior

years); member The Colony and Berzehus

Studied law with John J Jennings 1889–90, attended Yale School of Law 1890–91 (LL.B. 1891); lawyer in Bristol 1891–1942 (in partnership with Mr Jennings 1891–1900); judge Bristol Town Court 1895–1907 and judge of probate 1897–1920, first clerk Borough of Bristol 1893–95 and became corporation counsel 1922, attorney for several Bristol concerns, on Board of Park Commissioners; chairman Bristol Recreation Committee 1922–42, president Connecticut Dog Welfare Association; member Bristol Community Players (president and manager about 1924–32), Hartford County Bar Association, Society of the Cincinnati, Masonic order, and Congregational church.

Married September 25, 1895, in Bristol, Adaline, daughter of John and Mary Antomette (Root) Birge and sister of John Kingsley Birge, '09 No children

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in West Cemetery, Bristol. Survived by wife.

Cyrus Morgan Arnold, Ph.B. 1890.

Born August 8, 1870, in New York City Died June 8, 1943, in Sarasota, Fla

Father, George Washington Arnold of North Tarrytown, NY, and New York City; in insurance business and later wholesale flour business, New York City, son of Aaron and Hannah (Lockwood) Arnold of Norwalk, Conn, and North Tarrytown and Bedford, NY. Mother, Frances Augusta (DuBois) Arnold, daughter of Abraham Egbert and Mary Jane (DuPuy) DuBois of New York City.

Black Hall (Conn) School Civil engineering course.

Engineer Great Northern Railway Company 1890–93; with American National Bank, Helena, Mont, 1893–96; engineer Little Jim Mining Company in Kaslo, British Columbia, 1896–1907 and in Lethbridge, Alberta, 1907–11; division engineer Canadian Pacific Irrigation Project, Brooks, Canada, 1911–14, assistant city engineer Calgary, Canada, 1915–20, assistant engineer Northern Irrigation Company, Lethbridge, 1920–23, engineer department of natural

resources, Canadian Pacific Railway, Calgary, 1924; resident engineer Department of Highways and Public Works, State of Tennessee, Nashville, 1925–27 and Chattanooga 1928–35; engineer Public Works Administration, Jackson, Tenn, 1935–38 and Memphis 1938–40; unoccupied 1940–42, engineering inspector St John's River Shipbuilding Company, Jacksonville, Fla, 1942; assistant engineer Southern Mapping & Engineering Company, operating with United States Engineering Department, Venice, Fla, 1943, member Episcopal church

Married (1) February 21, 1906, in Lethbridge, Lena Maude, daughter of George Lawes and Katherine Vrooman Daughter Patricia Mr and Mrs. Arnold were divorced Married (2) in 1935, Mrs Cordelia Smith of Winchester, Tenn No children Mr and Mrs Arnold were divorced in 1942.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Ashes interred in Old Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, North Tarrytown. Survived by daughter and a sister, Edith A. Staubach, the wife of Capt Charles P Staubach of Cocoa, Fla.

Franklin Lyman Lawton, Ph.B. 1890.

Born September 30, 1870, in Meriden, Conn. Died September 30, 1942, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Lyman Treadway Lawton, president The American Automatic Lighting Company, Meriden, son of Stephen and Caroline (Treadway) Lawton of New Haven Mother, Harriet Love (Benham) Lawton, daughter of Merwin and Abigail (Sperry) Benham of Hamden, Conn Yale relatives include a brother, Burton L Lawton, '93 S

Meriden High School Biology course; Senior appointment.

Teacher in Seattle, Wash., 1890–91, attended Yale School of Medicine 1891–93 (M D cum laude 1893, Campbell Gold Medal); interne New Haven Hospital 1893–95, physician in Hartford, Conn, 1895 until retirement 1920; commissioned Captain, Medical Reserve Corps, March 9, 1918; attended Medical Officers Training Camp, Camp Greenleaf, battalion surgeon, 155th Depot Brigade, Camp Lee, discharged December 2, 1918, member Hartford, Hartford County, and Connecticut State Medical societies, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and South Church (Congregational), Hartford.

Married February 20, 1895, in Meriden, Lucy Ann, daughter of Joseph and Lucy Ann (Hall) Morse Children. Blanche Morse (Mrs. Herbert Viets Camp), Joseph Morse (died in infancy), and Louise Marguerite (Vassar ex-'31), the wife of Wiley Ross (Univ of Vermont ex-'27).

Death due to coronary occlusion and myocardial infarction Buried in Walnut Grove Cemetery, Meriden Survived by wife, daughters, four grand-children, and three sisters, Mrs Minnie L Rogers and Mrs Mabel L Montgomery, both of Meriden, and Mrs Mildred L Miller of Hartford.

Robert Metcalf Dodsworth, Ph.B. 1891.

Born September 25, 1867, in Auburn, Calif Died November 2, 1942, in Sawtelle, Calif.

Father, Metcalf Dodsworth, a merchant and manufacturer of artificial ice in Auburn, Los Angeles, and Azusa, Calif.; son of Marmaduke Dodsworth of Yorkshire, England, and Hamilton, Ohio Mother, Alwilda A (Salsig) Dodsworth; daughter of Samuel and Catherine (MacIntoffer) Salsig of St Joseph County, Mich, and Auburn.

Shattuck School, Oakland, Calif Entered with '90 S., joined '91 S Junior year; mechanical engineering and biology courses; substitute Class crew Freshman year; competed in fall athletic games Freshman year, Freshman Glee Club, member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1891-94; studied nervous diseases and pathology and assisted in laboratory New Jersey State Hospital for the Insane, Morris Plains, 1894–95, YMCA. secretary White Plains, NY, 1895–98; attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, San Francisco, 1899–1900 (M.D. 1900), interne San Francisco Hospital 1900–01, physician in Phoenix, Ariz, 1901-04 (visiting physician Indian School 1902-04), Berkeley, Calif, 1906-09, and Long Beach 1904-06, 1911-17, 1919-33; superintendent Samuel Merritt Hospital, Oakland, 1910–11, resident physician and surgeon Dravo Construction Company of Pittsburgh 1933-37 and J. F. Shea Company, Inc, Cabazon, Calif, 1937 until retirement 1938, resided in Elsinore, Calif, 1938–42; secretary pension board of Arizona Territory and superintendent of public health 1903–04; assistant health officer, Los Angeles, 1932-33; commissioned Captain, Medical Reserve Corps, June 15, 1917, assigned to 62d Infantry, Presidio of San Francisco, transferred to Post Hospital, Presidio of San Francisco, December 22, 1917, promoted Major, Medical Corps, January 29, 1918; appointed surgeon, 319th Engineers, 8th Division, Camp Fremont, February 15, 1918; overseas with that organization September 25, 1918–July 20, 1919; school detachment, England, February 28–July 5, 1919; discharged August 9, 1919, first vice-president Yale Club of Southern California 1923-24, 1932-33, member Los Angeles County Medical Society, California Medical Association, American Medical Association, Alpha Kappa Kappa, Masonic order, and First Methodist Episcopal Church, Elsinore

Married (1) November 28, 1906, in Berkeley, Lavinia Caldwell Dr and Mrs. Dodsworth were divorced in 1912 Married (2) in June, 1921, in Long Beach, Bessie Smith Loynes Dr and Mrs. Dodsworth were divorced in 1928. Married (3) July 25, 1933, in Los Angeles, Winifred May Webster Owens, daughter of Henry Jennings and Anna Benschoter (Wells) Webster. No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Los Angeles Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Helen D Gallaher of Los Angeles

Edwin Guy Helm, Ph.B. 1891.

Born July 13, 1872, in Peru, Ind. Died June 19, 1943, in San Diego, Calif

Father, John Hampton Helm (M D Miami Medical Coll 1847), a physician in Peru, son of Dr John C Helm and Amy (Hampton) Helm of Elizabethton, Tenn Mother, Margaret (Ridenour) Helm

English High School, Boston, and Boys' Classical School, Indianapolis.

Civil engineering course, Senior appointment

Associated with Cleveland, Cincinnati, Chicago & St Louis Railway Company 1891–95 (rodman 1891–92, in charge construction of new freight terminal facilities at Indianapolis 1892–93; assistant in office of engineer of maintenance of way, Wabash, Ind, 1894–95), in office of engineer of maintenance of way Vandalia Railroad 1895 and in charge of reconstruction of East St Louis (Ill) freight terminal structures 1896; independently engaged as consulting civil engineer, East St Louis, and real-estate dealer in Illinois, Missouri, and Iowa 1897 until retirement 1907, city engineer, East St Louis, 1903–04; resided in La Jolla, Calif, 1910–43, contributed to Journal of the Associated Engineering Societies (September, 1905), member Engineers Club of St. Louis, American Society of Civil Engineers, St Louis Railway Club, and Roman Catholic church

Married April 12, 1892, in Newark, N J, Anna, daughter of Carl and Elizabeth (Teasing) Weidig Children Carl Hampton (B S. Univ. of California 1916), Mildred Margaret (Univ of California ex-'19), the wife of Lieut Comdr. William Masek, U S N (grad U S Naval Academy 1913); and Gertrude Elizabeth (Univ of California ex-'20), the wife of Francis Joseph Powers (B B A Univ of Washington 1922)

Death due to duodenal hemorrhage Buried in Holy Cross Cemetery, San Diego Survived by wife, children, eight grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Maud H. Rockwell of Brookline, Mass.

George Monroe Sidenberg, Ph.B. 1891.

Born October 22, 1871, in New York City. Died March 30, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Henry Sidenberg, a merchant in New York City, partner G. Sidenberg & Company, importers and manufacturers, son of William and Henrietta (Brooks) Sidenberg of New York City Mother, Marie (Brooks) Sidenberg; daughter of Joseph and Johanna (Schlessinger) Brooks of Germany Yale relatives include William R Sidenberg, '02, and Arthur M Sidenberg, '11 (cousins), and Stanley J Halle, '12, and John E Bach, ex-'24 S (nephews)

Sach's Collegiate Institute, New York City. Select course

Partner G Sidenberg & Company 1891-1901, broker in New York City

York Stock Exchange 1901–38 (on governing board 1929–37, member committee on arbitration and committee on constitution); member '91 S reunion committees.

Married April 27, 1897, in New York City, Edna Emily, daughter of Felix and Sarah (Speyer) Samson and sister of Charles F Samson, '02 Children George Monroe, Jr, '20, Kate Samson, the wife of Henry Liebmann Heming (B A. Princeton 1918), Henry (B A Univ of Cambridge 1930), Thomas, ex-'35, and Robert, ex-'35

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Salem Fields Cemetery, Brooklyn, N Y Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, one of whom is George M Sidenberg, 3d, Class of 1945W, two sisters, Mrs Hattie S Halle of New York City and Mrs. Estelle Bach, and two brothers, Alfred Henry Sidenberg of New York City and Joseph W. Sidenberg, '04

Harry Cone Collins, Ph.B. 1892.

Born February 22, 1869, in Springfield, Mass Died August 28, 1942, in Portland, Maine.

Father, William Smith Collins, owner of a livery stable in Springfield; U S collector of customs at Springfield, son of William and Betsey (Smith) Collins of Springfield Mother, Nancy (Doyle) Collins, daughter of James and Ellen (Belcher) Doyle of Windsor, Conn

Springfield High School and Core's Preparatory School, Springfield Civil engineering course, member Sheff Military Company and Franklin Hall and Theta Xi

Draftsman Berlin Iron Bridge Company, East Berlin, Conn, 1892–93 and contracting engineer 1895–97, field work for New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company and associated with S Wallace Bowles, contractor for steel structures, New Orleans, La, 1893, traveled in Europe 1893–94, with John Bartholomew, structural steel contractor, Springfield, 1894–95, partner Collins & Norton, engineers, Springfield, 1897–1902, contracting engineer Berlin Construction Company, with offices in Boston, 1902–10 and Springfield 1910 until retirement 1939, on Springfield Common Council 1896, member American Automobile Association (president 1930–31), Masonic order, and Unitarian Church, Springfield.

Married September 24, 1910, in Portland, Marion Alice, daughter of Michael James and Catherine H (Campbell) Vickars Adopted daughter Nancy, the wife of Allen Barry (B Chem E Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst 1938)

Death due to acute cardiac failure Buried in Hillcrest Park Cemetery, Springfield Survived by wife, daughter, and one grandson

Gardner Meeker, Ph.B. 1892.

Born May 11, 1871, in Newark, N.J. Died December 12, 1942, in Essex County, N.J.

Father, Stephen Jones Meeker, associated with Meeker Foundry Company, Newark, son of David Magie and Olivia (Gardner) Meeker of Newark Mother, Elizabeth Price (Townley) Meeker; daughter of John Hamilton and Cornelia Clark (Searing) Townley of Morristown, N J

Newark Academy and Lawrenceville (NJ) School; attended Cornell Uni-

versity 1888–89 Mechanical engineering course.

Associated with Meeker Foundry Company 1892 until retirement 1919 (secretary and manager 1903–15, president 1915–19), member The Navy League of the United States and Newark Board of Trade.

Married April 21, 1913, in Newark, Mary Meeker, daughter of James Edgar

and Fannie Olivia (Meeker) Harrison No children.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Mt Pleasant Cemetery, Newark. Survived by wife and a stepbrother, Harry B Cox, '02 (died June 15, 1943) A brother, David M Meeker, '91 S, and a half brother, Stephen Jones Meeker, '15 S, died in 1937 and 1939 respectively

Charles Wilson Merrels, Ph.B. 1892.

Born May 18, 1871, in New Haven, Conn Died March 29, 1943, in West Hartford, Conn

Father, John Wilson Merrels, a retail grocer in New Haven; served with 27th Regiment, Connecticut Volunteers, in Civil War; son of John and Roxanna (Davis) Merrels of Clinton, Conn Mother, Anna Elizabeth (Merrill) Merrels; daughter of Asa B and Rachel Fidelia (Work) Merrill of New Haven. Yale relatives include a nephew, F Price Merrels, ex-'41

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Civil engineering course, Senior ap-

pointment, member Sheff Military Company

Associated with Bureau of Engineering, Department of Public Works, New Haven, 1892 until retirement 1938 (successively leveler, assistant sewer engineer, and office engineer), leader of a Boy Scout troop in New Haven; became life member Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers 1935; member Company F, 2d Regiment, Connecticut National Guard, 1893–1901, and Church of the Redeemer (Congregational), New Haven.

Married February 12, 1908, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Margaret Sables, daughter of Charles A and Margaret (Sables) Morse. No children Mrs Merrels died

February 13, 1943

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Indian River Cemetery, Clinton. Survived by a half brother, Frederick B Merrels, '00, '04 L

Percy Talbot Walden, Ph.B. 1892.

Born June 29, 1869, in Brooklyn, NY. Died April 15, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Daniel Treadwell Walden, junior partner Sterling & Walden, lawyers in Brooklyn; son of Thomas and Esther (Franklin) Walden of New York City. Mother, Caroline Amelia Sterns (Williams) Walden, daughter of Samuel Thomas and Eliza Church (Calkin) Williams of New York City Yale relatives include three nephews, Howard T Walden, Jr, '30, Brevoort Walden, '34, and Ulysses D E Walden, '36

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute, Adelphi Academy, Brooklyn, and private tutor. Chemistry course; Senior appointment, member York Hall and Chi Phi. Attended Yale Graduate School 1892–96 (Ph D 1896)

Studied at universities of Leipzig and Munich 1899–1900; assistant in analytical chemistry Yale University 1893–94, instructor 1894–99, assistant professor 1900–20, professor 1920–37, and professor emeritus 1937–43, acting dean of Freshmen 1924–25, dean 1925–37, and dean emeritus 1937–43, chairman Board of Admissions 1935–36, chairman Freshman chemistry faculty 1919–37, chief examiner in chemistry and chairman chemistry committee College Entrance Examination Board 1919–43; contributed articles to scientific journals, represented Freshman Year on Board of Control, Yale University Athletic Association, 1925–37, on Class dinner committees and chairman Class reunion committees several years, trustee Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, 1927–38 and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn, 1928–43; associate fellow Jonathan Edwards College 1933–43, honorary member Aurelian Honor Society; faculty member Sigma X1, member American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Chemical Society, and German Chemical Society, deacon Church of Christ in Yale University 1931–33

Married June 22, 1905, in New Haven, Sarah Scovill Whittelsey (B A Radcliffe Coll. 1894, Ph D Yale 1898), daughter of Joseph Thompson Whittelsey (Ph B 1867) and Sarah Alathea (Scovill) Whittelsey, great-great-grand-daughter of Rev Chauncey Whittelsey (B A 1738), and sister of Mary Elizabeth Whittelsey Berrien (Yale Cert of Art 1898) Children Sarah Scovill (B A. Wellesley 1928; Yale Graduate School 1928–30), the wife of Richmond Hodges Curtiss (B A Univ of Vermont 1929; M F Yale 1931), and Joseph Whittelsey, '34 S

Death due to bronchopneumonia Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, a sister, Mrs James H Morgan of Leonia, NJ, and a brother, Howard T Walden, '81 Another brother, Russell Walden, '74, died in 1921

In 1937 the Percy T. Walden Scholarship Fund was established at Yale in his honor.

Edward Lancaster Whittemore, Ph.B. 1892.

Born February 5, 1871, at Fort Bayard, N Mex Died November 1, 1942, in Brooklyn, N Y

Father, Lieut Col Edward William Whittemore, U S A; son of Dr. James Madison Whittemore and Sarah Parsons (Lancaster) Whittemore of Brighton, Mass Mother, Mary (Hewitt) Whittemore; daughter of Ira Hewitt of San Antonio, Texas

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, Conn Biology course, member York Hall and Chi Phi

Attended University of Virginia Department of Medicine 1892–94 (M D. 1894), interne St Vincent's Hospital, New York City, and abroad 1894–97, physician and surgeon in New York City 1898–1906, New Britain, Conn, 1908–12, Albany, N Y, 1923–30, and Boston, Mass, 1930, traveled in Europe 1912–17, retired in 1930, resided in Brooklyn 1936–42; commissioned Major, Medical Corps, National Guard of New York, April 30, 1917, surgeon 15th New York Infantry (colored), federalized as 369th Infantry, commissioned Major, Medical Corps, August 4, 1917, overseas December 2, 1917–February 12, 1919, received citation from French Government and awarded Croix de Guerre September 30, 1918, attached to Camp Upton 1919–20, commissioned Major, Medical Reserve Corps, July 1, 1920, took examinations for Regular Army July, 1920, and commissioned Major, Medical Corps, graduate Army Medical School and Medical Field Service School 1921; stationed at Camp Dix 1922, honorably discharged December 15, 1922; member American Medical Association and Church of the Messiah (Episcopal), Brooklyn.

Married May 22, 1897, in New York City, Isabel, daughter of William Joseph and Margret (Bray) Parker Children William Parker (Th B Gordon Coll of Theology and Missions 1932) and Gweneth

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Buried in Pinelawn (N Y) National Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren

Laurence Thornton Bliss, Ph.B. 1893.

Born November 28, 1872, in New York City Died November 12, 1942, in Wilmington, Del

Father, Robert Bliss (B A 1850) Mother, Susan Maria (Handy) Bliss Yale relatives include James Cogswell (B A 1742) (great-great-great-grandfather), Ebenezer Fitch (B A 1777) and Samuel Cogswell (B A 1777) (great-great-grandfathers), Mason F Cogswell (B A 1780) (great-great-great-uncle); Seth Bliss (M A Hon 1830) (grandfather), Eleazar T Fitch (B A 1810) (great-uncle), and William R Bliss (B A 1850) (uncle)

Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course University Football Team

and University Baseball Team three years (captain of the latter Senior year), treasurer Freshman Baseball Club, vice-president University Baseball Association Senior year, member St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Football coach in San Francisco and at United States Military Academy 1893, associated with A G Spalding & Brothers, sporting goods, Philadelphia, 1894 and American Telegraph & Telephone Company 1895, successively with Pennsylvania Coal Company and Mount Pleasant Coal Company, Scranton, 1896–1900, in charge warehousing of rice and cotton Merchants & Manufacturers Warehousing Company, Crowley, La, 1900–01, and with Star Rice Milling Company, Crowley, 1901–03, operated his own rice farm in Louisiana 1902–12; secretary and manager Midland (La) Rice Milling Company 1903–06, treasurer and later secretary and treasurer Thorne [Samuel B, '96], Neale [James B, '96] & Company, Inc, wholesale coal merchants, Philadelphia, 1912 until retirement 1937, elder Westminster Presbyterian Church, Wilmington, and vice-president Board of Pensions of the Presbyterian Church in the United States

Married December 19, 1903, in Crowley, Anna Shafter Lovell (B A New-comb Memorial Coll for Women, Tulane Univ, 1900), daughter of Preston Spencer and Phebe Susan (Beach) Lovell. Children Laurence Thornton, Jr, Preston Spencer Lovell, and Robert Bliss

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Old Drawyers Cemetery, Odessa, Del. Survived by wife, sons, two granddaughters, three sisters, Mrs Walter Cadwell of Lakeland, Fla, Mrs John R Gallagher of New York City, and Mrs. Frank P Ford of Newburgh, Ind, and six brothers, Robert Parker Bliss of New York City, Arthur H Bliss of East Orange, N J, Winthrop Root Bliss of Burlington, Vt., Norman Sloane Bliss of San Diego, Calif, Russell A. Bliss of New York City, and Clifford D Bliss, '93

William Anthony Granville, Ph.B. 1893.

Born December 16, 1863, in White Rock, Minn Died February 4, 1943, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Trued Pearson Granville, a farmer in White Rock, son of Per Olssons and Karna Truedsotter of Hessleholm, Sweden Mother, Hannah (Olson) Granville, daughter of Ols Monson and Hannah Mansdotter of Hessleholm

Attended Gustavus Adolphus College 1882–84, teacher of mathematics and the theory of accounts Bethany College, Lindsborg, Kans, 1884–91, treasurer 1886–91, and acting president on occasion Entered Sheffield Scientific School as special student 1891; civil engineering course, honorable mention for excellence in all the mathematics of Junior year, prize for excellence in civil engineering Senior year, Senior appointment; Commencement speaker, Class historian, member St. Elmo and Delta Phi. Registered in Yale Graduate School 1893–1901 (Ph. D. 1897; member Sigma X1)

Assistant in mathematics Yale University 1893–94 and instructor 1894–1910; president Gettysburg College 1910-23, trustee 1910-27, and William Bittinger Professor of Intellectual and Moral Science 1910-13, director educational department National Life Insurance Company of Chicago, 1923-26 and publications director of its successor Washington National Insurance Company 1926-43 (a vice-president 1938-43), president Insurance Economics Society of America 1922–26, treasurer and trustee National Accident and Health Insurance Company of Philadelphia 1914-35, author "The Origin and Development of the Addition Theorem in Elliptic Functions" (1897), Elements of the Differential and Integral Calculus (1904), Plane and Spherical Trigonometry (1909), Plane Trigonometry (1909), The Fourth Dimension and the Bible (1922), and accident and health insurance manuals, compiler Four-Place Tables of Logarithms (1909); contributed to Vicennial Record of the Class (1914), designed various mathematical aids such as polar coordinate plotting paper, solid and plane geometry notebooks, and a transparent combined ruler and protractor, LLD Lafayette 1911 and Muhlenberg 1921, an organizer First Lutheran Church, New Haven; director Chicago Lutheran Theological Seminary, Maywood, Ill, 1925-35; president American Federation of Lutheran Brotherhoods 1925-29, delegate to general synod of United Lutheran Church-for many years and on pension board 1929-39, on executive committee Federal Council of Churches of Christ in America, lecturer University of Minnesota 1910; member committee of five examining and appointing Rhodes Scholars from Pennsylvania, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Central Pennsylvania 1912–14 and Yale Alumni Association of Southern Pennsylvania 1917–18, fellow Casualty Actuarial Society of America, member Chicago Mathematical Society, American Society of Swedish Engineers, American Mathematical Society, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Masonic order, Scabbard and Blade, and Holy Trinity Lutheran Church, Chicago

Married July 11, 1888, in McPherson, Kans, Ida, daughter of Arthur Addison and Rachel (Burnett) Irvin Children Irene (Simmons Coll ex-'11), the wife of Samuel Frank Lehman (B A. Gettysburg Coll 1912), Rachel, and Leone (died January 12, 1907)

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, two daughters, a granddaughter, and a sister, Mrs Hannah G Johnson of McPherson

Harry Parks Ritchie, Ph.B. 1893.

Born March 2, 1873, in Wellington, Kans Died September 3, 1942, in St Paul, Minn

Father, Parks Ritchie (M D Medical Coll of Cincinnati 1870), a physician in St Paul, professor of obstetrics and dean Medical School, University of Minnesota, son of James E and Hannah (Parks) Ritchie of Martinsville, Ind.

Mother, Emma Elizabeth (Bates) Ritchie; daughter of George and Mary Elizabeth (Martin) Bates of Petersburg, Ind Yale relatives include William W Dean, '18, Wallace C Winter, Jr, '18 S, Winter Mead, '19, Daniel R Winter, ex-'20, Edwin W Winter, 2d, '21, and George W Dean, '29 (nephews)

Central High School, St Paul Biology course, Class baseball team Junior

and Senior years, Class supper committee Senior year

Attended University of Minnesota Medical School 1893–96 (MD 1896, assistant in physiology, member Delta Kappa Epsilon), interne Aucker Hospital, St Paul, 1896–97, enlisted May 5, 1898, as First Lieutenant and assistant surgeon, 13th Regiment, Minnesota Volunteers, promoted Captain December 25, 1898, on active duty in the Philippines 1898-99, surgeon in St Paul 1899-1942, on staff Charles T Miller, Children's, St Luke's, and Aucker hospitals and University Hospitals (Minneapolis), assistant in medical physiology University of Minnesota Medical School 1897–1902, clinical instructor in gynecology 1903–08 and surgery 1908-09, instructor in gynecology 1909-10, assistant professor of surgery 1911-14, associate professor 1915-37, clinical professor 1937-41, and clinical professor emeritus 1941-42, contributed to Surgical Diagnosis and Treatment (edited by Albert J Ochsner, Vol III, 1921) and Practice of Surgery (edited by Dean Lewis, Vol V, 1930), president Ramsey County Medical Society 1915, Minnesota Academy of Medicine 1924–25 (secretary 1920), Yale Alumni Association of the Northwest 1930–31, and Western Surgical Association 1932-33 (secretary 1924-29), fellow American College of Surgeons, American Academy of Medicine, and American Medical Association, member Minneapolis Medical and Surgical societies, Minnesota State Medical Association, American Surgical Association, Nu Sigma Nu, Sons of the Revolution, and House of Hope Church (Presbyterian), St Paul

Married April 24, 1902, in St Paul, Elisabeth Goodhue, daughter of Edwin Wheeler and Elizabeth (Cannon) Winter and sister of Wallace C Winter, '93 S Children Louise Elizabeth (Vassar ex-'27), Wallace Parks, '27, Edwin Winter, '29, and Priscilla Burbank (Mills Coll 1928–29, Univ of Minnesota 1930–31)

Death due to pulmonary embolism and cardiac failure Buried in Oakland Cemetery, St Paul Survived by wife, children, and nine grandchildren

Robert Edward Brooke, Ph.B. 1894.

Born July 7, 1872, in Birdsboro, Pa Died July 21, 1942, in Williamsport, Pa

Father, Edward Brooke, a founder E & G Brooke Iron Company, Birdsboro, son of Matthew and Elizabeth (Barde) Brooke of Birdsboro Mother, Annie Moore (Clymer) Brooke, daughter of Daniel Roberdeau and Delia (Pierson) Clymer of Reading, Pa Yale relatives include two nephews, G Clymer Brooke, Jr, '28, and Frederick H Brooke, Jr, '37

Emerson Institute, Washington, D C, and St. Paul's School, Concord, N H Select course, member University Club and St. Elmo and Delta Phi

Associated with E & G Brooke Iron Company 1894–1942 (treasurer 1898–1933, president 1933–42), vice-president Diamond Drill & Machine Company 1895 until 1905 when the corporate title was changed to the Birdsboro Steel Foundry & Machine Company; vice-president Birdsboro Steel Foundry & Machine Company 1905–12, president 1912–34, and chairman of the board 1934–42, president Birdsboro Water Company 1912–42, treasurer E & G Brooke Land Company 1898–1942, director Birdsboro School Board and Children's Aid Society of Pennsylvania; member St Michael's Church (Episcopal), Birdsboro

Married January 22, 1898, in Philadelphia, Cornelia Lansdale, daughter of Maskell and Alice (Buchanan) Ewing Children Robert Clymer (B A. Princeton 1922), Maskell Ewing, John Louis Barde, '29, and Cornelia Lansdale, the

wife of Charles Donnell Marshall, Jr.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in St Michael's Cemetery, Birdsboro Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and a brother, Frederick H Brooke, '99 Another brother, G Clymer Brooke, '97, died in 1915

Charles McLure Clark, Ph.B. 1894.

Born December 19, 1871, in St Louis, Mo. Died July 11, 1942, in St Louis, Mo.

Father, Charles Clark, principal owner Granite Mountain silver mine in Montana, son of John Bushnell and Mary (Denman) Clark of New York City and Hudson, Ohio Mother, Sue (McLure) Clark, daughter of William and Margaret (Parkinson) McLure of Parkinson, Va

Manual Training School, St Louis Mechanical engineering course; Class historian, member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Draftsman McKim, Mead & White, architects, New York City, 1894–95, architect in St Louis 1895 until retirement 1917; in brokerage business St Louis 1901–17 (in partnership with Harry C January ['93 S] under firm name Charles McL Clark & Company for a time), president St Louis Stock Exchange one year, overseas January–December, 1918, as First Lieutenant, American Red Cross, assigned to Base hospitals 23 and 36 in France, member Holy Communion Church (Episcopal), St Louis

Married April 10, 1901, in St. Louis, Lenore, daughter of John and Hanhan (Perry) Scullin Daughter. Mary Denman (Mrs. Denman Clark)

Death due to generalized peritonitis Ashes interred in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St Louis Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and a brother, Vaughan Clark of Switzerland.

William Harry Glenny, Ph.B. 1894.

Born December 13, 1873, in Buffalo, NY Died July 26, 1942, in Buffalo, NY

Father, William H. Glenny, '65 S. Mother, Jane Wey (Grosvenor) Glenny Yale relatives include: Bryant B. Glenny, ex-'70 S. (uncle), and Bryant Glenny, '09 (cousin)

Lawrenceville (N J) School Select course, Senior appointment, University Athletic Team three years, winner two-mile bicycle race at Intercollegiate Athletic Association meet Junior year and at Yale-Harvard meet Junior and Senior years, Class football team Junior and Senior years, member University Club.

In mercantile business 1894–97, attended Johns Hopkins School of Medicine 1898–1902 (M.D. 1902); interne Union Protestant Infirmary, Baltimore, 1902–03; physician in Buffalo 1903–11 and broker 1911–42 (with Ford, Enos, Wolcott & Ransom 1911–18, partner Glenny, Monro & Moll 1919–31 and Glenny, Moll & Doolittle 1931–32; special partner Glenny, Roth & Doolittle 1932–42), overseas August, 1918–January, 1919, as Captain, American Red Cross, in charge canteens in southwestern France, president Yale Association of Western New York 1925–26, member New York State Bankers Association and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Buffalo

Unmarried

Death due to rupture of aneurysm of abdominal aorta Ashes interred in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo Survived by a sister, Mrs Esther G Bemis of Chestnut Hill, Mass

Harry Vallette Day, Ph.B. 1895.

Born May 11, 1873, in New York City Died January 16, 1943, in New York City

Father, Henry M Day (B A Western Reserve 1859, B A Hon [ad eundem] Yale 1859), founder Day & Heaton, brokers, New York City, son of Henry N Day (B A 1828) and Jane Louisa (Marble) Day Mother, Sarah (Vallette) Day, daughter of Henry and Julia (Carley) Vallette of Cincinnati, Ohio Yale relatives include: Jeremiah Day (B A 1756) (great-great-grandfather), Jeremiah Day (B.A 1795), Thomas Day (B A 1797), and Mills Day (B A 1803) (great-great-uncles); and Thomas Day (B A 1839) and Charles Day (B A 1840) (great-uncles)

Cutler School, New York City, King School, Stamford, Conn, and Thacher School, Ojai, Calif. Select course, Class crew Freshman year, Freshman Glee Club; Apollo Glee Club Junior year; member St. Elmo and Delta Phi

Broker in New York City 1895 until retirement 1937, member Day & Heaton

1901-24, associated with Drayton, Penington & Colket 1925-31, partner G M P Murphy & Company 1932-37, member Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1896-1901, and American Museum of Natural History

Unmarried

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by a brother, Sherman Day, '96.

George Snaphel Frank, Ph.B. 1895.

Born April 7, 1873, in Brooklyn, NY. Died May 29, 1943, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Emil Henry Frank, partner Frank & DuBois, insurance brokers, New York City; son of Heinrich Emil and Teressa (Donegani) Frank of Brooklyn Mother, Adele (Hoffy) Frank, daughter of Alfred and Emma Jane (Paterson) Hoffy of Philadelphia, Pa

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute, St Paul's School, Garden City, N.Y, and rivate tutor Select course, University Track Team Freshman and Junior years; aember University Club and St Elmo and Delta Phi

Associated with Frank & DuBois 1895 until retirement 1935 (member firm 1901–35), director United Neighborhood Guild of Brooklyn; member St. John's Church (Episcopal), Brooklyn.

Married January 2, 1902, in Brooklyn, Louise VanAnden (B A Vassar 1896), daughter of William and Alice H (Frost) VanAnden Children Alice VanAnden, the wife of Harry Hasson Morris, Jr (B A Cornell 1927), and Adele VanAnden (B A Vassar 1935, M A Columbia 1937), the wife of John Baldwin Walker (B A Harvard 1933, M B A 1937, M A. Columbia 1943)

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Islip, NY. Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, a sister, Miss Adele A Frank of Brooklyn, a half sister, Grace F Smith (BA Vassar 1911), the wife of Paul Revere Smith (Massachusetts Inst of Technology ex-'14), of Staten Island, NY, and a half brother, Harold G Frank, '15 S.

Francis Henry Oldershaw, Ph.B. 1895.

Born August 2, 1874, in New Britain, Conn. Died March 24, 1943, in West Hartford, Conn

Father, Hiram Oldershaw, secretary-treasurer Vulcan Iron Works, New Britain (now part of Eastern Malleable Iron Company of Naugatuck), son of George and Frances Oldershaw of New Britain Mother, Anna Marie (Lydall) Oldershaw, daughter of Henry and Lucy (Rogers) Lydall of Manchester, Conn. Yale relatives include Arthur S McQueen, '01 M (brother-in-law), and Louis F Oldershaw, '42 L (nephew)

New Britain High School Civil engineering course, honorable mention is chemistry Freshman year, general honors Senior year, Senior appointment, member Phi Sigma Kappa

Assistant engineer in office of William H Cadwell, civil engineer, surveyor, and architect, New Britain, 1895–97, chief engineer of construction New Britain Water Works 1897, member Dunham [George C, '76 S] & Oldershaw, civil engineers and surveyors, New Britain, 1897–98, assistant engineer for New Britain Water Works on a section of Roaring Brook addition 1898–99, city engineer New Britain 1900–13, associated with his brother in firm of F H & L A Oldershaw, engineers, 1913–16, works engineer and architect Underwood Typewriter Company, Hartford, 1916–28, plant supervisor Underwood-Elliott-Fisher Company 1928–40, engineer Department of Public Works, State of Connecticut, 1940–41, junior highway engineer State Highway Department 1941–43, member Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, Masonic order, and Trinity Methodist Church, New Britain

Married (1) November 17, 1898, in New Haven, Conn, Lucie Osborn, daughter of Henry W and Grace (Peck) Blakeslee No children Mrs Oldershaw died April 8, 1925. Married (2) April 5, 1928, in Wethersfield, Conn, Marguerite Marie, daughter of Harold and Rebecca Shane

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Fairview Cemetery, New Britain Survived by wife, a sister, Bessie O Burckhardt (B A Wellesley 1912), the wife of August M Burckhardt of West Hartford, and a brother, Louis A Oldershaw, '07 S.

George Winters Shaw, Ph.B. 1895.

Born July 12, 1874, in Toledo, Ohio Died March 3, 1943, in Toledo, Ohio

Father, Edwin Clinton Shaw, president Shaw & Sassaman Company, whole-sale dry goods, Toledo, son of David and Nancy Speer (Andrews) Shaw of Madison, Ind Mother, Alice (Winters) Shaw, daughter of Valentine and Alice Winters of Dayton, Ohio Yale relatives include a cousin, Howard V D Shaw, '90

Phillips-Andover Select course, honorable mention in German Freshman year, Freshman Baseball Team, Class baseball team three years, Class crew Freshman year, chairman Class picture committee, member University Club and The Colony and Berzelius

Traveled around the world 1895–96, with Shaw & Sassaman Company, later Shaw & Kilduff Company, 1896–1914 (secretary-treasurer 1898–1903, president 1904–14), not actively engaged in business 1914–17 and 1919–21, president and general manager Ohio Electric Car Company, Toledo, 1917–18, broker in New York City 1921 until retirement 1934, resident partner Toledo firm of Secor, Bell & Beckwith (later Bell & Beckwith) 1921–25, independently

engaged 1925-34, overseas March, 1918-January, 1919, director (assimilated rank of Major) Bureau of Supplies, American Red Cross, Paris, member First Congregational Church, Toledo

Married May 29, 1909, in Toledo, Clare Louise Southard (B A Vassar 1908), daughter of James Harding Southard (B S Cornell 1874) and Caroline Temperance (Wales) Southard No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Toledo. Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs Kathryn S Coldham of Pasadena, Calif, and a brother, Carleton Shaw, '04

Harry Gideon Wells, Ph.B. 1895.

Born July 21, 1875, in New Haven, Conn Died April 26, 1943, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Romanta Wells, senior partner Wells & Calhoun, wholesale druggists, New Haven, son of Romanta and Mary Anne (Morgan) Wells of Wethersfield, Conn Mother, Emma Townsend (Tuttle) Wells, daughter of Samuel Miles and Grace Ann (Thompson) Tuttle of East Haven, Conn Yale relatives include Gideon Wells, '58 (uncle), Jonathan Barnes, '85, and Emily W Eggleston, ex-'98 Art (cousins), and Wells Sinclair, '28 (nephew)

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Biology course, Senior honors, Belknap prize for excellence in geology and zoology Senior year, Yale Shooting Club team Freshman year, member Sigma X1, honorary member Aurelian Honor Society

Attended Rush Medical College 1895–98 (M D 1898) and registered at Lake Forest University (M A 1898), studied at University of Chicago 1900-03 (Ph D 1903) and in Berlin 1904-05, interne Cook County Hospital 1898-1900; member faculty University of Chicago 1900-43 (fellow in pathology 1900-01, associate 1901-02, instructor 1903-04, assistant professor 1904-09, associate professor 1909-13, professor 1913-40, and professor emeritus 1940-43, chairman department of pathology 1925-40, dean in medical work 1904-16); pathologist Cook County Hospital 1906-28 and Oak Forest Infirmary 1928-43, director Otho S A Sprague Memorial Institute 1911–38 and member advisory committee 1938-43, author Chemical Pathology (1907), The Chemical Aspects of Immunity (1925), Our Present Knowledge of Heredity (1925), and numerous articles in medical and biological journals, co-author The Biological Reactions of the Vegetable Proteins (1911-16) and The Chemistry of Tuberculosis (1923); on board of editors Physiological Reviews and University of Chicago Monographs in Medicine, in charge section on pathology Chemical Abstracts, published by American Chemical Society, 1915-39; overseas July-December, 1917, and November, 1918-July, 1919, American Red Cross commissioner for Roumania with assimilated rank of Lieutenant Colonel, member advisory board Chemical Warfare Service, awarded Order of the Star of Roumania 1919,

M.A Hon Yale 1912, president Chicago Pathological Society 1907–08, American Association for Cancer Research 1915–16, 1920–21, and Association of Pathologists and Bacteriologists 1920, on advisory council Phipps Institute of Philadelphia 1911–43 and committee on medicine National Research Council 1911–31, member Chicago Institute of Medicine, Society for Experimental Pathology, National Academy of Sciences, American Society for the Control of Cancer, American Society of Biological Chemists, Society of American Bacteriologists, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Society of Experimental Medicine and Biology, American Medical Association, Class reunion committee, and St Paul's Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married April 2, 1902, in Newington, Conn, Bertha Lowrey, daughter of David Lowrey and Catherine Landers (Woodhouse) Robbins Son Gideon Robbins, ex-'35 (B S Univ of Chicago 1934, M D Harvard 1938)

Death due to hypertensive heart disease and heart block Buried in cemetery of Congregational Church, Newington Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Lila Mae Wells Sinclair, ex-'90 Art, of Grosse Pointe, Mich

Marion Beardslee Phelps, Ph.B. 1896.

Born September 28, 1876, in Brooklyn, NY Died May 28, 1943, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Frank Phelps, senior partner Phelps Brothers and Company, merchants, New York City; son of George Alexander and Eliza (Ayers) Phelps Mother, Mary Beardslee (Curtiss) Phelps, daughter of Henry Tomlinson and Mary Eliza Henderson (Beardslee) Curtiss Yale relatives include, Julian W. Curtiss, '79 (uncle), George A Phelps, '95 (brother), Alfred L Curtiss, '96, Herbert H Pease, '02 S, L Wallis Gibbons, '02 S, and Henry T Curtiss, '10 (cousins), and George A Phelps, '28 (nephew)

King School, Stamford, Conn Select course, Class secretary Freshman year, member University Club and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Average adjuster Johnson & Higgins, insurance brokers and average adjusters, New York City, 1896–1926, independently engaged in Hartford as adjuster of fire and marine losses 1926 until retirement 1929, treasurer Hartford Dispensary 1930–43 and a director, Class regional representative for metropolitan area 1922, member executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Hartford 1933 and on scholarship committee 1941–43; chairman Class reunion committees 1936, 1941, and chairman-elect for reunion in 1946, vice-president of the Class 1941, member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford

Married (1) October 29, 1904, in Stamford, Mary Ursula, daughter of Edward and Anabel (Bean) Leavitt Daughter Anabel Curtiss, the wife of Willard Sands Heminway Mrs Phelps died April 17, 1918 Married (2) November 8, 1924, in Philadelphia, Elizabeth Coggswell Runk Hall, daughter of William Mentz and Elizabeth Coggswell (Hill) Runk No children

Death due to sacculated aneurysm of the aorta Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs Horace C Jones of Stamford

James Boorman Strong, Ph.B. 1896.

Born January 30, 1876, in New York City Died November 10, 1942, in Setauket, NY.

Father, Thomas S Strong, '55 Mother, Emily (Boorman) Strong. Yale relatives include George W Strong (B A. 1803) (great-great-uncle); Selah B Strong (B A 1811) (grandfather), Richard A Udall (B A 1830) (great-uncle); Charles R Strong, '64, and Selah B Strong, '64 (uncles), and Arthur T Strong, ex-'97, Richard U Strong, '99, and Russell W Strong, '09 S (cousins)

Harvard School, New York City Civil engineering course

Locating and office engineer Nova Scotia Southern Railway Company, Shelburne, Nova Scotia, 1896–97, William Wharton, Jr. & Company, Inc., Philadelphia, 1897-99, Metropolitan Street Railway Company, New York City, 1900, and New York Central & Hudson River Railroad 1901, chief engineer MacPherson Switch & Frog Company 1902; with Ramapo Iron Works, later Ramapo Ajax Corporation, 1902–36 (engineer Niagara Falls plant, general manager and vice-president 1902-22, and president 1922-36), consulting engineer in New York City, president Utility Shade Company, Tenafly, N J, 1908–25, Tenafly Lumber & Supply Company 1908–35, and Bay View Harbor Estates, Inc , Setauket, 1936-42, vice-president Manganese Steel Rail Company 1918–26 and Canadian Ramapo Iron Works, Ltd (chairman of the board); during World War I chairman special committee representing the frog and switch industry, acting in advisory capacity to Director General of Military Railways, delegate International Railway Congress Association, Madrid, 1930; held many patents relating to improvements in railroad switches, frogs, crossings, and switch stands, member Maintenance Track Society, Railway Business Association, Roadmasters and Maintenance of Way Association of America, American Society of Civil Engineers, American Society for Testing Materials, American Railway Engineering Association, American Iron and Steel Institute, American Engineering Standards Committee, American Electric Railway Association, Yale Engineering Association, and Masonic order; treasurer Presbyterian Church, Hillburn, NY, 1905–27 and member Presbyterian church, Setauket

Married (1) April 13, 1899, in Trenton, N J, Mary Janney Williams (Swarthmore ex-'98), daughter of Francis Howard Williams (M D Univ. of Pennsylvania 1874) and Sarah (Janney) Williams Children Emily Boorman (B.A. Swarthmore 1923), the wife of Van Strycker Mills, Marjorie Kirk (Packer Institute 1924–26), the wife of William O Gatton (Agricultural and Mechanical Coll of Texas ex-'26), Phyllis Brewster (B A Smith Coll 1930), the wife of

Frank Joseph Davis; Mary Williams (Mary Baldwin Coll 1928–30), and Josephine Tangier (B A New Jersey Coll for Women 1932), the wife of Randolph Morton Levering (Univ of Pennsylvania ex-'21) Mr and Mrs Strong were divorced in 1919 Married (2) February 21, 1921, in Chicago, Ill, Bettie Fisher, daughter of Wycklif and Bettie (Wheatly) McAbee No children

Death due to cardiac failure Buried in Strong Cemetery, Strong's Neck, Setauket Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and three brothers, Selah Brewster Strong (LL B New York Law School 1894) of Setauket, Henry Tunstall Strong of New York City, and T. Shepard Strong, '96

Percival Thompson, Ph.B. 1896.

Born September 26, 1874, in Chicago, Ill Died January 13, 1943, in Coronado, Calif

Father, William Hale Thompson, a real-estate dealer in Chicago, member Illinois House of Representatives 1876–80, son of Captain Ebenezer Thompson and Ann Mary Thompson of Durham, N H Mother, Medora Eastham (Gale) Thompson, daughter of Stephen Francis and Medora Augusta (Smith) Gale of Chicago.

Phillips-Andover Select course, Class cup committee, member University Club and The Cloister and Book and Snake

With Diamond Match Company, Chicago, 1896–97, broker in Chicago 1897–1909 (successively with William H Colvin & Company and Milmine Bodman); associated with Southern Syndicate, San Diego, Calif, 1909 until retirement about 1914, resided in Coronado 1914–43, vice-chairman San Diego chapter American Red Cross 1918

Married September 5, 1908, in Seattle, Wash, Mary Alberta, daughter of James Charles and Nellie Irene Kavanagh Children Helen Gale (Mrs John R Fordyce, Jr, died in October, 1933), Kathleen Mary, the wife of Lieut Comdr Charles Allen Buchanan (grad US Naval Academy 1926), Marion Frances, the wife of William Darling, and Mary Lenore, the wife of Wilson North

Death due to paralysis Buried in Holy Cross Mausoleum, San Diego Survived by wife, three daughters, six grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Helen Thompson Pelouze of Chicago, and two brothers, Gale Thompson and William Hale Thompson, LL D., both of Chicago

James Stanley North, Ph.B. 1897.

Born May 13, 1874, in New Britain, Conn Died October 27, 1942, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Augustus William North, associated with Russell & Erwin Manufacturing Company, New York City, son of James and Rhoda (Belden) North of

New Britain Mother, Helen (Stanley) North; daughter of James and Anna (Stowe) Stanley of New Britain Yale relatives include two nephews, Francis S North, '97 S, and Henry A North, '99 S

Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course, member University Club In business in New Britain 1897 until retirement 1928, associated with Stanley Works 1897–99, owner and operator New Britain Hardware Manufacturing Company 1899–1904, office manager Corbin Screw Company 1904–05; owner, and president, secretary, and treasurer C J White Manufacturing Company, rubber goods, 1907–27, president New Britain General Hospital Training School for Nurses about 1922–35, superintendent New Britain General Hospital 1935–42, member administrative committee Jerome Home 1932–42 and chairman executive committee 1932–39, treasurer Class of 1897 S for many years, director New Britain Y M C A, and on executive committee State Y M C A of Connecticut, member First Congregational Church, New Britain (chairman music committee many years)

Married November 19, 1901, in New Britain, Ruth, daughter of Valentine Burt Chamberlain (B A Williams Coll 1857) and Anna Isabella (Smith) Chamberlain and sister of Valentine B Chamberlain, '07 S Children. Helen Stanley, the wife of Clarence William Manning (B.A. Harvard 1918); Frederick Chamberlain (died October 21, 1918), Ruth Elizabeth (Yale School of Music ex-'32), the wife of Frederick Davis Rees (Ch E Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst 1923), James Stanley, Jr (died July 26, 1910), William Valentine (B A Trinity Coll [Conn.] 1939, B D Hartford Theological Seminary 1942); and Daniel Frederick (U S Coast Guard)

Death due to mesenteric thrombosis Buried in Fairview Cemetery, New Britain Survived by wife, two daughters, two sons, and five grandchildren.

Clinton Geil Wallis, Ph.B. 1897.

Born December 26, 1875, in Jersey City, NJ. Died December 31, 1942, in San Bernardino, Calif

Father, Hamilton Wallis, '63 Mother, Alice (Waldron) Wallis Yale relatives include a cousin, W Durrie Waldron, '03

Newark (NJ) Academy Select course, member University Club and St Anthony and Delta Psi

Associated with Lackawanna Steel Company in Scranton, Pa, and Buffalo and Rochester, NY, and with Carnegie Steel Corporation, Pittsburgh, engaged in farming in Vancouver, British Columbia

Unmarried

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Mountain View Cemetery, San Bernardino Survived by a sister, Mrs James Carr Dunn, a half sister, Mrs Lyle A Christensen, a brother, A Hamilton Wallis, '93, and a half brother, John Wallis, '28 Another brother, Nathaniel W Wallis, '97, died in 1940.

Harleigh Parkhurst, Ph.B. 1898.

Born May 25, 1876, in Providence, R I Died September 26, 1942, in Easton, Md

Father, John Walter Parkhurst, a banker in San Francisco, son of Jonathan George and Clarissa (Thomas) Parkhurst of Providence Mother, Agnes Ross (Tingley) Parkhurst

Hartford Public High School Mechanical engineering course, Freshman Crew; Class crew Freshman and Junior years (captain Junior year), an editor Yale Scientific Magazine Senior year, member The Colony and Berzelius

Corporal Light Battery A, First Regiment Artillery, Connecticut Volunteers, May 4-October 25, 1898, attended University of Minnesota 1898-1900 (E E 1900), inspector Western Electric Company and president Abneque Machine Works 1900–16, commissioned Major, Field Artillery, Officers Reserve Corps, October, 1916, promoted Lieutenant Colonel September 18, 1918, called to active duty May 20, 1917; successively stationed at Army Service School, Fort Leavenworth, School of Fire, Fort Sill, Lakehurst Proving Grounds, and Small Arms Ballistic Station, Miami, commissioned Major, Field Artillery, Regular Army, September, 1920 (as of July 1, 1920), promoted Lieutenant Colonel October, 1934, instructor Field Artillery School, Fort Sill, 1920–22, stationed at Fort Bliss and Camp Travis 1922-23 and Schofield Barracks 1923-26, on duty at Office of Chief of Field Artillery, Washington, 1926-28, student at Command and General Staff School, Fort Leavenworth, 1928–29; at Fort Bragg 1929–31, 1936-38, detailed as Field Artillery instructor North Carolina National Guard, Raleigh, 1931–36, retired October, 1938, with rank of Colonel, in recent years resided in Eau Gallie, Fla

Married January 4, 1908, in Walpole, NH, Mary Kellogg, daughter of John H and Merab Anne Bradley (Kellogg) Williams Daughter Mary (BA Duke Univ 1934), the wife of George Watkins Ewell, Jr (BA Duke Univ 1933)

Death due to apoplexy. Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington. Survived by wife, daughter, two grandsons, and a sister, Ruth P. Aley, the wife of Maxwell Aley (B A. Indiana Univ. 1911) of New York City

Robert Livingston Dunn, Ph.B. 1899.

Born December 11, 1876, in Tidioute, Pa Died January 6, 1943, in Tidioute, Pa

Father, Albert Dunn, member A Dunn & Son, lumber merchants, Tidioute, son of Robert Gray and Rebecca (Dumars) Dunn of Waterford, Pa Mother, Mary Etta (Brothers) Dunn, daughter of Joseph and Maria Francisca (Bender) Brothers of Westphalia, Germany, and St Marys, Pa

Kiskiminetas Springs School, Saltsburg, Pa Chemistry course, Freshman Baseball Team, member St Elmo and Delta Phi.

Successively chemist Clinton Iron & Steel Company, Pittsburgh, and Juniata Furnace & Foundry Company, Newport, RI, 1900–01; associated with his father in A Dunn & Son 1902–25, partner A. Dunn Oil Company 1920–42 and Sandhill Oil Company 1933–42, comptroller Clinger-Gesin-Dunn Oil Company 1928–38, retired in 1942, mayor of Tidioute 1906–08; on Tidioute City Council 1910–12 and Tidioute School Board 1925–31, member Tidioute Presbyterian Church (clerk, ruling elder 1933–43, and representative at meetings of Presbytery of Erie)

Married July 31, 1906, in Tidioute, Isabelle Virginia Peters (grad. Slippery Rock Normal Coll 1899), daughter of Thomas Stephenson and Isabelle Virginia (Humphreys) Peters No children

Death due to ulcerative colitis Buried in Tidioute Cemetery Survived by wife, a sister, Clara Dunn (Pennsylvania Coll for Women 1892–93, diploma New England Conservatory of Music 1895) of Haverford, Pa, and a brother, Harrison Albert Dunn (M D Jefferson Medical Coll 1905) of Erie, Pa

Thomas Augustine O'Brien, Ph.B. 1899.

Born July 21, 1879, in New Haven, Conn Died October 24, 1942, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Thomas O'Brien, in real-estate and insurance business in New Haven, member Dillon & O'Brien, deputy collector of internal revenue for New Haven District, son of Thomas and Ellen O'Brien of Ireland Mother, Bridget Ellen (Herrity) O'Brien, daughter of Austin and Ellen Herrity of Ireland, and New Haven Yale relatives include two cousins, John E Herrity, '97 M., and George F Herrity, '07 M

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Biology course, two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year, member Sigma X1 Attended Yale School of Medicine 1899–1902 (M D cum laude 1902, Campbell Gold Medal, on board Yale Medical Journal Senior year, member Nu Sigma Nu)

Interne New Haven Hospital and Bridgeport Hospital, studied in Vienna 1907, physician and surgeon in New Haven 1903–42, clinical assistant in neurology Yale University 1906–09 and laryngology 1908–16, on staff Hospital of St Raphael, commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, October 2, 1918; attached to Air Service, Camp Morrison, Va, October 2, 1918–June 30, 1919; stationed at Army Supply Base, Norfolk, Va, June 30, 1919, until discharged July 30, 1919, member New Haven County Medical Association and St John's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven

Unmarried

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in St Bernard Cemetery, New Haven Survived by two brothers, Austin Edward O'Brien of New Haven and William H J O'Brien, '08 S, '12 M

Alfred Whipple Olds, Ph.B. 1899.

Born March 3, 1877, in Hartford, Conn Died May 6, 1943, in Windsor, Conn

Father, Alfred Allen Olds, partner Olds & Whipple, manufacturers of fertilizers, growers and packers of tobacco, and dealers in hardware, Hartford, son of Nathan and Lois (Allen) Olds of Danielson, Conn Mother, Lizzie Maria (Whipple) Olds, daughter of John Curtis and Elizabeth Quinby (Allen) Whipple of New Braintree, Mass Yale relatives include two cousins, Frank A Whipple, '13, and Merle W. Whipple, '17

Hartford Public High School; attended Worcester Polytechnic Institute 1895–97 Entered Sheffield Scientific School Junior year, mechanical engineering course.

Draftsman Electric Vehicle Company, Hartford, 1899, with Newport News (Va) Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Company 1900, superintendent Olds & Whipple 1900–02, engaged in engineering in Windsor 1902–03, draftsman Edison Electric Illuminating Company, Boston, 1903–04, grower of shadegrown tobacco, Windsor, 1904 until retirement 1928, president Windsor Historical Society 1936–38, treasurer Windsor Public Library Association 1930–39; trustee The Loomis School 1920–43, first deputy judge Town Court of Windsor 1929–33, on Board of Education 1933–43, member State Central Committee, Progressive Party, 1912–16 and Windsor Town Republican Committee; member Connecticut State Guard 1917–19, American Marine Society, Masonic order, and Grace Church (Episcopal), Windsor

Married November 18, 1903, in New Castle, Pa, Mary Eva, daughter of Dr John Carnes McKee and Ruth L (Hazen) McKee Children John McKee, '27 S (M D Johns Hopkins 1931), Lois Allen (B A Wheaton Coll 1930), the wife of Stuart Hutchings Chapman (B S Univ of Maine 1927), and Mary Alfreda (B S Simmons Coll 1936), the wife of Douglas Holman Mott (B S Michigan State Coll 1934)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Palisado Cemetery, Windsor Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, two sisters, Edna Olds Pease (B A. Smith Coll 1904), the wife of Franklin Barber Pease (B A Amherst 1902) of Windsor, and Miss Edith Willard Olds of Hartford, and a brother, Frank A Olds, '02 S Another brother, Herbert V Olds, '05 S, died in 1913

Louis Talcott Stone, Ph.B. 1899.

Born June 13, 1877, in Mohawk, NY Died October 29, 1942, in Bronxville, NY

Father, Byron Ashley Stone, president and manager Mohawk Knitting Mills, son of Ashley and Harriet Ann (Lamb) Stone of Wilmington, Vt Mother, Ella

(Crim) Stone, daughter of Justus and Harriet (Talcott) Crim of Mohawk.

Holbrook School, Ossming, NY Select course; Class deacon; member Sheff Debating Club

With Mohawk Knitting Mills 1899–1901; commission merchant in New York City 1902 until retirement 1940, with Critten, Clift & Company (later Clift & Goodrich) 1902–03, partner Stone & Warren [Frederick P, '99 S] 1913–27, president Louis T Stone, Inc, 1927–39 and Stone & Greene Company, Inc, 1939–40, vestryman Christ Church (Episcopal), Bronxville

Married October 3, 1911, in Memphis, Tenn, Louise Fowler, daughter of Julius Alexander and Louise (Crawford) Taylor Children Louis Talcott, Jr,

'37, Margaret Norton (B A Vassar 1938), and George Norton, '43.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Marjorie S Hebard, the wife of Arthur Foster Hebard (B A. Williams 1900) of Scarsdale, N Y, and Bertha S. Fearon, the wife of George Randolph Fearon (LL B Syracuse Univ 1905) of Syracuse, N.Y

Elihu William Stevens, Ph.B. 1900.

Born December 10, 1874, in Middletown, Conn. Died March 21, 1943, in Hackensack, N.J.

Father, William Hall Stevens, master mechanic Noiseless Typewriter Company, Middletown, son of Elihu and Julia (Hall) Stevens of Middletown Mother, Jeanie (Ronald) Stevens, daughter of Walter and Elizabeth (Hamilton) Ronald of Troon, Ayrshire, Scotland

Woodstock (Conn) Academy Civil engineering course.

Draftsman American Bridge Company, Middletown, 1901–02; assistant engineer New Jersey-West Virginia Bridge Company, Manasquan, N J, 1903–08; engineer Frank R Long Company, Hackensack, 1908–12, partner Stevens-Broadhurst Company, engineering contractors, 1912–16; engineer in Savannah, Ga, 1916–20, chief engineer Stillman-Delehanty-Ferris Company, Jersey City, 1920–28, president Stevens-Alquist, Inc, contractors and engineers, Hackensack, 1928–43, during World War I engaged in construction work for Government on shipyard on Savannah River and Army camp at Parris Island, S C.; president Hackensack Board of Education 1924–27, on Hackensack Improvement Commission 1927–33, Street Lighting Commissioner 1927–28 and Police Commissioner 1929–32, member American Society of Civil Engineers, Masonic order, and Second Reformed Church, Hackensack.

Married June 1, 1901, in Middletown, Ruby Virginia, daughter of Robert Earle and Susan Virginia (Scovil) Stone Children William Ronald (C E. Lehigh 1926), Elmer Atwood, '28 S; and Earle Radcliffe, '31 S

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Farm Hill Cemetery, Middletown Survived by wife, sons, and three grandchildren

Elmer Henry Schwarz, Ph.B. 1901.

Born February 23, 1880, in Rochester, NY. Died February 21, 1943, in Englewood, NJ

Father, Henry Schwarz, manufacturer of men's clothing in Rochester; son of Goodman and Molly Schwarz. Mother, Edith (Long) Schwarz, daughter of Simon and Yetta (Coons) Long of Wilkes-Barre, Pa.

Waterbury (Conn) High School. Electrical engineering course; honors for excellence in all studies Junior and Senior years; coxswain second Freshman Crew; University Orchestra three years, member Dunham Boat Club

Associated with General Electric Company 1901–03, with Board of Patent Control, General Electric and Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing companies, 1903–11, consulting engineer in New York City 1911–43 (cofounder Edwin W. Hammer and Schwarz, later Hammer & Schwarz, and member 1920–41, cofounder Schwarz, Hughes and McCarthy 1941 and member 1941–43), owner and editor *The Glen Rocket* 1917–21; held a number of patents for electrical devices; director of a boys' club at Henry Street Settlement, member Class committee which established Class of 1901 S scholarship, on 30th Reunion Committee, member American Institute of Electrical Engineers, Society of Automotive Engineers, American Institute of Mechanical Engineers, and American Society of Refrigerating Engineers

Married April 11, 1911, in Chicago, Ill, Edna Shoninger (diploma Columbia Univ. 1909), daughter of Sol Henry and Jennie (Speyer) Shoninger Children Jane Elizabeth (B A Vassar 1932, M A Columbia 1934) and Eleanor (B S Miami Univ [Oxford, Ohio] 1935), the wife of Walter Theodore Rittenberg (B S. Univ of Pennsylvania 1931)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Ferncliff Cemetery, Hartsdale, N.Y. Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Helen Schwarz (diploma Columbia Univ 1909, B S 1910) and Sadie Schwarz (B S Columbia Univ 1932, M A 1939), both of New York City.

Max Silverman, Ph.B. 1901.

Born March 20, 1881, in Blossburg, Pa Died October 8, 1942, in Williamsport, Pa.

Father, Solomon Silverman, a clothing manufacturer in Williamsport. Mother, Mathilda (Rosenthal) Silverman, daughter of Michael and Bertha Rosenthal of Munich, Germany.

Cheshire (Conn) Academy Chemistry course, honors for excellence in all studies of the Junior year, member Sigma Xi

Chemist Connecticut Agricultural Experiment Station, New Haven, 1901-03, New York Glucose Company, Edgewater, NJ, 1903-06, and C E. Krouse Company, leather, Indianapolis, Ind, 1906–09; chemist and buyer of raw materials The Berg Company, fertilizers and fats, Philadelphia, 1909–14, engaged in farming at Livonia, N Y., 1914–18, manager Indiana Leather Stamping Company, Williamsport, 1918–25, operated his own chemical experimental laboratory, working out industrial and chemical problems, particularly in connection with industrial wastes, Montoursville, Pa., 1925 until retirement 1927, member Masonic order

Married January 19, 1911, in Philadelphia, Claribel, daughter of Henry C and Sarah (McCray) Rocker. No children

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Wildwood Cemetery, Williamsport. Survived by wife, mother, and a brother, Jacques L. Silverman, '01.

Edwy Lycurgus Taylor, Ph.B. 1901.

Born September 8, 1879, in Albany, NY. Died May 17, 1943, in Camden, Maine.

Father, Edwy Lycurgus Taylor, son of Henry Taylor of Albany Mother, Elizabeth Ellison (Taylor) Taylor; daughter of John and Esther Elizabeth (Wiltse) Taylor of Albany

Albany Academy Civil engineering course, honors for excellence in all studies Junior year, two-year honors for excellence in civil engineering Senior year, leader Freshman Orchestra, manager University Orchestra Junior and Senior years, member Book and Bond and Sigma Xi, honorary member The Colony and Berzelius Registered at Yale Graduate School 1901-04 (C.E. 1904).

Assistant in mechanical drawing Yale University 1902-03 and instructor 1904-06, assistant professor of civil engineering University of Kansas 1903-04; associated with New York Central & Hudson River Railroad Company 1906– 12 (Mohawk division 1906-08, assistant engineer, electric division, Grand Central Terminal 1908–12) and New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company in New Haven 1912–30 (assistant engineer 1912–16, contract engineer 1916–25, assistant to vice-president 1925–29, industrial commissioner 1929–30); assistant to treasurer Connecticut Savings Bank 1931; member Public Utilities Commission of Connecticut 1931–41 (chairman 1935–36, 1938–39), commissioned First Lieutenant, Corps of Engineers, July 2, 1918, and assigned to 46th Engineers, overseas July 10, 1918-June 26, 1919, saw action at Gièvres and Mehun-sur-Yèvre, discharged July 2, 1919, commissioned Captain, Engineers Officers Reserve Corps, January 2, 1920, Major May 15, 1924, Lieutenant Colonel April 22, 1939, on mactive list at time of death, Colonel, Second Company, Governor's Foot Guard, 1931-38, and member Governor's staff; vice-president Civic Orchestra Association of New Haven 1932-34; trustee and treasurer Berkeley Divinity School; on Commission on Permanent Pavements, New Haven, 1931–41, member New England Regional Planning Commission, New England Association of Public Utilities Commissioners, American and Connecticut societies of Civil Engineers, American Railway Engineering Association, Society of American Military Engineers, American Railway Development Association (secretary 1929), National Association of Railroad and Public Utilities Commissioners, American Legion, Military Order of the World War, Reserve Officers Association, Association of the Army of the United States (treasurer 1923-24), New Haven Colony Historical Society, and Class reunion committees 1921, 1926, 1941; treasurer St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New Haven, 1921–22, vestryman 1932–40, and warden 1941–43

Married December 9, 1911, in New York City, Helen Very Curtis (B A Smith Coll. 1907), daughter of William John Curtis (B A. Bowdom Coll 1875) and Angeline Sturtevant (Riley) Curtis Children John, '35, Edwy Curtis (died in infancy), William Curtis, '38, and Helen Angeline, the wife of Stuart

Cheney Ferris, '39 S.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Seaview Cemetery, Rockport, Maine Survived by wife, daughter, two sons, and two grandchildren

Edward Schlager Toothe, Ph.B. 1901.

Born September 19, 1880, in Linden, NI Died November 9, 1942, in Denver, Colo

Father, William Toothe of Madison, N J, vice-president Nathan Manufacturing Company, railroad supplies, New York City; son of Thomas and Jane (Ward) Toothe of Meriden, Conn Mother, Emma (Schlager) Toothe, daughter of Charles and Salome (Fritsch) Schlager of Scranton, Pa.

Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, NY Mechanical engineering course, Apollo Banjo Club Freshman year, University Banjo and Mandolin Clubs two years; Senior Promenade Committee; Class Book historian, member University Club and York Hall and Chi Phi

Became sales manager Nathan Manufacturing Company 1901, with Plympton, Gardiner & Company, bankers, New York City, until retirement 1932; an active worker in coral reef group of the American Museum of Natural History, New York City; in recent years resided summers at his ranch at Meeker, Colo, where he raised purebred cattle, and winters at Nassau, British West Indies, entered service May, 1917, commissioned Captain, US Reserve Corps, September 14, 1917; promoted Major, Ordnance Department, National Army, April 15, 1918; overseas September, 1917-October 25, 1918, served under Major General Williams in charge construction and maintenance in France November, 1917-July, 1918, and then transferred to an advanced section; discharged December 5, 1918.

Married (1) October 8, 1908, in Madison, Etta Bell, daughter of Charles Hedden Children William, ex-'37 Art, and Martha, the wife of Francis K. Shuman. Mr and Mrs. Toothe were divorced in 1933 Married (2) December 6, 1933, in Meeker, Patricia, daughter of Alpheus Snyder Lovett (M B

Univ of Toronto 1898) and Selina Florence (Bingham) Lovett. Children: Edward Patrick, Jeremy, and Denis.

Death due to myocardial infarction with acute pulmonary edema. Buried in Highland Cemetery, Meeker Survived by wife, children, two adopted sons, James H Seymour (formerly James Hedden Toothe), '17 S, and Charles Hedden Toothe of Morristown, NJ, and a sister, Carlotta T. Coe, the wife of Walter E Coe, '92 S

Richard De Wolfe Brixey, Ph.B. 1902.

Born September 22, 1880, in Seymour, Conn. Died March 14, 1943, in New York City.

Father, William Richard Brixey; son of Richard and Elizabeth (Jarvis) Brixey of Essex, England Mother, Frances Nancy (De Wolfe) Brixey; daughter of Alva Goodyear and Lucy Elizabeth (Hotchkiss) De Wolfe of Seymour. Yale relatives include Reginald W. Brixey, '03 S (brother), and Stanley B Ineson, '07 S (cousin).

Seymour High School and private tutors Chemistry course, member York Hall and Chi Phi

Associated with Kerite Insulated Wire & Cable Company, Inc, New York City, 1902–43 (president 1908–43, treasurer 1912–43); traveled extensively in Canada, Europe, and Alaska, widely known as an art collector and served as president Art Center, New York City, 1927–43, member Engineers Club, American Institute of Electrical Engineers, American Society for Testing Materials, American Chemical Society, All Angels' Church (Episcopal), New York City, and St Matthew's Church, Bedford, N.Y.

Married November 29, 1905, in Jersey City, N J, Bertha Marguerite, daughter of John and Margaretta (Jacobus) Anness. Daughter: Doris Marguerite Brixey Olmsted Pope, the wife of Capt. Arthur Wallace Pope (B.A. Harvard 1918)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in St. Matthew's Cemetery, Bedford Survived by wife, daughter, and a grandson.

Garrit Samuel Cannon, Ph.B. 1902.

Born February 3, 1881, in Hoboken, N.J. Died November 29, 1942, in Staten Island, NY

Father, Charles K Cannon, '67 Mother, Agnes Russell (Herbert) Cannon. Columbia Institute, New York City, Stevens School, Hoboken, and Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course, Class Day historian; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Attended Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1902; associated with R. A.

Keasbey Company, manufacturers of asbestos pipe covering, New York City, 1903–04; unoccupied 1904–06; with Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company, New York City, 1906–07, salesman Thomas & Betts Company, electrical manufacturing and supply business, New York City, 1907–09; with Railway Improvement Company, New York City, 1910–13, secretary and assistant treasurer Wacap Cotton Corporation 1922–25, with Halsey, Stuart & Company, investment bankers, New York City, 1925 until retirement 1928; attended Second Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, commissioned Captain, Ordnance, November, 1917, and assigned to Engineering Division, Office of Chief of Ordnance, Washington, until discharge March 1, 1919, secretary-treasurer Yale Engineering Association 1925–26, member Episcopal church

Married in April, 1916, in New York City, Ruth Clarke No children Mr and Mrs Cannon were divorced in 1934

Death due to tuberculosis. Buried in St Mary's Churchyard, Burlington, N.J. Survived by a sister, Mrs John Victor diZerega of Darien, Conn

Rolfe Kingsley, Ph.B. 1902.

Born August 20, 1881, in Paris, France Died February 4, 1943, in Riverdale, NY

Father, Charles Kingsley (Univ of Rochester ex-'67, D D S New York Coll of Dentistry 1869), a dentist in Paris; teacher at École Dentaire de France, son of Nathaniel and Eliza (Williams) Kingsley of Pittsford, Vt Mother, Jessie (Bradbrook) Kingsley; daughter of Gustavus A. and Eliza (Ross) Bradbrook of Philadelphia, Pa

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Biology course, honors in biology Senior year and honorable mention William R Belknap Prize in natural history, College Choir Freshman year, contributed to Class Book, Class deacon, on Bicentennial and Triennial committees; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1902–06 (M D. 1906); substitute interne Sloane Hospital for Women, New York City, 1906; interne Gouverneur Hospital, New York City, 1907–09, physician and surgeon in New York City 1910 until retirement 1925, clinical assistant in surgery Vanderbilt Clinic 1910–12, assistant chief of clinic, department of genito-urinary diseases, 1912–16 and department of urology 1916–17, chief of urology clinic 1919–20, attending physician in urology 1920–21, and attending surgeon in urology 1921–24, instructor in genito-urinary diseases, Columbia University, 1912–15, instructor in urology 1915–23, and associate 1923–27, on staff Presbyterian Hospital 1918–25 (assistant visiting urologist, surgical service, and assistant visiting surgeon, urological service) and engaged in medical research there 1929–33; member American Medical Association and Christ Church (Episcopal), Riverdale

Married July 14, 1914, in Jamaica, British West Indies, Gertrude, daughter of James Johnston (MB, MD, CM Trinity Coll, Toronto, Canada, 1884) and Louisa Jane Finlay (Scot) Johnston. Children: Johnston (B.S. Harvard 1937) and Rolfe, Jr, '39.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Burned in Cutter Cemetery, Jaffrey, N.H.

Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Charles Kingsley, '95

Frederick Rust Van Vechten, Ph.B. 1902.

Born December 7, 1877, in Little Falls, N.Y. Died October 28, 1942, in New York City.

Father, Barry Van Vechten, partner Van Vechten & Weeks, leather merchants in Little Falls; son of Giles Fonda and Catharine (Hays) Van Vechten of Fultonville, NY, and New York City Mother, Emily (Rust) Van Vechten, daughter of Nelson and Eluthera (Weatherby) Rust of Little Falls.

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Chemistry course; Apollo Banjo Club Freshman and Junior years, University Banjo Club Senior year, chairman Class supper committee, member University Club and The Colony and Berzelius

With Dorman Lithographing Company, New Haven, Conn, 1902-03; in office of Donn Barber, '93 S, architect in New York City, 1903 until retirement 1905, private Company F, Second Regiment, Connecticut National Guard, 1903-04, worked for National War Savings Committee at Office of State Director for New York City 1918; member Westchester County Grand Jurors Association and Little Falls Presbyterian Church

Married (1) June 14, 1914, in Little Falls, Alma Olive, daughter of Jerome Rufus and Carrie (Ewing) Newell Son Frederick Rust, Jr, '38 Mrs. Van Vechten died October 12, 1918 Married (2) April 23, 1921, in New York City, Margaret, daughter of Frank Linsly and Margaret Seaman (Lasak) Ives. Children Katharine and Margaret Lasak

Death due to heart failure Buried in Johnstown (N.Y) Cemetery Survived by wife and children

Charles Frederic Alexander, Ph.B. 1903.

Born July 11, 1880, in Haiku, Maui, TH Died February 27, 1943, in Vancouver, Wash

Father, Charles Hodge Alexander (Butler Coll 1866-67), plantation manager and rancher in Hawaii, son of Rev William Patterson Alexander (Princeton Theological Seminary 1828-31) and Mary Ann (McKinney) Alexander of

Honolulu Mother, Helen Goodale (Thurston) Alexander, daughter of Rev. Asa Goodale Thurston (ex-1848) and Sarah (Andrews) Thurston Yale relatives include Asa Thurston (B A 1816) (great-grandfather), Thomas G Thurston (B.A. 1862) (great-uncle); William D. Alexander, '55 (uncle), and Arthur C Alexander, '88 S, Wallace M Alexander, '92 S, William D Baldwin, '97, Arthur D Baldwin, '98, Frank F Baldwin, ex-'99 S, Fred C Baldwin, '04, and Samuel A. Baldwin, '08 (cousins)

Punahou Preparatory School and Punahou Academy Select course, honors in history Junior year, University Swimming and Water Polo teams Junior and Senior years; vice-president University Swimming Association Senior year, chairman Class supper committee; Class Book historian

Studied law in Honolulu 1903–04 and reporter Commercial Pacific Advertiser for a short time; bookkeeper J A M Johnson Company, agents for National Cash Register Company, Honolulu, 1905–06 and cashier and assistant manager for the latter company in Tokyo 1906–07; with Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company, Spokane, Wash., 1907–08, engaged in lumber speculation in Oregon and Washington and acted as postmaster and railroad and Wells Fargo agent at Garibaldi, Ore; in lumber purchasing department Grant Smith Porter Ship Company, St Johns, Ore., 1918, flax cultivator 1926–28, bookkeeper Crown Willamette Paper Company 1928, engaged in state highway construction and surveying 1935–38; inspector of power line construction, Bonneville Project, U S Department of the Interior 1938–40, member Masonic order and Pan-Pacific Union.

Married (1) November 10, 1909, in Vancouver, Charlotte Marian, daughter of Sebastian and Florence (Bosley) Hartman No children Mr and Mrs. Alexander were divorced in 1917. Married (2) July 5, 1919, in Portland, Ore, Jane Margaret Webb Knox (B A Univ of Oregon 1912), daughter of James Edward and Jane (Cox) Knox. No children

Death due to uremia Ashes interred in Knox Butte Cemetery, Albany, Ore. Survived by wife.

Edward Clay Anderson, Ph.B. 1903.

Born September 20, 1879, in Chester, Pa. Died August 1, 1942, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Samuel Anderson, an auditor for Pennsylvania Railroad Company; son of James Anderson. Mother, Virginia (Walter) Anderson, daughter of Y. W Walter.

Friends' Central School, Philadelphia, attended United States Naval Academy 1898–1901. Entered Sheffield Scientific School Junior year; mechanical engineering course; First Lieutenant Sheff Military Company, student of distinction in Department of Military Science Senior year

Special apprentice Baldwin Locomotive Works 1903–05 and in test department 1905–06, salesman Erie City Iron Works, Pittsburgh, mechanical engineer Merritt & Company, metal furniture, Camden, NJ, 1916, manager Ardmore (Pa) factory and later salesman Autocar Sales & Service Company, Pittsburgh and New York City, 1916–25; in sales department General Motors Truck Company 1926–27, commercial car and truck representative Dodge Brothers Corporation 1928–31, special representative French Battery Company, New York City and Madison, Wis, 1931–34; district manager for Tennessee, Alabama, and West Florida Bond Electric Corporation 1934–35, salesman Auto Cruiser Company, Baltimore, Md., 1935; assistant engineer, Day & Zimmermann, Inc, Philadelphia, 1941–42, assistant mechanical engineer Dry Dock Associates, Navy Yard, Philadelphia, 1942

Married (1) October 30, 1906, in Media, Pa, Helen Gilpin, daughter of John Buchanan Robinson (grad US Naval Academy 1868) and Elizabeth Waddingham (Gilpin) Robinson. Children John Buchanan Robinson (B.S. Lehigh 1931) and Elizabeth Gilpin, the wife of W. H. Mason Faulconer. Mr. and Mrs. Anderson were divorced. Married (2) September 16, 1933, in Summit Point, W. Va, Martha Byrd Bamford.

Death due to injuries received when struck by an automobile Survived by wife and children

James Barrett Monroe Hunker, Ph.B. 1903.

Born November 25, 1876, in Toledo, Ohio. Died March 14, 1943, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, John Jacob Hunker (grad U S Naval Academy 1866), Rear Admiral, U S N, son of Andrew and Margaret (Donaldson) Hunker Mother, Mary (Monroe) Hunker

St Paul's School, Concord, N H.

Engaged in engineering and construction work until retirement 1928; had resided in California for the past fifteen years

Unmarried

Death due to uremia Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Los Angeles

Harry James Mold, Ph.B. 1903.

Born October 15, 1881, in Blossburg, Pa Died August 6, 1942, in Mt Vernon, NY.

Father, James Henry Mold of Blossburg, son of James and Emeline (Hagar) Mold of Northampton, N Y. Mother, Lucy Ann (Dewgan) Mold. Yale relatives include a brother, Fred Mold, '92 S.

Mansfield (Pa) State Teachers College. Civil engineering course, prize for excellence in German Freshman year, honors in German Junior year, two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year

In engineering department New York Telephone Company 1903–11, engineer American Telephone & Telegraph Company 1911 until retirement 1938, vice-president Mt. Vernon Board of Education 1926–28 and president 1928–30, chairman and executive secretary Mt Vernon Community Chest 1939, president University Club of Mt. Vernon 1925–26 and Aubyn Manor Association 1933–35, secretary Yale Alumni Association of Westchester County 1919–23, vice-president 1923–25, president 1925–27, representative on Alumni Board 1927–29 and member executive committee 1928–31, on advisory council State Temporary Emergency Relief Administration 1932, member Mt Vernon Chamber of Commerce and American Institute of Electrical Engineers

Married June 30, 1903, in Mansfield, Katheryn Helen, daughter of Michael James and Anna Maria (Cushing) Gibson Children Lucile Anna (Wellesley ex-'29) and Harold James, '34 S (U S N R)

Death due to retroperitoneal sarcoma Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N.Y. Survived by wife, children, and one grandchild

George Sharpe Hasbrouck, Jr., Ph.B. 1904.

Born March 12, 1880, in New York City Died November 10, 1942, in Bryn Mawr, Pa

Father, George Sharpe Hasbrouck, son of John Lawrence and Mary (Tremper) Hasbrouck Mother, Carrie Queen (Sherwood) Hasbrouck, daughter of Jeremiah and Caroline Marion (Newman) Sherwood of New York City Yale relatives include a nephew, Lee M. Rumsey, Jr, '23

Blake School, New York City, and Phillips-Andover Select course, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Club, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with Ontario Development & Mining Company, Cobalt, Canada, 1905–08 and Northern Exploration Company 1908 until retirement from business 1910; engaged as a gentleman farmer since 1920, in recent years resided at Mellgran Farm, Berwyn, Pa; charter member Bath Club 1927, secretary 1930–36, vice-president 1937–39, president 1941–42, attended Presbyterian Church, Berwyn.

Married April 28, 1920, in Palatka, Fla, Sarah Lucille Mellon Grange, daughter of James Ross Mellon (Jefferson Coll ex-'65) and Rachel Hughey (Larimer) Mellon No children

Death due to acute myocardial failure Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, mother (died December 7, 1943), and a step-daughter, Miss Alexandra Mellon Grange

James Chandler Preston, Ph.B. 1904.

Born October 12, 1882, in Davenport, Iowa. Died September 25, 1942, in Decatur, Ill.

Father, James Raguet Preston, manager Preston farms, Castlewood, S.Dak; son of Andrew Jackson and Lillie (Raguet) Preston of Davenport. Mother, Jennie (Eichelberger) Preston, daughter of Leonard and Violetta (Kidder) Eichelberger of Ohio Yale relatives include a cousin, Frederick A. Preston, '06 S.

Morgan Park Military Academy, Chicago, and Phillips-Exeter Select course; University Track Team Freshman year; Freshman Football Team; member The Colony and Berzelius

Apprentice Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company 1904–08, in construction department New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1908–13; special student Iowa State College 1914–16, engaged in farming near Castlewood 1914–29, associated with Public Service Company of Northern Illinois, Waukegan, 1929–38 and Agricultural Adjustment Administration, United States Department of Agriculture, Decatur, 1938–42; member American Institute of Electrical Engineers

Married February 17, 1910, in New Rochelle, NY, Dora Mills Hutchens (Columbia School of Design 1906-07; Iowa State Coll 1912-14), daughter of James Henry and Mary Katharine (DuBois) Hutchens. Daughter Dora Hazol, the wife of Lieut Earl Oscar Soderquist, AUS.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Decatur. Survived by wife, daughter, and two brothers, Paul R. Preston, '09 S, and Leo L Preston, '14 S.

Clarence Burnham, Ph.B. 1906.

Born April 10, 1885, in Chicago, Ill. Died January 13, 1943, in Provo, Utah

For family history see biography of his brother, Frederic Burnham, '02 (page 73)

Harvard School for Boys, Chicago Civil engineering course; Class supper committee, member York Hall and Chi Phi

Engineer on Panama Canal 1906–08, engaged in engineering, including construction of new railroads, successively in Colombia, Ecuador, Peru, and Bolivia 1909–13, building constructor 1914–16; supervising appraisal engineer W. J Hagenah Company 1916–18, construction superintendent Swift & Company 1918–20, employed on public utility appraisals and reports for rate making and financial purposes for Hagenah & Erickson 1920–22, with Day & Zimmermann, engineers, 1922–24 and Burnham & Burnham 1924–30, independently engaged

in appraisal and related work, chiefly for public utilities, 1930-39, associated with Public Works Administration 1939-41, engineer Columbia Steel Company, Provo, at time of death; member St Ambrose Church (Roman Catholic), Chicago.

Married June 14, 1916, in Chicago, Edith, daughter of Patrick Henry and Jane (Carroll) Leonard Children Clarence, Jr. (USMC), Jane (Sister Mary Hildegarde), and Leonard (US. Navy)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Mary Genevieve Burnham Connors (B.A. Smith Coll 1905), the wife of John Leo Connors (B S Purdue Univ 1905, M E 1909) of Mansfield, Ohio, and Isabel Burnham McNally (Smith Coll ex-'12), the wife of Thomas F. McNally (LL B. Washington Univ 1912) of Winnetka, Ill, and six brothers, Norbert Burnham of Chicago, Raymond Burnham, '03 S, Gerald Burnham, '09 S., Harold Burnham, ex-'13 S, Julian Burnham, '16 S, and Donald Burnham, '19 S

Walter Chapin Chalker, Ph.B. 1906.

Born August 25, 1880, in New Haven, Conn Died January 29, 1943, in Albany, NY

Father, Clifford Carroll Chalker, secretary New Haven Fire Underwriters Association; son of Walter Jabes and Hannah Jane (Robinson) Chalker of Durham, Conn Mother, Nellie Agnes (Clark) Chalker, daughter of Chapin Emerson and Emiline Bradley (Mather) Clark of Plymouth, Conn

New Haven High School Chemistry course, honor division Freshman year, honors for excellence in all the studies of Junior year, honors in chemistry Senior year, member Book and Bond, and Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa Graduate student in chemistry and laboratory assistant Yale University 1906–07

Instructor in science Albany Academy 1907–09; chemist New York State Department of Highways 1909–19 and Department of Farms and Markets 1919–20; science teacher Saranac Lake (N Y) High School 1920–21; chemist Division of Engineering, New York State Department of Public Works, 1921–43; contributed to *American Chemical Journal* (May, 1908); on Class reunion committee; member Society of Engineers of Eastern New York, American Chemical Society, and First Church of Christ Scientist, Albany

Married November 2, 1911, in Clinton, Conn, Nina Corinne, daughter of Horatio and Evalena Adelaid (Lord) Kelsey Children Donald Kelsey (Wesleyan ex-'34; U S Navy) and Dorothy Lord (B A Connecticut Coll for Women 1937), the wife of Hubert Bradford Sauer (B A Wesleyan 1937)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Indian River Cemetery, Clinton Survived by wife, children, and two brothers, Albert R Chalker, '06 S, and Leonidas Robinson Chalker of Cincinnati, Ohio

John Greenleaf Darragh, Ph.B. 1906.

Born September 8, 1883, in San Antonio, Texas. Died September 6, 1942, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, John Darragh of Bally Castle, Antrim, Ireland, and San Antonio. Mother, Anne (Pendleton) Darragh

St Paul's School, Garden City, N Y Select course, Class baseball squad Freshman year; Freshman Crew, University Crew Junior and Senior years, Class president Junior year and vice-president Senior year, Class Day historian; member Yale University Dramatic Association and The Colony and Berzelius

Engaged in real-estate and brokerage business, successively with Adams-Kirkpatrick Land Company, San Antonio, Hayden, Barmore Company, commission merchants, San Antonio, Butler Brothers, wholesale commission merchants and mail-order house, E F Hutton & Company and Tracey & Company, brokers, New York City, and Griswold Thompson, real estate and bonds, called into active service as Captain, Ordnance Reserve Corps, May 1, 1918, trained at Ordnance Motor Institution Schools, Raritan Arsenal, Metuchen, N J, overseas August 31, 1918–June 16, 1919, as regimental ordnance officer, 142d Field Artillery, discharged August 7, 1919; associated with J. Edward Jones, publisher, New York City, 1920–27, sales manager Leigh J. Sessions Corporation, New York City, 1927–41, independently engaged as broker of oil and mining properties, Los Angeles, 1941–42

Unmarried

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Los Angeles, Calif Survived by no immediate relatives.

George Willoughby Hotchkiss, Ph.B. 1906.

Born September 6, 1884, in New Haven, Conn Died March 25, 1943, in Woodbridge, Conn.

Father, Frederick Griswold Hotchkiss, president National Savings Bank, New Haven, son of George and Mary (Atwater) Hotchkiss of New Haven. Mother, Elizabeth Shepherd (Hall) Hotchkiss, daughter of Lucius Willoughby and Elizabeth (Shepherd) Hall of New Haven Yale relatives include Heywood H. Whaples, 'or, and Donald P Haynie, 'o6 (cousins), and Robert A Miller, 3d, '42 (nephew)

New Haven High School and Booth Preparatory School, New Haven Electrical engineering course, member Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa.

With Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company 1906; engaged in copper mining in North Carolina 1906-07, associated with H. C. Warren & Company and its successor, Edward M. Bradley & Company, Inc., brokers, New Haven, 1908 until retirement 1940 (vice-president 1927-40); commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance, April 1, 1917; overseas October, 1917-

February 1, 1919, stationed at Ordnance Depot, Gièvres, and later instructor in French artillery, Is-sur-Tille; discharged February 1, 1919, corporator and trustee National Savings Bank 1935–43, treasurer Woodbridge Community Service Association 1935–40, office manager Woodbridge Rationing Board 1942–43; on Woodbridge zoning commission 1935–43 (chairman 1937–43), member Woodbridge Congregational Church

Married February 19, 1919, in New Haven, Marion Currie, daughter of John

Zell and Margaret Wallace (Baird) Mason No children

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in East Side Cemetery, Woodbridge. Survived by wife, a sister, Edith H Miller (Smith Coll. ex-'12), the wife of Robert A Miller, Jr, '11, and a brother, Roger T. Hotchkiss, '15 S

Milton Sewell Nettleton, Ph.B. 1906.

Born April 6, 1884, in New Haven, Conn Died May 7, 1943, in Woodbridge, Conn

Father, George Edward Nettleton, a dentist in New Haven, son of George Dexter and Emeline (Bumstead) Nettleton of Munson, Mass, and New Haven Mother, Emma Austin (Bristol) Nettleton, daughter of Hiram and Josephine (Lavelle) Bristol of New Haven

New Haven High School. Electrical engineering course, Freshman Glee Club. Associated with Crocker Wheeler Company, Ampere, NJ, a few months 1906 and Weston Electrical Instrument Company of Newark, NJ, 1906–10; employed in New Haven 1910–43, independently engaged as selling agent for manufacturers of electrical power apparatus 1910–12, electrical inspector for City of New Haven 1912–16; associated with The Hessel & Hoppen Company, electrical supplies, 1916–31; purchasing agent and office manager Westinghouse Electric Supply Company 1931–43, member Masonic order and Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married September 17, 1913, in New Haven, Elsie, daughter of Merritt Woodruff and Susan Eliza (Killam) Burwell Son George Edward, 2d (Ph B Univ. of Connecticut 1936, M S Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1937)

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Park, New Haven Survived by wife, son, one granddaughter, mother (died May 31, 1943), and a brother, Victor Edward Nettleton of West Haven Another brother, Dr George H. Nettleton, '04 S, died in 1935

James Wendall Queenan, Ph.B. 1906.

Born April 6, 1884, in Derby, Conn Died December 20, 1942, in Mt Vernon, NY

Father, James Henry Queenan, a machinist in Derby Mother, Agnes (Askin) Queenan; daughter of Nelson and Sarah (Lloyd) Askin of Florence, Mass

Derby High School Civil engineering course.

Caretaker of an estate in Ansonia, Conn, 1906–24; clerk at Inwood, NY., branch of United States Post Office 1924 until retirement 1941, member Alpha Phi Alpha and Methodist church, Derby.

Married June 14, 1911, in Ansonia, Sarah Elizabeth, daughter of John H and Penelope Jackson No children Mrs Queenan died about five years ago.

Death due to lobar pneumonia Buried in Oak Cliff Cemetery, Derby. Sursived by no immediate relatives.

Harry Garwood Baldwin, Ph.B. 1907.

Born January 9, 1884, in New Haven, Conn. Died January 17, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Raymond Garwood Baldwin, a grocer and real-estate dealer in New Haven, son of Garwood Mills and Cornelia (Benton) Baldwin of New Haven Mother, Katie Maria (Fowler) Baldwin; daughter of Timothy and Mary Eliza (Stevens) Fowler of New Haven.

Boardman Manual Training School, New Haven Mechanical engineering course

In engineering department Corbin Motor Vehicle Corporation, New Britain, Conn, 1907–08, with Farrel Foundry & Machine Company, Ansonia, Conn, 1908–09, in engineering department New Departure Manufacturing Company, Bristol, Conn, 1909–16 and 1922–29 (with Wyckoff, Church & Partridge, Inc, automobile manufacturers, 1909–10 and W A Wood Automobile Manufacturing Company 1910–12); superintendent S K F Industries, Hartford, Conn, 1916–18, purchasing agent and assistant manager H. G Thompson & Son Company, New Haven, 1918–22, with Marlin-Rockwell Corporation, Plainville, Conn, 1929–32 and Norma-Hoffmann Bearings Corporation, Stamford, Conn, 1932–34, consulting engineer 1934–42, with Bolton Manufacturing Company, West Haven, two months in 1942 and Bristol Aeronautical Corporation, New Haven, 1942–43; member Society of Automotive Engineers and Society of Mechanical Engineers; attended Plymouth Congregational Church, New Haven

Married June 21, 1911, in Derby, Conn, Roxana Terry, daughter of Charles Willard and Emma Terry (Whipple) Hedges Children Luzette Terry (Vassar ex-'34), the wife of Carroll Bradford Hall (B S. Boston Univ 1925), and Garwood Mills (Clarkson Coll of Technology 1939–40; Army Air Forces)

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, children, parents, a sister, Mrs Henry P. Adams, and a brother, Benton Fowler Baldwin, both of New Haven

George Vallandigham Rotan, Ph.B. 1907.

Born July 18, 1886, in Waco, Texas Died April 17, 1943, in Houston, Texas

Father, Edward Rotan, president First National Bank of Waco, served in Confederate Army during Civil War; son of John and Martha (Wynn) Rotan of Sparta, Tenn. Mother, Kate Sturm (McCall) Rotan, daughter of James L L and Eliza (Sturm) McCall of Mt. Vernon, Ky.

Lawrenceville (N J) School. Select course, honors in history and social sciences Senior year, Freshman Baseball Team, College Baseball Team one year, University Swimming Team Freshman and Junior years, University Golf Team Senior year; captain Class golf team, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and The Colony and Berzelius

Associated with telephone company in Waco 1907–12, secretary-treasurer Bankers Trust Company of Waco 1912–19, partner Neuhaus & Company, investment securities, Houston, 1920–31 and George V Rotan Company, investment securities, 1931–43; investment counselor and adviser Rice Institute 1932–43, commissioned First Lieutenant, Air Service, October 25, 1917, promoted Captain, October 9, 1918; service at Kelly Field, discharged December 28, 1918, president Texas State Golf Association 1933 and five times State golf champion; on executive committee United States Golf Association 1927–43; member Walker Cup Team 1923, runner-up seniors' golf championship matches held in Rye, N Y, 1942, co-chairman Houston city committee which raised funds to replace cruiser Houston (1942), vice-president Houston district Associated Southern Yale Clubs 1922–23, member Investment Bankers Association of America (director southern group) and Palmer Memorial Church (Episcopal), Houston

Married March 11, 1909, in Waco, Charlotte Rice, daughter of Thomas and Kate (Ross) Padgitt Children Edward, '32 S, Sarah Padgitt (Smith Coll ex-'35), the wife of Dupuy Bateman, Jr (Rice Inst 1922–25), Charlotte (Rice Inst 1932–34), the wife of Thomas Daniel McGown (B A and LL B Univ of Texas 1934), and Kate (B A Rice Inst 1940)

Death due to influenza. Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Houston Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, four sisters, Frances R Sargent, the wife of Winthrop Sargent, Jr (B.A. Haverford Coll 1908, M A Harvard 1909), of Haverford, Pa, Katherine R Drinker (B A Bryn Mawr 1910), the wife of Cecil Kent Drinker, Sc D (B S Haverford Coll 1908, M D Univ of Pennsylvania 1913), of Brookline, Mass, Anne R Howe (B A Bryn Mawr 1902), the wife of Thorndike Dudley Howe (Harvard ex-'04) of Boston, Mass, and Mrs Antoinette R Peterson of Bronxville, N.Y

Edward Walter Steele, Ph.B. 1907.

Born June 6, 1886, in Ansonia, Conn. Died December 21, 1942, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, Truman Bradford Steele, partner Gillette and Steele, butchers, Ansonia, son of William Walter and Mary Elizabeth (Carter) Steele of Ansonia. Mother, Lydia Ann (Whittlesey) Steele; daughter of Joseph Parker and Rebecca J (Schley) Whittlesey of Columbus, Ga. Yale relatives include an uncle, Frederic E Snow, '75

Ansonia High School Mining engineering course, member Alpha Chi Rho. With Farrel Foundry & Machine Company, Ansonia, June–December, 1907, and Franklin Furnace 1907–08 (timberman and drill runner New Jersey Zinc Company), in office of Ansonia Manufacturing Company 1908–12; associated with New York Central Railroad Company 1912–29 (in engineering department Rome, NY, 1912 and New York City 1912–29); assistant engineer in structural department Erie Railroad Company, Cleveland, 1929–42; resided in Bogota, NJ, 1919–31 and Cleveland 1931–42; on Bogota Borough Council 1927–31, member Masonic order and Bogart Memorial Church, Bogota.

Married April 15, 1916, in Brooklyn, NY, Elizabeth, daughter of Conrad and Mary Elizabeth (Walther) Bahr. Daughter: Elizabeth Bradford (B.A. Oberlin Coll 1940), the wife of Arthur William Bryan (BS Univ of New Hampshire 1936)

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Ashes interred in Pine Grove Cemetery, Ansonia Survived by wife, daughter, twin granddaughters, and four sisters, Miss Ruby E Steele and Mrs Richard Storrs, both of Stratford, Conn., Miss Ruth V Steele of Port Chester, NY, and Mrs James Jordan of New York City.

William Thorp Sturges, Ph.B. 1908.

Born March 22, 1887, in Shelton, Conn. Died November 17, 1942, in Germonds, New City, NY.

Father, William Shelton Sturges, a farmer in Huntington, Conn., son of Henry and Henrietta (Baldwin) Sturges of Southport, Conn. Mother, Julia (Thorp) Sturges, daughter of William Henry and Anna (Bolles) Thorp of Fairfield, Conn Yale relatives include an uncle, Abram B Sturges, ex-'65 S.

Shelton High School Civil engineering course; honors in civil engineering Junior year, member Sheff Debating Society and Alpha Chi Rho.

Rodman on Hudson River tunnel construction, Pennsylvania Railroad Company, 1908-09, construction inspector Arbuckle Brothers, Brooklyn, N.Y., 1909, in office of division engineer, maintenance of way department, electric division, New York Central Railroad Company, 1909-27, superintendent and

production manager Lederle Laboratories, Inc., Pearl River, NY, 1927-40, laboratory manager 1940-41, and assistant to director 1941-42, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Signal Corps, November 3, 1917, stationed at Newport News January-March, 1918, and Romorantin, France, March-September, 1918, transferred to Engineers September, 1918, stationed at Angers and Ervy September 25, 1918-May 30, 1919, discharged July 31, 1919; director Pearl River Free Library, member Yale Engineering Association, Masonic order, American Legion, and St. George's Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married May 31, 1922, in New York City, Adele, daughter of John Charles

and Nına (de Buday) de Lackner No children.

Death due to anaphylactic shock Buried in Rockland Cemetery, Sparkill, N Y Survived by wife, two sisters, Helen Sturges (B S Connecticut Coll for Women 1920) of New York City, and Mrs Herbert Ledger of Shelton, and three brothers, Henry H Sturges, '10 S, William S Sturges, '14 S, and Shelton Sturges of Orange Conn

Frank Barker Dangler, Ph.B. 1909.

Born June 22, 1888, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died October 12, 1942, in Willoughby, Ohio

Father, David Edward Dangler; associated with Dangler Stove Manufacturing Company (division of American Stove Company), Cleveland, son of David A and Judith (Clark) Dangler of Cleveland Mother, Effie Maud (Scofield) Dangler; daughter of William Charles and Ann (Barker) Scofield of Cleveland Yale relatives include: Henry C Dangler, '04, and David Dangler, '05 (cousins); and David E. Dangler, 2d, '42 S., James C Dangler, ex-'45W, and Hilliard M. Dangler, ex-'45W (nephews)

University School, Cleveland, and Asheville (NC) School. Select course,

member St. Elmo and Delta Phi

With National City Bank, Cleveland, 1909–10, purchasing agent Dangler Stove Manufacturing Company 1910–26, vice-president Fertel, Dangler, Wilson Company, iron and steel, Cleveland, 1914–20, broker in Cleveland 1930–41 (special partner Murfey, Blossom [John T, '14] & Company 1930–39 and Murfey & Company 1939–41), member Second Presbyterian Church, Cleveland

Married January 23, 1924, in Cleveland, Gladys Maud, daughter of Walter Horace and Gertrude Estelle (Bennet) Cottingham Children. Don Cottingham and Joan Cottingham.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by wife, children, mother, and two brothers, Clifford S Dangler, ex-'07 S, and Charles E Dangler, ex-'16 S

Edgar Billings Howard, Ph.B. 1909.

Born February 28, 1887, in New Orleans, La Died March 18, 1943, in San Diego, Calif.

Father, Frank Turner Howard, director New Orleans National Bank; son of Charles T and Florestile (Boullemet) Howard of New Orleans. Mother, Emma Cora (Pike) Howard, daughter of William S and Mariana (Huguet) Pike of New Orleans Yale relatives include a brother, Alvin P Howard, '10 S.

St Paul's School, Concord, N H Select course; honors for excellence in all studies Junior year and honors in English, Spanish, and history Senior year; Freshman Navy, vice-president University Boat Club and manager University Fencing Association Senior year; Junior Promenade Committee; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Traveled around the world 1909-10, bond salesman Edward B Smith & Company, Philadelphia, 1910-11, part owner and co-manager of a cattle ranch in northwestern Texas, with offices in Philadelphia, 1911–19, served on Mexican border with 1st City Troop of Philadelphia July, 1916-January, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Cavalry, Officers Reserve Corps, May 10, 1917, promoted First Lieutenant August 15, 1917, and Captain, Infantry, February 16, 1918, attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Niagara, May-August, 1917, assigned to 313th Infantry, 79th Division, Camp Meade; overseas July 15, 1918-May 29, 1919, saw action in Meuse-Argonne and Troyon Sector, discharged June 11, 1919; vice-president Geyelin Company, shipping agents and exporters, Philadelphia, 1919-21; with Wharton, Sinkler & Robert Toland, importers and exporters, Philadelphia and Constantinople, 1922-25, member Edgar B Howard, Registered, importers and exporters, 1925-29, attended University of Pennsylvania 1928-30, 1933, 1934 (M.S. 1930, Ph.D. 1935; member Sigma X1), engaged in scientific work as archaeologist 1928-42, research associate Carnegie Institution, Washington, DC, 1929-42, American section, University Museum, Philadelphia, 1929-42 (research fellow 1941, vice-director 1942), Laboratory of Anthropology, Santa Fe, N.Mex, 1934-42, American Museum of Natural History, New York City, and department of zoology, Academy of Natural Sciences, Philadelphia, 1934-38 (secretary and acting curator of paleontology 1937), with Consolidated Aircraft Corporation, La Jolla, Calif, 1942-43, author Early Man in North America (1935) and articles and bulletins pertaining to archaeology, on Class alumni fund committee 1939 and council Yale-in-China 1921-36, president Society for Pennsylvania Archaeology and Society for American Archaeology, secretary and treasurer Howard Memorial Library, New Orleans, 1935-43, on board of managers Orthopedic Hospital and Infirmary for Nervous Diseases, Philadelphia, chairman Philadelphia Committee for Care of European Children 1940–42, member Anthropological Society of Philadelphia, American Anthropological Society, Museum of Stone Age Antiquities, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Yale Engineering Association, and Church of the Redeemer (Epis-

copal), Bryn Mawr, Pa.

Married October 1, 1910, in Philadelphia, Elizabeth, daughter of Charles Allerton and Phebe Barron (Willing) Newhall Children Edgar Billings, Jr, Frank Turner, '34 S, Charles Newhall, Robert Pike, '45, and Willing

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in the churchyard of the Church of the Redeemer, Bryn Mawr Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren

George Fullerton Renton, Ph.B. 1909.

Born April 1, 1887, in Hamakua, Hawaii Died August 10, 1942, in Honolulu, Hawaii

Father, George Fullerton Renton, manager Ewa Plantation Company, son of James and Mary (Brennan) Renton of Hawaii Mother, Kate (Lewis) Renton; daughter of James Ewing and Sophronia Spalding (West) Lewis of Madison, Ind

Punahou Academy Chemistry course

Associated with Ewa Plantation Company 1909 until retirement because of ill-health in 1937 (successively overseer, timekeeper, and irrigation overseer 1909–14, chief chemist and factory superintendent 1914–19, assistant manager 1919–20, manager 1921–37, director 1937–42), manager Apokaa Sugar Company, Ltd, 1921–37, treasurer Hawaiian Gas Products Company, Honolulu, 1924–42, member Yale Engineering Association, Hawaiian Engineering Association, Hawaiian Sugar Planters Association, American Chemical Society, YMCA, and Masonic order, trustee Ewa Union Church

Married September 6, 1910, in Honolulu, Irene Lenore, daughter of Joseph Henry and Nettie Phillipa (Andrew) Fisher No children

Death due to generalized arteriosclerosis. Ashes interred in Nuuanu Cemetery, Honolulu Survived by wife and two brothers, James Lewis Renton (M E Cornell 1912) of San Francisco, Calif, and Allan Renton (Univ of Wisconsin ex-'18) of Honolulu.

Carl Ferguson, Ph.B. 1910.

Born January 3, 1889, in Logansport, Ind Died July 2, 1942, in Washington, D C

Father, John David Ferguson, a merchant in Logansport, son of John Ferguson of Indiana and Virginia Mother, Helena Julia Carolina (Jensen) Ferguson, daughter of Henry and Johanna Charlotte (Wagner) Jensen of Logansport Yale relatives include a nephew, John Foskett, ex-'41

Lake Forest (Ill.) Academy; attended Lake Forest College 1906-07 Civil engineering course

Civil engineer Pennsylvania Railroad Company 1910, associated with

Thompson-Starrett Company, building construction, 1911–28 (successively purchasing agent, manager cost department, and assistant manager Chicago office 1911–24, vice-president with offices in Philadelphia 1924–26, New York City 1926, and Chicago 1926–28), vice-president Hegeman-Harris Company, Inc., Chicago, 1928–34, supervisory project manager Public Works Administration and United States Housing Authority in Indianapolis and New Orleans 1934–41, vice-president John W. Harris Associates 1941–42, had charge of construction of many buildings in and around Chicago, including Daily News building, Tribune building, and the Field Museum, at time of death in charge construction of Statler Hotel, Washington; commissioned First Lieutenant, Engineers, Officers Reserve Corps, July 28, 1917; attended Engineer Officers Training School, Fort Leavenworth, overseas April, 1918–July, 1919; with 39th and 116th Engineers, attached to Transportation Corps, Paris, July, 1918–July, 1919, discharged July 6, 1919; member Yale Engineering Association, American Legion, and Masonic order, attended Presbyterian church.

Unmarried

Death due to acute peripheral circulatory failure. Buried in Mt. Hope Cemetery, Logansport Survived by mother, a sister, Bertha F. Foskett, the wife of Walter Wesley Foskett (Indiana Univ Law School 1904–05, 1906–07) of Palm Beach, Fla, and a brother, Warren Ferguson (B A Lake Forest Coll. 1905) of Ottumwa, Iowa

Samuel Palkın, Ph.B. 1910.

Born February 22, 1890, in Kovno, Russia. Died May 2, 1943, in Washington, D C

Father, Benjamin Palkin, a merchant in Stamford, Conn Mother, Sarah (Goldowsky) Palkin

Stamford High School, attended New York University 1907-08. Entered Sheffield Scientific School Junior year, chemistry course, honors in chemistry Junior year, member Sigma Xi

Chemist, drug division, Tiffany & Company, New York City, 1910–11; attended George Washington University 1911–15 (M S 1913, Ph D 1915), associated with Food and Drug Administration, Department of Agriculture, Washington, 1918–29 and Bureau of Chemistry and Soils 1929–43; contributed to many scientific publications, fellow American Institute of Chemists; member Washington Academy of Sciences, American Chemical Society, American Association for the Advancement of Science, and Washington Hebrew Congregation

Married June 22, 1915, in Baltimore, Md, Rose, daughter of Max and Sara (Epstein) Epstein Daughter Harriet Barbara, the wife of Herbert Schwartz

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Washington Hebrew Congregation Cemetery Survived by wife, daughter, two sisters, Dora Palkin (LL.B. Wash-

ington Coll of Law 1915) and Miss Ray Palkin, both of Washington, and a brother, Joseph Ralph Palkin (D.D S. George Washington Univ. 1915) of Washington.

Joseph Warren Lewis, Ph.B. 1911.

Born August 20, 1889, in Germantown, Pa. Died February 12, 1943, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, Francis Draper Lewis (B A Amherst 1869, LL B Harvard 1871), member Morgan, Lewis & Bockius, lawyers, Philadelphia, son of Joseph Warren and Anna Homer (Kidder) Lewis of Philadelphia Mother, Mary (Chandler) Lewis, daughter of Charles Wesley and Julia Adelaide (Peabody) Chandler of Philadelphia Yale relatives include an uncle, George P Chandler, '95.

Chestnut Hill Academy, Philadelphia, and Pomfret (Conn) School Electrical engineering course, member St Anthony and Delta Psi

Associated with Philadelphia Electric Company 1911–12, attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1912–15 (LL B 1915, editor Law Review 1913–15); admitted to the bar 1915, associated with Morgan, Lewis & Bockius 1915 until retirement 1929 because of ill-health, resided in Boyce, Va, several years; private First Troop, Philadelphia City Cavalry, Pennsylvania National Guard, June 13, 1913, called into Federal service June 18, 1916, served on Mexican border July 11, 1916–January 9, 1917, mustered out of service January 20, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Niagara, May 11, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917, assigned to Battery B, 1st Battalion, 311th Field Artillery, Camp Meade, August 29, 1917, promoted First Lieutenant December 31, 1917, overseas July, 1918–June, 1919, discharged June 11, 1919, Captain 308th Field Artillery, Pennsylvania National Guard, from about 1920 until about 1928; member Christ Church (Episcopal), Millwood, Va

Unmarried.

Death due to pulmonary infarction Buried in St Thomas' Churchyard, Whitemarsh, Pa Survived by mother, two sisters, Miss Mary Chandler Lewis of Boyce, Va., and Anna L Grant, the wife of Francis Clark Grant (M D. Univ. of Pennsylvania 1919) of Philadelphia, and a brother, Winslow Lewis (B A. Princeton 1926) of Philadelphia

Archibald Young, Ph.B. 1911.

Born September 17, 1889, in Brooklyn, NY Died October 26, 1942, in Bay Pines, Fla

Father, Archibald Young, in real-estate business and manager of a private estate in Brooklyn suburbs; son of Archibald and Mary Anne (Wanzer) Young

of Brooklyn Mother, Frances (Smith) Young; daughter of Thomas Howell and Mary Cecilia (Reed) Smith of New Jersey Yale relatives include a cousin, Truman P Young, '99

Pawling (N Y) School for Boys Civil engineering course; Class crew squad; Class picture committee, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club

Commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps, July 1, 1911, attended Marine Officers schools at Port Royal, S.C., and Navy Yard, Norfolk, Va , 1911–12, on duty at Naval Station, Cavite, Philippine Islands, 1914 and in California 1915; held temporary rank of Captain in Gendarmerie d'Haiti, Port-au-Prince, October, 1916-October, 1917, promoted Captain, U S Marine Corps, July 1, 1916, and Major May 23, 1925; successively commanding officer of Marine guard aboard USS. South Dakota and USS Delaware, with temporary commission of Major, 1918-19, stationed at Marine Barracks, Parris Island, SC, 1920, attended Field Officers School, Quantico, Va, 1922, and stationed there 1922-24, on duty at Marine Barracks, Navy Yard, Boston, 1924–25 and with First Marine Brigade, Port-au-Prince, 1926; commissioned Colonel in Guardia Nacional de Nicaragua and commanded Indian troops in area of Léon and later in region of Nueva Segovia in active campaign against bandits, stationed at Marine Barracks and Recruit Training Station, Parris Island, 1929–32, ordered to China 1932 and on duty in Shanghai 1933–35; executive officer, Marine Barracks, Navy Yard, Mare Island, Calif, 1935, retired June 30, 1936, had since been proprietor of Young's Cottages, Clearwater Beach, Fla, member Church of the Holy Spirit (Episcopal), Brooklyn

Married May 11, 1921, in Columbus, Ga, Jessie Leitner, daughter of Lock Weems and Flora Campbell (Leitner) Redd Children. Archibald, Jr, and Lock Redd

Death due to bronchogenic carcinoma. Buried in Clearwater Cemetery. Survived by wife, two sons, mother, and a sister, Miss Anne W. Young of Brooklyn.

George Morris Humphreys, Ph.B. 1912.

Born April 4, 1891, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died October 31, 1942, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, George Adams Humphreys, engaged in steel business in Pittsburgh, Pa, and Youngstown, Ohio, son of George D and Ellen (Young) Humphreys of St Louis, Mo Mother, Elizabeth (Morris) Humphreys, daughter of Colonel Evan Morris and Elizabeth Lucretia (Davis) Morris of Girard, Ohio Yale relatives include two cousins, Warner Marshall, '02 L, and William McKinley Osborne, '12 S

University School, Cleveland Select course; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club

Clerk Progress Coal Company, Bannock, Ohio, 1912-13, assistant superin-

tendent 1913–14, and superintendent 1914–15; office manager Sparkade Company, bottlers of carbonated water, Cleveland, 1915, associated with Cleveland Hardware Company 1915–17 and 1919–21, independently engaged in insurance business in Cleveland under firm name The Humphreys Agency 1921–42, commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance, November 24, 1917, assigned to Carriage Section, Production Division, Washington, DC, transferred to Cleveland district of Ordnance Office August, 1918, discharged March 15, 1919; member Cleveland Chamber of Commerce and Trinity Cathedral (Episcopal), Cleveland

Married December 27, 1915, in Cleveland, Daphne, daughter of Samuel Sterling and Mary (Klinger) McMillin Children Daphne Elizabeth, the wife of Baird Tewksbury, Jr (Cornell Univ ex-'37), and William McMillin Mr.

and Mrs. Humphreys were divorced in 1938

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Youngstown. Survived by children and two grandchildren.

Andrew Hynes McCreery, Ph.B. 1912.

Born September 24, 1889, in St Louis, Mo Died September 29, 1942, in St. Louis, Mo

Father, Wayman Crow McCreery, a real-estate dealer in St Louis, son of Phocian Robert and Mary Jane (Hynes) McCreery of St Louis Mother, Mary Louise (Carr) McCreery, daughter of Dabney and Mary Elizabeth (Dyer) Carr of St Louis Yale relatives include a nephew, Wayman Vieths, ex-'27

Smith Academy, St Louis, Hoosac School, Hoosick, NY, and Pawling (NY.) School for Boys. Select course, Freshman Baseball Team, University Baseball Squad Junior and Senior years, University Track Squad Junior year, University Hockey Team Senior year; Class hockey team, member Sheff

Debating Society and St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Employed in St. Louis since graduation, with A G Edwards & Sons, brokers and bankers, 1912–15, bond salesman William R Compton & Company 1915–17, representative William P Bonbright & Company, brokers, 1917, partner McCreery & Taussig, sales engineers, 1919–30, successively customer's man Benjamin Hill & Company, representative Frankfort (Ky) Distilleries, Inc., and with City Ice & Fuel Company, squash champion of St Louis 1923, 1924, enrolled as Chief Quartermaster, U S Naval Reserve Force, April, 1917, and assigned to U S S Vision, commissioned Ensign June 27, 1917, attended First Reserve Officers Class, U S Naval Academy, July–September, 1917; assigned to U S S Seattle and on troop convoy duty until April, 1918, promoted Lieutenant (1 g) July 1, 1918, instructor Naval Training Camp, Deer Island, April–December, 1918, attached to receiving ship in Boston December, 1918–April, 1919, transferred to U S S Rochester April, 1919, and on duty for

trans-Atlantic flight of NC-4, NC-1, and NC-3; discharged July 1, 1919; member Christ Church Cathedral (Episcopal), St Louis

Unmarried

Death due to injuries received in an accident Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St. Louis. Survived by two sisters, Mary Louise M. Vieths, the widow of Oscar H Vieths, '95 S, and Mrs Loren Whitaker Sloan of Kirkwood, Mo

Garrick Mallery Spencer, Ph.B. 1912.

Born May 30, 1889, in Watertown, NY. Died August 4, 1942, in New York City.

Father, James Decker Spencer (M D Bellevue Hospital Medical Coll 1870), a physician in Watertown, president Medical Society of the State of New York 1896, son of Henry Gordon Percival Spencer (M D Jefferson Medical Coll 1846) and Emily Antoinette (Decker) Spencer of Watertown. Mother, Frances Eleanor (Phelps) Spencer, daughter of George Benjamin and Agnes (Phillipson) Phelps of Watertown Yale relatives include a cousin, Carter Phelps, '14

Watertown High School, private tutor in Dresden, Germany, and St. Paul's School, Concord, N. H. Select course, University Choir, member St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Associated with T A Gillespie Engineering Company on Cheat River construction project near Morgantown, W Va, 1912-13; attended Harvard Law School 1913-16 (LL B 1916), admitted to the bar 1916, with Legal Aid Society, New York City, 1916–17, associated with Rounds, Hatch, Dillingham [Frank A, '91] & Debevoise [Thomas M, '95], New York City, 1917; entered U.S. Naval Reserve early in 1918 and served until December 4, 1918, independently engaged in practice of law, New York City, 1919-42; vice-president Watch-Motor Mainspring Company, Inc , 1926-42, secretary Atherton & Currier, Inc, advertising agency, 1927–31 and vice-president 1931–42; secretary Sandvik Steel, Inc , 1919-42 (treasurer 1939-42), Johaneson, Wales & Sparre, Inc , wood pulp importers, 1922-42, Sandvik Canadian, Ltd., Sandvik Steel Company of Canada, Ltd, Cellulose Sales Company, Inc, H B A Steel Company, Inc., Viking Corporation, Scandinavian Export Paper Company, and Saltcake Sales Corporation, treasurer Wicander & Company, cork importers, 1932–42; secretary-treasurer Marchant Estates, Inc., in 1940 received Royal Order of Vasa (first class) from King Gustav V of Sweden in recognition of his cooperation in arranging commercial treaties between Sweden and the United States, member First Presbyterian Church, Watertown.

Unmarried

Death due to hypertensive arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Brookside Cemetery, Watertown Survived by a sister, Mrs. Sally S. Klump of Detroit, Mich, and a brother, George P. Spencer, '03 S.

Martin Cedric Dowling, Ph.B. 1913.

Born June 9, 1889, in Rockville, Conn Died April 30, 1943, in Jackson, Mich

Father, William Henry Dowling, manager G W Hill Lumber Company, Rockville, son of Martin and Julia C. Dowling Mother, Marguerite Jane (Pierce) Dowling, daughter of Mathias and Margaret J Pierce

Rockville High School and Phillips-Andover Civil engineering course, captain Freshman Track Team, University Track Team Junior and Senior years, Sheff Student Council, member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi

Associated with Consumers Power Company, Jackson, 1913–43 (statistical clerk 1913–14, construction clerk on building steam plants and hydroelectric developments 1914–17, in general accounting offices 1919–20, in charge construction accounting 1920–22 and of statistical work in securities department 1920–30, chief clerk, assistant secretary in charge of general accounting, general supervisor of plant reclassification, and at the time of his death was in full charge of all the plant accounting of the company), entered service as Sergeant (1st class), December, 1917; promoted Master Signal Electrician, Air Service, July, 1918, with 504th Aero Squadron and Company C, 10th Field Battalion, Signal Corps, Camp Alfred Vail, transferred to 498th Aero Squadron, Langley Field, and overseas with that unit September 2, 1918–January 6, 1919, discharged January, 1919; charter member Jackson Junior Chamber of Commerce, member Masonic order and St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Jackson

Married June 23, 1919, in Jackson, Marjorie Doris, daughter of Clarke W and Evanette (Barlow) Hills Daughter Clara Hills (Connecticut Coll for Women 1941–42, Michigan State Coll 1945)

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Woodland Cemetery, Jackson. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Miss Alice Dowling of Hartford, Conn

Harry Edward Drevenstedt, Ph.B. 1913.

Born February 4, 1891, in Jamesburg, NJ Died February 10, 1943, in White Plains, NY

Father, John Henry Drevenstedt (Columbia ex-'77 E), editor for American Poultry Association, Buffalo, N.Y.; son of John Christian and Caroline Drevenstedt of Paris, France, and New York City Mother, Lily (Schwedler) Drevenstedt; daughter of Edward Frederick and Emilie (Aube) Schwedler of New York City

Johnstown (N Y.) High School and Red Bank (N J) High School Mechanical engineering course, honors for excellence in all studies of Freshman year, Class baseball team; Class Book historian, member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

With Stone & Webster, contractors, 1913, general manager Municipal Service Company of Philadelphia 1914, superintendent Salem (Ohio) Electric Lighting Company 1915–19, associated with National Carbon Company, Inc, Cleveland and New York City, 1919–43 (vice-president in charge of sales 1936–43), vice-president Acheson Graphite Corporation 1931–43 and Electro Metallurgical Company of Canada, Ltd, 1941–43, member Electrical Manufacturers Club

Married July 12, 1916, in Sumter, S.C., Agnes, daughter of Edgar Charles and Clara (Talley) Haynsworth. Children Clara Talley and Mary.

Death due to chronic interstitial nephritis Ashes interred in Sumter Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Mrs Amy D. Hay of Hollywood, Calif, and Fanny D Elliott (Pd B New York State Coll for Teachers 1907), the wife of Marcus Elliott (B A Univ. of Pennsylvania 1907) of Hohokus, N J.

Herbert Spencer Hemmeter, Ph.B. 1913.

Born September 6, 1890, in Saginaw, Mich. Died March 13, 1943, in Detroit, Mich

Father, John Paul Hemmeter, president Hemmeter Cigar Company, Detroit and Bay City, Mich, son of John and Mary B. Hemmeter of Saginaw. Mother, Caroline Henrietta (Lattener) Hemmeter, daughter of Daniel and Magdeline (Cappell) Lattener of Syracuse, N Y

Detroit Central High School and Hargrove School, Fairfield, Conn Select course

Associated with Hemmeter Cigar Company 1913-43 (manager Bay City factory 1925-41, vice-president, secretary 1924-27, treasurer 1924-43, and president 1926-43), president The Hemmeter Investment Company 1926-43; member Christ Evangelical Lutheran Church, Detroit.

Married July 23, 1927, in Detroit, Gladys, daughter of Henry William and Clara (Schwensberger) Kammer Children: Herbert Spencer, Jr (died February 8, 1935), Winona Gladys, and John Henry

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Detroit. Survived by wife, daughter, one son, mother, and a sister, Mrs. Clara H. White of Grosse Pointe, Mich

Trude Alfred Wiehe, Ph.B. 1913.

Born November 20, 1890, in Chicago, Ill. Died December 19, 1942, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Christian Fredrich Wiehe, an incorporator and secretary Edward Hines Lumber Company, Chicago Mother, Katherine (Hines) Wiehe; daughter of Peter and Rose Hines of Chicago

Chicago Latin School and Tome School for Boys, Port Deposit, Md Select course.

Attended Yale School of Law 1914–16 and Northwestern University School of Law 1916; an officer Market Trust & Savings Bank, Chicago, 1916–17 and 1919–20, with Edward Hines Lumber Company in advisory capacity 1920 until retirement from active business 1924, in charge of bail bonds in office of State's Attorney of Cook County 1924–28, supervised and managed his own investments and estate 1924–42; in 1931 was instrumental in forming Garfield Park State Bank Bondholders' Protective Committee (member and secretary), enlisted as private (1st class), Aviation Section, Signal Corps, December 12, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Air Service (production), March 9, 1918, stationed at engineering department, Post Field, Fort Sill, until transferred to Motor Transport Corps Detachment, Spruce Production Division, Vancouver Barracks, July 15, 1918, discharged January 17, 1919, member Roman Catholic church.

Married in 1931, in Waukegan, Ill, Virginia LaRue. No children

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife and a sister, Florence W Breitkreutz (Lawrence Coll 1937–38; Univ. of Wisconsin 1938–40), the wife of Robert Alfred Breitkreutz (Carroll Coll. 1936–38; University of Wisconsin 1938–40) of Chicago

Charles Morgan Caldwell, Ph.B. 1914.

Born August 1, 1894, in Springfield, Mass Died February 17, 1943, in Brookline, Mass.

Father, Winford Newman Caldwell of Springfield, president American Writing Paper Company, Holyoke, Mass, son of Charles E and Melissa S (Morgan) Caldwell of Springfield Mother, Fannie Louise (Houston) Caldwell, daughter of Osman N and Louisa F (Wildes) Houston of Springfield

Springfield High School and Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course.

Traveled 1914–15; with Smith & Wesson, Inc., manufacturers of revolvers and pistols, Springfield, 1915–16, engineer and draftsman New York and Pennsylvania Company, Lock Haven, Pa., 1916–17, field engineer Fred T. Ley & Company, Inc., general contractors, Boston, Mass., 1919–20 and assistant superintendent 1920–21; associated with Flex-or-Crete Corporation, Springfield, 1921–25 (treasurer and general manager 1922–25) and Otis Elevator Company 1925–32 (sales engineer in Philadelphia 1925–26 and Boston 1926–29, manager Kansas City office 1929–31 and Providence office 1931–32), traveled around the world 1932–37, elevator consultant in Boston 1939–42, director construction division, regional office of War Production Board, Boston, 1942–

43, vice-president X-Otic, Inc., New York City, 1932–33, enlisted as private (1st class), 305th Ambulance Company, 302d Sanitary Train, 77th Division, August 18, 1917, overseas February 28, 1918–May 2, 1919, transferred to 302d Engineers, 77th Division, October, 1918; discharged May 20, 1919, as First Lieutenant, member Yale Engineering Association, American Society of Military Engineers, and Congregational church, Springfield

Married June 15, 1921, in Brockton, Mass, Iona Marie, daughter of Orvis

Loring and Louise (Carr) Randall No children

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Springfield Cemetery Survived by wife, mother, and a sister, Ruth Caldwell Stimpson (B A. Vassar 1911) of Brookline

George Beverley Heilner, Ph.B. 1914.

Born December 9, 1891, in Elizabeth, NJ Died September 18, 1942, in Elizabeth, NJ

Father, Marcus Butler Heilner, member Heilner & Son, wholesale coal merchants, Elizabeth, son of Marcus G and Sylvina (Butler) Heilner of New York City Mother, Lucy Wortham (Crane) Heilner, daughter of John Riggs and Nancy (Poythress) Crane of Elizabeth

Pingry School, Elizabeth, and Chestnut Hill Academy, Philadelphia Mining engineering course, secretary Yale Aero Club; member Yale Corinthian Yacht

Club and Alpha Sigma Phi

Graduate student in mining engineering at Yale 1914–16, engineer Lehigh Coal & Navigation Company, Lansford, Pa, 1916–17, New Jersey Bridge & Tunnel Commission 1919, and The Willys Corporation, Elizabeth, 1919–21; statistician and later auditor Bankers Trust Company, New York City, 1921; retired in 1929, enlisted August 29, 1917, in Training Battalion, 6th Field Artillery, Fort Myer, overseas December 27, 1917–March 2, 1919, transferred to Tank Corps February 18, 1918, and commissioned Second Lieutenant March 28, 1918, organized and in charge reconnaissance school of Tank School; Battalion Reconnaissance Officer, 344th Battalion, 1st Brigade, in St-Mihiel and Meuse-Argonne offensives; discharged April 12, 1919, member American Legion and Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States; vestryman St John's Church (Episcopal), Elizabeth, 1925–29.

Married September 12, 1922, in Elizabeth, Lois, daughter of Charles Bertram Newton (B A Princeton 1893) and Carol Hall (Cooke) Newton (Vassar ex-'95) Children Butler Newton; David Poythress (U S M.C R); and Lois

Beverley

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Elizabeth Survived by wife, children, mother, and a sister, Mrs Simeon Thomas Toby of Elizabeth

Jonathan Hunt, Ph.B. 1914.

Born March 2, 1893, in New York City. Died February 6, 1943, in North Branford, Conn

Father, Richard Howland Hunt (Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1880–82), an architect in New York City; son of Richard Morris Hunt, LL D, and Catharine Clinton (Howland) Hunt of New York City Mother, Pearl Chess (Carley) Hunt; daughter of Francis Dightman Carley and Mary (Chess) Carley of Louisville, Ky. Yale relatives include William J L'Engle, '06 S (cousin), and Frank C Hunt, Jr, ex-'35 S, Richard B. Hunt, '41, and Bradley N Hunt, '42 (nephews).

Pawling (N.Y) School for Boys Select course, honors in English literature and French Freshman year, chairman Yale Sheffield Monthly Senior year, Class prophet; Senior Promenade Committee, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Elizabethan and University clubs, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Agent Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States 1914, salesman Robinson Brothers, real estate and insurance, St. Petersburg, Fla, 1914–15; partner Carley & Hunt, owners and managers West Coast Inn, St Petersburg, and automobile salesman 1915-17, attended Second Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery Reserve Corps, November 27, 1917, assigned to 77th Division, Camp Upton, transferred to 1st Field Artillery, Fort Sill, January 23, 1918, promoted First Lieutenant, National Army, November 1, 1918, First Lieutenant, Regular Army, July 1, 1920, and Captain October 8, 1929, graduated Field Artillery School, Battery Officers Course, 1924, stationed at Fort Sill, 1918–24, with 4th and 2d Field Artillery, Canal Zone, 1924–28, 7th Field Artillery, Fort Ethan Allen, 1928–34, and 17th Field Artillery, Fort Bragg, 1934, retired November 30, 1934, because of physical disability, member Tinder, Wood & Hunt, Inc , automobile dealers, Richmond, Va, 1935–38; with Carrier Corporation of Syracuse, NY, 1938–39 (sales manager in Norfolk, Va, 1938); general sales manager Air Distributors, Inc, West Haven, Conn, 1939–41, inspector High Standard Manufacturing Company, New Haven, 1941-43; treasurer Yale Club of Fort Sill 1920-23; secretary Richmond Automobile Dealers Association 1937–38, member Society of Colonial Wars, American Legion, and Episcopal church

Married (1) June 30, 1914, in New Haven, Gertrude, daughter of Michael Joseph Donovan Mr and Mrs Hunt were divorced in 1916 Married (2) August 2, 1918, at Fort Sill, Dorothy Jane, daughter of Wilford Marcus and Winifred (Hess) Smith Mrs. Hunt died August 11, 1923 Married (3) October 18, 1933, in Portland, Ore, Ernestine Monroe Dickson, daughter of Col William Harrison Monroe, U S A, Ret. (U S Military Academy ex-'93), and Mabelle Eleanore (Jones) Monroe.

Death due to acute coronary occlusion Buried in Island Cemetery, Newport, R I. Survived by wife, two brothers, Richard C Hunt, '08 L, and Frank Carley Hunt, ex-'09 S, and a stepson, William Harrison Monroe Hunt

Wilfred Sefton, Ph.B. 1914.

Born July 14, 1892, in Auburn, N.Y. Died November 4, 1942, in Auburn, N.Y.

Father, Frederick Sefton, '84 M Mother, Maude Milligan (Fitch) Sefton. St Paul's School, Concord, N.H Select course; Freshman Crew Squad; Class crew Junior year, member Dunham Boat Club, University and Elizabethan clubs, and York Hall and Chi Phi.

Attended Harvard Medical School 1914–18 (M D cum laude 1918); private, Medical Enlisted Reserve Corps, on inactive duty at Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, 1918–19, physician in Auburn 1919–42, specializing in internal medicine, fellow American Medical Association, member Medical Society of the State of New York and St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Auburn

Married May 31, 1919, in Chestnut Hill, Mass, Eleanor, daughter of Charles N and Mary Bryant (Pratt) Sprague Children: Katherine and Sprague. Dr. and Mrs Sefton were divorced in 1937

Death due to interstitial pneumonia. Buried in Fort Hill Cemetery, Auburn. Survived by children, mother, and a brother, Pennington Sefton, ex-'19 S

James Franklin Gılkınson, Ph.B. 1915.

Born April 10, 1894, in New York City. Died March 26, 1943, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, James Edmond Gilkinson, a wholesale grocer in New York City. Mother, Alice Jane (Whidbee) Gilkinson.

Middletown (Conn) High School Select course, Freshman Glee Club; substitute Class basketball team, member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1915–17, enlisted as seaman, U S Naval Reserve, April 10, 1917, assigned to Naval Intelligence, convoy and patrol work, 3d Naval District, commissioned Ensign November, 1917; promoted Lieutenant (Jg) January, 1918, released from active service January 30, 1918, admitted to the bar 1919, lawyer in New York City 1919–23 and importer 1923–25, engaged in real-estate and insurance business in New Rochelle, NY., Lieutenant Commander, U S Naval Reserve, attached to Naval Intelligence Division, 3d Naval District, 1941–43.

Married October 9, 1917, in Pelham Manor, N Y, Anahid Sona, daughter of Bedros Kazanjian Children Alice Sona, the wife of Wilson Hopper Kierstead, Jr (B A Wesleyan 1940); Jane Garinee, the wife of Frederick L Comley, '37, and James Franklin, Jr.

Death due to heart failure Buried in Middletown Survived by wife and children.

Paul Loughridge, Ph.B. 1915.

Born September 14, 1892, in Chicago, Ill Died February 26, 1943, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, Charles Loughridge, '83. Mother, Amelia (Harmon) Loughridge Yale relatives include a brother, William Loughridge, '12

East High School, Denver, Colo, and Taft School, Watertown, Conn Select course; Freshman Football and Track teams, University Football Team Junior and Senior years; Junior University Track Team Senior year; Senior Promenade Committee; member The Cloister and Book and Snake, and Aurelian Honor Society.

Bond salesman Sweet, Causey, Foster & Company, Denver, 1915–16, member Bosworth [Arthur H, 08 S], Chanute [W. Octave, '09 S] & Company, investment bonds, Denver, 1916–26 and treasurer 1920–26, vice-president of its successor Bosworth, Chanute, Loughridge & Company 1927–43, attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Riley, commissioned Captain, Infantry, 89th Division, Camp Funston, August, 1917, promoted Major September 4, 1918, overseas June, 1918–April, 1919, graduated from Staff College, Langres, December 31, 1918, Assistant Chief of Staff of Military Operations, 26th Division; trustee Taft School 1941–43, president Colorado Yale Alumni Association 1937–38, on scholarship fund committee 1929–30 and nomination committee 1939; secretary Class of '15 S from 1935 to 1943 and member reunion committees; member Investment Bankers Association (on executive committee Rocky Mountain group 1928–38, vice-chairman 1931–32, chairman 1932–33) and Ascension Church (Episcopal), Denver

Married June 10, 1924, in Denver, Marjorie, daughter of William Isaac and Ida Alice (Kennedy) Mead. Children Paul, Jr (registered at Yale July, 1943, withdrew for war service August, 1943), Charles, Ruth, and Alice

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Denver Survived by wife and children.

Douglas Grayson Buchanan, Ph.B. 1917.

Born May 8, 1892, in Pittsburgh, Pa Died May 15, 1943, in Pittsburgh, Pa

Father, Douglas Buchanan; associated with Pittsburgh Terminal Warehouse and Transfer Company; son of Isaac and Agnes (Jarvie) Buchanan, of Hamilton, Ontario Mother, Sara Eleanor (Grayson) Buchanan, daughter of John and Sara (Scott) Grayson of Pittsburgh

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh, and St George's School, Newport, R I Select course; Freshman Hockey Team, University Hockey Team Junior and Senior years; member The Cloister and Book and Snake

Entered Officers Training Camp, Fort Niagara, May 12, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917, and First Lieutenant September, 1918, with 310th Field Artillery and 304th Trench Mortar Battery, Camp Meade; overseas July 14, 1918–June 27, 1919, saw action in Meuse-Argonne October–November, 1918, stationed at General Headquarters, Chaumont, December, 1918–March, 1919; discharged June 27, 1919; with National Tube Company, Lorain, Ohio, 1919–23, assistant superintendent open hearth department, American Sheet and Tin Plate Company, Vandergrift, Pa., 1923–29, general superintendent Vandergrift works of Carnegie-Illinois Steel Company 1929–43, member Iron and Steel Institute, Engineers Society of Western Pennsylvania, Masonic order, and St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Pittsburgh

Married February 8, 1926, in Greensburg, Pa, Alice Maier (Pennsylvania Coll for Women 1911–12), daughter of Louis and Ida Elizabeth (Shank) Maier.

Children Douglas Grayson, Jr, Lewis Maier, and Sarah Alice.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Miss Evelyn Grayson Buchanan of Bloomfield Hills, Mich

Thomas Danforth Dixon, Ph.B. 1918.

Born June 12, 1894, in Pueblo, Colo Died February 16, 1943, in New York City.

Father, John Roman Dixon, general counsel Nevada-California Electric Corporation, Denver, judge county of Denver; son of George Corbin and Virginia White (White) Dixon of Princess Anne, Md. Mother, Clara (McCoy) Dixon, daughter of Asa Shinn and Lydia (Chamberlin) McCoy of Bloomington, Ill

Graham School for Boys, Denver, and private tutor; attended University of Denver 1912–13 and University of Pennsylvania 1913–15 Select course at Yale, entered service June 11, 1917, as First Lieutenant, Aviation Section, Signal Corps, stationed at Garden City, N Y., Washington, D.C., and Camp Sevier, S C., promoted Captain, Air Service, September 1, 1918; adjutant March Field until discharge December 23, 1918, awarded Ph B in 1919 with enrollment in 1918 S

Banker or broker in New York City 1918 until retirement; with Empire Trust Company 1921–24, Hornblower & Weeks 1924–28, and A O. Slaughter, Anderson & Fox (manager wire, order, and trading room 1930–35); member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Pueblo.

Married February 21, 1940, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Nina, daughter of John

Francis Twain and Margaret (O'Hanlon) Slevin. No children.

Death due to pneumonia Buried in St Andrew's Episcopal Churchyard,
Princess Anne Survived by wife and mother.

[Arthur] Stanley Jackson, Ph.B. 1920.

Born June 22, 1899, in Chicago, Ill Died July 17, 1942, in Menominee, Mich.

Father, Arthur Stanley Jackson, dealer in grain, stocks, and bonds, Chicago, son of William Stanley and Ella (Helmer) Jackson of Chicago Mother, Louisa (Burkhardt) Jackson. Yale relatives include Charles D Helmer, '52 (great-uncle); Harry H Jackson, '92 S. (uncle), and Harry H Jackson, Jr, ex-'18 S (cousin)

University High School, Chicago, and Phillips-Exeter Select course, member St Anthony and Delta Psi, awarded Ph B in 1921 with enrollment in 1920 S.

Became associated with Jackson Brothers & Company, grain and stock commission merchants, Chicago, 1921

Married Children Audrey and Suzanne Mr and Mrs Jackson were divorced Death due to heart disease Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Chicago Survived by children and mother

John Weldon, Ph.B. 1921.

Born January 22, 1899, in Willimantic, Conn Died February 26, 1943, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, John Weldon (M D New York Univ 1883), surgeon and therapeutic specialist in Willimantic; son of Thomas Weldon of Willimantic. Mother, Annie (Avery) Weldon. Yale relatives include a cousin, T Weldon Donaghue, 14.

Grand Valley (Colo) and Mt Vernon (NY) High schools and Phillips-Exeter Select course; Freshman honors in English literature, member US. Naval Unit at Yale Attended Yale School of Law 1921–23

Engaged in management of his own property 1923–36, half owner, vice-president, and sales manager Grunco Sales Company 1925–26; attended New York University School of Law 1927–29 (J D 1929), admitted to New York bar 1930, associate counsel Volunteer Defenders Committee of Legal Aid Society, New York City, 1930–33; independently engaged in practice of law in New York City 1933–40; regional adviser on Connecticut loans for Home Owners Loan Corporation 1934–37, engaged in statutory research, especially on taxation, under United States Department of Commerce 1939–43

Married March 9, 1935, in New York City, Lillian Marion Guest Wallis, daughter of Isaac B and Daisy (Moller) Guest No children Mrs Weldon died February 11, 1943.

Death due to cardiac hypertrophy and pneumonia. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by no immediate relatives

Leslie Hamilton Stoner, B.S. 1922.

Born December 17, 1899, in Lincoln University, Pa Died July 8, 1942, in Wallingford, Conn

Father, James Howard Stoner, a polisher and grinder with William Cramp Ship & Engine Building Company, Philadelphia, son of Samuel Ellsworth and Elizabeth (English) Stoner of Glenville, Pa. Mother, Annie Elizabeth (Hamilton) Stoner, daughter of Alexander and Eliza Jane (McFadden) Hamilton of Prospect, Md

Cheltenham High School, Elkins Park, Pa., and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn Chemical engineering course, Class baseball and tennis teams, apprentice seaman U.S. Naval Unit at Yale October 4, 1918-Novem-

ber 18, 1921; member Alpha Sigma Phi

With International Silver Company, Wallingford, 1922–42 (salesman 1923–25; assistant advertising manager, sterling silver division, 1925–28 and advertising manager 1928–35, sales manager sterling flatware division 1935–42); member Fagg's Manor Presbyterian Church, Chester County, Pa

Unmarried

Death due to accidental overdose of nembutal Buried in Homeville (Pa) Friends Cemetery Survived by father

John [Peter] Newman Wittenberg, B.S. 1923.

Born December 4, 1899, in Logan, W Va. Died February 18, 1943, in Huntington, W Va

Father, Adalbert Robert Wittenberg, lumberman and operator of coal lands in West Virginia, son of Adalbert Robert and Philomena (Wawroski) Wittenberg of Germany, and Ironton, Ohio Mother, Agnes (Newman) Wittenberg; daughter of John Peter and Anna (Spanner) Newman of Ironton

Preparatory School of University of Notre Dame and Huntington (W.Va) High School, attended Marshall College 1916–18 Administrative engineering course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year, general two-year honors for excellence in all studies Sophomore year and general three-year honors for excellence in all studies Junior year, B S cum laude 1923; member Field Artillery Unit, S A T C, at Yale, member Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa, Torch Honor Society, and Sigma Xi

Independently engaged in engineering, Pineville, W Va, 1924–26; partner J C & J N Wittenberg Lumber Company, Pineville, 1926–41; associated with United States Engineers, Huntington, 1942–43; district forester, with head-quarters at Bramwell and Beckley, W.Va, 1934–39; member St Joseph's Church (Catholic), Huntington

Married March 16, 1928, in Mullens, W Va, Margaret McConnell (B A.

West Virginia Univ. 1920), daughter of Daniel W and Susan (Kildoo) Mc-Connell. Children John Peter Newman, Jr, and Daniel McConnell

Death due to cerebral edema Buried in Woodmere Cemetery, Huntington Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Anne W Kelly (B A Marshall Coll 1932), the wife of Joseph Peter Kelly (Georgetown Univ 1924, Lehigh 1925–27) of Logan, W Va, and a brother, Adalbert Robert Wittenberg, Jr (LL.B. West Virginia Univ 1930), of Huntington Another brother, John C Wittenberg, '20 S, died in 1941.

Myer Solomon, B.S. 1925.

Born July 12, 1904, in Plainfield, NJ Died August 9, 1942, in Newark, NJ

Father, Henry Solomon, a tailor in New Haven, Conn, son of Myer Solomon of Russia Mother, Anna (Markoff) Solomon, daughter of Moses Markoff of Russia. Yale relatives include a cousin, Samuel Tobias Markoff, '23, '26 M

Torrington (Conn.) High School Chemistry course, honors for excellence in all studies of the Freshman year and winner second Benjamin F Barge Mathematical Prize, general one-year honors for excellence in all studies, honorable mention for excellence in mathematics and physics and for Stone Trust Corporation Prize in mathematics Sophomore year, two-year honors for excellence in all studies Junior year; B S summa cum laude 1925 Graduate student in chemistry Yale University 1925–28 (Ph D 1928, member Sigma X1, laboratory assistant in chemistry 1925–27)

Teacher Colonial Preparatory School, New Haven, 1928–29, research chemist International Paper Company, Glens Falls, NY, 1929–33, chemist Bagpak, Inc, Philadelphia, 1933–35, research chemist RCA Manufacturing Company, Camden, NJ, 1935–42, author "The Mutual Solubility Relations of Some Aromatic Compounds" (1928)

Married August 10, 1934, in Westminster, Md, Nellie, daughter of John and Mary Catharine (Irwin) Wagenseller No children

Death due to hemorrhagic encephalitis Buried in Mt Sinai Memorial Park Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, mother, two sisters, Miss Sylvia Solomon of Hamden and Gladys Solomon (B A Albertus Magnus Coll 1934) of Washington, D C, and a brother, William Solomon of Hamden.

Gordon Seafield Grant, B.S. 1926.

Born July 19, 1904, in Santa Barbara, Calif Died November 13, 1942, in the South Pacific

Father, Charles William Grant, a lawyer in Santa Barbara, son of Alexander and Anne (Anderson) Grant of Scotland and Santa Barbara Mother, Ethelyn

(Mears) Grant; daughter of Richard and Mary Ann (Wallace) Mears of Santa Barbara

Santa Barbara High School, attended Santa Barbara State Teachers College 1921-22 Electrical engineering course; Freshman Swimming Squad; University Swimming Squad Sophomore year, Class basketball team Sophomore, Junior, and Semor years, member student branch American Institute of Electrical

Engineers (treasurer Senior year).

Electrical engineer Commonwealth Edison Company, Chicago, Ill., 1926-27, successively field engineer, assistant engineer of construction, and in sales promotion department Public Service Company of Northern Illinois, Chicago, 1927-34, lighting engineer Metropolitan Edison Company, Reading, Pa, 1935-38, commercial engineer Bradford (Pa.) Electric Company 1938-41; appointed Lieutenant, United States Naval Reserve, February 13, 1941, and stationed at New York Shipbuilding Corporation, Camden, N.J., on special engineering duty, transferred to Supervisor of Shipbuilding, United States Navy, at Kearny, NJ, for duty aboard newly commissioned USS Juneau January 5, 1942, and to general engineering duties August 3, 1942; promoted Lieutenant Commander October 1, 1942, member Yale Engineering Association, Illuminating Engineering Society (Chicago), and Hyde Park Baptist Church, Chicago

Lieutenant Commander Grant lost his life when his ship was torpedoed in the Battle of Guadalcanal Survived by wife, Martha Jane, daughter of George W. and Harriet R (Binkey) Yount, two sons, Gordon James and Barry Wayne Grant, and a sister, Evelyn Grant (B.A. Univ of Redlands 1920; Univ. of California 1920–22) of Santa Barbara.

Ralph William Hodgkins, B.S. 1926.

Born September 26, 1901, in Reading, Pa. Died February 24, 1943, in York, Pa.

Father, David Hodgkins, in insurance business in Reading, son of David A. and Comfort (Jones) Hodgkins of England and Reading Mother, Margaret Evelyn (Kensil) Hodgkins, daughter of William H and Emma Rebecca

(Harbster) Kensıl of Philadelphia, Pa

Reading High School and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Administrative engineering course, entered with 1925 S.; joined 1926 S. Senior year; Freshman Track Team and Cross-Country and Relay teams, Class basketball team Sophomore year, University Relay Team Sophomore year and University Track Squad Sophomore and Junior years, University Basketball Squad Junior year, member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi

Teacher of history and athletic coach Alexis duPont High School, Wilming-

ton, Del., 1926–29; instructor in mathematics and science and athletic coach Glens Falls (N.Y) public schools 1929–42, electrical engineer York Safe and Lock Company 1942–43, registered at Columbia University summer sessions 1929–32 (M A 1932); member Yale Engineering Association, Warren County Teachers Association, New York State Teachers Association, and Christ Church (Methodist Episcopal), Glens Falls.

Married October 16, 1926, in New Haven, Conn , Ruth Eleanor, daughter of Javan Edward and Mary Elizabeth (Snyder) DeLong and sister of Clyde S

DeLong, ex-'31, and Fred G. DeLong, '31 No children.

Death due to pyelonephritis Buried in Laureldale (Pa) Cemetery Survived by wife and two brothers, Robert H Hodgkins and Herbert F Hodgkins, both of Reading.

William Caldwell Hamilton, B.S. 1929.

Born December 18, 1909, in Chicago, Ill. Died October 24, 1942, near Milan, Italy.

Father, William George Hamilton (B A Univ of Wisconsin 1901, LL B 1904), general counsel Loose-Wiles Biscuit Company, Long Island City, N Y, son of William John and Jeanne (Nesbit) Hamilton of Madison, Wis Mother, Mary Etta (Caldwell) Hamilton, daughter of Charles Melville and Mary (Kelner) Caldwell of Lansing, Mich

Ridgefield (Conn) Academy and Phillips-Exeter Industrial engineering course; member Yale Aeronautical Society and York Hall and Chi Phi

Statistician A Iselin & Company, New York City, 1929–31 and bond trader 1932–34; bond broker Brown, Harriman & Company, Inc., New York City and London, 1935–38 and Fidelity & Casualty Company, New York City, 1939–40, with British Purchasing Commission, New York City, 1940–41, attended U S Army Cavalry School, Fort Riley, 1932, seaman on Black Diamond Steamship Company freighter sailing from New York to Antwerp 1934, enlisted Royal Canadian Air Force March, 1941, received observer's wings with rank of Sergeant Observer January, 1942, commissioned Pilot Officer February 16, 1942, sailed for England March, 1942, and after three months training was attached to an R A F Bomber Squadron as observer navigator, promoted to Flying Officer October 1, 1942; took part in raids over Germany, France, and Italy; member Association of Ex-members of Squadron A and St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married May 23, 1936, in New York City, Marjorie, daughter of John

Sullivan and Virginia (Gilroy) McBride. Son. William John

Flying Officer Hamilton was navigator of a Lancaster bomber which was shot down after bombing the city of Milan Survived by wife, son, mother (died May 10, 1943), and maternal grandmother

Charles Wilbur Vreeland, B.S. 1929.

Born December 15, 1904, in New York City. Died February 8, 1943, in East Hartland, Conn.

Father, John Henry Vreeland of Hartford; United States manager Scottish Union & National Insurance Company; son of Eader Oakley and Sophia Crocheron (Wynant) Vreeland of New York City Mother, Adele (Martin) Vreeland, daughter of Adam and Elizabeth Martin of Jersey City, N J., and New York City

Hartford Public High School. Entered with Class of 1928 S, joined 1929 S. Freshman year, general science course, Freshman Crew Squad; member

Franklin Hall and Theta X1

Associated with Wilson & Company, stock and bond brokers, Hartford, 1929–31, in Hartford office The Atlantic Corporation of Boston, investment bonds, 1931–34, engaged in general insurance business under name of Charles W Vreeland Insurance Agency, Hartford, 1934–43; chairman East Hartland Defense Council 1942–43, attended First Congregational Church, East Hartland.

Married September 19, 1929, in Cleveland, Ohio, Mary Constance Dean (Connecticut Coll for Women ex-'30), daughter of Arthur Wallace and Helen

(Sook) Dean. Daughter Joan Adele.

Mr and Mrs Vreeland and their daughter died in a fire which destroyed their home Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by parents and a brother, Kenneth Martin Vreeland (Massachusetts Inst. of Technology ex-'22) of West Hartford.

John Cameron Weimer, B.S. 1934.

Born September 27, 1911, in Lebanon, Pa.

Died October 23, 1942, at Camp McCoy, Wis.

Father, Walter Earle Weimer (A C Lehigh Univ. 1889), banker and shoe manufacturer in Lebanon, son of John Albert and Elizabeth (Weimar) Weimer of Lebanon Mother, Sarah Isabelle (Cameron) Weimer, daughter of John Miller and Lavinia Maria (Sellew) Cameron of Glastonbury, Conn.

Lebanon High School and Mercersburg (Pa) Academy Industrial administration course, Freshman 150-pound Crew Squad; University 150-pound Crew Squad Sophomore year, member Yale Outing Club and Saybrook College (crew Senior year) Attended Yale School of Forestry 1934–36 (MF. 1936).

Supervisor demonstrational forest and soil area project of National Youth Administration in Pennsylvania 1936–37, junior forester Pennsylvania and Ohio 1937; with South Carolina State Forestry Commission 1938–39; field scout executive Woodstown (N.J.) Boy Scout Council 1940–41, inducted into United States Army March 28, 1941, commissioned First Lieutenant; assigned

to Company D, 30th Engineer Battalion (topographical), Fort Belvoir, and Company A, 654th Engineer Battalion, Fort Custer and Camp McCoy, junior member Society of American Foresters, member Society of American Military Engineers, Masonic order, and Fourth Street Church (Presbyterian), Lebanon Unmarried

Death due to injuries received when the automobile in which he was riding was struck by a train Buried in Mt Lebanon Cemetery, Lebanon Survived by mother and two sisters, Margaret Sellew Weimer (B A Lebanon Valley Coll 1940) of Harrisburg, Pa, and Elizabeth W Kurtz (B A Wellesley 1932), the wife of John Edmund Kurtz (B S Univ of Pittsburgh 1935, M D 1938) of Mayview, Pa

James Dudley Emerson, B.S. 1940.

Born December 18, 1917, in Middletown, Ohio Died June 28, 1943, in Thomasville, Ga

Father, Earl Arthur Emerson (M E Cornell Univ. 1910), president The Armco International Corporation, Middletown, son of Col Frank Dudley Emerson and Adele (Simpson) Emerson of College Hill, Cincinnati, Ohio Mother, Mary Hamilton (James) Emerson (B A Smith Coll 1911), daughter of Howard Keats and Margaret (Hamilton) James of Covington, Ky

Phillips-Andover. Industrial administration course, Freshman swimming and tennis squads; non-resident member Calhoun College (swimming team Sophomore year, basketball, touch football, and tennis teams Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; captain touch football team Junior year and tennis team Senior year), member St Elmo Society

Took a training course at The Armco International Corporation 1940-41, enlisted as aviation cadet, Army Air Forces, Fort Thomas, Ky, March 17, 1941, received primary training at Hatbox Field, Muskogee, Okla, basic training at Curtis Field, Brady, Texas, and advanced training at Brooks Field, San Antonio, Texas; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Army Air Forces, Brooks Field, November 1, 1941, and assigned there for special training for about a month; transferred to 101st Observation Squadron, Otis Field, Camp Edwards, Mass, for offshore submarine patrol with army planes December, 1941-September, 1942; promoted First Lieutenant August 31, 1942, and given special assignment at Operations Office, Boston, transferred to 14th Observation Squadron, Army Air Base, Tullahoma, Tenn, for maneuvers October, 1942, and to 28th Reconnaissance Squadron, Fort Knox, Ky, February, 1943, in May, 1943, assigned to Army Air Forces School of Applied Tactics, Orlando, Fla.; after completion of that course transferred to 104th Fighter Squadron, Army Air Base, Thomasville, for advanced combat training; member Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), Middletown

Unmarried.

Lieutenant Emerson lost his life when his pursuit ship crashed during combat training in Georgia He was posthumously awarded the Air Medal "for meritorious achievement while participating in anti-submarine patrol" Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by parents and a sister, Adele Emerson Tytus (Smith Coll 1932–34), the wife of Francis J. Tytus, '32, of Farmington, Conn

Frederick James Murphy, Jr., B.S. 1940.

Born September 27, 1916, in Evanston, Ill. Died December 31, 1942, near Macclenny, Fla.

Father, Frederick James Murphy (B A 1910), assistant comptroller Interchemical Corporation, New York City, son of Dennis Henry and Georgina Catherine (Blades) Murphy of Westboro, Mass Mother, Marie Amelia (Wells) Murphy, daughter of Charles Walker and Frances Helene (Dis deBar) Wells of Parkersburg, W Va, Milan, Ohio, and St. Petersburg, Fla Yale relatives include William H Murphy, '93 (great-uncle), and Augustus L. Wells, '16 (uncle)

King School, Stamford, Conn, Stamford High School, and Phillips-Andover. Industrial administration course; Freshman Football and Baseball squads; University 150-pound Football Team Senior year, member Timothy Dwight College (football team Junior year, baseball team two years and captain Senior year)

Service engineer Pratt & Whitney Aircraft, Division of United Aircraft Corporation, East Hartford, Conn, 1940–41; commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, July 10, 1940, called to active service June 28, 1941; assistant engine overhaul officer, assembly and repair department, Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, June–November, 1941, resigned commission December 3, 1941, to begin Naval Reserve flight training course as seaman (2d class), received preliminary training at U.S. Naval Reserve Aviation Base, Atlanta, Ga, until March 5, 1942, and then transferred to Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, for advanced flight training, appointed Aviation Cadet, U.S. Naval Reserve, April 2, 1942; commissioned Ensign November 3, 1942 (to rank from August 11, 1942), and appointed Naval Aviator (heavier than air)

Unmarried.

Ensign Murphy was killed in an airplane crash while on active duty attached to the Naval Air Station at Jacksonville Ashes scattered over the Atlantic Ocean Survived by parents, a sister, Marie Jeannette Murphy Stevens (B A. Univ of Michigan 1935), the wife of William Burd Stevens (B S in Ch E. Univ of Pennsylvania 1934) of New Rochelle, N Y., and a brother, William Harold Murphy (Dartmouth ex-'41) of New York City

SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING

Roger Cleveland Newberry, B.E. 1938.

Born July 29, 1916, in Cleveland, Ohio Died February 17, 1943, in the North African Area

Father, William B Newberry, '89 S. Mother, Mary Louise (Van Winkle) Newberry (B-S. Women's Department Centre College, Kentucky, 1900) Yale relatives include: Roger Newberry (BA 1726) (great-great-great-grandfather); Alexander Wolcott (BA 1731), David Strong (BA 1745), and Oliver Wolcott (B.A 1747) (great-great-great-great-uncles), Roger Newberry (M.A. Hon 1793) (great-great-grandfather), Roger Newberry (BA 1799) (great-great-uncle), Henry Newberry (ex-1801) (great-grandfather), and John Strong Newberry, '06, and Roger W Newberry, '12 S (cousins)

University School, Cleveland Electrical engineering course, Freshman Cross-Country Squad, Freshman 150-pound Crew, University 150-pound Crew three years (captain Senior year), member student branch American Institute of Electrical Engineers and St. Elmo Society, non-resident member Timothy Dwight College

Successively junior salesman and sales engineer Otis Elevator Company in Youngstown, Warren, Springfield, and Columbus, Ohio, 1938-41, member Fairmount Presbyterian Church, Cleveland

Unmarried.

Entered military service July 15, 1941, as aviation cadet, Army Air Forces; received primary training at Parks Air College, East St Louis, Ill, and basic training at Randolph Field, Texas, October 1–December, 1941, promoted aviation cadet heutenant (cadet officer) about November 5, 1941, at Air Corps Advanced Flying School, Foster Field, Victoria, Texas, December 15, 1941–February 20, 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Air Forces, February 20, 1942, and promoted First Lieutenant December 10, 1942, assigned to 55th Pursuit Squadron, Myrtle Beach, S C, and Charlotte, N C, February 27–May 15, 1942, transferred to 2d Squadron, 52d Fighter Group, May 15, 1942, went overseas about June 30, 1942, and trained with Spitfires in British Isles until October; landed in North Africa in November and on November 29 arrived at an advanced air base in Tunisia; awarded Air Medal and three Oak Leaf Clusters January 9, 1943, "for participating in ten fighter sorties against the enemy in North Africa"

Lieutenant Newberry was killed in action by antiaircraft fire while on a flight over enemy lines. He was posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by mother and a brother, Lieut William B. Newberry, Jr, ex-'41 S. (AUS).

Edwin Horace Pickus, B.E. 1942.

Born October 24, 1920, in West Haven, Conn Died January 28, 1943, in Mineola, NY

Father, Edward Howard Pickus of West Haven; salesman John Irving Shoe Company, New Haven, Conn.; son of Jacob and Sophia Pickus of New Haven. Mother, Ida Burton (Skinner) Pickus, daughter of William Glenden and Bessie Harriet (Wrinn) Skinner of West Haven

West Haven High School. Electrical engineering course. Member Branford

College and student branch American Institute of Electrical Engineers.

Electrical tester Westinghouse Electric and Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, Pa, June-November, 1942, assistant engineer research laboratories of Sperry Gyroscope Company, Garden City, NY, November, 1942-January, 1943, member First Congregational Church, West Haven.

Unmarried

Death due to injuries received when struck by an automobile. Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Park, New Haven Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Doris B. Pickus of West Haven, maternal grandfather, and paternal grandmother.

GRADUATE SCHOOL

MASTERS OF ARTS

Hosmer McKoon, M.A. 1906.

Born February 27, 1879, in San Francisco, Calif Died November 14, 1942, in San Diego, Calif

Father, Hosmer Perkins McKoon (Hamilton Coll ex-'71, LL B Albany Law School 1872), a lawyer in San Francisco and San Diego, son of Samuel and Adelia (Perkins) McKoon of Oxford, NY Mother, Fannie (Miller) McKoon; daughter of Major Henry Miller and Clarissa (Burlingame) Miller of Aurora, N.Y, and Omaha, Nebr

B.S. University of California 1903; B D Pacific Theological Seminary, Berkeley, Calif, 1905; registered in Yale Graduate and Divinity schools 1905–06 (M A. 1906); ordained in Congregational church, Oakland, Calif, August 25, 1905; minister East Bloomfield, N Y, 1906 and La Harpe, Ill, 1908–09; engaged in Y M.C A. work, Niagara Falls, N Y, 1907–08, teacher Sheldon School of Scientific Salesmanship, Chicago, 1910–11, attended Pacific Unitarian School for the Ministry 1911–12 (S T B 1912), minister Unitarian church, Castine, Maine, 1912–15, owner and superintendent McKoon Silver Gray Granite Quarry, Santee, Calif, 1917–30, studied law in Phoenix, Ariz, 1931–34; attended La Salle Extension University 1932–35 (LL B 1935), admitted to Arizona bar 1934 but never practiced law, owner and manager of the McKoon Block, San Diego, until retirement 1939, member State Bar of Arizona, Masonic order, and Unitarian church, San Diego

Married April 30, 1935, in Yuma, Ariz, Gladys Lillian, daughter of Leonard Albert and Pauline (Lehn) Chandler Children. Hosmer Chandler and Virginia Carol.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Cypress View Mausoleum, San Diego. Survived by wife and children.

Christopher Sheller Peacock, M.A. 1909.

Born July 24, 1885, in Monmouth, Ill Died January 17, 1943, in Kenilworth, Ill

Father, Theophilus Glascow Peacock (B A. Westminster Coll 1868), a lawyer; judge of probate court; son of Rev James Hunter Peacock and Matilda (Irvine) Peacock of Monmouth. Mother, Emma (Sheller) Peacock, daughter of Christopher Sheller of West Alexander, Pa

B A Monmouth College 1907, instructor in natural sciences Albany (Ore) College 1907–08, attended Yale Graduate School 1908–09 (M A. 1909), Harvard Law School 1909–12 (LL B 1912), and McCormick Theological Seminary 1915–17; admitted to Minnesota bar 1912 and Illinois bar 1917, lawyer in St Paul, Minn, 1912–15 (with Clapp & Macartney) and in Monmouth 1917–43; secretary Monmouth Homestead and Loan Association 1922–43, president Illinois Building and Loan League 1942, on Monmouth School Board 1922–43 (president 1927–43), member First United Presbyterian Church, Monmouth.

Married April 18, 1917, in Long Beach, Calif, Mary, daughter of Henry Benjamin and Anna (Watson) Safford. Children. Henry Safford and

Christopher Sheller

Death due to thrombosis Buried in Monmouth Cemetery. Survived by wife and children

Clarence Norman Boynton, M.A. 1910.

Born April 29, 1888, in Branford, Conn Died February 2, 1943, in Phoenix, Ariz

Father, Walter Norman Boynton, foreman carpenter shop of Malleable Iron Fittings Company, Branford, son of Norman and Rachel (Potter) Boynton of South Coventry, Conn Mother, Cornelia Andrews (Beach) Boynton; daughter of Harvey and Cornelia (Hubbard) Beach of Branford

BA Clark University 1909, graduate student in chemistry Yale University 1909–10 (MA 1910) and assistant in the Kent Chemical Laboratory 1910–11; acting assistant professor of chemistry Middlebury College 1911–12; chemist St Luke's Home, Phoenix, 1912–14, in 1914 was one of the purchasers of St. Luke's Laboratory (now Pathological Laboratory) and copartner in its operation since that date, president Phoenix Rotary Club 1921–22 and district governor, 43d District, 1930–31, 1938; assistant scoutmaster Troop 10 in 1921–22 and scoutmaster 1922–43, a director Roosevelt Council, Boy Scouts of America; awarded Silver Beaver 1932, fellow American Public Health Association; member Masonic order and First Congregational Church, Phoenix

Married January 22, 1912, in Jamestown, RI, Mariquita, daughter of Frederic and Sarah Louise (Anthony) Anthony Children Frederic Norman (Univ of Arizona ex-'36), Charles Eldred (DDS Univ of Southern California 1940), Richard Carlile (New Mexico Military Institute 1937–42), and William Anthony

Death due to sympathicoblastoma of adrenal gland. Ashes interred in Columbarium of Greenwood Memorial Park, Phoenix. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a sister, Nellie B Osborn (Yale Cert of Music 1910), the wife of Sidney V Osborn, Jr, of Branford.

Peter Charles Blundell, M.A. 1939.

Born March 8, 1913, in East Twickenham, England Died November 3, 1942, at El Alamein, North Africa

Father, Frank Blundell, a retired wholesale wine merchant of London, England; son of Charles and Beatrice (Hussey) Blundell of Richmond, Surrey, England Mother, Florence (Rabbidge) Blundell, daughter of Richard and Elizabeth (Eldridge) Rabbidge of Richmond

St Cyprians, Eastbourne, and Eton College, B A University of Oxford 1936, Commonwealth Fund Fellow at Yale Graduate School 1936–39 (M A 1939; member Berkeley College and Elizabethan Club), instructor in history and geography at Eton College 1938–40; member Church of England

Unmarried

Lieutenant, Eton College Officers Training School, 1939, entered British Army as Second Lieutenant, King's Royal Rifle Corps, April, 1940, and commissioned Lieutenant May, 1940; overseas with Eighth Army in Libya September, 1941; promoted Temporary Captain June, 1942, and Acting Major September, 1942, posthumously awarded Distinguished Service Order for gallantry in action at the Battle of El Alamein, at time of death was Acting Major, 2d Battalion, King's Royal Rifle Corps.

Major Blundell lost his life while leading his company in an attack the last night before the final break-through on the Alamein Line Survived by mother, a sister, Mrs. Joan Blundell Shilcock of Upcott, Barnstable, Devon, England, and three brothers, Major Richard Sutherland Blundell, R A S C, Bryan Blundell, and Lieut Comdr Edward A Blundell, R N., all of Esher, Surrev, England.

MASTER OF SCIENCE

John Henry Brewer, M.S. 1925.

Born April 3, 1900, in Norwich, Conn Died May 12, 1943, in the Southwest Pacific Area

Father, Timothy Francis Brewer, a stove fitter in Norwich, son of John and Abbey (Falvey) Brewer of Norwich Mother, Mary Agnes (Shea) Brewer, daughter of Jeremiah and Nellie (Driscoll) Shea of Ireland Yale relatives include a cousin, John F. Lynch, '21.

Norwich Free Academy and University of Connecticut, B S United States Military Academy 1924, graduate student in electrical engineering Yale University 1924–25 (M S. 1925); commissioned Second Lieutenant, Signal Corps, June 12, 1924; promoted First Lieutenant January 2, 1929, Captain August 1,

1935, Major January 31, 1941, Lieutenant Colonel February 1, 1942, and Colonel November 9, 1942, graduate Signal School, Company Officers Course, 1933, stationed at Fort Monmouth June–August, 1925; laboratory assistant U S Signal Corps Sound Laboratory, Fort H G. Wright, 1925–29; with 10th Signal Corps, Corozal, Panama Canal Zone, 1929–31, on duty at Fort Monmouth 1931–34 and Fort McKinley, Philippine Islands, 1935–37; Commanding Officer, Detachment 16th Signal Service Company and Base Signal Officer, Langley Field, 1937–39, 301st Signal Company, Aviation, Langley Field, 1940, 3d Operation Company, Aircraft Warning, Fort Sam Houston, 1941, and 503d Signal Aircraft Warning Regiment, Drew Field, 1942, assigned as Signal Officer, 5th Air Force Fighter Command, and served in Southwest Pacific Area November, 1942–May, 1943; cited and posthumously awarded Order of the Purple Heart and Legion of Merit (degree of Legionnaire) July 22, 1943, member Roman Catholic church.

Married September 27, 1930, in Panama Canal Zone, Catherine Grace, daughter of Luke Thomas and Ellen (Gorman) Cosgrove Son John Henry, Jr.

Colonel Brewer lost his life in a plane crash while on a secret mission for the Army. Survived by wife, son, father, and four brothers, Timothy F. Brewer, '23, Clarence Jerome Brewer of Uncasville, Conn, and Edward Joseph Brewer (B S Trinity Coll [Conn] 1934) and William James Brewer, both of Norwich

DOCTORS OF PHILOSOPHY

Frederick Morgan Padelford, Ph.D. 1899.

Born February 27, 1875, in Haverhill, Mass Died December 3, 1942, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Rev Adoniram Judson Padelford, D D (B.A. Univ of Rochester 1858, grad Rochester Theological Seminary 1860), a Baptist minister, son of Sedate and Martha (Crane) Padelford of Chicago. Mother, Julia Smith (Morgan) Padelford, daughter of William Pitt and Eunice White (Chester) Morgan of Albion, N Y

BA Colby College 1896, MA 1899 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Phi Beta Kappa), graduate student in English Yale University 1896–99 (Ph.D 1899), professor of English literature University of Idaho 1899–1901; on faculty University of Washington 1901–42 (professor of English 1901–42, dean of graduate school 1920–42, acting dean of faculties 1926–27, assistant dean 1927–31, and assistant vice-president 1931 and 1932), did research work at British Museum and University of Oxford 1905–06; research visiting scholar Huntington Library 1935–36, author Old English Musical Terms (1899), The Political and Ecclesiastical Allegory of the First Book of the Faerie Queene (1911), Samuel

Osborne, Janitor (1913), and George Dana Boardman Pepper . (1914), editor Early Sixteenth Century Lyrics (1907), The Comedy of Errors (1912), The Ring and the Book (1917), The Poems of Henry Howard, Earl of Surrey (1920), and Spenser's translation of The Axiochus of Plato (1934), translator and editor Essays on the Study and Use of Poetry by Plutarch and Basil the Great (1902), translator Select Translations from Scaliger's Poetics (1905); co-editor Modern Students' Book of English Literature (1924), The Works of Edmund Spenser A Variorum Edition (7 vols, 1932-43; special editor Vol I and III), on editorial board Modern Language Quarterly 1940–42, contributed to Cambridge History of English Literature and to periodicals; LLD Colby 1934 and Mills College 1936; president Seattle Art Institute 1907–10, trustee Seattle Public Library 1906-13, St. Nicholas School 1917-42 (vice-president of the board 1932-42), Lakeside School and Seattle Art Museum 1934–42, and Phi Beta Kappa Founda– tion 1937-40 (senator 1937-42); member Shakespeare Association of America (elected vice-president 1927), American Philological Association, American Association of University Professors, Modern Language Association of America (vice-president 1941, president 1942), National Institute of Social Sciences, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Seattle

Married July 6, 1899, in Waterville, Maine, Jessie Elizabeth Pepper (B A Colby 1896, M A 1899), daughter of Rev George Dana Boardman Pepper, D.D., LL D (B A Amherst 1857, grad. Newton Theological Institution 1860), and Annie (Grassie) Pepper. Children. Morgan Grassie (B F A Univ of Washington 1924, M F A 1925), Eunice Brewster (Univ of Washington ex-'28), the wife of James William Clise, Jr, '22 S; Philip Sidney (B A Univ of Washington 1934, M.A. 1937; Ph D. Yale 1942), and Charles Gordon (B A Univ. of Washington 1937)

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Acacia Memorial Park, Seattle Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and a brother, Rev Frank William Padelford, D D., LL D. (B A Colby 1894, M A 1897, grad Rochester Theological Seminary 1897), of Newton Center, Mass

Jessie May Law, Ph.D. 1901.

Born September 19, 1869, in Hazardville, Conn Died December 18, 1942, in Springfield, Mass

Father, James Crawford Law, a manufacturer in Hazardville, son of Alexander and Catherine (Roberts) Law of Enfield, Conn Mother, Mary Jane (Bulkley) Law, daughter of Elisha and Ann (Sexton) Bulkley of Ellington, Conn.

B A. University of Nebraska 1894; taught in preparatory school of University of Nebraska 1894–95, graduate student in history Yale University 1895–96 and 1900–01 (Ph D 1901); teacher at Plymouth (Mass) High School 1896–97,

North Adams (Mass) High School 1898–99, and New Britain (Conn.) High School 1899–1904, instructor in history and head of the department Classical High School, Springfield, 1904 until retirement 1934, in charge community civics work in junior high schools of Springfield 1917–30; teacher of history Springfield Junior College 1917–34, author: "Cromwell's Major Generals" (1901), member commission on the requirements in history appointed by College Entrance Examination Board (1917), New England History Teachers Association, American Historical Association, and First Church of Christ (Congregational), Springfield.

Death due to uremia Buried in New Cemetery, Hazardville. Survived by a sister, Bertha Adella Law (University of Nebraska 1893–94) of Springfield

Eugene Irving McCormac, Ph.D. 1901.

Born March 12, 1872, in Boone County, Ill Died January 9, 1943, in Berkeley, Calif

Father, William Harrison McCormac of Albany, N.Y Mother, Catherine (Conry) McCormac; daughter of Michael and Adelia (Cross) Conry of Vermont.

B S Upper Iowa University 1896, graduate student in history Yale University 1897-99, 1900-01 (Ph D 1901); acting instructor in history Northwestern University 1901-02, professor of history and political science University of the Pacific 1902-03, member faculty University of California 1903-43 (instructor in American history 1903-09, assistant professor 1909-14, associate professor 1914-19, professor 1919-42, and professor emeritus 1942-43), professor of the history of the United States at Dominican College of San Rafael 1922–28, 1929– 31; taught in summer sessions University of Illinois, Stanford University, and University of California at Berkeley and Los Angeles; author White Servitude in Maryland, 1634–1820 (1904), Colonial Opposition to Imperial Authority During the French and Indian War (1911), Two Ideals of Government in American History (1913), James K Polk, A Political Biography (1922), and biographies of Louis McLane and John Forsyth in American Secretaries of State and Their Diplomacy (edited by Professor Samuel F Bemis of Yale, Vol IV, 1928); contributed articles on American history to many publications; member Mississippi Historical Society and American Historical Association (president Pacific Coast branch 1923)

Married September 26, 1906, in Chico, Calif, Leila Marion Graves (B L. Univ of California 1905), daughter of George Washington and Lillian Meek (Burlingame) Graves Daughter Virginia (B A. Univ of California 1928), the wife of Edwin Alfred Bunting

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Mountain View Cemetery, Oakland, Calif Survived by wife and daughter.

Emily Howard Foley Foster, Ph.D. 1902.

Born July 7, 1870, in Covington, Ky Died February 10, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Major James Louis Foley (Lawrence Scientific School, Harvard, 1859–61) of Cincinnati; member General Frémont's staff in Civil War, provost marshal of Cincinnati. Mother, Juliet Thomas (Barnes) Foley Yale relatives include an uncle, Pearce Barnes, '74

Dana Hall, Wellesley, Mass; B A Wellesley 1893, graduate student in English Yale University 1899–1902 (Ph D 1902); assisted her husband at the Foster School for Boys, Cornwall, Conn, 1902–07 and Litchfield 1907–08, resided in Brooklyn, N Y., 1908–09 and 1916–21, Worcester, Mass., 1909–16 (member school committee 1914–15), Chicago 1921–31 (assistant in English University of Chicago 1923–25, member adult education department, Board of Education, 1925–27), and New York City 1933–43, traveled in Europe 1931–33, author: The Language of the Northumbrian Gloss to the Gospel of Saint Matthew, Part I, Phonology (1903); member Riverside Church, New York City

Married October 28, 1902, in Chicago, Rev Allyn King Foster, D D (M A 1901), son of Robert Edward and Josephine (Wilkinson) Foster Children Allyn King, Jr (B S Colgate 1925, M A Univ of Chicago 1929, M D Rush Medical Coll. 1930, died January 17, 1942), and Cicely (Ph.B Univ. of Chicago 1926, M A 1932), the wife of Gilbert Lucas. The Rev Dr. Foster died November 10, 1934.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Survived by daughter and one grand-daughter.

Clara Eliza Smith, Ph.D. 1904.

Born May 20, 1865, in Northford, Conn. Died May 12, 1943, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Edward Smith, a farmer and cabinet maker in Northford; son of Nathaniel Stacy and Eliza (Frisbie) Smith of Northford Mother, Georgianna (Smith) Smith; daughter of Jude Bassett and Eliza Adaline (Goodyear) Smith of North Haven, Conn

Private tutors, graduate Mount Holyoke Seminary 1885 (awarded B A Mount Holyoke College 1902, graduate member Phi Beta Kappa), attended Yale School of the Fine Arts 1886–87, 1888–89, and Yale Graduate School 1901–06 (Ph.D. 1904; reader in mathematics); studied at University of Gottingen 1911–12; teacher of drawing and assistant in mathematics State Normal School, Bloomsburg, Pa., 1889–97; instructor Western College for Women, Oxford, Ohio, 1907–08; assistant in mathematics Wellesley College 1908–09,

instructor 1909–14, associate professor 1914–24, professor 1924–34, chairman of the department 1932–34, and professor emeritus 1934–43; exchange professor Goucher College 1918–19; author. "Representation of an Arbitrary Function by Means of Bessel's Functions" and "Theory of Functions of Real Variables"; co-author. A First Course in Higher Algebra (1917); contributed to Transactions of the American Mathematical Society; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science, member Northford-North Branford League of Women Voters, American Mathematical Society, and Northford Congregational Church

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Northford Cemetery. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Frederick Lent, Ph.D. 1906.

Born June 10, 1872, in Freeport, Nova Scotia. Died December 30, 1942, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, Shippy Lent, a Nova Scotian sea captain. Mother, Euphemia (Moore)

Leicester (Mass) Academy, B.A. Brown University 1900 and M.A. 1901 (member Phi Beta Kappa); BD Newton Theological Institution 1900; graduate student in Biblical literature Yale University 1901-06 (Ph.D. 1906) and registered in Yale Divinity School 1903-04; instructor in Biblical literature Brown University 1900-01 and Yale 1902-06, 1909-10; instructor in Hebrew at Yale 1911-12, ordained in Baptist church, Leicester, 1895, minister Calvary Church, Salem, Mass, 1896-98, Oak Lawn, R.I., 1898-1901, and First Baptist Church, New Haven, Conn., 1903–18, president Elmira College 1918–35 and International Baptist Seminary, East Orange, NJ, 1935-41; president Connecticut Baptist Convention 1915, 1916, president board of trustees Bishop College and Leland University 1931-40, trustee American Baptist Home Mission Society 1912-35, Baptist Ministers Home Society 1912-41, and Newton Theological Institution 1918-28, author "The Life of St Simeon Stylites" in Journal of the American Oriental Society (1915) and Three Minute Talks (1933); DD Brown 1922, LLD Colgate 1922; member Connecticut Prison Association, American Oriental Society, and Chi Phi.

Married September 24, 1896, in New Bedford, Mass, Estelle Clinton, daughter of Henry Clinton and Anna (Briggs) Bolles Children Henry Bolles, ex-'23, Robert Wayland (Brown Univ ex-'28), and Elizabeth (B A. Elmira Coll 1931), the wife of Curtis William Sprong (B A. Univ. of Pennsylvania 1915) Mrs Lent died April 22, 1940

Death due to a heart attack Ashes interred in Rosedale Cemetery, Los Angeles Survived by children and two grandchildren

Helen Louise Young, Ph.D. 1910.

Born July 20, 1877, in Marion, NY. Died July 12, 1942, in New York City

Father, Conway Wing Young, son of Nelson Durfee and Achsah (Kingsley) Young of Marion. Mother, Mary (Barnum) Young, daughter of George and Ophelia (Smith) Barnum of Wauseon, Ohio

Marion Collegiate Institute; attended Cornell University 1896–1900 and 1905–07 (B A 1900), high school teacher in Ohio and New York 1900–05 and Tarrytown, N Y, 1907–08, graduate student in history Yale University 1908–10 (Ph D 1910), member faculty Hunter College of the City of New York 1910–42 (instructor in history 1910–14, assistant professor 1914–19, and associate professor 1919–42, departmental chairman 1939–42), author. "A Study of the Constitutional Convention of New York State in 1821" (1910), wrote the historical portion, dealing with early Dutch period, in *The Iconography of Manhattan Island*, 1498–1909, by I N Phelps Stokes (6 vols 1915–28), contributed to Social Science Abstracts, member Association of History Teachers of the Middle States and Maryland, American Historical Association, American Association of University Women, and Presbyterian church, Mt Vernon, N Y

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Marion Cemetery Survived by three sisters, Mrs Arthur E. Bebb of Wolcott, NY, and the Misses Agnes Josephine and Mary Gertrude Young of East Palmyra, NY, and two brothers, George Barnum Young and Kingsley Flavel Young, both of East Palmyra

Orville Anderson Petty, Ph.D. 1915.

Born February 20, 1874, in Cadız, Ohio Died August 12, 1942, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Asbury Frye Petty, a farmer in Cadiz, son of Rhodum and Hester Anne (Frye) Petty of Cadiz Mother, Sarah (Kyle) Petty, daughter of Thomas and Jane (McNary) Kyle of Ohio.

B A. Muskingum College 1898, B D. Pittsburgh Theological Seminary 1901, M A Colorado College 1905, attended University of Chicago Graduate School 1907–10, Yale Graduate School 1911–15 (Ph D 1915), and Yale Divinity School 1920–21, ordained in 1901; minister United Presbyterian Church, Greeley, Colo, 1901–06, First Congregational Church, Aurora, Ill, 1906–11, and Plymouth Congregational Church, New Haven, 1911–29, trustee Arnold College for Hygiene and Physical Education, New Haven, 1924–29 and president 1929–30, on India staff Laymen's Foreign Missions Inquiry, Institute of Social and Religious Research, 1930–31, adviser appraisal commission 1931–32 and editor of research materials 1932–33, director of research A Movement for World Christianity 1934–42; lecturer on history of religious education Yale

Divinity School 1921-22 and on race relations 1938-41, author. Did the Term "The Gospel" Originate with Paul? (1925), Kindling the Christmas Fire (verse, 1930), and Common Sense and God (1936), editor Laymen's Foreign Missions (1933), DD Yale 1919, president City Missionary Association 1915-40 (honorary president 1940–42), New Haven Congregational Club, New Haven Council of Churches 1922-30, City Federation of Churches 1925-29, and Connecticut Council of Religious Education 1929, chaplain, Second Connecticut Infantry, Mexican Border Campaign, 1916, entered federal service as First Lieutenant, Chaplain, March 28, 1917, promoted Captain March 21, 1919, and Major May 2, 1919, overseas September, 1917-June 6, 1919, regimental chaplain 102d Infantry, 26th Division, until September, 1918, senior chaplain Base Section 2, Headquarters, Bordeaux, until June, 1919, cited in general orders of 26th Division May 13, 1918, and by General Pershing March 27, 1919; awarded Croix de Guerre May 29, 1918, Chevalier, Order of the Crown (Belgium), February 12, 1919, and of l'Ordre de l'Etoile Noire September 24, 1919; Lieutenant Colonel, 169th Infantry, Connecticut National Guard, 1923-29, Colonel and Commanding Officer 1929 until retirement 1938 with rank of Brigadier General, chaplain Second Infantry Regiment, Governor's Foot Guard, General Connecticut Commandery, Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States, and Sons of the American Revolution (General David Humphreys branch), president Connecticut Association of National Guard Officers 1935, on executive committee Organized Charities of New Haven, advisory board New Haven branch Salvation Army, and advisory council Family Society, member Congregational Publishing Society, Masonic order, and Plymouth Congregational Church, New Haven.

Married July 17, 1902, in New Concord, Ohio, Evelyn Hammond (B S Muskingum Coll 1894, M S 1897), daughter of Rev James Courtney Hammond (B A Westminster Coll 1869, B D Alleghany Theological Seminary 1875) and Ella Boylston (Morgan) Hammond. Daughter Mabel Kyle (B.A Mount Holyoke Coll 1928, Department of Education, Yale, 1931), the wife of Robert LaBoyteaux (B S Bates Coll 1932)

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Park, New Haven Survived by wife, daughter, mother (died July 7, 1943), and a sister, Natalie Anne Petty (B A Franklin Coll. 1900, M A. Columbia 1917) of Pittsburgh

John Edwin Wells, Ph.D. 1915.

Born February 12, 1875, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died June 22, 1943, in New London, Conn.

Father, John Crouch Wells, son of Joseph L and Matilda E Wells of Elkton, Md Mother, Sophie Katie (Roberts) Wells, daughter of William T. and Sophie E (Rigney) Roberts of Frederick, Md

B L. Swarthmore College 1896 and M L 1899, attended Columbia University 1899–1900 (M A 1900), registered in Yale Graduate School 1910–15 (Ph D 1915); instructor in French and English Friend's Central School, Philadelphia, 1896-99; professor of English literature and head department of English, Hiram College, 1901–11; professor of English Beloit College 1911–17 and Connecticut College for Women 1917-40; professor emeritus 1940-43; enlisted December 15, 1917, as private, Air Service, Signal Corps, transferred to 1st Battalion, Research Division, Chemical Warfare Service, April, 1918; promoted Sergeant, 1st class; discharged March 20, 1919, author A Manual of the Writings in Middle English, 1050–1400 (first edition 1916, eight supplements, containing additions and modifications, published between 1919 and 1941) and Practical Review Grammar (1928); editor Thackeray's Roundabout Papers (1925) and Vanity Fair (1928); joint editor Bible Selections Arranged for Many Uses (1923); contributed numerous articles on medieval literature to journals, awarded grant by American Council of Learned Societies 1933, member Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, Phi Beta Kappa, and Baptist church, Philadelphia.

Married February 12, 1904, in Philadelphia, Anna Coates Holmes (B L Swarthmore Coll. 1900), daughter of Edmund W Holmes, '72, and Anna Keene (Coates) Holmes. No children Mrs Wells died September 12, 1941.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Everett, Mass. Survived by a brother, Raymond Wells (BS in Chem Univ of Pennsylvania 1904) of Homer, N.Y.

Francis Huntington Swett, Ph.D. 1922.

Born November 13, 1893, in Norway, Maine Died February 10, 1943, in Durham, NC

Father, Eugene Newhall Swett, a merchant in Norway; son of Harvey and Arabella Carter (Stowell) Swett of South Paris, Maine Mother, Carrie (Huntington) Swett; daughter of Charles Oscar and Louisa (Atkinson) Huntington of East Brighton, Vt

Norway High School; B A Bates College 1916 (graduate member Phi Beta Kappa); graduate student in biology Brown University 1916–17 (M A 1917) and in zoology Yale University 1919–22 (Ph D 1922; laboratory assistant in biology 1919–21 and anatomy 1921–22, member Sigma X1), instructor in biology Tufts College Premedical Course 1917–18, member U S Army Medical Corps stationed at Army Neuro-Surgical Laboratory, Johns Hopkins, 1918–19, instructor in anatomy Johns Hopkins 1922–24 and associate 1924–25, associate professor of anatomy Vanderbilt University 1925–30, professor of anatomy Duke University 1930–43, author: On the Production of Double Limbs in Amphibians. . (1926), a frequent contributor to scientific and medical journals;

secretary-treasurer American Association of Anatomists 1942-43; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science, member Norway Congregational Church

Married July 19, 1924, in Norway, Elizabeth Glen, daughter of Alexander

and Mary Agnes (Pillsbury) Glen No children

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes to be interred in the crypt of Duke University Chapel, Durham Survived by wife and mother.

Elizabeth Evans Lord, Ph.D. 1929.

Born June 12, 1890, in Plymouth, Mass Died January 10, 1943, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Arthur Lord, LLD, Litt D (BA Harvard 1872), a lawyer in Plymouth and Boston, Mass, president Pilgrim Society, Plymouth; president-elect Massachusetts Historical Society, Boston, son of William Henry and Persis (Kendall) Lord of Plymouth Mother, Sarah (Shippen) Lord; daughter of Rush Rhees and Zoe (Rodman) Shippen of Worcester and Boston, Mass.

Miss Wheeler's School, Providence, RI; BA Bryn Mawr 1914; graduate student in psychology and education and assistant to warden of Pembroke Hall, Bryn Mawr College, 1914–15; attended Radcliffe College 1916–18 (M.A. 1918), psychologist Boston Psychopathic Hospital 1916-17; reconstruction aide US Hospital No 50, Plattsburg, NY, 1918-19, psychologist Juvenile Court, Chicago, 1919-21, traveled in England and France 1921-22, graduate student in psychology Yale University 1925-29 (Ph D 1929); clinical and research assistant in education with instructor's rank, Yale, 1922-25, clinical assistant in education 1925-26, clinical and research assistant in the Clinic of Child Development 1926–27 and assistant 1927–28, psychologist Children's Hospital, Boston, 1929-43 and research associate in pediatrics Harvard Medical School 1930-43, author A Study of the Mental Development of Children with Lesion in the Central Nervous System (1930) and Children Handicapped by Gerebral Palsy ... (1937), co-author Special Disabilities in Learning to Read and Write (1925); a frequent contributor to scientific journals; member committee on growth and development White House Conference on Child Health and Protection (1930), American Association of University Women, Massachusetts Society of Clinical Psychologists (president), American Association of Applied Psychology, American Psychological Association, American Orthopsychiatric Association, and Unitarian church

Death due to leukemia Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Plymouth Survived by mother, three sisters, Katharine Lord (B A. Bryn Mawr 1901) of Plymouth, Margaret Lord (Simmons Coll 1916–19) of Bryn Mawr, Pa., and Frances L. Robins (Bryn Mawr ex-'10), the wife of Rev Sidney Swaim Robins (B.A. Univ of North Carolina 1904, M A Harvard 1905, S.T.B. 1908, Ph D 1910)

of Canton, NY, and two brothers, Henry Shippen Lord (BA Harvard 1906) of Davenport, Iowa, and John Hayes Lord (BA Harvard 1914) of Kingston, Jamaica, British West Indies

Alexis Nicholas Garin, Ph.D. 1936.

Born May 13, 1897, in Estate Olustver, Russia Died November 24, 1942, in Albuquerque, N.Mex

Father, Nicholas Nicholaevich Garin, Lieutenant General, Imperial Russian Army, son of Nicholas Nicholaevich Garin of Leningrad Mother, Baroness Frida Kulbach, daughter of Baron Edgar Kulbach of Estate Olustver and Dorpat, Russia

Attended Nicholaevsky Cavallrisky School, Leningrad, Second Lieutenant, Imperial Russian Army, 1915–17, secretary War Industries Board, Northwest District of Russia, 1916–17, Captain, White Army, 1918–21; secretary Russian Émigré Committee, League of Nations, 1921–22, B S Syracuse University 1926, M F 1927; graduate student in forestry University of California 1927–29, Stanford University 1931–32, and Yale 1934–36 (Ph D 1936), honorary fellow in forestry at Yale 1936–37; landscape architect, San Rafael, Calif, 1930–34, associated with Division of Economic Research, Soil Conservation Service, U S Department of Agriculture, 1937–42 (assistant and later associate agricultural economist, Washington, D C, 1937–39, project supervisor Albuquerque 1939–42); author: "Corporate Profits in the Forest Industries" (1936) and several bulletins published by Soil Conservation Service of U S Department of Agriculture; fellow American Geographical Society, member Society of American Foresters and Russian Orthodox church

Married September 15, 1917, in Leningrad, Countess Nina Annette Jundas, daughter of Count Michael Jundas and Maria (Murelik) Jundas No children Death due to tubercular meningitis Buried in Fairview Park Cemetery, Albuquerque. Survived by wife.

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

David Chester Brown, M.D. 1884.

Born November 16, 1863, in Norfolk, Va Died May 12, 1943, in Danbury, Conn

Father, Orlando Brown (M D 1851) Mother, Martha Pomeroy (Whittlesey) Brown Direct descendant of Elder William Brewster, and Abraham Pierson, first Rector of Yale College

Gunnery School, Washington, Conn., studied medicine with his father; attended Yale School of Medicine 1882-84 (MD 1884), interne Hartford (Conn) Hospital 1884–85, studied at universities of Berlin and Prague 1885–86; physician and surgeon in Danbury 1886-1943, on staff Danbury Hospital 1885-1943 (senior surgeon since 1902) and board of visitors Institute of Living, Hartford, 1934-43, surgeon New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company; coronor physician Town of New Fairfield; medical member State Council of Defense, commissioned Captain, Medical Reserve Corps, November, 1917, medical aide to Governor of Connecticut, promoted Major, Medical Corps, August 30, 1918, on duty at office of Provost Marshal General, Washington, DC, July 28 until discharge December 12, 1918, commissioned Major, Medical Reserve Corps, April 26, 1919, vice-president Connecticut State Medical Society 1911-12, president 1913-14, president Danbury and Fairfield County Medical societies, fellow American College of Surgeons; member council Yale Alumni Association of Fairfield County, New York Academy of Medicine, American Medical Association (in House of Delegates 1907–14, 1916-18, trustee 1918-34), National Society of Pension Examiners, Society of Mayflower Descendants, and Masonic order; deacon First Congregational Church, Danbury

Married June 19, 1889, in Lansingburg, NY, Catharine Bess, daughter of Arthur B and Ellen (Hardy) Cobden Children Orlando Cobden, '11, David Chester (died in infancy), and Catharine Helen Mrs Brown died January 2, 1932

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Washington (Conn) Cemetery Survived by daughter, one son, two grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Fanny Pomeroy Brown of Washington

Clarence Leishman Kilbourn, M.D. 1897.

Born May 22, 1873, in New Haven, Conn Died May 1, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, George A Kilbourn, bookkeeper New Haven Heat Supply Company, son of Nathan and Lucy (Burt) Kilbourn of East Hartford, Conn.

Mother, Maria H (Leishman) Kilbourn; daughter of Archibald and Agnes (Muirhead) Leishman of New Haven

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Medicine 1894–97 (M D 1897, contributed to *The Symptom Record*); interne New Haven Hospital 1897–98, physician in New Haven 1898–1943, third vice-president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1926–27, on Class reunion committee; fellow American Medical Association, member New Haven and New Haven County Medical associations, Connecticut State Medical Society, Masonic order, and First Baptist Church, New Haven

Married June 24, 1903, in Torrington, Conn, Florence, daughter of Frederick and Jane (Webster) Linton Children: Dorothy (B A Connecticut Coll. for Women 1925) and Marion (Connecticut Coll for Women ex-'28, died October 13, 1925) Mrs Kilbourn died May 24, 1942

Death due to acute ulcerative colitis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by one daughter

Jeremiah Joseph Cohane, M.D. 1898.

Born August 18, 1875, in New Haven, Conn Died March 9, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Sylvester Jeremiah Cohane, a carpenter in New Haven, son of Jeremiah and Johanna (Ragan) Cohane of County Cork, Ireland Mother, Mary Philomena (Hayes) Cohane, daughter of John and Bridget (Raleigh) Hayes of New Haven Yale relatives include a cousin, Timothy F Cohane, '97 M.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Medicine 1894–98 (M D 1898); interne New Haven Hospital 1898 and William W Backus Hospital, Norwich, Conn, 1899, studied at Allgemeine Krankenhaus, Vienna, 1912–13 and Royal London Ophthalmic Hospital three months in 1913, physician and surgeon in New Haven 1900–12 and specialist in diseases of the ear, eye, nose, and throat 1913–43, vice-president medical staff Hospital of St. Raphael 1939–40, president 1940–41, and chairman School of Nursing committee 1942–43; president American Medical Association of Vienna 1913, Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1919–20, and New Haven Medical Association 1925–26 (vice-president 1924–25), Yale Alumni University Fund agent for Classes of '97 M through '99 M from 1921 to 1926, '97 M through '02 M. from 1926 to 1931, and '74 M through '02 M since 1931, fellow American Medical Association; member New Haven County Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association, and St Brendan's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven

Married (1) April 16, 1902, in Norwich, Helen Frances, daughter of John Meehan. Mrs Cohane died October 10, 1903. Married (2) June 25, 1907, in New Haven, Mary Josephine, daughter of John and Mary (Hayes) Creegan.

Children Mary Hayes, ex-'31 Mus, Elizabeth Rose (B A Georgian Court Coll 1930, B N Yale 1935), the wife of Richard Augustine Hurley, Jr. (B.A. Brown 1932), John Philip, '34, and Jeremiah Joseph, Jr. (B A New York Univ 1939)

Death due to a fractured hip and brain injury Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, two sisters, the Misses Anna Frances and Gertrude Mary Cohane, both of New Haven, and two brothers, John Francis Cohane of New Haven, and Sylvester Cohane (D D.S Philadelphia Dental Coll 1910) of Hartford, Conn

Terence Stephen McDermott, M.D. 1898.

Born December 26, 1875, in New Haven, Conn Died May 26, 1943, in Westbrook, Conn

Father, Patrick McDermott of Ireland and New Haven, a horseshoer in New Haven Mother, Ann (Bierne) McDermott

Hillhoùse High School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Medicine 1895–98 (M D 1898), interne St Vincent's Hospital, New York City, 1898–99, physician and surgeon in New Haven 1899–1929 and New York City 1929 until retirement 1936, surgeon St Elizabeth's Hospital, New York City; resided in Westbrook since retirement; commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, October 10, 1918, chief of surgical department Base Hospital, Camp Meade, until discharge January 17, 1919, fellow American College of Surgeons; member New Haven Medical Association, New Haven County Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association, and Catholic church

Married (1) October 10, 1906, in New Haven, Rosella Josephine, daughter of Martin Walsh Children Mary Marioora (B A Bryn Mawr 1929), the wife of John F Roche, and Walsh (B A Princeton 1930, M D Columbia 1934). Mrs McDermott died in July, 1932 Married (2) November 17, 1932, in New York City, Martha Josephine, daughter of George Frederick and Augusta Stephen (Kuss) Selcke

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Cypress Cemetery, Westbrook. Survived by wife, children, one grandson, and a sister, Mrs Mary M Cogan of New York City

James Pullman, M.D. 1899.

Born December 3, 1874, in Birmingham, Conn. Died May 28, 1943, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Rev Joseph Pullman, D D (B A Wesleyan Univ. 1863, M A 1866), a Methodist Episcopal clergyman, son of John and Eleanor Pullman of Belfast,

Ireland. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Cooke) Pullman, daughter of Joseph and

Bella (Beeton) Cooke of England

New Britain (Conn.) High School, B A Wesleyan University 1896 (member Alpha Delta Phi and Phi Beta Kappa), attended Yale School of Medicine 1896–99 (M D cum laude 1899; editor-in-chief Yale Medical Journal), interne Paterson (N J) General Hospital 1899–1901, physician in Brooklyn 1901–43, specializing in internal medicine; on staff Kings County, Lutheran, and Swedish hospitals, clinical adjunct in diseases of the chest Long Island College of Medicine 1904–08 and instructor in physical diagnosis 1907–08, fellow American Medical Association, member Brooklyn Society of Internal Medicine, Brooklyn Pathological Society, Medical Society of the County of Kings, Medical Society of the State of New York, and Janes Methodist Episcopal Church, Brooklyn

Married January 31, 1912, in Toronto, Ontario, Mabel Ross, daughter of Henry and Elizabeth Brazier Children John (B A Wesleyan Univ 1934, LL B. Brooklyn Law School 1938); James, Jr. (B.A Wesleyan 1936, M D

Univ. of Rochester 1940); and Gertrude (B S Skidmore Coll 1941)

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and three sisters, Mrs Mary P. Gledhill of Bridgeport, Conn, Mrs Oscar Keppler of Brooklyn, and Mrs. Eleanor P Clark of Harrison, N.Y A brother, John S Pullman, '96 L, died in 1943 (see page 272)

Charles Clarence Davis, M.D. 1907.

Born January 17, 1884, in New Haven, Conn Died November 26, 1942, in Essex, Conn

Father, Charles Clarence Davis, a machinist, son of Charles Clarence and Emma (Wright) Davis of Wales Mother, Grace (Chipman) Davis, daughter of William and Lydia (Sperry) Chipman of New Haven

New Haven High School; attended Yale School of Medicine 1903-07 (M D 1907); interne St Vincent's Hospital, New York City, 1907-08, physician in Essex 1908-42; fellow American Medical Association, member St John's Church (Episcopal), Essex.

Married October 2, 1907, in New Haven, Catherine Dorothy, daughter of Frederick and Emily Elizabeth (Dyke) Born Children Dorothy Mabel (B.A Smith Coll 1930), the wife of Dr Robert Tennant, '26 S, Beatrice, the wife of Thomas Wind, Jr.; Elizabeth Born (Connecticut Coll for Women ex-'36), the wife of Elmer Lewis Pierson, and Charles Clarence, Jr, '42 S.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Riverview Cemetery, Essex Survived by wife, children, and five grandchildren

Robert Emmett Buckley, M.D. 1911.

Born December 14, 1888, in New Britain, Conn. Died July 25, 1942, in New York City

Father, Richard Buckley; associated with North & Judd Manufacturing Company, New Britain, son of Richard and Mary (Barry) Buckley of County Cork, Ireland, and New Britain Mother, Bridget (Hayes) Buckley; daughter of Patrick and Margaret (McCarthy) Hayes of County Cork and New Britain

New Britain High School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1907–11 (M.D. 1911, chairman Class Day Committee; member Nu Sigma Nu), interne St. Mary's Hospital, Brooklyn, NY, 1911-13; physician and surgeon in New York City 1913-42, specializing in otology, laryngology, and rhinology; surgeon director of laryngology Manhattan Eye, Ear and Throat Hospital 1932-42, on staff Misericordia and Roosevelt hospitals and St. Luke's Hospital (Newburgh), professor of rhinology and laryngology New York Post-Graduate Medical School and Hospital 1926-27 and of laryngology 1927-33, commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, June 24, 1917, promoted Captain February 28, 1919; overseas July 2, 1917–March 13, 1919, assigned to Medical Department, 6th Engineers, until June 29, 1918, and Base Hospital No. 15 until discharge March 18, 1919, president New York Laryngological Society 1939-40 (founder member), first vice-president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1936-37, member New York Oto-Laryngological Society, medical societies of the County and State of New York, New York Academy of Medicine, American Medical Association, American Laryngological Association, American Academy of Ophthalmology and Oto-Laryngology, American Laryngological, Rhinological and Otological Society, and St. Vincent Ferrer Church (Roman Catholic), New York City

Married July 24, 1924, in Greenwich, Conn., Madge, daughter of John Arthur and Agnes (Tait) Muir. Children. Phyllis and Barbara

Death due to carcinoma Buried in St Mary's Old Cemetery, New Britain. Survived by wife, daughters, and two sisters, the Misses Agnes and Gertrude Buckley, both of New York City

Reuben Harry Alpert, M.D. 1913.

Born March 4, 1890, in London, England. Died February 5, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Parents, Herman and Frances (Phillips) Alpert.

New Haven High School; attended Yale School of Medicine 1908–13 (M.D. 1913, member Phi Rho Sigma), interne Fordham Hospital, New York City, 1913–16; physician in New Haven 1916–43, on staff Grace Hospital, consulting anesthetist Griffin Hospital, Derby, Conn.; chief examiner at New Haven

John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company; fourth vice-president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1927–28, fellow American Medical Association, member New Haven Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, American Society of Anesthetists, Masonic order, Tau Epsilon Phi, and B'nai Jacob Synagogue, New Haven

Married January 11, 1915, in New Haven, Bessie, daughter of Ben and Bertha (Brodner) Gallin. Children Erwin Victor and Doris Shirley (died

December 17, 1938).

Death due to staphylococcus meningitis Buried in B'nai Jacob Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, son, two sisters, Mrs. Harry Lowenthal of New Haven and Mrs. Ruth A. Kaplan of New York City, and two brothers, Jacob H. Alpert and Louis H Alpert, both of New York City

Anthony Damas Joseph Pelletier, M.D. 1934.

Born April 26, 1906, in Lewiston, Maine Died July 4, 1942, in Rangeley, Maine

Father, Joseph John Pelletter (M D Bowdom Coll 1901), a physician and surgeon in Lewiston, son of Damas and Bridget (Wheeler) Pelletter of Lewiston Mother, Rose Mary (Fisher) Pelletter; daughter of Walter and Elizabeth (Palmer) Fisher of Lewiston

Jordan High School, Lewiston; B A. University of Maine 1930 (member Theta Chi); attended Yale School of Medicine 1930–34 (M D. 1934); interne Kings County Hospital, Brooklyn, N Y, 1934–36; physician and surgeon in Lewiston 1936–42; on staff Central Maine General Hospital, Lewiston; member Androscoggin County Medical Society, Maine and American Medical associations, and Catholic church

Married August 7, 1934, in Portland, Maine, Barbara Simms Hunt (B A Univ. of Maine 1931; assistant in research in medicine, Yale University, 1932–35), daughter of James Francis and Elizabeth (Tuckwell) Hunt Children Robert Simms and Carol Anthony

Death due to accidental drowning while on a fishing trip Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Lewiston. Survived by wife, children, and mother

DIVINITY SCHOOL

Nicholas Tillinghast Edwards, B.D. 1883.

Born July 8, 1857, in Salem, Mass Died May 28, 1943, in Whittier, Calif

Father, Rev Richard Edwards, D.D., LLD (C E Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst 1848), teacher, and minister Congregational church, Princeton, Ill., son of Richard Hugh and Ann (Jones) Edwards of Wales and Ohio. Mother, Betsey Josselyn (Samson) Edwards, daughter of Thomas H and Eleanor (Josselyn) Samson of Massachusetts

B A Knox College 1878, attended McCormick Theological Seminary 1881–82 and Yale Divinity School 1882–83 (B D 1883, Commencement speaker), ordained in Congregational church Wyanet, Ill., 1883 and minister there 1883–84; minister Amboy, Ill., 1884–90, Kewanee, 1890–94, Bloomington 1895, Plymouth Congregational Church, Los Angeles, Calif., 1896–97, Escondido 1897–1903, and Whittier 1904 until retirement from active ministry 1907, associated with Bethlehem Institutions, Los Angeles, 1907–10, engaged in citrus industry in Whittier 1907–43, member Plymouth Congregational Church, Whittier

Married (1) September 19, 1883, in Princeton, Blanche, daughter of Edward Mercer and Jane (Kirkland) Fisher. Children: Herbert Nicholas (B S. Pomona Coll 1905; M A Yale 1906); Margaret Blanche (died September 16, 1904), May Gertrude (Mus B Pomona Coll 1913), and Frederick Newton (B.A. Pomona 1914, M A Univ of California 1915, LL.B. Harvard 1925). Mrs. Edwards died April 24, 1916 Married (2) August 15, 1917, in Pasadena, Calif, Clara Grace, daughter of Isaac Newton and Mary Jane (Scott) Holloway. Son Arthur Holloway (B A. Whittier Coll. 1940)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Rose Hills Cemetery, Whittier. Survived by wife, one daughter, sons, and one granddaughter.

Hohannes Kara Krikorian, B.D. 1883.

Born February 3, 1855, in Aintab, Turkey Died December 14, 1942, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Rev Kara Krikor Haroutunian, minister Second Congregational Church, Aintab, son of Haroutune Manook and Mary Sarkissian Mother, Lucia Jebejian, daughter of Avedis Jebejian and Mukhsi Ana

Marash Theological Seminary and Central Turkey College, Aintab; attended Amherst College 1880–81 and Yale Divinity School 1881–83, 1898–99 (B D. 1883), instructor in philosophy and the evidences of Christianity, Central

Turkey College, 1883–85 and Goodell professor 1885–1902; ordained in Congregational church 1902; minister Emmanuel Church at Bible House, Constantinople, 1902–19 and editor mission weekly Avedaper, a founder Rahnuma 1910 and editor in Istanbul, Turkey, 1910–15 and New York City 1924–32; lecturer Robert College and Constantinople Women's College and engaged in work of Near East Relief 1917–19, resided in United States 1920–42, minister Armenian church in New Haven, Conn, 1920–24, occupied in writing in New York City 1924 until retirement 1939, since retirement resided in Washington; a founder Armenian Presbyterian Church, Washington, 1938, member Armenian Executive Council 1928–30, author A Sincere Life A Biographical Sketch of Kara Krikor Haroutunian (1907), The Doctrines of Christianity (1909), What Should We Believe In? (1910), Three or One?—The Idea of Trinity (1912), and Islam and Christianity Face to Face (1937), secretary Class of 1883 D. from 1923 to 1942, member Armenian Presbyterian Church, Washington.

Married September 5, 1888, in Broussa, Turkey, Rebecca Aristides Momjiades, daughter of Rev. Aristides Momjiades (Theological School, Marzouvan, Turkey) and Armaveni Takvourian Children Ephronia K Manookian (Constantinople Women's Coll 1907–11, George Washington Univ. 1938–41), widow of Moussa Karra Manookian, Yervant Hovhannes, '17 D.; Vahram Socrates (died October 17, 1916), Puzant (died September 1, 1899), Albert Hovhannes, and Aram Hovhannes, ex-'25 (died October 15, 1932).

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Fort Lincoln Cemetery, Washington. Survived by wife, daughter, two sons, and two grandchildren

Edmund Simon Lorenz, B.D. 1883.

Born July 13, 1854, in Canal Fulton, Ohio Died July 10, 1942, in Dayton, Ohio

Father, Rev. Edward Lorenz, a United Brethren minister, superintendent United Brethren missionary work in Germany, editor "Froehliche Botschafter", son of Edmund and Katherina (Konrad) Lorenz of Geinsheim-am-Rhine, Germany. Mother, Barbara (Gueth) Lorenz, daughter of Johann Philip and Justina Amalia (Hauf) Gueth of Geinsheim

B.A Otterbein College 1880 and M.A 1883, attended Union Bible Seminary 1880–81 and Yale Divinity School 1881–83 (B D 1883, Commencement speaker), ordained in United Brethren Church, Dayton, 1883, attended University of Leipzig 1883–84; minister High Street Church, Dayton, 1884–86, German chaplain National Military Home, Dayton, 1886–87, president Lebanon Valley College 1887–89; founded Lorenz Publishing Company, publishers of church music and monthly periodicals relating to church music, Dayton, 1890

(manager and editor 1890 until retirement 1939), composer of many hymns including: Tell It to Jesus Alone, Joy Cometh in the Morning, The Name of Jesus Is So Sweet, and Thou Thinkest, Lord, of Me; author. Missionary Songs (1895), Practical Church Music (1909), Church Music (1923), Music in Work and Worship (1925), Practical Hymn Studies (1937), and The Singing Church (1938); LL.D. Lebanon Valley College and D Mus Otterbein College 1936, member Euclid Avenue United Brethren Church, Dayton

Married October 1, 1878, in Montgomery County, Ohio, Florence Luella, daughter of Henry P. and Catherine Eve (Zehring) Kumler Children: Karl Kumler (B A Columbia Univ 1901), Justina (B A Bryn Mawr Coll 1907), the wife of Rev John Balmer Showers, D D (B.A Lebanon Valley Coll. 1914), Mary (B A Smith Coll 1913), the wife of Courtland Calvin Van Deusen (B A Princeton 1907), Edward Henry (B A Princeton 1917), and Barbara (B A Vassar 1920), the wife of Charles Vincent Reeder (B A. Ohio Wesleyan Coll 1912)

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Woodland Cemetery, Dayton Survived by wife (died September 8, 1943), children, sixteen grandchildren, two great-grandchildren, and a sister, Justina Lorenz Stevens (B S Otterbejn Coll. 1883; died July 16, 1943)

Charles Warren Preston, B.D. 1885.

Born July 27, 1851, in Oxford, Ohio. Died December 27, 1942, near Cazadero, Calif.

Father, Edwin Thomas Preston, a farmer; minister Jasper County, Iowa; son of Peter and Abi (Hole) Preston of Lynchburg, Va., and Columbiana County, Ohio. Mother, Mary Jane (Chambers) Preston; daughter of Thomas and Prudence (Morton) Chambers of Ann Arbor, Mich, and Ohio

B A State University of Iowa 1882, attended Yale Divinity School 1882–86 (B D. 1886), ordained in Congregational church, Gilead, Conn., 1886 and minister there 1886–88, minister Verdon, Nebr, 1888–92, Curtis 1892–1900, Thedford 1900–05, Butler Avenue Church, Lincoln, 1905–08, Uehling, Argo, and Loomis 1909, Shickley 1912–13, Sheridan, Ore., 1913–15, and Santa Rosa, Calif, 1915 until retirement 1917, minister at large 1909–12; resided in Cazadero 1917–42

Married November 24, 1890, in Hebron, Conn, Maria, daughter of Benjamin Thomas and Mary Emmeline (Buell) Sumner No children. Mrs. Preston died April 19, 1941

Death due to old age Burned in Sebastopol (Calif) Cemetery Survived by a sister, Caroline P. Hawk (Grinnell Coll ex-'93), the wife of Arthur Benson Hawk of Wichita, Kans, and a brother, George Albert Preston of Worcester, Mass

Mark Wilson Chunn, B.D. 1886.

Born May 25, 1861, near Mechanicsville, Md Died November 2, 1942, in Luverne, Minn

Father, Mark Bourne Chunn, a planter and magistrate in St Mary's County, Md.; son of Henry and Jane Tank (Bourne) Chunn of Charles County, Md Mother, Matilda (Dent) Chunn, daughter of Wilson and Elizabeth Harrison (Dutton) Dent of Charles County Yale relatives include a nephew, Mark C. Candee, '25, '27 L.

Public schools, St Mary's County, B A Western Maryland College 1882, attended Yale Divinity School 1883–86 (B D 1886) and Yale Graduate School 1885–89 (Ph.D. 1888); ordained in Congregational church, New Lisbon, Wis, 1888 and minister there 1888–89, minister Congregational church Glenwood, Minn, 1889–92 and Unity Church, Luverne, Minn, and Rock Rapids, Iowa, 1892–94; attended University of Minnesota Law School 1894–95 (LL B 1895), admitted to the bar 1895, lawyer in Luverne 1896 until retirement 1939.

Married May 16, 1896, in Luverne, Ida, daughter of Dr William Adams Johns and Caroline (Keenan) Johns Son Henry Wingate (B S in E E School of Engineering of Milwaukee 1922)

Death due to coronary embolism Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Annie C Candee, the widow of Nehemiah Candee, '93, of Norwalk, Conn His brothers, Rev Clay D Chunn, '89 D, and Frederick L Chunn, '95 L, died in 1941 and 1902 respectively

Edward Smith Parsons, B.D. 1887.

Born August 9, 1863, in Brooklyn, NY Died April 22, 1943, in Cambridge, Mass.

Father, Charles Henry Parsons, son of Jotham and Olive (Greenleaf) Parsons of Wiscasset and Bangor, Maine, and Brooklyn Mother, Esther Rosetta (Smith) Parsons, daughter of Colonel Ashbel Smith and Lucinda (Tenney) Smith of New Hampshire

Brooklyn Collegiate and Polytechnic Institute, B A Amherst 1883 and M A 1886 (member Chi Psi and Phi Beta Kappa), attended Columbia University 1883–84 and Yale Divinity School 1884–88 (B D 1887, Commencement speaker), ordained in First Congregational Church, Greeley, Colo, 1888 and minister there 1888–92; professor of English and head Department of English, Colorado College 1892–1917, vice-president of the College 1899–1916, and dean Department of Arts and Sciences 1901–1917, president Marietta College 1919–36 and president emeritus 1936–43, resided in Jaffrey, N H, 1936–43, author. The Earliest Life of Milton (1902) and The Social Message of Jesus (1910); editor Milton's Minor Poems (1900), contributed many articles on Milton, Jonson, and Lowell to church publications and to Colorado College Studies;

LHD Amherst 1903, LLD Ohio Wesleyan 1929 and Marietta College 1935; camp educational secretary, YMC.A, Camp Meade, 1917, and associate secretary War Personnel Board, New York City, 1917–19; secretary Class of '87D from 1936 to 1943, president Colorado Conference of Charities and Corrections, Rocky Mountain Athletic Council, Association of Ohio College Presidents and Deans 1922–23, and Ohio College Association 1923–24, president board of directors Colorado Springs YMCA 1894; member Marietta Council of Social Agencies, Authors Club (London), American Academy of Arts and Sciences, American Association of University Professors, Religious Education Association, Modern Language Association, American Sociology Association, and Association of American Colleges

Married December 4, 1889, in Cleveland, Ohio, Mary Augusta, daughter of George Lyman and Katherine Louise (Talcott) Ingersoll Children: Esther; Charles Edwards (B A Amherst 1913, M D Johns Hopkins 1919; died December 31, 1940); Elizabeth Ingersoll (D Sc Johns Hopkins 1925); Josephine (died in infancy), Edward Smith, Jr. (B.A Amherst 1921); and Talcott (B.A. Amherst 1924, Ph D Univ of Heidelberg 1927).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Jaffrey. Survived by wife, two daughters, two sons, and five grandchildren

James Gibson Robertson, B.D. 1889.

Born April 9, 1861, in Jackson, NY. Died December 24, 1942, in Cambridge, NY

Father, Abner Robertson, a farmer and merchant in Salem, NY; son of Archibald and Elizabeth (Bishop) Robertson of Salem and Cambridge. Mother, Eliza Maria (Woodworth) Robertson

Sailor aboard U S Sloop of War St Mary's two years and S S. Kennard six months, attended school in Fort Edward, N Y, B A Williams College 1886; attended Yale Divinity School 1886–89 (B D 1889) and University of Berlin 1899–1900, ordained in Congregational church, Chester, N H, 1889 and minister there 1889–1915, minister Centerville, Mass., 1915–17, Acton 1917–20, South Strafford, Vt, 1920–23, Middlefield, Mass, 1923–26, and Colebrook, Conn, 1926 until retirement 1933, resided in Cambridge 1933–42; secretary Class of '89 D from about 1923 to 1942 and editor After Fifty Years (1939), member Congregational Church, Colebrook.

Married September 11, 1900, in Chester, NH, Fannie Maud, daughter of Luther Waterman and Betsey Ingalls (Merrill) Hall. Children Pauline Wood-worth (BA Smith Coll. 1926, MA Univ of Illinois 1928), the wife of Theophilus Parsons, Jr (B Chem Cornell 1924; Ph D Univ of Illinois 1934), and Frances (died February 12, 1932)

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Salem Survived by wife and one daughter

James Hayden Tufts, B.D. 1889.

Born July 9, 1862, in Monson, Mass Died August 5, 1942, in Berkeley, Calif

Father, Rev. James Tufts (B A 1838) Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Warren) Tufts (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-1847). Yale relatives include an uncle, Samuel Read Warren, '60

Monson Academy; B A Amherst 1884 and M A 1890 (member Beta Theta Pi and Phi Beta Kappa); principal Westport (Conn) High School 1884-85, Walker instructor in mathematics Amherst College 1885-87, attended Yale Divinity School 1887-89 (B.D. 1889) and universities of Berlin and Freiburg 1891–92 (Ph D Freiburg 1892); instructor in philosophy University of Michigan 1889-91, on faculty University of Chicago 1892-1942 (assistant professor of philosophy 1892-94, associate professor 1894-1900, professor 1900-30, and professor emeritus 1930-42, departmental chairman 1905-30, dean of senior colleges 1899-1904, 1907-08 and dean of faculties 1923-26, vice-president 1924-26, acting president 1925); lectured on philosophy University of Califorma at Los Angeles 1931-33; author The Sources and Developments of Kant's Teleology (1892), On the Genesis of the Aesthetic Categories (1903), The Individual and His Relation to Society as Reflected in the British Ethics of the Eighteenth Century (1904), Our Democracy, Its Origins and Its Tasks (1917), The Ethics of Cooperation (1917), The Real Business of Living (1918), Education and Training for Social Work (1923), Recent Ethics in its Broader Relations (1930), America's Social Morality (1933); co-author, with John Dewey, Ethics (1908, 1932), contributed to Dictiorary of Philosophy and Psychology, edited by James Mark Baldwin (1901-05), and Creative Intelligence (1917), made an authorized translation of Windelband's A History of Philosophy (1893–1901), editor James Tufts a Memorial (1902), Studies in Philosophy and Psychology, in honor of Charles E Garman, 79 D (1906), and The School Review 1906-09, managing editor International Journal of Ethics 1914-30 and on editorial committee 1931-42, co-editor Letters, Lectures and Addresses of Charles Edward Garman (1909), LLD Amherst 1904 and University of California 1937, trustee Monson Academy 1900–38 and president of the board 1924-38, director McCormick Theological Seminary, chairman executive committee 1924-30, and acting president 1929, an organizer Institute of Juvenile Research at University of Chicago 1908-09, member Illinois Housing Commission 1910–11; chairman board of arbitration for men's clothing industry, Chicago, 1919-22, president Western Philosophical Association 1906, 1914, American Philosophical Association 1914, and Pacific Philosophical Association 1934; member American Psychological Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, National Education Association, and Congregational church

Married (1) August 25, 1891, in Leverett, Mass, Cynthia Hobart, daughter of Augustus Greenleaf and Caroline (Hobart) Whitaker Children Irene Tufts

Mead (B A Univ) of Chicago 1915, M D 1926) and James Warren (Ph B. Univ of Chicago 1916) Mrs. Tufts died January 11, 1920 Married (2) June 18, 1923, in New York City, Matilde Castro (B A. Univ. of Chicago 1900, Ph.D. 1908), daughter of Daniel and Louise (Hager) Castro

Death due to heart failure Buried in Monson Cemetery Survived by wife,

children, and seven grandchildren

John Sheridan Zelie, B.D. 1890.

Born May 3, 1866, in Princeton, Mass Died November 9, 1942, at Daytona Beach, Fla

Father, Rev John Sheridan Zelie (B A Amherst 1851; diploma Union Theological Seminary 1854), a Congregational minister, son of David and Thankful (Clark) Zelie of Franklin, N Y Mother, Caroline Augusta (Prescott) Zelie, daughter of Reuben Swain and Caroline (Leavitt) Prescott of Bangor, Maine Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Rev Clarence S Sargent, '79 D.

Beeman Academy, New Haven, Vt, and Bangor High School, attended Middlebury College 1883-85 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon), Williams College 1885-87 (B A 1887, graduate member Phi Beta Kappa), Union Theological Seminary 1887-88, and Yale Divinity School 1888-90 (BD 1890); ordained in Congregational church, Plymouth, Conn., 1890 and minister there 1890–94; associate minister First Presbyterian Church, Cleveland, Ohio, 1894-96 and minister Bolton Avenue Presbyterian Church 1896–1900, minister First Reformed Church, Schenectady, NY, 1900-03, Crescent Avenue Presbyterian Church, Plainfield, N J, 1903-17, and First Presbyterian Church, Troy, N.Y, 1919-27, had no regular charge after 1927 but acted as ad interim minister in various churches in the East, Middle West, and South; resided summers in Cherryfield, Maine, and winters at Daytona Beach; Yale Divinity School Alumni lecturer 1902-03, exchange minister to England and Scotland 1929; American Red Cross chaplain, with assimilated rank of First Lieutenant, in World War I, overseas May, 1918–March, 1919, with field hospitals of 2d, 26th, 28th, and 79th divisions, and Base Hospital 30, representative of Federal Council of Churches on staff of director American Relief Administration mission to Russia 1922, author Lead, Kindly Light, Intimations from Cardinal Newman's Hymn (1909), co-author Bill Pratt, the Saw-Buck Philosopher (1895) and Joseph Conrad The Man (1925), DD Williams College 1904; Litt D. Western Reserve University 1921 and Lake Forest College 1930

Married October 1, 1891, in Cherryfield, Henrietta Shapleigh, daughter of Gleason Ricker and Juliette (Brown) Campbell Children. John Sheridan, Jr, and Frances Campbell, the wife of Jules Goodwin Doux (B A Cornell 1909)

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Mt Hope Cemetery, Bangor. Survived by wife, children, and asister, Mrs James North Stanley of Brookline, Mass

Joseph Marion Adams, B.D. 1891.

Born May 29, 1862, in Paris, Ill Died March 31, 1943, in Orange, NJ

Father, Rev William Barnes Adams, a minister in Paris; son of Joseph Adams of Connecticut, Ohio, and Illinois Mother, Sarah Jane (Dixon) Adams; daughter of Joseph and Mary Dixon of Pennsylvania and Illinois

B.A. DePauw University 1886, M A. 1889; attended Yale Divinity School 1888–91 (B D. 1891) and Andover Theological Seminary 1891–92, with U S. Signal Office 1887–89, ordained in Congregational church, Rochester, N H, 1893 and minister there 1893–97, studied sociology in London, England, 1897–98; minister First Congregational Church, Ellsworth, Maine, 1899–1906, substitute minister in suburban churches of Boston, Mass, 1906–09, farmer in Bolton, Mass., 1909–37, resided in West Orange 1937–43, chairman Bolton School Committee, member Federated Church, Bolton

Married in August, 1904, in Rochester, Alice, daughter of Albert Herman and Ida (Dennett) Dalrymple Children Myron Dennett (B S Worcester Polytechnic Inst 1928), Margaret Dixon (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1932), the wife of Clifford Winfield Quad (B S Univ of Vermont 1928, M D 1931), Arthur Dalrymple (Wake Forest Coll ex-'42), and Theodore (died in infancy) Mrs. Adams died December 22, 1935

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Eastwood Cemetery, Lancaster, Mass. Survived by daughter, two sons, five grandchildren, and a brother, Henry Benjamin Adams of Winslow, Wash.

Edward Lester Marsh, B.D. 1891.

Born May 19, 1865, in Leicester, Mass Died November 7, 1942, in Providence, R I

Father, George Edgar Marsh, superintendent A White & Sons, clothing factory, Leicester, son of Welcome and Harriet Newhall (Jennison) Marsh of Leicester Mother, Mandana Elizabeth (White) Marsh, daughter of Alonzo and Elizabeth Lincoln (Davis) White of Leicester

Leicester Academy, B A. Amherst 1888 (member Theta Delta Chi and Phi Beta Kappa), attended Yale Divinity School 1888–91 (B D 1891) and Andover Theological Seminary 1891–92; ordained in Congregational church Yarmouth, Mass, 1892 and minister there 1891–97; minister Waterville, Maine, 1897–1907, Plymouth Church, Providence, 1907–22, Federated Church, Sandwich, Mass, 1922–29, and Hope Church, East Providence, 1931 until retirement 1939, without charge 1929–31; on board of managers Boston Seaman's Friend Society, member Town Criers of Providence, Rhode Island State Conference

of Congregational Churches (president 1920), Masonic order, and Plymouth-Union Congregational Church, Providence

Married November 28, 1893, in Sandwich, Mary Eliza, daughter of James Hamblin and Ruth Jacques (Fish) Jenkins Children Elizabeth White (Boston Univ 1920), the wife of Leroy Vincent Elder, and Mandana (B A Wheaton Coll 1922, M A Brown 1923), the wife of Frederick Kenneth Armstrong (B S Brown 1923) Mrs Marsh died July 3, 1925.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Leicester. Survived by children, six grandchildren, and two brothers, Arthur White Marsh (MD Harvard 1895) of Worcester, Mass, and George Albert Marsh

(B A Colby Coll 1901) of Scarsdale, N.Y.

Wesley Eugene Page, B.D. 1897.

Born August 18, 1871, in Brownville, Maine. Died January 13, 1943, in Jericho Center, Vt

Father, Chase Page, a farmer and stone mason in Brownville, son of Levi and Bettie (Morrell) Page of Brownville Mother, Sarah (Kennison) Page; daughter of Samuel Kennison of Milo, Maine.

BA Bates College 1894, attended Yale Divinity School 1894–97 (B.D 1897), ordained in Congregational church, Milton, Conn, 1897 and minister there 1896–1903, minister Ellsworth, Conn, 1904–10, Torrington 1910–21, New Haven, Vt, 1921–23, Westminster West 1923–30, and First Congregational Church, Jericho Center, 1930 until retirement 1936, acting school visitor Sharon, Conn, 1905–08, secretary school board 1905–10, Y M C.A secretary in France September, 1918–July, 1919, canteen worker and later financial secretary Hut 2, Camp 1, St –Nazaire; hut secretary St.–Luce, member Masonic order and First Congregational Church, Jericho Center.

Married (1) May 31, 1899, in Milton, Mary Emily, daughter of Samuel D and Susan (King) Page No children Mrs Page died February 24, 1938. Married (2) July 20, 1941, in Richmond, Vt, Gladys Sarah, daughter of Edson Amos and Effie E (Borrowdale) Nealy

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Jericho Center Cemetery. Survived by wife and two sisters, Mrs Mary P. Roberts of Brownville and Mrs. Addie P. Norton of Yarmouth, Maine.

Seth Herbert Buell, B.D. 1903.

Born April 26, 1875, in Plymouth, Conn. Died January 1, 1943, in St Louis, Mo.

Father, Andrew Buell, a farmer near Plymouth; son of Cyrus and Sarah Belinda (Catlin) Buell of Plymouth Mother, Lorena (Scofield) Buell; daughter of Seth and Hariett Scofield who lived near Stamford, Conn

Graduate University of Connecticut 1892, B A Oberlin 1900, attended Yale Divinity School 1900–03 (B D 1903), ordained in Congregational church, Ravenna, Nebr, 1903 and minister there 1903–08, minister Grand Island, Nebr, 1908–13; superintendent for Nebraska The Congregational Sunday School and Publishing Society 1913–18, minister First Congregational Church, Springfield, Mo, 1918–25, Texarkana, Ark, 1925–28, and Compton Hill Church, St Louis, 1928–42; lecturer on religious education Drury College 1918–25, moderator Missouri Congregational Conference 1925, author Eva Abigail Smith A Child of the Nebraska Frontier (1941), D.D. Drury College 1922

Married January 18, 1905, in Ravenna, Eva Abigail Smith (BO Highland Park Coll 1901), daughter of Erastus and Mary Jane (Person) Smith Children Carleton Eugene (BA Oberlin 1931; PhD Washington Univ 1935) and Katherine Alberta Mayhew (BA Oberlin 1933; M.S Washington Univ.

1935). Mrs Buell died March 4, 1932.

Death due to ruptured aorta Ashes interred in Valhalla Cemetery, St Louis Survived by children, three grandchildren, three sisters, Mrs Edward Beach of Plymouth, Mrs. Rena Lackman of Thomaston, Conn, and Mrs Ross Vernon Alley of Hickory, N C, and two brothers, Fred Buell of Plymouth, and Ernest Hall Buell (B.S. Wesleyan Univ 1908) of Terryville, Conn

William Hays Longsworth, B.D. 1909.

Born April 9, 1878, in Cadwallader, Ohio. Died April 10, 1943, in Twinsburg, Ohio.

Father, Cornelius Sneethen Longsworth, a farmer and flour mill operator, son of Basil and Elizabeth (Boyer) Longsworth of Guernsey County, Ohio Mother, Elizabeth Ann (Gilpin) Longsworth, daughter of Jonathan and Nancy (Ripley) Gilpin of Tuscarawas County, Ohio

B.A. West Lafayette College 1906; M A. Potomac University 1914, attended Yale Divinity School 1906–09, 1910–11 (B D. 1909) and registered Yale Graduate School 1906–08, 1910–11, ordained in Methodist Episcopal church, Steubenville, Ohio, 1906; minister Congregational Church, Seymour, Conn, 1908–09, Orient, N Y., 1909–15, Auburn Street Congregational Church, Paterson, N J, 1915–20, First Congregational Church, Canton, Ohio, 1920–28, Glenville Congregational Church, Cleveland, 1928–38, and First Congregational Church, Twinsburg, 1939–43, chaplain and Y.M C A secretary in France 1918; member Masonic order.

Married September 16, 1908, in Henderson, N.C., Guessie Verl, daughter of Ruffin Reddick and Margaret Elmira (Hartley) Satterwhite Children William Hays, Jr. (Marietta Coll 1927–31, Western Reserve School of Law 1932–33), Margaret Elizabeth (B.A. Marietta Coll 1933), Ruth Eleanor (B.A. Mt Union Coll. 1943); Mary Louise; and Robert Marshall

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Locust Grove Cemetery,

j

Twinsburg, Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and two brothers, Rev John H Longsworth of Sherrodsville, Ohio, and Frank Longsworth of Churubusco, Ind.

Clarence Morey Smail, B.D. 1910.

Born November 19, 1882, in Perrysville, Ohio Died December 26, 1942, in Chicago, Ill.

¥Ì.

Father, Harvey Franklin Smail, a farmer in Holmes and Ashland counties, Ohio, son of Jake Smail of Holmes County Mother, Roena (Remington) Smail, daughter of John and Almeria (Sayles) Remington of Holmes County.

Tri-State College, Angola, Ind; B A Bethany (W.Va) College 1908 (member Sigma Nu), attended Yale Graduate School 1908–09, Yale Divinity School 1908–10 (B D. 1910; president Leonard Bacon Debating Society), and Columbia University 1917–18 (M A 1918), ordained in Disciples of Christ Church, Loudonville, Ohio, 1906; minister Greensburg, Pa, 1910–13, Beaver Falls 1913–16, First Christian Church, New Castle, 1919–24, Central Church of Christ, Dayton, Ohio, 1924–29, and First Christian Church, Valparaiso, Ind., 1929–42, overseas June, 1918–August, 1919; Y M C A secretary with 91st Division in St-Mihiel, Argonne, and Ypres-Lys offensives; divisional secretary, La Ferte Bernard, France, March-July, 1919, president Christian Endeavor societies of Western Pennsylvania and Valparaiso County and City Recreational Activity Board, district councilor Boy Scouts of America; member Valparaiso Chamber of Commerce

Married (1) July 20, 1910, in Hagans, W Va, Teresa Catherine Fetty (B.A Bethany [W Va] Coll 1908), daughter of Michael Elza and Mary Emily (Cordray) Fetty No children. Mrs Smail died January 4, 1941 Married (2) June 2, 1942, in Cleveland, Ohio, Mary Eliza Shearer Workman, daughter of

John and Henrietta Ellen (Hammett) Shearer

Death due to a complication of diseases Buried in Green Lawn Cemetery, Perrysville Survived by wife and two sisters, Lulu May Smail Spohn (Bethany [W Va] Coll 1906-07) of Mansfield, Ohio, and Mrs Alta S Zody of Perrysville.

Everett Edward Bachelder, B.D. 1912.

Born May 6, 1886, in Pittsfield, N.H. Died July 20, 1942, in North Attleboro, Mass.

Father, Edward Everett Bachelder, a business man in Pittsfield; son of Henry William and Frances Susan (Bunker) Bachelder of Gilmanton and Pittsfield, N H Mother, Clara Augusta (Marston) Bachelder, daughter of Stephen Green and Mary Esther (Towle) Marston of Chichester, N H.

Pittsfield High School, B A. Dartmouth 1909, attended Yale Divinity School 1909–12 (B D 1912), ordained in Stanwich Congregational Church, Greenwich, Conn, 1912 and minister there 1912–14, minister Wood Memorial and Hope Church, Cambridge, Mass., 1914–17, Rockland, Mass, 1918–25, Community Church, Provo, Utah, 1925–30, North Congregational Church, Newton, Mass, 1930–37, and First Congregational Church, North Attleboro, 1939–42; S T M Boston University 1937, registrar and treasurer Utah Congregational Conference 1926–27; moderator Suffolk West Association of Congregational Churches 1934–35; Y M C.A secretary Hingham Naval Training Station 1918; member Masonic order.

Married June 6, 1912, in Hamden, Conn, Margaret Toole (Boston Univ 1918–20), daughter of James Thomas and Mary Winifred (Currier) Toole Children. Everett Edward, Jr (Univ of New Hampshire 1930–32, Gordon Coll 1933–34, Bible Inst. of Los Angeles 1935–37), Horace Lyman (B A Washington and Lee Univ 1937, M A. Duke Univ 1942, Yale Divinity School 1946); and Francis Stephen (B A Dartmouth 1939, Yale Divinity School 1944).

Death due to uremia. Buried in Floral Park Cemetery, Pittsfield Survived by wife and children

Charles Cornelius Williams Carver, B.D. 1923.

Born December 6, 1884, in South Greece, NY Died November 15, 1942, in Rochester, NY.

Father, William C Williams Mother, Margaret Rosanna (Cain) Williams, daughter of Cornelius Cain of South Greece. Foster father, Frank Benjamin Carver.

Rochester public schools and special courses at University of Rochester, associated with Mackie Piano, Organ & Music Company, Rochester, 1898–1901; actor 1902–18, had played with stock companies in many cities in New England and was leading man for Vaughn Glaser Company and Hyperion Stock Company, New Haven, attended General Theological Seminary 1918–20 and Yale Divinity School 1921–23 (B.D 1923); ordained deacon in Episcopal church 1918 and priest 1920, lay reader Christ Church, New Haven, 1915–20 and curate 1920–23; dean All Saints' Cathedral, Albany, NY, 1923–28, rector Christ Church, Rochester, 1928–42; author The Ancient Office of Tenebrae, The Way of Calvary, and Aids to Christian Worship, dramatized "At the Mercy of Tiberius" and "St. Elmo"; chaplain Episcopal Actors Guild, ST.M Nashotah House 1934, DD 1942; member Masonic order

Unmarried

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Rochester Survived by mother

Clark Vandersall Poling, B.D. 1936.

Born August 7, 1910, in Columbus, Ohio. Died February 2, 1943, in the North Atlantic

Father, Rev Daniel Alfred Poling, LL.D., Litt.D., S T D, D D. (B A. Dallas [Ore] Coll 1904, M A 1906), president World Christian Endeavor Union; editor-in-chief Christian Herald, pastor Baptist Temple, Philadelphia, Pa., son of Charles Cupp and Savilla (Kring) Poling of Portland, Ore. Mother, Susan Jane (Vandersall) Poling; daughter of Daniel Oliver and Sarah (Cramer) Vandersall of East Akron, Ohio

Mt Hermon (Mass) School and Oakwood School, Poughkeepsie, NY; BA. Rutgers University 1933, councilor Mount Lawn Children's Home 1932; director of senior boys at Deering Community Center 1933, attended Yale Divinity School 1933–36 (BD 1936), preached at Clinton Grove, NH., summer 1933 and at Methodist church, South Meriden, Conn, 1933–34; ordained in First Church of Christ (Congregational), New London, Conn., 1936, assistant minister 1934–37, and associate minister 1937–38; minister First Reformed Church, Schenectady, NY, 1938 until 1942 when granted leave of absence to enter Army of the United States.

Married June 21, 1938, in Philadelphia, Elizabeth Marie, daughter of August and Elizabeth (Tubach) Jung Children: Clark Vandersall, Jr., and Susan Elizabeth

Commissioned First Lieutenant June 25, 1942; assigned as Chaplain, 131st Quartermaster Regiment, Camp Shelby, transferred to 501st Engineers Company, Camp Shelby, October, 1942, at Port of Embarkation December 1, 1942, until late in January, 1943

Chaplain Poling and three other chaplains went down with the torpedoed cargo transport *Dorchester*, after giving their life jackets to others. Survived by wife, children, father, stepmother, six sisters, Rachel P Van Note (Russell Sage ex-'30), the wife of William George Van Note (B.S. Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst 1929, Ph D Pennsylvania State Coll. 1941) of Raleigh, N.C., Mary P. Wood (B.S. Univ of Vermont 1934), the wife of Lyman Phillips Wood (B.S. Univ of Vermont 1932) of Noroton, Conn., Miss Ann Louise Poling of New York City, Elizabeth Jane Poling (B.A. Ursinus Coll. 1939) of Baltimore, Md., Treva P. Roy (Bucknell Univ. 1944), the wife of Ensign Philip Howard Roy (B.A. Bucknell Univ. 1942) of Lewisburg, Pa., and Joan P. Malcolm, the wife of Lieut. (J.g.) Reid Malcolm (B.A. Univ. of Pennsylvania 1940), and a brother, Rev. Daniel Kring Poling (B.A. Coll. of Wooster 1931, B.D. Princeton Theological Seminary 1934) of Philadelphia.

SCHOOL OF LAW

BACHELORS OF LAWS

William Fraser Booth, LL.B. 1878.

Born September 6, 1857, in New Orleans, La Died February 15, 1943, in Berkeley, Calif

Father, Edward Booth, a wholesale hat merchant in New Orleans, member city council; State assemblyman and State senator, son of George and Rachel (Greenhalch) Booth of Bolton, England, and Newark, NJ Mother, Helena (Hallaran) Booth, daughter of Nicholas and Rebecca (Donaldson) Hallaran of New Orleans Yale relatives include two brothers, Edward H Booth, ex-'80 S., and James P Booth, ex-'87.

New Orleans High School, B A Emory and Henry College 1876 (member Kappa Sigma); attended Yale School of Law 1876–78 (LL B 1878, honors Junior and Senior years; Jewell Prize Senior year), admitted to the bar 1878, lawyer in San Francisco 1878 until retirement 1937, with exception of a year spent in practice in Oakland following the San Francisco earthquake, specialized in patent and trade-mark cases; member Booth & Booth 1916–43

Married October 6, 1881, in Oakland, Emilie, daughter of Edward Gibbons (M.D. New York Univ. 1842) and Catherine Forrester (Barr) Gibbons Son William Forrester (B A Univ of California 1913). Mrs Booth died May 31, 1033.

Buried in Mountain View Cemetery, Oakland. Survived by son

Friend William Smith, LL.B. 1882.

Born December 20, 1854, in Bridgeport, Conn Died March 19, 1943, in Bridgeport, Conn

Father, Friend William Smith, president Smith & Egge Manufacturing Company, Bridgeport, postmaster at Bridgeport 1861–69, son of Rev Friend William Smith and Mary (Esmond) Smith Mother, Angelina Amelia (Weed) Smith; daughter of Zera and Zilpha (Northrup) Weed of Ridgefield, Conn

Bridgeport High School and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn, attended Yale College 1874–77 (Class baseball team and Class football team, Freshman Supper Committee; member Delta Kappa) and Yale School of Law 1881–82 (LL B. 1882, member University Glee Club), in United States Patent Office, Washington, D.C., 1877–81, admitted to the bar 1882, lawyer in Bridgeport 1882 until retirement 1941, specializing in patents and patent law, member Fairfield County Bar Association, Patent Bar Association, Masonic order, and St. John's Church (Episcopal), Bridgeport

Married November 12, 1884, in Tarrytown, NY, Harriet Merritt, daughter

of Jotham Merritt and Sophia (Todd) Knowlton Children. Sophia Knowlton; Julia Wilcox, the wife of DeVer C Warner, '12; and Friend William, Jr., '26 S Mrs Smith died October 1, 1928

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown Survived by children, three grandchildren, one of whom is DeVer K. Warner, ex-'36 S, two great-grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs Maybelle S Jackson of New York City.

Wıllıam Valdo Twaddell, LL.B. 1885.

Born December 3, 1856, in Weld, Maine Died August 12, 1942, in Chicago, Ill.

Parents, John and Irena H (Phelps) Twaddell

B A. Bates College 1882, signal service observer, Signal Corps, U S Army, stationed in New Haven, Conn, 1882–85, attended Yale School of Law 1883–85 (LL B 1885), admitted to the bar, lawyer and real-estate dealer in Santa Fe, N Mex, 1885–86, El Paso, Texas, 1886–89, Kansas City, Mo, 1889–91, and Chicago 1891–1918.

Unmarried

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Memorial Park Cemetery, Evanston, Ill Survived by no immediate relatives

Robert Seney Pelletreau, LL.B. 1890.

Born October 4, 1867, in East Moriches, NY Died April 7, 1943, in Patchogue, NY

Father, Jesse Woodhull Pelletreau, justice of sessions in East Moriches; son of Elias Smith and Hannah (Smith) Pelletreau of Southampton, N.Y. Mother, Nancy Howell (Stevens) Pelletreau, daughter of Abraham Stephens of Westhampton, N Y

Bridgehampton (NY) Academy; attended Yale School of Law 1888–90 (LLB 1890), admitted to Connecticut bar 1890 and New York bar 1891; lawyer in Patchogue 1892–1943 (associated with his son Robert in firm of Pelletreau & Pelletreau 1938–43), attorney for Suffolk County 1918–20 and surrogate 1921–37, delegate to New York State Constitutional Convention 1915 and Republican National Convention 1924; an organizer Citizens National Bank, Patchogue, 1903 and president Union Savings Bank 1936–43, on Patchogue Village Board, director John T Mather Memorial Hospital, Port Jefferson, member Suffolk County and New York State Bar associations, Suffolk County Historical Society (vice-president 1939–43), American Bible Society, Huguenot Society of New York, Sons of the Revolution, Masonic order, and Patchogue Congregational Church

Married December 24, 1895, in Bridgehampton, Mary Woodruff, daughter

of Hiram Sandford and Elizabeth (Halsey) Rogers Children John Rogers (Brown Univ. ex-'27) and Robert Halsey, '31, '34 L

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, Patchogue Survived by wife, sons, five grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Jessie Pelletreau of East Moriches

Frederic Eli Mygatt, LL.B. 1891.

Born August 6, 1871, in New Mılford, Conn. Died November 29, 1942, in New York City

Father, Henry Seymour Mygatt, former president First National Bank, New Milford; son of Andrew Burr and Caroline (Canfield) Mygatt of New Milford Mother, Nancy Eells (Faxon) Mygatt, daughter of Elisha Faxon, Jr, and Maria L. Smith Woodbridge Faxon of Stonington, Conn Yale relatives include an uncle, William C Faxon, '61. Rev James Noyes, a founder of the College, was an ancestor

Gunnery School, Washington, Conn; attended Yale School of Law 1889–92 (LL.B 1891 and LL M 1892, University Glee Club three years, member Phi Gamma Delta), admitted to practice in Connecticut 1892 and New York 1893, lawyer in New York City 1892–1938 (member VanWyck & Mygatt 1902–11, Wherry & Mygatt 1911–27, Mygatt, Smith & DeLavina 1928–30, and Mygatt & Mygatt 1927–28 and 1930–37), secretary and treasurer New Milford Savings Bank 1936–42, councilman Plainfield, N J, 1908–13, secretary Classes of '91 L and '92 L until 1922, Alumni Fund agent Classes of 1890 to 1892 L for 1920–21 and Classes of 1891 and 1892 L for 1921–22, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New Milford Bar Association, Litchfield County Bar Association, New York State Bar Association, Society of Mayflower Descendants, and First Congregational Church, New Milford

Married October 6, 1896, in Brooklyn, NY, Elizabeth, daughter of Samuel Newton and Caroline DeZane (Acly) Daniels Children Frederic Eli, Jr (Amherst ex-'19; LL B New York Univ 1924), Henry Daniels, Royal Elting (B.A Princeton 1929, LL B Harvard 1932), and Philip Faxon (BA Princeton 1934).

Death due to nephritis and uremia. Buried in Center Cemetery, New Milford Survived by wife, sons, nine grandchildren, and a brother, Roland F Mygatt, ex-'04 S Another brother, Andrew B Mygatt, '01 S, died in 1923.

George Peabody Steele, LL.B. 1892.

Born April 6, 1868, in Denver, Colo Died January 12, 1943, in Denver, Colo.

Father, Henry Danforth Steele of Denver Mother, Louise (Peabody) Steele, daughter of Calvin and Lucinda (Pember) Peabody of Vermont

East High School, Denver; attended Yale School of Law 1890–92 (LL.B. 1892), admitted to the Nebraska bar, and Colorado bar 1893; lawyer in Goldfield, Nebr, and engaged in mining; lawyer in Denver 1893 until retirement 1937, special United States attorney in Denver 1903–06; on city council 1923–33 (president 1928–29), in legal department Denver & Rio Grande Railroad Company 1911–14, became general attorney Woodmen of the World 1914; member Denver, Colorado, and American Bar associations, and Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), Denver

Married June 7, 1893, in Denver, Mary Shiras, daughter of Thomas and Mary (Shiras) Jones Children Gertrude, the wife of Grover Coors (B.S.A. Cornell 1910); Barbara (Wells Coll ex-'28), the wife of Hugh Sanford Fifield (B.A. Cornell 1926), and James Mortimer (grad. U.S. Naval Academy 1916).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Denver. Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and a sister, Eva S Shove, the wife of Eugene Percy Shove, LL.D (Syracuse Univ ex-'83), of Colorado Springs

David Edward FitzGerald, LL.B. 1895.

Born September 21, 1874, in New Haven, Conn Died November 17, 1942, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Edward FitzGerald, a grocer in New Haven; son of David Edward and Catherine (Mahoney) FitzGerald of County Kerry, Ireland Mother, Ann (Conway) FitzGerald, daughter of Thomas and Mary Conway of County Kerry. Hillhouse High School, New Haven; attended Yale School of Law 1893-96 (LLB 1895, LLM 1896, secretary Kent Club); admitted to the bar 1895; lawyer in New Haven 1895-1942 (in office of James P Pigott 1896-97; member FitzGerald & Walsh 1897-1920, FitzGerald & Hadden 1920-30, and FitzGerald, Foote & FitzGerald 1930-42), president and treasurer New Haven News Publishing Company and Commercial Realty Finance Company 1924-27, counsel New Haven Board of County Commissioners 1939-42, active in Democratic party for many years, ward worker 1900-07, chairman New Haven Democratic Town Committee 1907, delegate at large to every Democratic national convention from 1912 to 1940; chairman Democratic State Central Committee 1912-22, on Democratic National Committee 1936-42 (vice-chairman 1940-42), Mayor of New Haven 1918-26; nominee for Governor of Connecticut 1922; Yale Alumni University Fund agent Class of '95 L. from 1928 to 1942, Chevalier Order of the Crown of Italy 1921; on Connecticut State Council of Defense in World War I, honorary member Second Company, Governor's Foot Guard (appointed Judge Advocate with rank of honorary Captain), Admiral Foote Post No 17, GAR, Allan M Osborn Camp No. 1, United Spanish War Veterans, and A E F Post No. 320, member New Haven County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut,

American branch International Law Association, Irish-American Historical Society, and St Aedan's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven

Married November 14, 1900, in Milford, Conn, Alice Josephine, daughter of Josiah Fowler and Sarah (McCue) Clark Children. David Edward, Jr (B A Georgetown Univ 1924; Yale School of Law ex-'27), and John Clark (B S Trinity Coll [Conn.] 1928; LL B. Boston Univ 1932).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, sons, and a sister, Mary Catherine FitzGerald Slattery, the widow of Morris D Slattery, '93 M., of New Haven

Harry Waterbury Hawley, LL.B. 1895.

Born May 3, 1871, in Bridgeport, Conn Died October 8, 1942, in Bridgeport, Conn

Father, Wheeler Hawley, a wholesale oyster dealer in Bridgeport, son of David Benjamin and Laurena (Foote) Hawley of Newtown, Conn Mother, Sarah Frances (Rich) Hawley; daughter of Curtis and Sarah Frances (Mallette) Rich of Newark, N J

Bridgeport High School; attended Yale School of Law 1893-95 (LL B 1895; member Book and Gavel and Phi Alpha Delta), admitted to the bar 1895; lawyer in Bridgeport 1896-97; partner law firm of Hawley & Carey, salesman The Davis & Hawley Company, jewelers, Bridgeport, 1923 until retirement 1932, member United Congregational Church, Bridgeport

Unmarried.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Mountain Grove Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by a sister, Miss Jeannette L Hawley of Bridgeport

Frederick Merrick Peasley, LL.B. 1895.

Born February 9, 1866, in St Marys, Ohio Died February 16, 1943, in St Petersburg, Fla

Father, Jacob Ashton Peasley (Ohio Wesleyan Univ 1857–59), a farmer and teacher in Worthington, Ohio, son of Chalkley and Margaret (Ashton) Peasley of Mt Gilead, Ohio Mother, Jane Anderson (Paul) Peasley (Oberlin Coll 1854–55, 1859–63); daughter of James and Marion (Anderson) Paul of Greenock, Scotland.

Worthington High School; attended Ohio State University 1885–86, associated with Plume & Atwood Manufacturing Company, Waterbury, Conn, 1886–94; attended Yale School of Law 1894–95 (LL B 1895, member Kent Club); admitted to the bar 1895; lawyer in Waterbury 1895 until retirement 1928 (in partnership with his classmate, Terence F Carmody, 1896–97), deputy judge District Court of Waterbury 1901–10, judge 1910–14, 1918–24;

judge Superior Court of Connecticut 1924–25, 1929–36; State referee 1936–43; in Connecticut House of Representatives sessions of 1915, 1917, 1927 (chairman judiciary committee 1917) and Connecticut Senate 1929 (majority leader and chairman judiciary committee); joint editor Connecticut Statute Annotations (1905–07), compiler Reference Notes to the General Statutes of Connecticut. Revision of 1902 (1902), joint compiler United States War Revenue Law of June 13, 1898 (1899), member State Bar Association of Connecticut, Waterbury, New Haven County, and American Bar associations, Sons of the American Revolution, and Congregational church, Cheshire.

Married October 8, 1891, in Waterbury, Elizabeth Hall, daughter of William Bilius and Harriet Eliza (Hall) Brooks. Children: Marion Brooks (Vassar

ex-'19) and Harriet

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Hillside Cemetery, Cheshire Survived by wife, children, a sister, Harriet P Curtis (Ohio State Univ ex-'85), the wife of Rev Charles Burritt Curtis, '73 D, and a brother, Andrew Anderson Peasley (MD Ohio Medical Univ 1899) of Columbus, Ohio Another brother, James A Peasley, ex-'03 L, died in 1927

John Stephenson Pullman, LL.B. 1896.

Born February 25, 1871, in New Haven, Conn Died March 31, 1943, in Bridgeport, Conn

For family history see biography of his brother, James Pullman, '99 M

(page 250)

Wilbraham (Mass) Academy, B A Wesleyan 1892 (member Alpha Delta Phi and Phi Beta Kappa), teacher of Greek Pennington (N J) Seminary 1892-93, engaged in iron-ore business, Philadelphia, 1893-94; registered in Yale Graduate School spring term 1894, attended Yale School of Law 1894-96 (Junior year honors, LLB cum laude 1896), admitted to the bar 1896; lawyer in Bridgeport 1896–1943 (member Pullman & Marr 1904–08, Canfield, Judson [Stiles, '85 L] & Pullman 1908-13, and Pullman and Comley [William H, '97] 1919–43), prosecuting attorney Bridgeport 1903–07 and corporation counsel 1909-13, judge city court 1907-09, chairman committee to revise Bridgeport City Charter 1915, vice-president Bridgeport-Peoples Savings Bank 1918-43; trustee Bridgeport Hospital 1921-43, Wesleyan University 1922-43 (secretary of the board 1925-43), and Connecticut State Hospital, Middletown, 1935-39, member board of associates Junior College of Connecticut, Bridgeport, 1936-43, chairman Selective Service Board, Division No 2, Bridgeport, 1917-19, on State Bar Examining Committee 1931-43, D C L Wesleyan 1942; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, Bridgeport Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut, American Bar Association, American Law Institute, Masonic order, and First Methodist Episcopal Church, Bridgeport

Married November 25, 1905, in Topeka, Kans, Mary Nickerson Lakin (Ph B Univ. of Chicago 1899), daughter of David L and Mary (Ward) Lakin Children. Mary Elizabeth Lakin (B A Smith Coll 1928), the wife of DeWitt Dominick, '30, Alice Lakin (B A Vassar 1932, Yale Graduate School 1932–33), the wife of George B Longstreth, '30, Josephine Lakin (B A Vassar 1933), the wife of Luther Tucker, '31, and John Stephenson, Jr (B.A. Wesleyan Univ 1939).

Death due to cardiac failure Buried in Mountain Grove Cemetery, Bridge-port. Survived by wife, children, nine grandchildren, three sisters, Mrs Mary Dora Pullman Gledhill of Bridgeport, Mrs Oscar Keppler of Brooklyn, NY, and Mrs Eleanor Clark of Harrison, NY, and a brother, James Pullman, '99 M (died May 28, 1943).

Stuart Robinson Bolin, LL.B. 1899.

Born June 20, 1878, in Circleville, Ohio Died September 21, 1942, in Columbus, Ohio

Father, Andrew Robinson Bolin (B A Miami Univ 1871, M.A 1887, LL B. Cincinnati Coll of Law 1873), a lawyer in Columbus, representative in Ohio legislature 1895–99; trustee Miami University 1910–13; son of John Pulaski and Mary Ann (Brannon) Bolin of Pickaway County, Ohio Mother, Sophronia Isabel (Rector) Bolin; daughter of Edward and Sophronia (Blodgett) Rector of Pickaway County

Circleville High School; attended Ohio State University 1894–96 (member Phi Delta Theta) and Yale School of Law 1897–99 (LL B 1899, member Kent Club); read law in his father's office 1896–97; admitted to the bar 1900, lawyer in Circleville 1900–09 and Columbus 1909–42 (junior member Bolin & Bolin 1900–13); city solicitor of Columbus 1912–13, United States attorney Southern District of Ohio 1915–19; special assistant to Attorney General of the United States 1919–26; executive commissioner from Ohio at Jamestown Tercentennial Exposition 1907; director Ohio Legislative Reference Department 1914–15, elected president Yale Club of Columbus 1927 and vice-president Yale Club of Central Ohio 1939; member Masonic order and St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Columbus.

Married November 9, 1904, in Circleville, Ada Rebekah, daughter of Ambrose White and Flora (Cunningham) Brown Children Flora Belle (B A Ohio State Univ. 1930), the wife of Leslie Henry (B A Univ of Michigan 1926, J D. 1928), Ethel Virginia (B S in Ed Ohio State Univ 1931, M A 1940), the wife of John William Burkert (Ohio State Univ 1931–32), Ada Elizabeth (B A Ohio State Univ 1933), the wife of Vaughn Rolland Chase (B.S in B.A. Ohio State Univ 1933); Roberta Brown (Ohio State Univ 1931–32); and Stuart Robinson, Jr (Ohio State Univ 1934–36)

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in East Lawn Cemetery, Columbus Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Walter Ebersbach of Lima, Ohio

Xenophon Pearce Huddy, LL.B. 1901.

Born November 1, 1878, in Newport, R.I Died April 18, 1943, in Milford, Pa

Father, George Henry Huddy, a builder in Providence, R I; son of Henry and Susan (Gladding) Huddy of Newport Mother, Lavinia Butler (Ash)

Huddy, daughter of William Ash of Newport.

Public schools, Providence, attended Yale School of Law 1898–1901 (LL.B. cum laude 1901; Junior Class honors); admitted to Rhode Island bar 1901, New York bar 1903, and Pennsylvania bar 1921, lawyer in New York City 1904–23 and Milford 1923–37, borough solicitor of Milford 1926–30 and county solicitor, Pike County, 1927–35; author *The Law of Automobiles* (1909; 9 editions); member New York State Bar Association, Pennsylvania Bar Association, Sons of the Revolution, and Masonic order; lay reader and senior warden Church of the Good Shepherd (Episcopal), Milford

Married January 3, 1903, in Milford, Lila, daughter of John Hixon and

Adelaide (Kanouse) Van Etten No children

Death due to paralysis Buried in Milford Cemetery Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs Thomas W Cripps of Providence, and a brother, George H Huddy, Jr, '93 L

Ira Oswin Gregory, LL.B. 1904.

Born May 21, 1881, in Weston, Conn. Died February 1, 1943, in South Norwalk, Conn.

Father, George Gregory, a carpenter and lumber merchant in Weston and Stamford, Conn, son of William Harvey and Mary Ann (Richards) Gregory of Darien, Conn Mother, Sarah (Whitlock) Gregory; daughter of Wakeman and Betsey (Slauson) Whitlock of Weston

South Norwalk High School, attended Yale School of Law 1901-04 (LL.B. 1904), admitted to the bar 1904, lawyer in Norwalk 1904-43; with Walsh & Hubbell 1904-10; practiced independently, specializing in real-estate law, 1910-43, first president Norwalk Council Boy Scouts of America

Married September 28, 1910, in South Norwalk, Edna, daughter of Edward Vail and Carrie Estelle (Duncan) Baker. No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Norwalk Cemetery Survived by wife and a brother, Henry W Gregory, '91 S

Ernest Leroy Averill, LL.B. 1905.

Born January 22, 1883, in Branford, Conn. Died September 13, 1942, in New Haven, Conn

Father, George Marshall Averill, son of John and Almira (Hemingway) Averill of Branford Mother, Harriet Esther (Babcock) Averill, daughter of Russell William and Wealthy Ann Babcock of East Haddam, Conn

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Law 1901-05 (LL.B. 1905); admitted to Connecticut bar 1905 and to practice before Supreme Court of the United States about 1909, lawyer in New Haven 1905-07, 1913-16, and 1920-34, Wallingford, Conn, 1907-13, and Branford 1913-16, 1920-42; member Hunt, Averill & Johnson, Hartford, Conn, 1934-42, prosecuting attorney of Branford 1923-28, general counsel Connecticut Bankers Association 1935-40, counsel Legislative Reorganization Committee 1937 and Connecticut Optometric Society 1939; deputy attorney general, State of Connecticut, 1927-35, represented Branford in Connecticut House of Representatives 1923-27, member Connecticut National Guard 1901-42, enlisted as private, First Division, Naval Militia, 1901, Ensign 1905 until discharge 1908, private, Company K, Second Infantry, 1912, honorably discharged as Sergeant October 31, 1915, re-enlisted as private, Company E, 10th Militia, Field Artillery, November 18, 1915, promoted Second Lieutenant March 2, 1916, served on Mexican border 1916-17, promoted First Lieutenant March 30, 1917, and Captain October 1, 1917, regiment federalized August 26, 1917, as Battery E, 103d Field Artillery, 26th (Yankee) Division, overseas October 9, 1917-October 28, 1919, supply officer 103d Field Artillery until June, 1918; transferred to Quartermaster Department, 41st Division, July 17, 1918, and Judge Advocate's Department March 6, 1919, assigned to Assistant Judge Advocate, Base Section 7, La Rochelle, France, March 29, 1919, and Base Section 9, Antwerp, Belgium, April 22, 1919, transferred to Judge Advocate's Office, Service of Supply, May 26, 1919, on duty in Eastern Department of Judge Advocate's Office, Washington, October 31, 1919, until discharge January 12, 1920, Chevalier Mérite Agricole (France) 1919, successively recruiting officer, commanding officer Battery A, 173d Field Artillery 1920-23, intelligence officer 1923, and Lieutenant Colonel, Judge Advocate General's Department, assigned to State staff, 1925, Major Commandant, 1st Company, Governor's Foot Guard, September 20, 1940-August, 1942, retired with rank of Brigadier General September, 1942, State director of Selective Service 1940–42, member Connecticut Interstate Waterway Compact Committee 1935, Connecticut Flood Control Committee 1939, Council of State Governments, State Bar Association of Connecticut, National Association of Attorneys General (secretary and treasurer 1928-32, vice-president 1932-33, president 1934-35), American Bar Association, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Branford

Married January 31, 1906, in New Haven, Lulu Evelyn, daughter of Captain William Henry Johnston and Marguerite Evelyn (O'Brien) Johnston Children Esther Marguerite (B A Smith Coll ex-'28), the wife of Curtis Henry Brockelman, '29 S; Eunice Almira (Univ. of Connecticut ex-'30), the wife of Roger Payne Smith, '33, William Prentice (Wesleyan Univ ex-'32, LL B Univ. of Mississippi 1935), and George Chartres (B S. Univ. of Connecticut 1936)

Death due to esophageal hemorrhage Buried in Center Cemetery, Branford Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, and two brothers, Walter Averill

of Butte Falls, Ore, and Frederick Averill, '95 L.

Frederick Chester Bauby, LL.B. 1907.

Born December 8, 1878, in Waterbury, Conn. Died August 19, 1942, in Waterbury, Conn

* Father, Peter Bauby, a merchant in Waterbury; son of Carlo and Rosa (Barberi) de Barbiere Mother, Rosa Beatrice (Musante) Bauby; daughter of

Celeste and Rosa (Bernardo) Musante

Waterbury High School, attended Yale School of Law 1902-07 (LL B. 1907, executive committee Wayland Club); admitted to the bar 1908; lawyer in Waterbury 1908-42 (associated with his brother, Charles, 1908-17, with John T Monzani, '06, 1917-21, Martin J Dunn 1922-30, and Edward F Sweeney, '07, and John F Tobin, '10 L, 1930-42); justice of the peace 1910-42; tax collector for Waterbury 1918-22, on draft board in World War I; member Company A, Connecticut National Guard, Waterbury and New Haven County Bar associations, State Bar Association of Connecticut, and Church of Our Lady of Lourdes (Roman Catholic), Waterbury

Married (1) July 3, 1902, in New York City, Kate Mason Mr and Mrs. Bauby were divorced in 1915 Married (2) May 12, 1923, in Baltimore, Md, Mildred Olivia, daughter of Bengt and Mathilda Augusta (Brandt) Mattson

No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in New Pine Grove Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs Marie B. Buckley of Waterbury, and three brothers, Leo Bauby of Bridgeport, Conn, John Bauby of Elwood, Ind, and Joseph Peter Bauby of Waterbury Another brother, Charles W Bauby, '99 L, died in 1929

William Matthew Dunn, LL.B. 1907.

Born June 14, 1878, in New Haven, Conn. Died April 5, 1943, in Hines, Ill.

Father, Matthew Dunn, yardmaster at New Haven for New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company, son of Dennis Dunn of Rockfall, Conn. Mother, Catherine (Eustice) Dunn

New Haven High School; LL B. Grant University 1906, attended Yale School of Law 1906–07 (LL B 1907), admitted to the bar 1907, lawyer in Gary, Ind, 1907–43 (partner Dunn & Fox [John M, '07 L] 1907–09, Dunn & Corbett 1910–13, and Dunn & Lucas 1914–23), resident counsel Pennsylvania Railroad Company and Wabash Railway Company, judge of city court 1914–23; Republican nominee for city judge 1934, 1938, 1942, founder in 1910 and director Gary Y M C A; a founder Judge Gary-Bishop Aldering Settlement House; president Gary branch National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, member first board of trustees Holy Angels' Church, Gary, 1908–11, historian Gary Irish Society 1930–31, military judge, United States Army, during World War I, charter member Gary Commercial Club (first secretary 1908–12) and Gary University Club; member Brotherhood of Railroad Trainmen (president Gary local No 806 in 1909), United Spanish War Veterans, and St Luke's Church (Roman Catholic), Gary

Married November 26, 1913, in Valparaiso, Ind, Deloma Margaret, daughter of John Bennett and Deloma Margaret (LaForce) Clifford Children William Eustice (Univ of Illinois 1936–37, certificate Chicago Technical Coll 1942), John Robert, and Deloma Catherine, the wife of Allan Wardrop

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia Buried in Calvary Cemetery, East Gary. Survived by wife and children.

Morris Downs Rowland, LL.B. 1908.

Born September 22, 1885, in Milton, Iowa Died February 19, 1943, in Libby, Mont

Father, Jonathan Downs Rowland, merchant and banker in Milton, son of Samuel Paynter and Elizabeth (Russell) Rowland of Milton Mother, Mary Cooper (Claffin) Rowland, daughter of Ira Wallace and Jane Catherine (Stuck) Claffin of Washington, D C

Milton High School, attended University of Iowa 1905-07 and studied law in offices of Payne and Somers, Bloomfield, 1906-07, attended Yale School of Law 1907-08 (LL B 1908); admitted to the bar 1908, associated with Rowland and Gray, lawyers, Libby, 1909-30 and practiced independently in Libby 1930-43; State senator 1930-34 and 1942-43, president Lincoln Abstract Company, Libby, 1930-43; member Masonic order

Married September 18, 1910, in Iowa City, Iowa, Alberta Luella, daughter of William Henry and Lillis Hortense (Anderson) Allis Children Jonathan Downs (B.A. Univ. of Montana 1941; died March 7, 1942) and Lamar (Cornish School [Seattle, Wash] 1933–36)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Libby Cemetery Survived by wife, one son, mother, and a brother, Lamar Howard Rowland of Milton

Simeon Columbus Bumgarner, LL.B. 1910.

Born March 20, 1882, in Barker, Tenn Died July 3, 1942, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, George Washington Bumgarner of Alvarado, Va; son of Simeon A. Bumgarner of Wilkes County, NC Mother, Elizabeth Ann (Sheppard) Bumgarner, daughter of George Washington Sheppard of Ashe County, N.C.

Green Spring (Va) Academy, LL B Washington and Lee University 1909; attended Yale School of Law 1909–10 (LL B 1910, second Wayland Prize; member Yale Senate and Wayland Club), admitted to Virginia bar 1910, Tennessee bar 1915, and to practice before Supreme Court of the United States 1917, in a law office in New York City 1910, lawyer in Abingdon, Va, 1911–12, Damascus, Va, 1912–16, Bristol, Tenn, 1916–17, and Kingsport, Tenn, 1917–18, attorney Old Dominion Electric Railway Company, Washington, DC, 1918–27, engaged in valuation and field work for Interstate Commerce Commission 1927–36, agent Inheritance Tax Division, Bureau of Internal Revenue, Philadelphia, 1936–39 and Los Angeles 1939–42; compiler Annotated Pocket Code of Illinois (1914), Pocket Code of Virginia . . (1914), and Annotated Pocket Code of Tennessee (1915).

Married September 20, 1912, in Abingdon, Kate, daughter of John Henry and Martha McCall (Evans) Vail Daughter Martha Elizabeth, the wife of

Dennis John Hogan

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Grandview Cemetery, Glendale, Calif Survived by wife, daughter, three sisters, Mrs Sally B Bebber of Damascus, Mrs Lee A Shelley of Vienna, Va, and Mrs Victoria B Ashley of Abingdon, and a brother, George W Bumgarner of Auto, W Va

Alfred Barton, Jr., LL.B. 1911.

Born August 30, 1890, in Brooklyn, NY Died March 14, 1943, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Alfred Barton, son of Alfred and Ann (Bowen) Barton of Warren, R I Mother, Mabel (Hayward) Barton, daughter of Richard and Lydia F. Hayward

Erasmus Hall High School, Brooklyn, attended Yale School of Law 1908–11 (LL B 1911), admitted to the bar 1911 but never practiced law, associated with A M Bowen & Company, New York City; advertising manager Charles R. De Bevoise & Company, Newark, NJ, real-estate superintendent Atlantic Gulf and Pacific Company, New York City, 1930–42.

Unmarried

Death due to a heart attack Survived by no immediate relatives

Herbert Frederick Day, LL.B. 1911.

Born May 10, 1888, in Hartford, Conn Died August 6, 1942, in Washington, D C

Parents, Frederick Ellsworth and Sidonie (Maurice) Day

Cheshire (Conn) Academy and Hartford Public High School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1907–08 and Yale School of Law 1908–11 (LL B 1911), admitted to the bar 1911; lawyer in New Haven 1916–37, attorney Department of Justice, Washington, 1937–42, prosecuting attorney Town of East Haven 1918–19, special NRA counsel in Connecticut 1935, member New Haven County and American Bar associations and Masonic order

Married (1) October 30, 1909, in Boston, Mass, Doris H. Hosmer. Children John M., Calvin, Gwendolyn P., and Marion (Sister Mary Doris). Mr. and Mrs. Day were divorced in 1936. Married (2) in September, 1936, in New York City, Marion Teresa, daughter of Bernard F. and Mary (Hartley). Kivlan.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Granby, Conn Survived by wife, children, and mother (Mrs Coffin)

Walter Raymond Main, LL.B. 1913.

Born January 31, 1887, in West Haven, Conn. Died February 2, 1943, in West Haven, Conn

Father, Walter Andrew Main, a real-estate and insurance dealer in West Haven, town clerk and first selectman; member Connecticut General Assembly 1901, son of Elias Talmadge and Jane (Smith) Main of Orange, Conn. Mother, Carrie Elizabeth (Smith) Main, daughter of Sydney and Sarah (Goodell) Smith of West Haven

West Haven High School and Phillips-Andover, B A Amherst 1909 (member Phi Kappa Psi), teacher West Haven High School 1909–10, attended Yale School of Law 1910–13 (LL B 1913; University Glee Club two years, member Corbey Court), in law office of Edward A Harriman, New Haven, 1910–13, admitted to the bar 1914; lawyer in West Haven 1914–43; member Walter A Main & Son, real estate and insurance, West Haven, 1913–43, assistant clerk town court 1920–21 and clerk 1921–33, member West Haven School Board and First Congregational Church, West Haven

Married October 5, 1915, in New Haven, Greta Isabel, daughter of George Edward and Minnie Isabel (Pardee) Bailey Children Linda, ex-'41 Mus, and Bradford Talinadge (B A Amherst 1942)

Death due to drowning Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, West Haven Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Miss Florence Smith Main of New Haven

Morris Blumer, LL.B. 1919.

Born May 7, 1894, in Portland, Conn Died December 6, 1942, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Abraham Blumer, a grocer in Middletown, Conn. Mother, Hannah

(Fierberg) Blumer, daughter of Aba Fierberg of Dorohoi, Rumania

Middletown High School; B A Wesleyan University 1916; attended Yale School of Law 1916–19 (LL B 1919; an editor Yale Law Journal two years); admitted to the bar 1919; in office of Judge Joseph P Tuttle, '89, Hartford, 1919–20, lawyer in Hartford 1920–42 (associated with Frederick J Rundbaken and Moses Hartzmark ['24, '27 L] 1925–42), member Hartford Board of Tax Review, Masonic order, and Emanuel Synagogue, Hartford (vice-president Emanuel Synagogue Brotherhood)

Married October 24, 1926, in Newark, NJ, Beatrice Schoenkopf (Cornell Univ ex-'25), daughter of Isadore and Fannie (Eisenstein) Schoenkopf Chil-

dren Arline and Robert Howard

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Emanuel Cemetery, Wethersfield, Conn Survived by wife, children, three sisters, Mrs Sarah Blumer Gold and Mrs Raymond Frank Trebert, both of Hartford, and Mrs. Abraham Tannen of San Francisco, Calif, and two brothers, Dr Louis Blumer of Miami, Fla, and Samuel Blumer of Buffalo, N Y

Vincent Aloysius Scully, LL.B. 1922.

Born June 19, 1896, in Waterbury, Conn. Died January 9, 1943, in Waterbury, Conn

Father, Martin Scully, city editor *Waterbury Democrat*, mayor of Waterbury 1916–19, son of Jeremiah and Bridget (Lawless) Scully of Ireland. Mother, Margaret Catherine (O'Reilly) Scully, daughter of Luke and Margaret (Lynch) O'Reilly of Waterbury

Public schools, Waterbury, B A College of the Holy Cross 1919, served in United States Navy during World War I, stationed at Newport, R.I, attended Yale School of Law 1919–22 (LL B 1922), admitted to the bar 1922; lawyer in Waterbury 1922–43, claims attorney for Waterbury 1930–43, corporation counsel 1939–40, and mayor 1939–43, member St Margaret's Church (Roman Catholic), Waterbury

Married June 4, 1928, in Waterbury, Mary, daughter of Dennis W and Elizabeth (Phelan) Deeley Children Mary Gertrude and Ann Elizabeth

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife, children, mother, and two sisters, Margaret S. Moore, the wife of Thomas F Moore, '18, and Miss Mary Elizabeth Scully, both of Waterbury, and four brothers, Ambrose Joseph Scully, Martin Henry Scully, Francis

Thomas Scully, and Joseph William Scully (B A Coll of the Holy Cross 1929), all of Waterbury

Henry May, Jr., LL.B. 1937.

Born July 18, 1912, in Birmingham, Ala Died September 17, 1942, in New York City

Father, Henry May, porter Grimes Brothers Grocery Company, Birmingham. Mother, Ida Bell (Noble) May

Lincoln School and Negro Industrial High School, Birmingham, B A Talladega College 1934 (member Alpha Phi Alpha), attended Yale School of Law 1934-37 (LL B 1937, member The Thomas Swan Barristers' Union), admitted to the bar but never engaged in practice, on police force of New York City 1941-42, member Congregational church.

Married in December, 1941, in New York City, Mrs Reba Forman Murray. Death due to drowning Buried in Flushing (NY) Cemetery Survived by wife, parents, two brothers, John and Thomas May, a sister, and a stepson, Douglas Murray, Jr

John Milton Avery, Jr., LL.B. 1939.

Born June 22, 1913, in Ticonderoga, NY Died August 9, 1942, in Norwalk, Conn

Father, John Milton Avery (B A Middlebury Coll 1911), attorney National Life Insurance Company, Montpelier, Vt; son of John and Edith Ann (Severance) Avery of Wallingford, Vt Mother, Ida Gertrude (Speyer) Avery; daughter of Fred J. Speyer of Ticonderoga

Montpelier High School and Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass, B A cum laude Middlebury College 1936 (member Kappa Delta Rho and Phi Beta Kappa), attended Yale School of Law 1936–39 (LL B 1939), admitted to the bar 1940, associated with Harry R Sherwood ['99 L], town counsel, Westport, Conn, 1939–42; member Masonic order and Christ Church (Episcopal), Montpelier

Unmarried

Death due to acute dilatation of the heart Buried in Green Mountain Cemetery, Montpelier Survived by stepmother, a brother, Herbert Edward Avery (B A Middlebury Coll 1938) of East Hartford, Conn, and a half sister, Edith Katherine Avery (Middlebury Coll 1945)

Walter Russell Grubner, LL.B. 1942.

Born February 8, 1911, in New York City. Died December 8, 1942, in New London, Conn

Father, Maurice Grubner, a merchant in New London; son of Naphtali and Pearl Grubner of Austria. Mother, Helen (Wertheimer) Grubner; daughter of Louis and Miriam Frances Wertheimer of Austria

Bulkeley High School, New London, B A. Harvard 1931 (member Sigma Alpha Mu), employed as a clerk in New York City and later associated with his father, teacher Bulkeley High School 1933-39; attended Yale School of Law 1939-42 (LL B 1942), member Congregation Beth El, New London

Unmarried

Death due to bacterial endocarditis Buried in Beth El Cemetery, Groton, Conn Survived by parents and a sister, Edna Grubner Gilman (B A. Connecticut Coll for Women 1935), the wife of Lawrence Milton Gilman (Univ. of Alabama ex-'33) of Gilman, Conn

MASTER OF LAWS

Edward Waldo McGhee, LL.M. 1916.

Born June 20, 1893, in Jackson, Ohio Died May 5, 1943, in Cleveland, Ohio

Father, Edward Waldo McGhee, engaged in manufacture of iron; son of James Miller and Susan (Phillips) McGhee of Jackson Mother, Carrie Sue (Crandall) McGhee, daughter of Elias and Nancy (Forsyth) Crandall of Jackson.

Jackson High School, LL B Washington University 1915, B.A Ohio State University 1916, attended Yale School of Law 1915–16 (LL M 1916; member Corbey Court); admitted to Missouri bar 1915 and Ohio bar 1916; lawyer in Cleveland 1916–43, entered United States Army October 15, 1918, as private S A T C, St Ignatius College, Cleveland; discharged December 18, 1918; member Sigma Chi

Unmarried

Death due to a gunshot wound Buried in Greenlawn Cemetery, Portsmouth, Ohio Survived by a brother, James Miller McGhee (Ohio State Univ ex-'08) of New York City

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

Lucy Parkman Trowbridge Ingersoll, B.F.A. 1903.

Born May 7, 1859, in Washington, D.C Died April 11, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, William Petit Trowbridge, LL.D (grad US Military Academy 1848; M.A Hon Yale 1870), professor of dynamical engineering Yale University 1870–71 and Higgin Professor 1871–77, trustee Sheffield Scientific School 1871–77; Adjutant General of Connecticut 1872–76, with rank of Brigadier General; son of Stephen Van Rensselaer and Elizabeth (Conklin) Trowbridge Mother, Lucy (Parkman) Trowbridge, daughter of Samuel Breck and Theresa (Halsey) Parkman of Savannah, Ga. Yale relatives include. William Petit Trowbridge, ex-'81 Spec S (brother), and Katherine Halsey Trowbridge, ex-'15 Art (sister)

Private school, New Haven, attended Yale School of the Fine Arts for short periods from 1877 to 1880 (certificate 1879) and 1902-03 (B F.A 1903), studied at Académie Julian, Paris, 1903-06, a miniature painter, she had exhibited at the Paris Salon in 1896 (awarded premier prix), 1897, and 1898, became an associate of the Salon; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married October 10, 1899, in New Haven, Francis G Ingersoll, '74 L, son of Charles R Ingersoll (B.A 1840, LLD 1874) and Virginia (Gregory) Ingersoll, grandson of Ralph I Ingersoll (B A 1808), great-grandson of Ralph Isaacs (B.A 1761) and Jonathan Ingersoll (B A 1766), and great-great-grandson of Rev Jonathan Ingersoll (B.A 1736). Daughter: Lucy Alathena Parkman (died August 2, 1924). Mr. Ingersoll died February 13, 1931

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by a sister, Nannie Bierne Trowbridge Toumey (Yale School of the Fine Arts ex-'84), widow of Professor James W. Toumey (M A Hon Yale 1907) of New Haven.

Theodore Warren Lamb, B.F.A. 1930.

Born July 13, 1902, in Hinsdale, Ill Died February 22, 1943, in Lisbon, Portugal

Father, Chauncey Theodore Lamb, vice-president Warren-Lamb Lumber Company, Hinsdale; son of Theodore Fiske and Mahala Helen (Hubbard) Lamb of New Haven, Conn Mother, Mabel (Warren) Lamb, daughter of Cyrus Thompson and Anne Wyman (Stewart) Warren of Hinsdale

Hinsdale Township High School; B S Dartmouth College 1924 (member Phi Kappa Psi), reader in history Christ's College, University of Cambridge, 1924–25, draftsman Russell S. Walcott and Frederick Hogden, Chicago,

Del Grella Prize third year, traveled in Europe on Charles Arthur and Margaret Ormrod Matcham Fellowship 1930–31); architect in the office of James Gamble Rogers ['89] 1932, associated with William B Fyfe, ex-'34 Art, and Paul Schweikher, '29 Art, Chicago, 1936–40, member Schweikher, Elting, and Lamb, architects, Chicago, 1941–42, engaged in war-housing work 1942; appointed attaché to United States Embassy in London 1942, heading a commission for Office of Civilian Defense.

Married November 14, 1936, in Hinsdale, Deborah Fessenden Bent (Stanford Univ. ex-'30), daughter of George Henry and Grace (Gardner) Bent. Children:

Susan Deborah Fessenden and Joan Wingate

En route to his post in London, Mr Lamb died in the crash of a transatlantic plane at Lisbon. Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Jeannette L. Foster (Ph B Univ of Chicago 1931), the wife of Winfield Foster (Ph.B. Univ of Chicago 1929) of Hinsdale, and two brothers, Richard Warren Lamb (Dartmouth Coll. ex-'27) of Rapid City, S Dak, and David Warren Lamb (B A. Lake Forest Coll 1935).

William Earle Jenney, B.F.A. 1935.

Born November 4, 1909, in Steubenville, Ohio Died April 27, 1943, near Alameda, Calif.

Father, Earle Truman Jenney (Oberlin Coll. ex-'97), in real-estate business, Tarzana, Calif, son of Truman Warren and Susan (Winder) Jenney of Oberlin, Ohio Mother, Mary Edithe (Hall) Jenney (Oberlin Coll ex-'05); daughter of

Albert Stephen and Martha (Gish) Hall of La Porte, Ind

Studied at University of Southern California 1928–30 (member Alpha Rho Chi), in Europe 1930–32, registered in Yale School of the Fine Arts 1932–36 (B F A 1935, traveling fellow in Europe on Alice Kimball English Fellowship 1935–36), engaged in farming and painting in Northford, Conn., 1936; engaged in private work for Mr Ernst Whiting, in art department United Artists Studio, Hollywood, Calif, 1937, Twentieth Century-Fox Films Corporation 1938, Samuel Goldwyn Studios 1939, and Paramount Pictures, Inc., 1939–41, member Episcopal church, Encino, Calif

Married March 16, 1942, in Yuma, Ariz, Mary Graves Finucane, daughter

of Charles Maddock and Mary (Townsend) Graves

Commissioned Lieutenant (jg), special service, US Naval Reserve, August 18, 1941, reported for active duty October 5, 1941, to Fleet Aircraft Tactical Unit, Naval Air Station, San Diego, Calif; successively assistant executive officer, assistant camouflage officer, and instructor in ship and aircraft identification, promoted Lieutenant April, 1942, intelligence officer aboard the carrier Wasp, en route to Coral Sea constructed scale contour model of Guadal-canal for use of airplane pilots in surprise attack of August 7, 1942; escaped

without injury when Wasp was torpedoed, appointed head of Fleet Aircraft Identification Unit, Naval Air Station, San Diego, December, 1942

Lieutenant Jenney was killed when the plane in which he was visiting naval bases throughout the country to establish his system of identification crashed near Alameda. Survived by wife, parents, and a sister, Ruth Jenney Scott Lacy (Univ. of California 1923–27), the wife of Frank Boyd Lacy (Oregon State Coll ex-'26) of Pacific Palisades, Calif

Malcolm Campbell Robb, B.F.A. 1935.

Born May 13, 1911, in Mount Vernon, NY Died September 12, 1942, in Waltham, Mass

Father, Eccles Donald Robb (grad Drexel Inst 1899), member Frohman, Robb & Little, architects, Boston, Mass, son of Eliakim Tupper and Mary (Campbell) Robb of Chester, Pa Mother, Bertha (Mooar) Robb, daughter of James Farrington and Caroline (Howard) Mooar of Hyde Park, Mass

Newton (Mass.) High School and Huntington School, Boston, attended Yale School of the Fine Arts 1930–35 (B.F.A. 1935, won Fontainebleau competition of Beaux Arts Institute of Design and spent three months during summer of 1933 in Fontainebleau); associated with Frohman, Robb & Little a short time 1936; with Griswold & Gulick, architects, Boston, 1936–38, won Benjamin S. Rotch Traveling Scholarship in architecture (awarded by Boston Society of Architects) and traveled and studied in Europe 1938–39; draftsman with John P. Brown, Boston, 1940–41; engineering draftsman and designer Stone & Webster Engineering Corporation, Boston, February–July, 1941, member Church of the New Jerusalem (Swedenborgian), Newtonville, Mass.

Unmarried

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in Mt. Hope Cemetery, Boston. Survived by mother and two sisters, Mrs. Douglas Robert Neilson and Miss Miriam Robb, both of Newtonville.

SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

Norton Miller Goodyear, M.F. 1912.

Born December 9, 1889, in Carlisle, Pa Died February 20, 1943, in Carlisle, Pa.

Father, Jacob M. Goodyear, a coal merchant; sheriff of Cumberland County, Pa, son of Samuel and Mary Anne Goodyear Mother, Ellen Catharine (Miller)

Goodyear, daughter of Levi and Mary Magdalena Miller.

Carlisle High School, B S F Pennsylvania State College 1911; attended Yale School of Forestry 1911–12 (M F 1912); district manager Pennsylvania Chestnut Blight Commission, Oil City, Pa, 1912–13, with Crossett (Ark) Lumber Company 1913–20, superintendent Bedford Shoe Company, Carlisle, 1920 until retirement 1940, for a short time helped organize the Post Exchange at Indiantown Gap, Pa; commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, and entered Officers Training Camp, Camp Funston, January, 1918; assigned to 128th Field Artillery, 35th Division; overseas April, 1918–July, 1919; promoted Captain, Field Artillery, September, 1918, took part in engagements in Gerardmer Section, St-Mihiel, Meuse-Argonne, and Verdun Sector, instructor in horticulture and forestry, College of Agriculture, A.E F University, Beaune, France; discharged July 13, 1919; member Masonic order and First Lutheran Church, Carlisle

Married June 6, 1923, in Newville, Pa., Margaret Blean, daughter of William Orr and Jane (Brattan) Ker Daughters Peggy Jane and Nancy McCartney

Death due to general breakdown from overwork. Buried in Westminster Cemetery, Carlisle Survived by wife, daughters, two sisters, Mrs. Harry R. McCartney and Miss Carrie C Goodyear, both of Carlisle, and three brothers, Samuel M. Goodyear and Charles A Goodyear of Carlisle, and Frank H. Goodyear of Hastings, W Va

SUPPLEMENT

NOTICES OF DEATHS PRIOR TO JULY 1, 1942 NOT PREVIOUSLY REPORTED

Robert Bradford Williams, B.A. 1885.

Born June 24, 1860, in Augusta, Ga Died May 28, 1942, at Otaki Beach, New Zealand

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass Declamation prize Sophomore

year; Class baseball team Senior year; College Choir

Prohibition lecturer in rural counties of Georgia 1885, teacher in Georgia 1885–86; traveled in England and Australia with Fisk University Singers 1886–89 and during this period studied law; admitted to practice in New Zealand 1889; lawyer in Wellington 1889 until about 1910 and Taumarunui from about 1910 until retirement; mayor of a suburb of Wellington 1902–06, nominated for New Zealand General Assembly 1908

Married September 18, 1886, in Melbourne, Australia, Katherine Josephine Burke Children Robert Bradford, Jr; Vera (Mrs Quin), a daughter (deceased); and Nell, the wife of Vincent Langdon Mrs Williams died in 1921

Death followed a long illness Survived by two daughters, a son, and seven grandchildren

Edward Thomas Canfield, B.A. 1899.

Born May 27, 1875, in Thomaston, Conn. Died June 22, 1942, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Frederick Abial Canfield, superintendent Seth Thomas Clock Company, Thomaston; son of George Washington and Mary (McAuley) Canfield Mother, Martha Boardman (Thomas) Canfield daughter of Edward and Clarissa (Boardman) Thomas Yale relatives include Edward Thomas, '99 (cousin); and Thomas E. Canfield, '10 (brother)

Torrington (Conn) High School Second colloquy appointment Senior year. Attended Yale School of Law 1899–1902 (LL B 1902, an editor Yale Law

Journal 1900-02; member Wayland Club and Corbey Court)

Admitted to Connecticut bar 1902, associated with Smith [Herbert K, '91] & Mills, Hartford, 1902–04, special agent of Treasury Department employed in securing data on the more important corporations in Connecticut and Rhode Island 1904–06; represented Thomaston in Connecticut General Assembly 1907–08 (chairman committee on incorporations), lawyer in Hartford 1908–18 (in office of Ernest W Smith ['01] 1908–16, partner Smith [Herbert K], Smith

0

[Ernest W] & Canfield 1916–18), assistant treasurer P Garvan, Incorporated, paper and paper stock, Hartford, at time of death; member Congregational church

Married December 24, 1927, in Astoria, N.Y, Helen Joan Huntley. No children Mr and Mrs Canfield were divorced

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Thomaston. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Benjamin Stearns Adams, B.A. 1900.

Born December 27, 1877, in Fort Dodge, Iowa. Died January 13, 1942, in Evanston, Ill.

Father, John Quincy Adams, president Adams Investment Company, real estate, Chicago; son of Benjamin Stearns and Susan (Pierce) Adams of Ipswich, Mass Mother, Frances Cornelia (Smith) Adams; daughter of Perrine and Susan Smith of Mt Vernon, Ohio

Phillips-Andover Second dispute appointment Junior year, second colloquy appointment Senior year; member University Club and Beta Theta Pi.

Vice-president Adams Investment Company 1902–19, president 1919–33; treasurer John Burnham & Company, investment securities, Chicago, 1913–23 and president 1923–31; associated with A O. Slaughter 1931–33 and Thomson & McKinnon, Chicago, 1933–38; manager Climbing Arrow Ranch, Three Forks, Mont, 1938–41, member Episcopal church

Married October 30, 1901, in St Paul, Minn, Docela Weaver, daughter of Henry Sayward and Docela (Weaver) Clarke Son John Clarke (B A. Northwestern Univ. 1932, Ph D Univ of Chicago 1939)

Died suddenly Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife and son.

John Benjamin Westcott, B.A. 1909.

Born May 29, 1886, in Wauregan, Conn. Died May 27, 1942, in Chatham, NJ.

Father, John Stuart Westcott, an electrician in Wauregan Mother, Helen Marsylvia (Whitmore) Westcott

Worcester (Mass) Academy, attended Brown University 1905-06 (member Delta Upsilon) Entered Yale College Sophomore year; third-rank honors Junior year, oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Book and Bond Attended Yale Graduate School 1909-10 (M A 1910).

Teacher Blue Ridge College, New Windsor, Md, 1910–11, in investment or insurance business in New York City 1911–42, successively with E. H. Rollins & Sons, Smith-Tevis-Hanford Company, New York office Travelers Insurance

Company, and J S. Bache & Company, partner Westcott, Kearr & Parrott [later Westcott & Parrott], vice-president Mulliken & Roberts; partner Darby & Company; on governing board Borough of Chatham, member Stanley Congregational Church, Chatham

Married June 27, 1912, in Attawaugan, Conn, Beatrice Ward, daughter of Thomas and Lillian Filer Son. John Benjamin, Jr

Death due to cardiac infarction Survived by wife and son

Peter Hellwege Stewart, B.A. 1928.

Born November 14, 1906, in New Orleans, La. Died June 25, 1942, in New Orleans, La

Father, John Nelson Stewart (Tulane Univ ex-'90), president Stewart Brothers Cotton Company, New Orleans, son of Andrew and Theresa Josephine (Pharr) Stewart of New Orleans, Mother, Edwa (Hellwege) Stewart (B A Newcomb Memorial Coll for Women, Tulane Univ, 1898), daughter of Peter and Edwa (Jones) Hellwege of New Orleans. Yale relatives include William P Stewart, '98 S (uncle), and Stewart A LeBlanc, '05, Kenneth LeBlanc, '11, Henry S LeBlanc, ex-'23 S, and Andrew E Stewart, '27 S. (cousins).

New Orleans Academy and Asheville (N C) School Scholar of the third rank Junior year, Freshman Crew and University Crew three years (captain Senior year); Undergraduate Athletic Association Senior year, member University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Employed in New Orleans 1928–35, in futures department Stewart Brothers Cotton Company 1928–29; associated with Knight Motor Company 1929–32 (president 1930–32), owner Oldsmobile automobile agency (under firm name Stewart-Mossy) 1934–35; due to ill-health was unoccupied 1935–42, resided winters in New Orleans and summers in Bay St Louis, Miss; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Orleans

Unmarried.

Death due to tuberculosis. Buried in Metairie Cemetery, New Orleans Survived by a sister, Edwa S Farwell (B A Newcomb Memorial Coll for Women 1923), the wife of Charles Alphonzo Farwell (B S Virginia Military Inst. 1923) of New Orleans, and a brother, John Nelson Stewart of New Orleans

Frederic Hart Wells, Ph.B. 1909.

Born December 12, 1887, in New York City Died May 30, 1942, in Amityville, NY

Father, John Leland Wells, president Wells & Newton Company, engineers and contractors, New York City; son of John Gaylor and Emily Ann (Corn-

wall) Wells of Newington, Conn. Mother, Martha Matilda (Hart) Wells; daughter of James and Charlotte (Mundon) Hart of New York City. Yale relatives include a brother, Arthur C. Wells, '06 S

Jamaica (N Y) High School Electrical engineering course.

Electrical engineer with Wells & Newton Company 1909–13; independently engaged in electrical construction under firm name Frederic H. Wells, New York City, 1913–17, engineer of construction Almirall & Company, Inc., New York City, 1919–29, salesman Life Assurance Society of New York 1930–40; unoccupied 1940–42, Lieutenant (Jg), US Naval Reserve, December 10, 1917–March 14, 1919, overseas February 26–December 26, 1918, on U.S.S. Florida in North Sea with British Grand Fleet; member First Methodist Church, Amityville

Married April 5, 1973, in Brooklyn, NY., Helen Marie, daughter of Walter and Lucinda (Merritt) Critchley. Children Walter Critchley (BS Lehigh Univ 1939) and Anne Leland

Death due to gastric hemorrhage Buried in Amityville Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Edna Wells Greey (B A. Hunter Coll 1901), the wife of George Victor Greey of Amityville.

Addison Stillwell, Ph.B. 1911.

Born June 22, 1889, in Chicago, Ill Died March 21, 1942, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Homer Allison Stillwell (Univ. of Illinois ex-'82), president Butler Brothers, wholesale merchandise, Chicago, son of Addison and Rhoda (Thompson) Stillwell Mother, Ellen (Hill) Stillwell, daughter of Robert Hill

Harstrom School, Norwalk, Conn, and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Select course, Freshman Baseball Team, College Baseball Team Junior year; University Baseball Team Junior and Senior years, member University Club and St. Elmo and Delta Phi

Associated with Butler Brothers 1910–13, an organizer Stillwell Lumber Company, Chicago, 1913 and president 1914–18, vice-president Stillwell-Crosby Lumber Company 1915–17; retired in 1929, in recent years resided in Hot Springs, Va, enrolled as chief boatswain's mate, US Naval Reserve Force, June 28, 1917, and commissioned Ensign August 1, 1917; attended Reserve Officers Class, United States Naval Academy; commissioned Ensign, United States Navy, February 1, 1918, convoy duty on USS. Montana February 1–June 1, 1918, promoted Lieutenant (1g) July 1, 1918; attended Officer Material School, Great Lakes, Ill, senior watch officer USS Penguin on mine-sweeping duty, watch and division officer USS Rochester, discharged May 3, 1919; member Chicago Board of Trade

Married (1) January 3, 1914, in Chicago, May Henderson, daughter of Francis Stuyvesant Peabody, '81 S, and May (Henderson) Peabody. Children:

May Henderson, Eleanor Allison, and Frances Peabody. Mr and Mrs Stillwell were divorced in 1922. Married (2) September 15, 1923, in Chicago, Frances Keyes Pearson, daughter of Rollin A Keyes No children Mr. and Mrs. Stillwell were divorced in 1928 Married (3) in Chicago, Jane Blomseth

Death due to a stroke Buried at Lake Geneva, Wis Survived by wife, children, mother, and a brother, Wellesley H Stillwell, '15 S

Carl Shelley Hammer, M.S. in M.E. 1928.

Born February 21, 1902, in Chicago, Ill Died August 4, 1937, in Rockford, Ill

Father, Carl Reginald Hammer, vice-president and treasurer McCord Radiator & Manufacturing Company, Detroit Mother, Lucia (Shelley) Hammer

Lake View High School, Chicago; attended University of Illinois 1921–24 and University of Colorado 1925–27 (B S in M E 1927, member Chi Psi), graduate student in mechanical engineering Yale University 1927–29 (M S in M.E. 1928, M E 1929; assistant in mechanical engineering 1927–29); research engineer McCord Radiator & Manufacturing Company, Detroit, 1929–30, engineer Western Electric Company, Inc., Chicago, 1930–31, author "Heat Transmission in Fins" (1928) and "Heat Transfer from Extended Surface Radiator Elements" (1929).

Married Miriam McCord Son David Shelley

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Rockford Survived by wife, son, three sisters, the Misses Helen Louise, Jane Ann, and Suzanne Hammer, and two brothers, James K and William J Hammer.

Aldis Willard Lovell, M.A. 1915.

Born September 21, 1879, in Alstead, NH Died May 20, 1925, in Waterbury, Conn

Father, Henry Aldis Lovell, a retail merchant in Alstead, son of Aldis and Martha (Willard) Lovell of Rockingham, Vt Mother, Georgianna Boardman (Fellows) Lovell, daughter of Ignatius Webber and Sarah Jane (Copp) Fellows of Hopkinton, N H

Vermont Academy, Saxtons River; B A Dartmouth 1903, attended Harvard Law School 1903-04, Yale School of Law 1904, and Boston University School of Law 1905-07 (J B and J M 1907, member Sigma Alpha Epsilon and Gamma Eta Gamma); graduate student in history Yale University 1913-15 (M A 1915); admitted to the bar 1907, lawyer in Waterbury 1907-13 and 1915-25, clerk Waterbury Probate Court; member Waterbury Home Guard, American

Bar Association, Connecticut Society of the Order of the Founders and Patriots of America (attorney general of the national society), Connecticut Society Sons of the American Revolution, Masonic order, and Second Congregational Church, Waterbury

Unmarried

Death due to malignant endocarditis Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by a brother, Robert Webber Lovell of Waterbury

Edward Martin Kindle, Ph.D. 1899.

Born March 10, 1869, in Nineveh Township, Johnson County, Ind.
Died August 29, 1940, in Ottawa, Ontario

Father, Martin VanBuren Kindle, a farmer and schoolteacher in Johnson County, son of John Scott and Rachel Ann (Crane) Kindle of Nineveh. Mother, Tabitha Ann (Mullikin) Kindle, daughter of Thomas and Sarah (Musselman) Mullikin of Nineveh

Preparatory department of Franklin College; B A Indiana University 1893 (graduate member Phi Beta Kappa), attended Cornell University 1895–96 (M A 1896, member Sigma X1), graduate student in department of geology and geography Yale University 1896-98 (Ph D 1899), assistant Geological Survey of Arkansas 1889, instructor in geology Indiana University 1893-94; paleontologist Cornell expedition to Greenland 1896; assistant geologist Indiana Geological Survey 1898–1900, assistant geologist United States Geological Survey 1900–08, paleontologist 1908–10, and geologist 1911–12 (paleontologist Alaska expedition of the Survey 1905, 1906, and in 1909 studied section at Cape Thompson), paleontologist in charge invertebrate paleontology Geological Survey of Canada 1912–18 and chief division of paleontology 1918 until retirement 1938, since 1938 had been engaged in completing his manuscript report on his work and investigations in Florida, author of about two hundred reports, bulletins, and papers—a bibliography appears in Proceedings of the Geological Society of America, 1940, pp 209–225, awarded Sir William Price Prize for his essay "Canada North of Fifty-Six Degrees" (1925), received King's Jubilee Medal 1935, Mt. Kindle in the Mackenzie basin is named to honor him, LL D Indiana University 1939, special lecturer in geology University of London 1928; member Commission on Labrador-Quebec Boundary 1921, fellow Paleontological Society of America (president 1933), Geological Society of America (vice-president 1931), American Geographical Society, and Royal Society of Canada (president Section IV in 1930-31), member Canadian Mining and Metallurgical Institute, Canadian Authors Association, Association of American Geographers, Ottawa Field Naturalists Club (president 1928 and geological editor The Canadian Field-Naturalist), American Association for the Advancement of Science, and Unitarian church.

Married December 31, 1901, in Grand Rapids, Mich, Margaret Haldane,

daughter of Jay Floyd and Reubey Statira (Tomlinson) Ferris Children Winona Helen (Univ of Toronto 1922–23), the wife of John Charles Lambe; Leroy Ferris (B.A. Queen's Univ 1926, Univ of Oxford 1926–27), Cecil Haldane (B.A. Queen's Univ 1926, Ph.D. Princeton 1931), Edwin Darwin (B.A. Queen's Univ 1930, M.A. 1931, Ph.D. Univ of Wisconsin 1933), Virginia Tomlinson, the wife of Captain Thomas Holmes Johnstone, Margaret Crane (diploma McGill Univ. 1931, B.A. Mount Allison Univ 1935), the wife of Daniel Trugott O'Connell (B.S. Coll. of the City of New York 1924, M.S. 1926; Sc.M. New York Univ. 1930, Ph.D. 1932), Madeleine Barton, the wife of Norman Campbell (B.Phar Ontario Coll. of Pharmacy, Univ. of Toronto, 1937); Katharine Hardenburgh (McGill Univ. School of Nursing 1942–43), and Charlotte Case

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Beechwood Cemetery, Ottawa Survived by wife, children, and nine grandchildren

George Emanuel Thielcke, M.D. 1910.

Born May 11, 1884, in Danbury, Conn Died March 26, 1941, in Newtown, Conn

Father, Charles Emanuel Thielcke, a hat manufacturer in Danbury Mother, Jennie (O'Connor) Thielcke

Danbury High School; attended Yale School of Medicine 1906–10 (M D 1910, member Alpha Sigma Phi); interne 1910–11, physician in Danbury 1911–17, Southport, Conn, 1917–27, and Norwalk and South Norwalk, Conn, 1927–37, inactive 1937 until 1941 because of ill-health

Married October 14, 1911, in New Haven, Conn, Jean Govan, daughter of James Govan and Christine (Boyd) Watson Son George Watson, ex-35 E.

Death due to decubitus Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Norwalk Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Mrs. Lavinia T. Fuller.

Carlos Manuel Echandi, M.D. 1925.

Born October 20, 1899, in San José, Costa Rica Died August 23, 1938, in San José, Costa Rica

Father, José Antonio Echandi Gonzalez, a farmer in San José, son of Clodomiro Echandi and Pilar Gonzalez Mother, Margarita Lahmann Carazo, daughter of Federico Lahmann and Pauline Carazo Peralta

Attended Liceo de Costa Rica 1917–19 (B S. 1919), Dickinson College 1920–21, and Yale School of Medicine 1921–25 (M D 1925), interne New Haven (Conn) Hospital 1925–26 and Hospital San Juan de Dios, San José, licensed by Faculty of Medicine of Costa Rica 1925, surgeon in Costa Rica, member staff Hospital San Juan de Dios (chief of clinical department at time of death),

surgeon San Vincente de Paul Society, founder in 1932 and owner Clinica Moderna, San José, on board of trustees Faculty of Medicine of Costa Rica; delegate to Pan-American Medical Congress, Panama, 1929–30, deputy at National Congress of Costa Rica 1930–34, a director Carit Sanatorium, member Committee for Control of Cancer in Costa Rica

Married December 11, 1928, in San José, Julieta Brenes Hine. Children. Hilda, Olga (died March 23, 1932), Manuel, and Maria Elena

Dr Echandi was murdered Buried in San José Survived by wife, two daughters, one son, father, and brothers and sisters, all of San José.

William Lee Douglas, B.D. 1879.

Born June 4, 1854, in Princeton, Ill Died October 20, 1938, in Glendale, Calif

Father, James Alexander McCartney Douglas; Oriental linguist, public accountant, seaman, and author; son of James Douglas of Girvan, Ayrshire, Scotland Mother, Marguereta Elizabeth (Gray) Douglas, daughter of James Gray of Charleston, S C

St Louis (Mo) High School, attended McKendree College 1876–77 and Yale Divinity School 1877–79 (B D 1879), ordained by New York East Conference of Methodist Episcopal Church 1879, minister Litchfield, Conn, 1880, Copper Hill 1881, Washington and Roxbury 1882–83, Stamford 1884, Sag Harbor, NY, 1885–86, Southold 1887, Ventura, Calif, 1888–89, Goleta 1890–91, Piru 1892–93, Paso Robles 1894–95, Carthage, Ill, 1896–97, Kirkwood 1898–99, Lewiston 1900, Peoria 1901, Hennepin 1902–03, Mazon 1904–06, East Greenwich, RI, 1907–08, Cannon and South Wilton, Conn, 1909, Easton 1910, Thomaston 1911–13, and Bloomfield 1914 until retirement 1915, resided in California 1915–38, member First Methodist Episcopal Church, Glendale.

Married June 4, 1884, in Washington Depot, Conn, Lillie Eliza, daughter of Joseph Sherman and Amelia Caroline (Webster) Titus Children William Lee, Jr, Henry Titus, and James Barteau. Mrs Douglas died December 17, 1936

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Los Angeles, Calif Survived by sons

William Hilary Coston, B.D. 1886.

Born September 30, 1858, in Providence, R I Died June 27, 1942, in Washington, D C

Father, Wilson Coston, a civil engineer and archeologist in Providence Mother, Catherine Sapora (Stokeley) Coston

Attended Payne Theological Seminary of Wilberforce University 1880–84 (BD 1884) and Yale Divinity School 1884–86 (BD 1886), ordained in

African Methodist Episcopal Church, Wilberforce, Ohio, 1884; minister Milwaukee, Wis, 1886, Minneapolis, Minn, 1886–88, Mt Pleasant, Iowa, 1888–89, Chatham, Ontario, 1889–90, Cleveland, Ohio, 1890–94, Monongahela, Pa, 1894–96, Springfield, Ohio, 1896–97, and Findlay, Ohio, 1897–98, engaged in work for the African Methodist Episcopal Church, Anacostia, DC, 1898–1912; business manager Wilberforce Graduate, retired in 1932, chaplain, Infantry, during Spanish-American War; author A Freeman and Yet a Slave (1888), The Spanish American Volunteer, and The Betrayal of the American Negroes as Citizens, as Soldiers and Sailors, by the Republican Party in Deference to the People of the Philippine Islands (1930); chaplain National Guard of the State of Ohio, member Masonic order

Married in January, 1886, in Washington, Julia Ringwood Balch Children Julia (died April 4, 1896), William Hilary, Jr (died February 17, 1895), Arnetta Lee (died June 1, 1920), and Wayman Rutherford (M D Meharry Medical Coll 1934) Mrs Coston died June 1, 1931

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington Survived by one son.

Hezekiah Loor Pyle, B.D. 1897.

Born February 10, 1871, in Saint Paris, Ohio Died June 16, 1942, in Westerville, Ohio

Father, Hezekiah Davis Pyle, a farmer in Rosewood, Ohio, son of Thomas and Sarah (Robinson) Pyle of Spring Hills, Ohio Mother, Mary Margaret (Speece) Pyle; daughter of William and Rebecca (McIntire) Speece of Spring Hills

B A Otterbein College 1894, M A 1897, attended Yale Divinity School 1894–97 (B D 1897), ordained in Congregational church, Olean, N Y, 1897 and minister there 1897–1900, minister Emmanuel Church, Watertown, N Y, 1900–05 and 1918–27, Parkville Church, Brooklyn, 1905–11, First Congregational Church, Mattoon, Ill, 1911–15, Germantown, Pa, 1915–17, and First Congregational Church, Riverhead, N Y, 1927 until retirement 1932, D D Otterbein College 1927, resided in Westerville 1932–42, secretary Class of '97 D from about 1908 to 1923; president Jefferson County Ministerial Union 1904, teacher and librarian Young Peoples Summer Conference of New York 1922–23; on board of directors New York State Congregational Conference; member Masonic order and First Congregational Church, Riverhead

Married November 27, 1901, in Westerville, Nellie Adams Lowry, daughter of Llewellyn and Hattie B (Lawrence) Adams No children

Death due to cerebral vascular accident Buried in Otterbein Cemetery, Westerville Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs Sarah P Brown of Saint Paris, and three brothers, Thomas Edgar Pyle and Clyde Elijah Pyle, both of Degraff, Ohio, and William Pyle of Wray, Colo.

Alva Lee Cloyd, B.D. 1918.

Born November 28, 1877, in Salisbury, Mo Died May 16, 1942, in Melbourne, Australia

Father, Arthur Alonzo Cloyd, a stock shipper in Salisbury; son of John Wesley and Eliza Jane (Basye) Cloyd of Howard County, Mo Mother, Frances

(Martin) Cloyd

Teacher in Salisbury, and at Te Aute College, Hawkes Bay, New Zealand, 1906, superintendent of government schools in Manila, Philippine Islands, 1909, B A University of Missouri 1914, attended Presbyterian Theological Seminary, Louisville, Ky, 1914–15, Princeton Theological Seminary 1915–17, and Yale Divinity School 1917–18 (B D 1918); ordained in Presbyterian church, South Centerville, NY, and minister there 1917–18; supply minister Slate Hill, NY., 1919, minister St John's Church, Ballarat, Victoria, Australia, 1920–24, due to ill-health unoccupied and resided in Williamstown, Victoria, 1924–25; minister Davies Memorial Presbyterian Church, Mentone, Melbourne, 1925 until retirement 1942, founder Mentone Boy Scouts and chaplain 1925–42; member Council of Churches (Melbourne) and temperance committees.

Married January 1, 1910, in Manila, Eva, daughter of Andrew Simpson and

Catherine Isabella (Rae) Heriot No children

Death due to paralysis and pneumonia Cremated at Spring Vale, Melbourne. Survived by wife and three sisters, Mrs Fount Reddell Allen, Sr, of Independence, Mo, Mrs L W Cunningham of Kansas City, Mo., and Mrs. Samuel Hunter of Swan Lake, Miss

Earl Mack Criger, B.D. 1924.

Born November 18, 1896, in Carey, Ohio. Died March 18, 1942, at Mare Island, Calif.

Father, Lewis Stokley Criger, a farmer in Carey; son of George A and Sarah M. (Burroughs) Criger of Carey. Mother, Lillian Floy (Reynolds) Criger;

daughter of John M. and Mary A. (Tracy) Reynolds of Carey

Preparatory Department, Ohio Northern University; B.A Ohio State University 1920 (member Tau Kappa Epsilon and Beta Alpha Chi); attended Yale Divinity School 1921–24 (BD 1924), ordained in Congregational church, Foxon, East Haven, Conn, 1924, entered United States Navy as chaplain with rank of Lieutenant (Jg.) June 11, 1924, promoted Lieutenant 1928 and Lieutenant Commander August, 1936, attached to USS. Whitney 1924–25 and USS Memphis 1926–27, stationed at Naval Air Station, Lakehurst, NJ, 1928; with 3d Brigade, US Marine Corps, Tientsin, China, 1929, attached to re-

ceiving ship Canopus, New York City, 1930, U.S.S. Chaumont 1931-32, submarine base, Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, 1933-34, U.S.S. Oklahoma 1935, U.S.S. Texas 1936, U.S.S. Mississippi 1937-38, Navy Yard, Pearl Harbor, 1939-41, and U.S.S. Idaho 1941-42; member Masonic order

Married November 11, 1931, in Washington, D.C., Elsie May Furniss (B.A. Ohio State Univ. 1925), daughter of Herman L and Daisy E (Rogers) Furniss. Children Clare and Janet

Death due to hemochromatosis Buried in Greenlawn Cemetery, Columbus, Ohio. Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Elsie C Schubert (B S Ohio State Univ. 1941), the wife of Herbert Schubert of Fostoria, Ohio, and Mrs. Francis Eugene Baughman of Findlay, Ohio

Joseph Emanuel Olsson, B.D. 1927.

Born June 13, 1887, in Stockholm, Sweden Died July 16, 1941, in Shasi, Hupeh, China.

Parents, Carl Johan and Carolina (Simonson) Olsson of Sweden

Prepared in Stockholm, missionary in China 1910–20, Ph B Brown University 1925 and M A. 1927, attended Yale Divinity School 1926–27 (B D 1927); minister Swedish Congregational Church, Pawtucket, R I, 1923–26 and Bethany Congregational Church, Naugatuck, Conn, 1927–28, ordained deacon in Episcopal church, St. Paul, Minn, 1928 and priest 1929, attached to China Inland Mission, Shanghai, 1929–32, Kweifu Episcopal Church, Kweichowfu, Szechwan, 1933–38, and American Church Mission, Shasi, 1938–41

Married May 20, 1913, in Shanghai, Johanne Voss, daughter of Hans Peter and Vilhelmina Rasmussen Son. John Yngve Voss.

Survived by wife and son.

Walter Roscoe Yates, LL.B. 1876.

Died April 12, 1925, in Paris, France

Attended Yale School of Law 1874–76 (LL.B. 1876), ordained to the priest-hood June 17, 1897, as member of St. Joseph's Society of the Sacred Heart, a society of priests dedicated to Catholic missionary work among Negroes of the United States, stationed at St Francis Xavier Church, Baltimore, Md, and elsewhere, attended The American School of Classical Studies in Rome 1906–07; had lived in Rome and Paris.

Buried in Paris.

Harry Morgan Stanley, LL.B. 1887.

Born November 17, 1864, in Henderson County, Ky Died December 31, 1941, in Henderson, Ky.

Father, Nathaniel Green Stanley, a plantation owner in Kentucky and Arkansas Mother, Frances (Jenkins) Stanley, daughter of Josiah and Claretta

Lois (Crofoot) Jenkins of Buffalo, NY.

Attended Yale School of Law 1885–87 (LL.B. 1887), admitted to the bar 1887, practiced law in Henderson 1887 until retirement, judge of City Court 1891–1911, prosecuting attorney for City of Henderson; chairman Henderson County Democratic Committee 1906–11, member St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Henderson

Married December 10, 1913, in Evansville, Ind, Edith B Lee. Children:

Harold Marion and Jack Mrs Stanley died September 2, 1918

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Fernwood Cemetery, Henderson Survived by children, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs Marilou Stanley Matthews of Hillsboro, Ohio

Hames Allen Machesney, LL.B. 1893.

Born November 7, 1866, in Allegheny City, Pa. Died May 19, 1942, in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Father, Charles Machesney, a manufacturer in Allegheny City; son of George and Sarah Machesney of County Down, Ireland Mother, Mary Ann (Allen) Machesney; daughter of John and Lucretia Allen of Washington County, Pa

Prepared at public and private schools, attended Duffs-Iron City College, Pittsburgh, Cornell Law School 1891–92, and Yale School of Law 1892–93 (LL B 1893, member Corbey Court), admitted to the bar 1893; lawyer in Pittsburgh 1893–1942, member Yale Club of Pittsburgh, Bar Association of Allegheny County, and St Paul's Cathedral (Roman Catholic), Pittsburgh

Married June 21, 1899, in Pittsburgh, Caroline, daughter of Samuel and

Louise (McNair) Jones Son Haines Allen, Jr, ex-'23

Death due to pneumonia Buried in St Mary's Cemetery, Pittsburgh Survived by wife, son, and a granddaughter

Samuel Gilbert Meeker, LL.B. 1896.

Born September 16, 1873, in Westport, Conn Died March 6, 1942, in San Jose, Calif

Father, Burr Meeker, a farmer in Westport; son of Burr and Abigail (Ogden) Meeker of Westport Mother, Sarah Jane (Fairchild) Meeker, daughter of Charles and Salome (Nash) Fairchild of Westport Staples High School, Westport, attended Yale School of Law 1893–96 (LL.B 1896); admitted to Connecticut bar 1896 and New York bar about 1897; lawyer in Bridgeport 1896 and in Brooklyn and New York City from about 1897 until retirement; resided in Westport from 1919 until retirement and since then in California; member Congregational Church, Greens Farms, Conn

Married February 14, 1905, in Port Chester, NY, Florence Miller, daughter

of Charles Benson and Ida E (Miller) Lowden No children

Death due to a hemorrhage following an operation Survived by wife

Aurelio Nargánes, LL.B. 1908.

Born February 16, 1886, in Havana, Cuba Died November 9, 1939, in Havana, Cuba.

Father, Ricardo Nargánes (B.A Univ of Havana), a tobacco merchant in Havana and New York City, son of Faustino Nargánes and Barbara Osma of Cuba. Mother, Felicita Fernandez Farres, daughter of Federico Fernandez Lanz and Josefa Farres y Alonso of Cuba

Columbia Institute and The Senftner Preparatory School, New York City, attended Yale School of Law 1905–08 (LL B 1908, member Kent Club), engaged in the manufacture of cane sugar, with offices in New York City and Niquero, Cuba, 1908–39 (assistant manager New Niquero Sugar Company 1929–38); member Iglesia Parroquial del Vedado, Havana

Married December 17, 1921, Adelaide, daughter of Guillermo and Adelaide

(Blanco) Dolz. Son. Aurelio

Death due to heart failure Buried in Cemetery of Colon, Havana Survived by wife and son

Barnett Cantwell Price, LL.B. 1925.

Born March 24, 1900, in Rogersville, Tenn Died April 16, 1941, in Knoxville, Tenn

Father, Edda George Price, president Hamblen County Motor Company, Morristown, Tenn; son of James Harvey and Amanda (Webb) Price of Rogersville Mother, Mary (Day) Price, daughter of Elbert Taylor and Jennie (Cantwell) Day of Treadway, Tenn

Morristown High School, B A Vanderbilt University 1922, attended Vanderbilt University School of Law 1922–23 and Yale School of Law 1924–25 (LL.B. 1925); admitted to Tennessee bar 1925, lawyer in Morristown 1925–26 and Knoxville 1926–41; member First Baptist Church, Knoxville

Married August 10, 1924, in Greenville, Tenn, Sarah Elizabeth Segrest (B S. Georgia State Teachers Coll 1920), daughter of Robert Taylor and Elizabeth Eugenia (Boykin) Segrest Daughter Elizabeth Segrest

Death due to an accident Buried in Jarnegans Cemetery, Knoxville Survived

by wife, daughter, parents, and two sisters, Miss Lucile Price of Morristown and Mrs Virginia P Beals of Maryville, Tenn

Carl Franklin Arnold, J.S.D. 1929.

Born May 31, 1896, in Laramie, Wyo. Died September 13, 1941, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Constantine Peter Arnold (B.A Wabash Coll 1882, M A. 1888), a lawyer in Laramie, trustee University of Wyoming 1918–21, son of Franklin Luther and Marie (Ramseur) Arnold Mother, Annie (Brockway) Arnold (Univ of Minnesota 1876–78); daughter of John Goss and Elizabeth (Fall) Brockway of Laramie Yale relatives include two nephews, Thurman W. Arnold, Jr, '41, and George L Arnold, '44.

University of Wyoming Preparatory School, BA Princeton University 1917 (member Sigma Alpha Epsilon), entered Reserve Officers Training Camp, Presidio of San Francisco, May 8, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant August 15, 1917, promoted First Lieutenant June 15, 1918, attended Small Arms Firing School, Camp Perry, June 1-July 1, 1918, stationed at Camp Lewis August 15, 1917–June 1, 1918, and July 1, 1918, until discharge January 17, 1919; attached to 17th Company, 166th Depot Brigade, and Company A, 38th Machine Gun Brigade, owner and manager of a cattle ranch in Millbrook, Wyo, 1919–25, partner Geitz & Arnold, breeders of purebred Herefords, 1922-41, attended University of Wyoming Law School 1925-26 (LL B 1926) and Yale School of Law 1926-27 (JSD. 1929), admitted to the bar 1927, on faculty University of Wyoming 1927-41 (assistant professor of law 1927-30, associate professor 1930-33, and professor 1933-41, dean of the law school 1932-41), taught constitutional law at summer sessions of University of Texas and West Virginia University, assistant general counsel Federal Communications Commission, Washington, D.C., 1935-37, attorney with United States Maritime Commission 1941, member Phi Kappa Phi and Wyoming State and American Bar associations

Married December 21, 1928, in Denver, Colo, Mary Olga, daughter of John and Myra (Bull) Moore No children

Death due to acute cholecystitis Buried in Fort Lincoln Cemetery, Laramie. Survived by wife, parents, and a brother, Justice Thurman Wesley Arnold (B A Princeton 1911, LL B. Harvard 1914; M A. Hon. Yale 1931) of Washington.

John Thomas Howard, M.F. 1928.

Born December 7, 1899, in Eugene, Ore. Died July 19, 1941, in Jamestown, N.Dak.

Father, Thomas William Howard (grad. Theological Seminary, Des Moines, Iowa, 1881), a Congregational minister; son of John and Jessie (McMillan)

Howard of North Carolina. Mother, Susan (Culver) Howard; daughter of

Fred and Olive (Converse) Culver of Pennsylvania.

Excelsior (Minn) High School, B.A Carleton College 1922, in department of terrestrial magnetism Carnegie Institution of Washington, 1922–24, assistant Sunday editor Minneapolis Tribune 1924–26, engaged in newspaper work in Bellingham, Wash, 1926–27 and 1929 and Spokane 1929; attended Yale School of Forestry 1927–28 (M.F. 1928), with Forest Service Nursery, Monument, Colo, 1928; in engineering department Washington Pulp & Paper Company, Port Angeles, Wash, 1929–31, unoccupied 1932–33 because of ill-health, part-time worker in county engineer's office, Fergus Falls, Minn, 1933–36, rehabilitation officer Beltrami Island State Forest (Minnesota) 1936–38, operated clipping bureau under name Minnesota Editorial Association, Minneapolis, 1938–40; member Fifth Avenue Congregational Church, Minneapolis

Married July 8, 1926, in Minneapolis, Laura Hutchins Koon (M.D. Univ. of Minnesota 1929), daughter of William Alanson and Julia (Hutchins) Koon

Children Julia and Dorothy.

Death due to chronic heart disease Buried in Highland Home Cemetery, Jamestown. Survived by wife, daughters, two sisters, Mrs Edgar Brown of Holyoke, Colo, and Mrs John Trager of Phoenix, Ariz, and a brother, Rev. Penn Harrison Howard (B A. Carleton Coll. 1915) of Washington, D C

Faith Wiggin Exner, M.N. 1928.

Born March 1, 1899, in Boston, Mass Died May 28, 1942, in Fair Lawn, NJ

Father, Frank Herbert Wiggin of Boston, treasurer American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions; son of Benjamin and Lucy (Clough) Wiggin of Wolfeboro, N. H. Mother, Mary Whipple (Walker) Wiggin, daughter of John S. and Melinda Grout (Whipple) Walker of Medway, Mass.

Girls' Latin School, Boston; B A Mount Holyoke College 1920, M S Simmons College 1921, assistant district secretary Family Welfare Society, Boston, 1921–22 and acting district secretary 1922–23, traveled in Japan and China 1923–25, attended Yale School of Nursing 1925–28 (M N 1928) and Yale School of Music 1929–30; member Mt Vernon Church (Congregational), Boston

Married June 22, 1928, in Boston, Frank Metcalf Exner (B A Carleton Coll 1919; M A. Yale 1928), son of Franz Frederick Exner (B A Carleton Coll 1895) and Hannah Longstreet (Blythe) Exner. Children. Mary Wright and Elizabeth Blythe.

Death due to carcinoma Ashes interred in Newton Cemetery, Newton Center, Mass. Survived by husband, children, and mother

DATES OF DEATH OF OTHER INDIVIDUALS WITH YALE AFFILIATION

REPORTED SUBSEQUENT TO JULY 1, 1942

RECIPIENTS OF HONORARY DEGREES

YEAR	
1894	Nıkola Tesla (M A), January 7, 1943.
1901	Jacob Gould Schurman (LLD), August 12, 1942
1904	Charles Schuchert (M A; Sc.D 1930), November 20, 1942.
1909	Abbott Lawrence Lowell (LL D), January 6, 1943
1909	Edward Caldwell Moore (D.D), March 26, 1943.
1912	Cecilia Beaux (M A), September 17, 1942.
1915	Ralph Adams Cram (LL D), September 22, 1942.
1928	Nicholas John Spykman (MA), June 26, 1943.
1932	Henri Focillon (M A), March 3, 1943
1933	Edgar Allen (M A), February 3, 1943.

NON-GRADUATES

YALE COLLEGE

CLASS	
1878	Albert Lyttleton Savage, October 15, 1942.
1879	Robert William Hardie, December 4, 1939.
1883	Edward Cornelius Cuyler, March 2, 1943.
1883	Leland Howard Ives, January 31, 1943.
1883	John Charles Fremont Wheelock, March 25, 1943
1884	Wilham Harmon Bentley, April 26, 1943.
1891	Frank Sheridan Hoefler, June 21, 1933
1892	Newell Matson Hayden, May 19, 1942.
1894	Charles Willing Hare, December 6, 1942
1899	Clyde Simmons, April 19, 1940
1900	Charles David Deyo, December 29, 1942.
1902	Otto Harry Gruner, December 16, 1942
1906	James Arthur Harley, May 12, 1943
1906	Eugene Beal Peirsel, June 21, 1943
1910	Turner Donaldson Moorhead, July 12, 1942.
1915	Edward Andrew Doyle, January 13, 1942
1920	Milton Edward Bacon, April 15, 1943
1927	Harry Rea Callender, Jr , April 15, 1943
* 1932	Grant Barney Schley, April 28, 1943
	- <u>-</u>

^{*}Died in war service

CLASS

- *****1937 McIntosh Brown, February 3, 1943
- 1937 Ronald Muirhead Byrnes, Jr, May 4, 1943.
- *****1937 William Stamps Farish, Jr, May 16, 1943
- *****1940 Robert Francis Keeler, December 5, 1942
- *****1941 Michael Stein Jacobs, February 13, 1943
- Morton Butler, 2d, October 13, 1942 1942
- *****1942 Robert Kalman Haas, Jr., May 28, 1943
- *****1943 Morris Randolph Mitchell, Jr., September 9, 1942.
- *****1943 Thomas Jefferson Rainey, June 14, 1943.
- *****1944 Charles Michael Fauci, Jr, November 28, 1942
- *1944 Frank Russell Whittlesey, September 14, 1942.
- Alden Lothrop Painter, Jr, March 6, 1943. *1945
- 1945W James Louis Greenebaum, August 30, 1942.
- William Wilson Imlach, May 30, 1943 *1945W
- 1945W Robert George Bysshe Mitchell, March 7, 1943.
- 1945W Robert Dwight Ware, Jr, June 5, 1943

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

- John Irving Pearce, Jr., January 3, 1941 1880
- 1884 Charles Francis Bosworth, July 21, 1942
- Erdmann Dwight Baldwin, July 11, 1942 1889
- 1890 Philip Schaff Noble, January 13, 1942
- 1891 James Tracy Hill, August 28, 1942.
- 1892 James Wilbor Beach, July 1, 1942
- 1895 Henry Judah Brandon, August 10, 1942.
- 1896 Wallace Comstock Capen, October 11, 1942
- 1898 Clarence Dunlap Greene, January 10, 1941
- 1899 George Hall Smith, August 8, 1942
- 1901 Philip Bacon Hosmer, November 2, 1942
- 1902 Edward Wallace Brainard, February 22, 1943
- Thomas Lloyd Wickenden, January, 1934. 1902
- Charles Isaiah Lambert, January 15, 1943. 1903 1905 James Woolslayer Clark, July 1, 1942
- 1905 Joseph Mason, Jr, May 12, 1924
- 1905 Abram French Morrill, March 4, 1943
- 1907 Julian Flichtner Colyer, April 23, 1943
- 1908 I Newton Perry, July 11, 1942.
- William Fred Sondheimer, February 7, 1943. 1008
- Stanley Mainville Burroughs, March 25, 1943. 1909
- Edward Johnson Sanger, September 28, 1942 1909
- George Granby Knox, September 20, 1942.

^{*}Died in war service.

CLASS Jay Levi Smith, June 1, 1943. 1101 Kenneth Knight Wheeler, May 19, 1943 1101 Elmore Franklin Shuster, April 7, 1943. 1912 Douglas Este Snow, March 23, 1943 1913 *****1914 Montgomery Harley Talbot, April 21, 1943. 1914 Joseph H. Toolajian, May 23, 1943. Seymour Adolph Woolner, June 26, 1943. 1914 John Joseph Keegan, September 24, 1942 1915 *1916 Kenyon Stockwell Congdon, August 18, 1942. тогб Donald Burton Day, December 6, 1942 Gilbert Henry Johnson, Jr., November 16, 1942 1916 John Wesley Tomer, May 16, 1943. 1916 1018 Max Wagner, June 9, 1943. 2101 Frederick Hurlburt Cory, July 28, 1942 Richard Phillips Loasby, March 27, 1943 1923 1924 Bruce Smith, October 4, 1942 Warren Van Wie Bliven, October 21, 1942 *****1925 James Hawesworth Quinn, February 17, 1943 1925 *****1926 John High Noyes, November 28, 1942. 1927 James Peter Ingwersen, April 6, 1943. *1928 Henry Talmage Elrod, December 23, 1941. *1933 Gordon Ezra Woodruff, June 2, 1941 1935 Barrett Smith, Jr, July 4, 1942 1936 Guy Webster Talbot, Jr, December 15, 1942. *****1941 Foster Miller Fargo, April 14, 1943.

*1941 James Watson Hatch, Jr, April 25, 1943.

David Edsall Tileston, June 14, 1943.

GRADUATE SCHOOL

Frank Dawson Adams, December 26, 1942. 1879 Ralph Howard Baldwin, December 20, 1942. 1885 George Lincoln Teller, November 13, 1942. 1800 Frederick William Charles Meyer, November 14, 1942. 1801 George Louis Farley, September 10, 1941. 1910 William Ferdinand Ewing, March 31, 1943. IOI 1927 Amanda Elizabeth Ingraham, November 26, 1942. Charles Baker Hedrick, January 12, 1943. 1929 Joshua Tracey Fenby, December 2, 1942. 1931 *****1934 Charles Richard Spencer, September 29, 1941. Laurence Frederic Camp, October 1, 1942 *****1937

*****1943

^{*}Died in war service.

	Ivon-Graduates
CT A CC	
CLASS	Datama Consentta II anno Anno anno anno
1939	
1939	Ethel Patricia Ross, June 3, 1943.
	SCHOOL OF MEDICINE
1886	Harry Thomson Clarke, December 16, 1941
1900	
1900	
-	Louis Raymond MacDonough, May 8, 1941
1909	Anthony Otto DeMatty, July 4, 1942.
	SPECIAL STUDENT IN THE SCHOOL OF MEDICINE
T 800	Harry Thomas Leddy, March 1, 1943.
1097	Tially Thomas Leddy, March 1, 1943.
	RECIPIENTS OF CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC HEALTH
T000	Washane In Warms April 22 TO42
	Herbert Ira Harris, April 23, 1943. Helen Bardeen (Mrs. Donald Watson Beach), December 4, 1942
1934	ricien bardeen (wits. Donaid watson beach), December 4, 1942
	DIVINITY SCHOOL
1881	Charles Wesley Headley, November 19, 1942
	Henry Heldam Abrams, July 21, 1942
1887	
1888	Clarence Augustus Vincent, March 31, 1943
	Timothy Currier Craig, October 22, 1942
	William O. Jones, October 10, 1940
	Ulysses Grant Warren, June 10, 1943
_	Mardiros Hagope Bozyan, February 10, 1943
	George Jackson Green, September 10, 1942
1909	
1909	Julius 21.05.00, 1.11, 1943
	SCHOOL OF LAW
_	
	William Arthur Countryman, April 24, 1943
-	Samuel Rinaker, October 25, 1941.
-	John Richards Booth, October 21, 1942
	George vanHook Potter, May 28, 1934
_	Arthur Garfield Harrison, March 26, 1941
	John Duffield Peck, June 28, 1940
1905	Alexander Randolph Sharton, January 30, 1943
1907	Sabın Sayles Russell, May 31, 1943.
1910	Rasselas Wilcox Brown, February 18, 1931
1910	Allan Gleason Siems, May 2, 1943

CLASS

- 1939 Athanasius Demetrios Skouras, 1943.
- *1942 John Williams Pitney, November 14, 1942.
- *1943 Frazier Curtis, December 23, 1942.
- *1943 John Horton Ijams, Jr., January 12, 1943.

SPECIAL STUDENTS IN THE SCHOOL OF LAW

- 1898 Ralph Orwig, August 15, 1942.
- 1904 Frank Ralston Mitchell, October 8, 1942.

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

RECIPIENTS OF CERTIFICATES

- 1903 Mollie Cashen (Mrs Jeremiah Titus Mahoney), September 4, 1939.
- 1911 Franklin Sherwood Guion, March 20, 1932.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1880 Henry Otto Schmidt, April 23, 1943
- 1888 Sylvia Shares (Mrs Allen Towner Treadway), May 22, 1943.
- 1891 Laura Stoughton (Mrs. Roger Sherman White, 2d), December 21, 1942
- 1892 Ida K Macphie, February 20, 1943
- 1892 Minnie Amanda Wyatt (Mrs Robert C. Tongue), June 2, 1943.
- 1898 Oliver Coady Edwards, August 13, 1942.
- 1910 Frank Lee Armstrong, June, 1943
- *1926 Thomas Sargeant LaFarge, December 17, 1942
- 1928 Carl Gillette Alvord, July 23, 1941.
- 1933 Ernest Gilbert Gillette, December 26, 1942.
- *1942 Edward Gerard Joseph Bartick, June 9, 1942

SCHOOL OF MUSIC

RECIPIENT OF CERTIFICATE

1920 Claude Sammis, August 25, 1942.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1896 Nellie Velzorah Angus (Mrs Albert Hooker Morse), June 20, 1943.
- 1901 Mabel Hyatt Whittlesey, May 27, 1943
- 1903 Harriet Edna Higby (Mrs Roger Allen Townsend), December 12,
- 1907 Frank Wilson Taylor, January 25, 1940.

^{*}Died in war service

CLASS

1908 Wilhelmina MacGregor (Mrs. Howard Irving Russell), January 27, 1941

1913 Sarah Reela (Mrs Starling R Twitty), January 9, 1943

1915 Agnes Gillette Paradise, November 5, 1942.

SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

*1941 Theron Griggs Platt, November 1, 1942.

\$TATISTICS DEATHS RECORDED IN THIS VOLUME

•	Graduates	Non-graduates
Yale College	201	30
Sheffield Scientific School	113	49
School of Engineering	3	
Graduate School	19	13
School of Medicine	13*	5
Divinity School	24	10
School of Law	34	13
School of the Fine Arts	6†	11
School of Music	1‡	7
School of Forestry	2	1
School of Nursing	I	
Recipients of Honorary Degrees	10	
-		
•	427	139

The age of the 196 graduates of Yale College who died between July 1, 1942, and July 1, 1943, averages 59 0, and the age of the 111 graduates of the Sheffield Scientific School averages 62 0

The oldest living graduate of Yale College is Cornelius Royal Wallace (B A 1874) of West Palm Beach, Fla, born October 27, 1845

The oldest living graduate of the Sheffield Scientific School is William Arthur Rogers (Ph.B 1874) of Buffalo, NY, born September 8, 1851

^{*}Died in war service

^{*}Includes 2 who held certificates in public health

[†]Includes 2 who held certificates

[‡]Recipient of certificate

DEATHS REPORTED IN WAR SERVICE

		recorded volume	December 7, 1941– July 1, 1943	
~	Graduates	Non- Graduates	Graduates	Non- Graduates
Yale College	27	12	34*	17‡
Sheffield Scientific School	· 6	9	10	11*
School of Engineering	1		r	
Graduate School	2	2	2	2†
School of Medicine	(1)		(1)	-
Divinity School	2		2	
School of Law		3		3
School of the Fine Arts	İ	2	2	2
School of Music				1†
School of Forestry	(1)	I	(1)	I
School of Nursing				
Recipients of Honorary Degree	es I		I	
	 i			
	40	29	52	37

^{*}Includes 2 who died prior to December 7, 1941
†Includes 1 who died prior to December 7, 1941
‡Includes 3 who died prior to December 7, 1941
Note Figures in parentheses indicate professional school graduates who have also received an undergraduate degree from Yale

INDEX

Graduates of the different Schools of the University are distinguished from graduates of YALE COLLEGE by italic letters as follows Divinity School, d, School of Engineering, e or ms(mech), School of the Fine Arts, art, School of Forestry, f, Graduate School, ma, ms, or dp, School of Law, l, ml, or jsd; School of Medicine, m, School of Nursing, n, Sheffield Scientific School, s

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1885 s	Adams, Arthur Bronson	161	1925 ms	Brewer, John H	237
1900	Adams, Benjamin S	288	1888	Brinsmade, William B	24
1891 d	Adams, Joseph M	261	1902 s	Brixey, Richard D	196
1903 s	Alexander, Ĉharles F	198	1894 s	Brooke, Robert E	179
1913 m	Alpert, Reuben H	252	1884 m	Brown, D Chester	248
1903 s	Anderson, E Clay	199	1917 \$	Buchanan, Douglas G	223
1928	Armstrong, Arthur B, Jr	134	1895	Buckingham, Edward T	44
1929 <i>Jsd</i>	Arnold, Carl F	300	1923	Buckingham, Otis	130
1890 s	Arnold, Cyrus M	169	1911 m	Buckley, Robert E	252
1908	Auchincloss, Gordon	98	1903 d	Buell, Seth H	262
1909	Augur, Wheaton	101	1910 1	Bumgarner, Simeon C	278
1905 1	Averill, Ernest L	275	1906 s	Burnham, Clarence	202
1939 l	Avery, John M, Jr	281	1902	Burnham, Frederic	73
1912 d	Bachelder, Everett E	264	1898	Burr, Noah A	60
1940	Bagg, Laurence G	145	1914 5	Caldwell, Charles M	216
1874	Bailey, William L	6	1901	Cameron, Alexander	71
1904	Baker, Arthur S	86	1898	Campbell, A Storrs	61
1877	Baker, Eugene V	8	1899	Canfield, Edward T	287
1907 s	Baldwin, Harry G	206	1902 \$	Cannon, Garrit S	196
1909	Bangs, John K, Jr	102	1886	Cannon, Wilson Lee	20
1936	Barnum, Burrall	140	1919	Carr, William J	124
1909	Barss, William R	103	1921	Carroll, Charles B	127
1911 1	Barton, Alfred, Jr	2 78	1923 d	Carver, Charles C Williams	265
1895	Bassett, U S Grant	44	1906 s	Chalker, Walter C	203
1923	Bates, Robert C	129	1936	Chamberlin, Theodore L	141
1907 1	Bauby, Frederick C	276	1940	Chaney, Henry F, Jr	146
1938	Bauer, John B	143	1886 d	Chunn, Mark W	257
1902	Baxter, Charles H	72	1894 s	Clark, Charles McL	180
1890	Bayard, Thomas F	29	1889 5	Clawson, William S	166
1898	Beeck, Elmer E.	60	1910	Clement, S Merrell	105
1919	Bement, Douglas	122	1881	Cleneay, Harry Q	12
1896	Bemis, George M	48	1938	Cleveland, John	144
1919	Benét, Stephen Vincent	123	1918 d	Cloyd, Alva L	296
1881 s	Bevan, Arthur D	156	1891	Coats, Alfred M	30
1893 s	Bliss, Laurence T	176	1941	Cobb, John C	148
1919 <i>l</i>	Blumer, Morris	280	1898 m	Cohane, Jeremiah J	249
1939 ma	Blundell, Peter C	237	1932	Collens, Clarence L, 3d	138
1931	Boardman, Richard M, Jr	137	1892 s	Collins, Harry C	173
1899 1	Bolin, Stuart R	273	1889 s	Conyngham, William H	167
1885	Booth, John H	18	1895	Cooper, James E	45
1878 1	Booth, William F	267	1903	Corning, Erastus	80
1910 ma	Boynton, Clarence N	236	1895	Corning, Parker	46
1886	Brandegee, Edward N	20	1886 d	Coston, William H	294
1893	Breeze, Thomas H	39	1930	Cowles, Cheney	135
1904	Brenner, William A	87	1897	Creager, John Ó	54

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1924 d	Criger, Earl M	296	1904 l	Gregory, Ira O	274
1924	Cullom, Hale E	131	1942 1	Grubner, Walter R .	282
1882	Cumming, Bryan	13	1930	Guterman, John M	136
1940	Curtin, Alfred C	146	1892	Hagar, Stansbury	34
1909 \$	Dangler, Frank B	209	1911	Hall, Richard Ware	III
1883 s	Darlington, Wayne	158	1898	Hamilton, Taber	63
1906 s	Darragh, John G	204	1929 \$	Hamilton, William C	229
1891	Davis, Carroll P	31	1928 ms(n	nech) Hammer, C Shelley	291
1907 m	Davis, Charles C	251	1904 5	Hasbrouck, George S, Jr	201
1897	Davis, Joseph L	55	1912	Hastings, Henry P	112
1911 1	Day, H Frederick	279	1896	Hawkes, Herbert E	49
1895 s	Day, Harry V	181	1895 l	Hawley, Harry W	271
1902	Deane, Sidney N	74	1910	Heedy, H Glen	106
1907	Deming, Richard H	94	1914 5	Heilner, George B	220
1935	Dewell, Lloyd	139	1891 s	Helm, Edwin Guy	172
1908	Dixon, Courtlandt P	99	1905	Hemingway, Roy W	91
1918 s	Dixon, T Danforth	224	1913 s	Hemmeter, Herbert S	218
1891 s	Dodsworth, Robert M	171	1923	Hickey, Dorr S	130
1879 d	Douglas, William L	294	1878	Hickox, Edward P	9
1913 5	Dowling, Martin C	217	1886 s	Hickox, Jay R	162
1913 5	Drevenstedt, Harry E	217	1931	High, Raymond H	137
1902	Duell, Holland \$	75	1898	Hme, Charles P	64
1899 s	Dunn, Robert L	189	1926 s	Hodgkins, Ralph W	228
1907 l	Dunn, William M	276	1906 s	Hotchkiss, George W	204
1925 m	Echandi, Carlos M	293	1909 s	Howard, Edgar B	210
1883 d	Edwards, Nicholas T	254	1928 f	Howard, J Thomas	300
1940 5	Emerson, James D	231	1928	Howard, John A , Jr	135.
1888	Enders, Thomas B	125	1916	Hubbard, Edward Waite	118
1906	Ethridge, Alfred	92	1897	Hubbell, Benjamin	56
1928 n	Exner, Mrs Frank M	301	1901 <i>l</i>	Huddy, Xenophon P	274
1881	Fargo, Frank M	12	1912 s	Humphreys, George M	214
1886	Fellows, A Lincoln	21	1903 s	Hunker, James B M	200
1877 s	Fenn, Bruce	155	1914 5	Hunt, Jonathan	221
1910 \$	Ferguson, Carl	211	1904	Hurd, E Hamilton	88
1898	Fewsmith, Joseph L	62	1903 art	Ingersoll, Mrs Francis G	283
1895 1	FitzGerald, David E	270	1920 \$	Jackson, Stanley	225
1902 dp	Foster, Mrs Allyn K	241	1935 art	Jenney, William E	284
1902	Francis, Nathan R	76	1907	Jennings, Isaac L	94
1895 5	Frank, George S	182	1884	Jernberg, Remert A	15
1896	Gaines, Frederick W	49	1914	Johnson, John H	115
1936 dp	Garin, Alexis N	247	1900	Johnson, William S	69
1889	Gavegan, Edward J	26	1910	Johnston, T Slater	107
1876 s	Gibson, William Wesley	154	1899	Kearny, Thomas	68
1915 5	Gilkinson, James F	222	1910	Keefe, Arthur T	107
1897	Gilmore, Robert C	55	1897 m	Kılbourn, Clarence L	248
1894 s	Glenny, W Harry	181	1911	Kılbourn, Jonathan F	112
1887 s	Goldmark, Charles J Goodell, Edwin B	163	1899 dp	Kindle, Edward M	292
1877	Goodyear, Norton M	286	1902 s	Kingsley, Rolfe	197
1912 <i>f</i> 1903	Goss, George A	81	1916 1887	Knapp, Farwell	119
1903 1926 s	Grant, Gordon S	227	1908	Knight, Samuel	22
1893 s	Granville, William A	177	1890	Konta, Geoffrey Korn, William A	100
1898	Grèce, Philip W	63	1883 d	Krikorian, Hohannes K	29 254
1942	Green, John McK	152	1884	Kwai, Yung	254 16
▽フマデ	, Join 111012	<u> </u> شر ـ	×004	remai, ruig	10

			4		J
CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1930 art	Lamb, Theodore W	283	1903 s	Mold, Harry J	200
1875	Landon, Edward H	6	1888	Moore, Arthur L	26
1901 dp	Law, Jessie M	239	1919	Morris, Humphrey	126
1904	Lawrance, Charles William	88	1893	Morse, Albert H	41
1890 s	Lawton, Franklin L.	170	1892	Mullally, Thornwell	36
1870	Learned, Dwight W	5	1903	Mullen, Arthur D	84
1915	Lee, Laurance	116	1896	Mundy, Norms H	51
1875	Lee, Timothy J		1 -	Murphy, Frederick J, Jr	_
1906 dp	Lent, Frederick	7 242	1940 5		232
1900 u p 19 2 7	Levin Clarence		1891 1	Mygatt, Frederic E	269
- •	Levy, Walter E	133	1908 1	Nargánes, Aurelio	299
1940		147	1896	Neale, James B	51
1911 s	Lewis, Joseph W	213	1906 s	Nettleton, Milton S	205
1902	Lindenberg, George W	76	1938 e	Newberry, Roger C	233
1921	Litt, Willard D	128	1889 s	Newell, Roger S	168
1885	Loman, John	19	1900	Newmyer, Thomas D	70
1909 d	Longsworth, William H	263	1884	Newton, Alexander	17
1929 dp	Lord, Elizabeth E	246	1898	Nims, Herbert E	65
1883 d	Lorenz, Edmund S	255	1902	Norman, Edwin G	<i>7</i> 7
1915 s	Loughridge, Paul	223	1897 s	North, James S	187
1915 ma	Lovell, Aldıs W	291	1883 s	Nutt, Henry C	159
1919	Luce, Francis C	125	1899 s	O'Brien, Thomas A	190
1913	Luce, John W	114	1895 s	Oldershaw, Francis H.	182
1895	Lyman, Edward B	47	1899 s	Olds, Alfred W	191
1897	McCallum, George Bliss	57	1927 d	Olsson, Joseph E	297
1910	MacCarthy, J Joseph	108	1899 dp	Padelford, Frederick M	238
1903	McClintock, Harvey C	82	1900	Page, Walter S	70
1941	McClure, James G K, Jr	149	1897 d	Page, Wesley E	262
1916	McConnell, Hugh	120	1904	Paine, Edward S	89
1901 dp	McCormac, Eugene I	240	1910 \$	Palkin, Samuel	212
1912 \$	McCreery, Andrew H	215	1896	Pardee, Alfred D	52
1898 m	McDermott, Terence S	250	1898 s	Parkhurst, Harleigh	189
1916 ml	McGhee, Edward W	282	1887 d	Parsons, Edward S	257
1893 l	Machesney, H Allen	298	1910	Parsons, George F	109
1895	McKee, Lanier	48	1883 s	Payson, George S	160
1906 ma	McKoon, Hosmer	235	1909 ma	Peacock, C Sheller	
1907	McOrmond, Raymond R			Peasley, Frederick M	235
1913 1	Main, Walter R	95	1895 l		27I
1901	Makepeace, Frank B, Jr	279	1934 m	Pelletter, Anthony D J	253
1897		72	1890 l	Pelletreau, Robert S	268
	Makepeace, Walter D	58	1904	Petry, Herbert S	90
1883 s	Mann, John H	159	1915 dp	Petty, Orville A	243
1903	Mann, Paul F	83	1896 s	Phelps, Marion B	185
1892	Marsh, Arthur M	35	1942 e	Pickus, Edwin H	234
1891 d	Marsh, Edward Lester	261	1909	Plumb, M Raymond	103
1918	Mauran, Frank, Jr	120	1936 d	Poling, Clark V	266
1937 1	May, Henry, Jr	281	1894	Polk, Frank L	42
1941	Mead, George H, Jr	150	1882 5	Pope, Harry S	157
1937	Mears, Frederick, 3d	142	1885 d	Preston, Charles W	256
1892 s	Meeker, Gardner	174	1904 5	Preston, James C	2 J2
1896 <i>l</i>	Meeker, Samuel G	298	1918	Price, Allan M	121
1889 s	Meigs, Ferris J	168	1925 1	Price, Barnett C	299
1892 s	Merrels, Charles W	174	1899 m	Pullman, James	250
1893	Merritt, Alfred K	40	1896 l	Pullman, John S	272
1940	Mersereau, David M	148	1897 d	Pyle, Hezekiah L	295
1888 s	Miller, Charles G		1906 5	Queenan, James W	205
		- 1		<u>-</u>	•

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1920	Reed, Eugene M	127	1908 s	Sturges, W Thorp	208
1920 1909 s	Renton, George F	211	1891	Swartwout, Egerton	
1909 3	Reynolds, Harold C	104	1922 dp	Swett, Francis H	32 245
1882	Richards, Charles E	14	1907	Swords, Henry H.	96
1892	Ridgway, Erman J	37	1883	Taft, Horace D	14
1910	Riggs, T Lawrason	110	1901 \$	Taylor, Edwy L	194
1893 \$	Ritchie, Harry P	178	1898	Tenney, Frederick W.	66
1935 art	Robb, Malcolm C	285	1903	Terriberry, William K	84
1933	Roberts, James H	138	1903	Thacher, Ralph H	85
1889 d	Robertson, James G	258	1910 m	Thielcke, George E	2 93
1936	Rodgers, Curtis C	141	1896 s	Thompson, Percival	187
1898	Rogers, David F	65	1907	Thomson, Loughran S	96
1907 \$	Rotan, George V	207	1878	Ticknor, Joseph A	10
1908 1	Rowland, Morris D	277	1902	Tompkins, Harry W.	78
1904	Rupp, Norman N	90	1901 \$	Toothe, Edward S	195
1912	Russell, William Huntington		1893	Trask, Thomas C	4I
1884	Scharps, Benjamin	17	1889 d	Tufts, James H	259
1926	Schautz, William A	132	1897	Tuller, Albert P	59
1943	Schoenberg, Richard	153	1885 1	Twaddell, William V	268
1925	Scholtz, William E	132	1891	Twombly, Clifford Gray	33
1901 \$	Schwarz, Elmer H	193	1898	vanBeuren, Frederick T, Jr	66
1880 '	Scudder, Doremus	ΙO	1902 s	Van Vechten, Frederick R	198
1896	Scudder, Hewlett	53	1889	Vernon, Howard W	27
1922 1	Scully, Vincent A	280	1929 5	Vreeland, Charles W	230
1914 5	Sefton, Wilfred	222	1899	Wakefield, George Lincoln	68
1887	Setchell, William A	23	1892 s	Walden, Percy T	175
1908	Sewell, Nathaniel B	100	1941	Waldmann, George R, 2d	150
1885 s	Seymour, James A.	161	1891	Wales, Leonard E	34
1895 5	Shaw, George W	183	1897 s	Wallis, Clinton G	188
1891	Sheldon, Henry K	31	1907	Walradt, Henry F	97
1891 s	Sidenberg, George M	172	1889	Waring, T Pinckney	28
1901 s	Silverman, Max	193	1934 5	Weimer, John C	230
1910 d	Smail, Clarence M	264	1902	Welch, Paul H	78
1904 dp	Smith, Clara E	241	1921 s	Weldon, John	225
1878 s	Smith, Edward H	156	1909 s	Wells, Frederic H.	289
1887 s	Smith, Francis T	163	1895 5	Wells, H Gideon	184
1882 1	Smith, Friend W	267	1915 dp	Wells, John Edwin	244
1925 5	Solomon, Myer	227	1941	Wesson, Morgan	151
1912 5	Spencer, Garrick M	216	1909	Westcott, John B	288
1906	Sprague, William B	93	1907	Wheeler, Cortlandt S	98
1887 l	Stanley, Harry M	298	1892 s	Whittemore, Edward L	176
1915	Stauffer, Clyde M	117	1913 s	Wiehe, Trude A	218
1907 \$	Steele, Edward W	208	1887 s	Williams, Edward G	164
1892 l	Steele, George P	269	1941	Williams, Philip, Jr	152
1892	Steiner, Walter R	38	1885	Williams, Robert B	287
1900 s	Stevens, Elihu W	192	1923 ა	Wittenberg, John N	226
1938	Stevens, W Mason	144	1903	Woodward, Howard S	86
1888 s	Stewart, Charles W	166	1902	Wright, James	79
1928	Stewart, Peter H	289	1876 l	Yates, Walter R	297
1911 5	Stillwell, Addison	290	1911 5	Young, Archibald	213
1899 s	Stone, Louis T	191	1910 dp	Young, Helen Louise	243
1922 5	Stoner, Leslie H	226	1915	Zartman, Leonard S	117
1896 s	Strong, James B	186	1890 d	Zelie, John Sheridan	260